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Date: September 28, 2020

Issuer Disclaimer Clause: This information memorandum (the “Information Memorandum?)
is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus, and should not be construed to
be an invitation to the public for subscription to any securities under any law for the time being
in force, nor a solicitation or recommendation in this regard. Multiple copies given to the same
entity shall be deemed to be given to the same person and shall be treated as such. This
Information Memorandum does not constitute, nor may it be used in connection with, an offer
or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized
or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.
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BUSINESS PARKS REIT

Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(Registered in the Republic of India as a contributory, determinate and irrevocable trust on November
18, 2019 at Mumbai under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 and as a real estate investment trust on December
10, 2019 at Mumbai under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts)
Regulations, 2014 having Registration no. IN/REIT/19-20/0003.

Principal Place of Business: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Mumbai - 400 051
Corporate Office: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Phone: +91 2656 4000; Fax: +91 22 2656 4747,
E-mail: bondcompliance@mindspacereit.com; Website: www.mindspacereit.com

INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DATED SEPTEMBER 28, 2020

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS ISSUED IN CONFORMITY WITH SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE AND LISTING OF DEBT SECURITIES)
REGULATIONS, 2008, AS AMENDED, READ WITH SEBI CIRCULAR CIR./IMD/DF/17/2011
DATED SEPTEMBER 28, 2011 TITLED ‘GUIDELINES FOR ISSUE AND LISTING OF
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS/MARKET LINKED DEBENTURES” AND SEBI CIRCULAR
SEBI/HO/DDHS/CIR/P/2020/120 DATED JULY 13, 2020 FOR THE ISSUE OF 5,000 (FIVE
THOUSAND) 10 YEAR G-SEC LINKED SECURED, LISTED GUARANTEED, SENIOR,
TAXABLE, NON CUMULATIVE, RATED, PRINCIPAL PROTECTED — MARKET LINKED
SECURED, REDEEMABLE, NON- CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES OF FACE VALUE OF
INR 10,00,000 (RUPEES TEN LAKH) EACH, FOR AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
OF UPTO INR 500,00,00,000/- (RUPEES FIVE HUNDRED CRORES ONLY (THE
“DEBENTURES”) ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS (THE “ISSUE”)

Background: This Information Memorandum is related to the Debentures to be issued on a private
placement basis by the Issuer and contains relevant information and disclosures required for the purpose
of issuing of the Debentures. The issue of the Debentures comprised in the Issue and described under
this Information Memorandum has been authorised pursuant to the resolutions passed by the governing
board of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated September 14, 2020 wherein the Issuer has
been authorised to borrow an aggregate amount up to INR 500,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees five hundred
crores only).
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General Risks: Potential investors are advised to read the Information Memorandum carefully before
taking an investment decision in this Issue. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on
their own examination of the Issuer and the offer including the risks involved. The Debentures have not
been recommended or approved by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”’) nor does SEBI
guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this document. This Document has not been submitted, cleared
or approved by SEBI.

Credit Rating: CRISIL Limited has assigned a provisional rating of “Provisional CRISIL PP-MLD
AAAr/Stable™” (pronounced “CRISIL PP-MLD triple A r rating with Stable outlook) to the
Debentures. The rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and investors should take
their own decision. The rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigned
rating agency and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The ratings
obtained are subject to revision at any point of time in the future. The rating agency has the right to
suspend, withdraw the rating at any time on the basis of new information, etc. The rating rationale has
been provided in Schedule 2.

Issue Schedule:
Issue opening date
Issue closing date
Pay-in date
Deemed date of allotment

) IDBI trustee

IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd

September 29, 2020
September 29, 2020
September 29, 2020
September 29, 2020

LINK ntime

Registrar and Transfer Agent:
Link Intime India Private Limited

Debenture Trustee:

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited
SEBI Registration No. INR000004058
SEBI Registration No. IND000000460
Address: 247 Park , C 101 1% Floor , LBS Marg
Address: Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17, , Vikhroli (W), Mumbai — 400 083

R. Kamani Marg,

Ballard Estate
Mumbai
400001

Tel: 022 40807000

Contact Person: Ritobrata Mitra/Mandeep Kaur

Website : www.idbitrustee.com

E-mail: : rmitra@idbitrustee.com,
mandeep@idbitrustee.com

Tel: +91 22 49186000

Contact Person: Ganesh Jadhav
Website : www.linkintime.co.in
E-mail: debtca@linkintime.co.in

Listing

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the Wholesale Debt Market segment of BSE Limited
(“BSE / Stock Exchange”).
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This Information Memorandum is prepared in conformity with (i) the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 issued vide circular no. LAD-
NRO/GN/2008/13/127878 dated June 06, 2008 read with the Security and Exchange Board of India
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015; (ii) SEBI circular
Cir./IMD/DF/17/2011 dated September 28, 2011 titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured
Products/Market Linked Debentures” read with the SEBI circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/CIR/P/2020/120
dated July 13, 2020 titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured Products/Market Linked
Debentures™; and (iii) SEBI circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS/CIR/P/2018/71 dated April 13, 2018
titled ‘Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS) and
Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs)’, each as amended from time to time.

Note: The Issuer acting through its Investment Manager reserves the right to change the Issue
Schedule and in such an event, the Deemed Date of Allotment for the Debentures may also be
revised by the Investment Manager at its sole and absolute discretion without giving any prior
notice

The Issue shall be open for subscription during the banking hours on each day during the period
covered by the Issue Schedule.
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DISCLAIMERS
DISCLAIMERS OF THE ISSUER:

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM HAS BEEN PREPARED TO PROVIDE GENERAL
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER TO POTENTIAL INVESTORS TO WHOM IT IS
ADDRESSED AND WHO ARE WILLING AND ELIGIBLE TO SUBSCRIBE TO THE
DEBENTURES. THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DOES NOT PURPORT TO CONTAIN
ALL THE INFORMATION THAT ANY POTENTIAL INVESTOR MAY REQUIRE. NEITHER
THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM NOR ANY OTHER INFORMATION SUPPLIED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE DEBENTURES IS INTENDED TO PROVIDE THE BASIS OF ANY
CREDIT OR OTHER EVALUATION NOR SHOULD ANY RECIPIENT OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM CONSIDER SUCH RECEIPT A RECOMMENDATION TO PURCHASE ANY
DEBENTURES. EACH INVESTOR CONTEMPLATING THE PURCHASE OF ANY
DEBENTURES SHOULD MAKE ITS OWN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, AND ITS OWN APPRAISAL OF
THE CREDITWORTHINESS OF THE ISSUER. POTENTIAL INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT
THEIR OWN FINANCIAL, LEGAL, TAX AND OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS AS TO THE
RISKS AND INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS ARISING FROM AN INVESTMENT IN THE
DEBENTURES AND SHOULD POSSESS THE APPROPRIATE RESOURCES TO ANALYSE
SUCH INVESTMENT AND THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH INVESTMENT TO SUCH
INVESTOR'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF INVESTORS
TO ALSO ENSURE THAT THEY WILL SELL THESE DEBENTURES IN STRICT
ACCORDANCE WITH THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AND OTHER APPLICABLE
LAWS, SO THAT ANY SUCH OFFER, INVITATION, DISTRIBUTION OR SALE DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO THE PUBLIC WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE AND LISTING OF DEBT SECURITIES)
REGULATIONS, 2008. THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS INTENDED TO BE
CIRCULATED TO SUCH NUMBER OF PERSONS AS MAY BE PERMISSIBLE UNDER
APPLICABLE LAWS IN A FINANCIAL YEAR. NONE OF THE INTERMEDIARIES OR THEIR
AGENTS OR ADVISORS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ISSUE UNDERTAKE TO REVIEW THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION OR AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER DURING THE LIFE OF THE
ARRANGEMENTS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR HAVE
ANY RESPONSIBILITY TO ADVISE ANY INVESTOR OR POTENTIAL INVESTOR IN THE
DEBENTURES OF ANY INFORMATION AVAILABLE WITH OR SUBSEQUENTLY COMING
TO THE ATTENTION OF THE INTERMEDIARIES, AGENTS OR ADVISORS.

NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO MAKE ANY
REPRESENTATION NOT CONTAINED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR IN ANY MATERIAL MADE AVAILABLE BY THE
ISSUER TO ANY POTENTIAL INVESTOR PURSUANT HERETO AND, IF GIVEN OR MADE,
SUCH INFORMATION OR REPRESENTATION MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON AS HAVING
BEEN AUTHORIZED BY THE ISSUER. THE INTERMEDIARIES AND THEIR AGENTS OR
ADVISORS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ISSUE HAVE NOT SEPARATELY VERIFIED THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN. ACCORDINGLY, NO REPRESENTATION,
WARRANTY OR UNDERTAKING, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS MADE AND NO
RESPONSIBILITY IS ACCEPTED BY ANY SUCH INTERMEDIARY. SUCH PERSON HAS NOT
RELIED ON ANY INTERMEDIARY AS TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR ANY OTHER
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE ISSUER. ACCORDINGLY, ALL SUCH
INTERMEDIARIES ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ISSUE SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY IN
RELATION TO THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM
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OR ANY OTHER INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE ISSUER IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ISSUE.

THE CONTENTS OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ARE INTENDED TO BE USED
ONLY BY THOSE INVESTORS TO WHOM IT IS ISSUED. IT IS NOT INTENDED FOR
DISTRIBUTION TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND SHOULD NOT BE REPRODUCED BY THE
RECIPIENT.

THE PERSON WHO IS IN RECEIPT OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM SHALL
MAINTAIN UTMOST CONFIDENTIALITY REGARDING THE CONTENTS OF THIS
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AND SHALL NOT REPRODUCE OR DISTRIBUTE IN
WHOLE OR PART OR MAKE ANY ANNOUNCEMENT IN PUBLIC OR TO A THIRD PARTY
REGARDING ITS CONTENTS, WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE ISSUER.

EACH PERSON RECEIVING THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ACKNOWLEDGES
THAT:

- SUCH PERSON HAS BEEN AFFORDED AN OPPORTUNITY TO REQUEST AND TO
REVIEW AND HAS RECEIVED ALL ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONSIDERED BY
AN INDIVIDUAL TO BE NECESSARY TO VERIFY THE ACCURACY OF OR TO
SUPPLEMENT THE INFORMATION HEREIN; AND

- SUCH PERSON HAS NOT RELIED ON ANY INTERMEDIARY THAT MAY BE
ASSOCIATED WITH ISSUANCE OF THE DEBENTURES IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACCURACY OF SUCH INFORMATION OR ITS INVESTMENT
DECISION.

THE ISSUER DOES NOT UNDERTAKE TO UPDATE THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM
TO REFLECT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND THUS IT
SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON WITH RESPECT TO SUCH SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
WITHOUT FIRST CONFIRMING ITS ACCURACY WITH THE ISSUER. NEITHER THE
DELIVERY OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM NOR ANY SALE OF DEBENTURES
MADE HEREUNDER SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CONSTITUTE A
REPRESENTATION OR CREATE ANY IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE
IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER SINCE THE DATE HEREOF.

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DOES NOT CONSTITUTE, NOR MAY IT BE USED
FOR OR IN CONNECTION WITH, AN OFFER OR SOLICITATION BY ANYONE IN ANY
JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH OFFER OR SOLICITATION IS NOT AUTHORIZED OR TO
ANY PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE SUCH AN OFFER OR SOLICITATION.
NO ACTION IS BEING TAKEN TO PERMIT AN OFFERING OF THE DEBENTURES OR THE
DISTRIBUTION OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IN ANY JURISDICTION WHERE
SUCH ACTION IS REQUIRED. THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM AND THE OFFERING AND SALE OF THE DEBENTURES MAY BE
RESTRICTED BY LAW IN CERTAIN JURISDICTIONS. PERSONS INTO WHOSE POSSESSION
THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM COMES ARE REQUIRED TO INFORM THEMSELVES
ABOUT AND TO OBSERVE ANY SUCH RESTRICTIONS.

THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS MADE AVAILABLE TO POTENTIAL INVESTORS
IN THE ISSUE ON THE STRICT UNDERSTANDING THAT IT IS CONFIDENTIAL.
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DISCLAIMER OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE:

IT IS TO BE DISTINCTLY UNDERSTOOD THAT FILING OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM WITH THE STOCK EXCHANGE SHOULD NOT, IN ANY WAY, BE DEEMED
OR CONSTRUED THAT THE SAME HAS BEEN CLEARED OR APPROVED BY THE STOCK
EXCHANGE NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE IN ANY MANNER WARRANT, CERTIFY
OR ENDORSE THE CORRECTNESS OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY OF THE CONTENTS OF
THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM, NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE WARRANT
THAT THE ISSUER’S DEBENTURES WILL BE LISTED OR WILL CONTINUE TO BE LISTED
ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE; NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE TAKE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SOUNDNESS OF THE FINANCIAL AND OTHER CONDITIONS
OF THE ISSUER, ITS MANAGEMENT OR ANY SCHEME OR PROJECT OF THE ISSUER.

DISCLAIMER OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA:

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM HAS NOT BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES &
EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (SEBI). THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED
OR APPROVED BY SEBI NOR DOES SEBI GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY
OF THIS DOCUMENT. THIS DOCUMENT SHOULD NOT, IN ANY WAY, BE DEEMED OR
CONSTRUED TO HAVE BEEN CLEARED OR VETTED BY SEBI. SEBI DOES NOT TAKE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY EITHER FOR THE FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS OF ANY SCHEME OR THE
PROJECT FOR WHICH THE ISSUE IS PROPOSED TO BE MADE, OR FOR THE CORRECTNESS
OF THE STATEMENTS MADE OR OPINIONS EXPRESSED IN THIS DOCUMENT. THE ISSUE
OF DEBENTURES IS BEING MADE ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS AND, THEREFORE,
FILING OF THIS DOCUMENT WITH SEBI IS NOT REQUIRED, HOWEVER SEBI RESERVES
THE RIGHT TO TAKE UP AT ANY POINT OF TIME, WITH THE ISSUER, ANY
IRREGULARITIES OR LAPSES IN THIS DOCUMENT.

DISCLAIMER OF THE CREDIT RATING AGENCY:

THE RATINGS BY CRISIL LIMITED RATINGS ARE OPINIONS ON CREDIT QUALITY AND
ARE NOT RECOMMENDATIONS TO SANCTION, RENEW, DISBURSE OR RECALL THE
CONCERNED FACILITIES OR TO BUY, SELL OR HOLD ANY SECURITY. CRISIL LIMITED
HAS BASED ITS RATINGS ON INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM SOURCES BELIEVED BY
IT TO BE ACCURATE AND RELIABLE. CRISIL LIMITED DOES NOT, HOWEVER,
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION
AND IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OR FOR THE RESULTS
OBTAINED FROM THE USE OF SUCH INFORMATION. MOST ENTITIES WHOSE BANK
FACILITIES / INSTRUMENTS ARE RATED BY CRISIL LIMITED HAVE PAID A CREDIT
RATING FEE, BASED ON THE AMOUNT AND TYPE OF BANK FACILITIES/ INSTRUMENTS.

DISCLAIMER FOR THE REFERENCE INDEX:

THE DEBENTURES(S) ARE NOT SPONSORED, ENDORSED, SOLD OR PROMOTED BY THE
RESERVE BANK OF INDIA. THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA DOES NOT MAKE ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, TO THE OWNERS OF THE
DEBENTURE(S) OR ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC REGARDING THE ADVISABILITY OF
INVESTING IN SECURITIES GENERALLY OR IN THE DEBENTURE(S) PARTICULARLY OR
THE ABILITY OF THE APPLICABLE G-SEC PRICE INDEX TO TRACK GENERAL
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES MARKET PERFORMANCE IN INDIA. THE ISSUER ACCEPTS
NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURATE EXTRACTION, REPRODUCTION AND
SUMMARY OF ANY INFORMATION RELATING TO THE REFERENCE INDEX. NO FURTHER
8
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OR OTHER RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION IS ACCEPTED BY THE
ISSUER.

INVESTORS SHOULD ENSURE THAT THEY UNDERSTAND THE NATURE OF THE
DEBENTURES AND THE FACT THAT THE PERFORMANCE OF THE REFERENCE INDEX
WILL AFFECT THE NATURE AND VALUE OF THE INVESTMENT RETURN ON THE
DEBENTURES. INVESTORS SHOULD CONDUCT THEIR OWN INVESTIGATIONS AND, IN
DECIDING WHETHER OR NOT TO PURCHASE DEBENTURES, PURCHASERS OF THE
DEBENTURES SHOULD FORM THEIR OWN VIEWS OF THE MERITS OF AN INVESTMENT
RELATED TO THE REFERENCE INDEX BASED ON SUCH INVESTIGATIONS AND NOT IN
RELIANCE ON ANY INFORMATION GIVEN IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

ALL STATEMENTS IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM THAT ARE NOT
STATEMENTS OF HISTORICAL FACT CONSTITUTE “FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS”.
ALL STATEMENTS REGARDING THE ISSUER’S EXPECTED FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, BUSINESS, PLANS AND PROSPECTS ARE FORWARD
LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND ANY OTHER
PROJECTIONS CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM (WHETHER MADE
BY THE ISSUER OR ANY THIRD PARTY) ARE PREDICTIONS AND INVOLVE KNOWN AND
UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS THAT MAY CAUSE THE
ISSUER’S ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE MATERIALLY
DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS OR OTHER
PROJECTIONS. THE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS, IF ANY, CONTAINED IN THIS
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ARE BASED ON THE BELIEFS OF THE MANAGEMENT OF
THE ISSUER, AS WELL AS THE ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY AND INFORMATION
AVAILABLE TO MANAGEMENT AS AT THE DATE OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE EXPECTATIONS WILL
PROVE TO BE CORRECT. THE ISSUER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR
UNDERTAKING TO RELEASE ANY UPDATED INFORMATION OR REVISIONS TO ANY
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN TO REFLECT ANY CHANGES IN
THE EXPECTATIONS OR ASSUMPTIONS WITH REGARD THERETO OR ANY CHANGE IN
THE EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE
BASED. GIVEN THESE UNCERTAINTIES, RECIPIENTS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE
UNDUE RELIANCE ON SUCH FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS. ALL SUBSEQUENT
WRITTEN AND ORAL FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
ISSUER ARE EXPRESSLY QUALIFIED IN THEIR ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO THESE
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT.

DISCLAIMER IN RELATION TO VALUATION:

THE ISSUER HAS APPOINTED CRISIL LIMITED AS THE VALUATION AGENCY
(DEBENTURES) FOR THE DEBENTURES.

THE VALUATION WILL REFLECT THE INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE VALUATION
AGENCY (DEBENTURES). IT IS EXPRESSLY STATED THAT THE VALUATION OF THE
DEBENTURES WILL NOT BE THE VIEW OF THE ISSUER OR ITS AFFILIATES. THE ISSUER
WILL NOT REVIEW THE VALUATION OF THE DEBENTURES AND WILL NOT BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OF SUCH VALUATIONS. THE VALUATIONS OF THE
DEBENTURES PROVIDED BY THE VALUATION AGENCY (DEBENTURES) SHALL BE
MADE AVAILABLE ON THE WEBSITE OF THE ISSUER AND THE VALUATION AGENCY
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(DEBENTURES), AT A FREQUENCY OF NOT LESS THAN ONCE A CALENDAR WEEK, AND
THE SAID VALUATION OF THE DEBENTURES WILL NOT REPRESENT THE ACTUAL PRICE
THAT MAY BE RECEIVED UPON SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE DEBENTURES.

SUCH VALUATION MERELY REPRESENTS THE VALUATION AGENCIES’ COMPUTATION
OF THE VALUATION OF THE DEBENTURES WHICH MAY IN TURN BE BASED ON
SEVERAL ASSUMPTIONS. THE VALUATION OF THE DEBENTURES THAT WILL BE
PROVIDED BY THE VALUATION AGENCY (DEBENTURES) MAY INCLUDE THE USE OF
PROPRIETARY MODELS (THAT ARE DIFFERENT FROM THE PROPRIETARY MODELS
USED BY THE ISSUER AND/OR THE VALUATION AGENCY (DEBENTURES)) AND
CONSEQUENTLY, VALUATIONS PROVIDED BY OTHER PARTIES (INCLUDING THE
ISSUER AND/OR THE VALUATION AGENCY (DEBENTURES)) MAY BE SIGNIFICANTLY
DIFFERENT.

THE VALUATION AGENCY (DEBENTURES) SHALL BE PAID A TOTAL FEES OF INR
12,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES TWELVE LAKHS) PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES AS
CONSIDERATION FOR VALUATION SERVICES.

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS NOT INTENDED TO BE (AND SHOULD NOT BE
USED AS) THE BASIS OF ANY CREDIT ANALYSIS OR OTHER EVALUATION AND SHOULD
NOT BE CONSIDERED AS A RECOMMENDATION BY THE ISSUER, THE VALUATION
AGENCY (DEBENTURES) OR BY ANY OTHER PERSON WHO PARTICIPATES IN THE ISSUE
OR ADVICE OF ANY SORT. IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT EACH RECIPIENT OF THIS
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM  WILL PERFORM ITS OWN INDEPENDENT
INVESTIGATION AND CREDIT ANALYSIS OF THE PROPOSED FINANCING AND THE
BUSINESS, OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL CONDITION, PROSPECTS, CREDITWORTHINESS,
STATUS AND AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, BASED ON SUCH INFORMATION AND
INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION AS IT DEEMS RELEVANT OR APPROPRIATE AND
WITHOUT RELIANCE ON THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.

YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY READ AND RETAIN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.
HOWEVER, YOU ARE NOT TO CONSTRUE THE CONTENTS OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM AS INVESTMENT, LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, REGULATORY OR TAX
ADVICE, AND YOU SHOULD CONSULT WITH YOUR OWN ADVISORS AS TO ALL LEGAL,
ACCOUNTING, REGULATORY, TAX, FINANCIAL AND RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING
AN INVESTMENT IN THE DEBENTURES.
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GLOSSARY

References to any legislation, act, regulations, rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation,
act, regulations, rules, guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented, or re-enacted from time to
time and any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made under
that provision.

Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, the following terms used in this Information
Memorandum shall have the meanings given below.

TERM

DESCRIPTION

Account Bank

HDFC Bank Limited with its branch office at Mumbai.

APIIC

Andhra Pradesh Industrial Infrastructure Corporation
Limited, a government company registered under the
Companies Act and wholly owned by the Government of
Andhra Pradesh, India. Consequent upon Telangana State
Industrial Infrastructure Corporation Limited (“TSIIC”) (a
Government of Telangana Undertaking) becoming a
shareholder and member of Sundew, Intime and KRIT, the
references to APIIC shall be substituted for TSIIC

Asset SPV

MBPPL

Avacado

Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited

Base Rent (psf per month)

Base Rentals for the specified period
Occupied Area > monthly factor

Base Rentals (¥)

Rental income contracted from the leasing of Occupied
Area. It does not include fit-out rent, maintenance services
income, car park income and others

BREP Entities

BREP Asia SBS Pearl Holding (NQ) Ltd, BREP VIII SBS
Pearl Holding (NQ) Ltd, and BREP Asia SG Pearl Holding
(NQ) Pte. Ltd., being certain entities affiliated with The
Blackstone Group Inc.

CAGR

Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Commerzone Porur

Commerzone Porur is an under-construction asset, which is
located in the South West Chennai micro- market.

Commerzone Yerwada

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and
the amenity building situated at Commerzone, Samrat
Ashok Path, Off Airport Road, Yerwada, Pune,
Mabharashtra, India

Committed Area

Completed Area which is unoccupied but for which letter of
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intent / agreement to lease have been signed

Committed Occupancy (%)

(Occupied Area + Committed Area) divided by Completed
Area

Completed Area (sf)

Leasable Area for which occupancy certificate has been
received; Completed Area comprises Occupied Area,
Committed Area and Vacant Area

Condensed Combined Financial
Statements of Mindspace Business
Parks Group

The special purpose condensed combined financial
statements of Mindspace Business Parks Group, which
comprise the combined balance sheet as at March 31, 2020,
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018, combined statement
of net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2020, combined
statement of total returns at fair value as at March 31, 2020,
combined statement of profit and loss, combined statement
of cash flow, combined statement of changes in equity, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information for the financial years ended March
31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 Such
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the basis of preparation described within Note 2 to the
financial statements

CTL

Cape Trading LLP

Debenture Trust Deed

The debenture trust deed to be executed between the Issuer
and the Debenture Trustee on or before the Deemed Date of
Allotment for the purposes of setting out the detailed terms
and conditions of the Debentures.

Debenture Trustee

Trustee for the Debenture holders, in this case being IDBI
Trusteeship Services Limited.

Debentures

10 Year G-sec linked secured, listed guaranteed, senior,
taxable, non cumulative, rated, principal protected — market
linked secured, redeemable, non- convertible debentures

Deemed Date of Allotment

September 29, 2020

Depository

A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participant)
Regulations, 2018, as amended from time to time, for the
purpose of dematerialisation of the Debentures in
connection with the Issue, being NSDL and CDSL).

Depository Participant/ DP

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories
Act, 1996

Information Memorandum

This Information Memorandum for private placement of
Debentures.

Eligible Investor(s)

e resident individuals,
¢ hindu undivided family,
e frust,
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limited liability partnerships, partnership firm(s),

portfolio managers,

association of persons,

companies and bodies corporate including public

sector undertakings,

e commercial banks, regional rural banks, financial
institutions,

e insurance companies,
mutual funds/ alternative investment fund (AIF), and

e any other investor eligible to invest in these
Debentures

in each case, as may be permitted under Applicable Law

Formation Transactions

The transactions pursuant to which Mindspace REIT
acquired interest in the Group SPVs holding the Portfolio.

Future Development Area(sf)

Leasable Area of an asset that is planned for future
development, as may be permissible under the relevant rules
and regulations, subject to requisite approvals as may be
required, and for which internal development plans are yet
to be finalized and applications for requisite approvals
required under law for commencement of construction are
yet to be received

FY / Financial Year

Financial year ending March 31 of each year.

Gera Commerzone Kharadi

Completed and operational building nos. 3 and 6, under-
construction building no. 5 and future development of
building no. 4 situated in Gera Commerzone, Kharadi, Pune,
Maharashtra, India

Gigaplex

Gigaplex Estate Private Limited

Governmental Authority

The Government of India or any sovereign state, or the
government of any state of India or any sovereign state, any
administrative, regulatory, supervisory statutory, judicial or
quasi-judicial authority in India or any sub-division thereof
including any ministry, court, tribunal, department, political
sub-division, board, authority, instrumentality, agency,
corporation (to the extent acting in a legislative, judicial or
administrative capacity and not as a contracting party with
the Issuer), commission or committee and also includes
international organization, agency or authority as well as
any stock exchange or any self-regulatory organization,
established under any applicable law.

Gross Contracted Rentals (%)

Gross Contracted Rentals is the sum of Base Rentals and fit-
out rent invoiced from Occupied Area that is expected to be
received from the tenants pursuant to the agreements
entered into with them
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Group SPVs Collectively, Avacado, Gigaplex, Horizonview, Intime,
KRIT, KRC Infra, MBPPL and Sundew
Horizonview Horizonview Properties Private Limited

In-place Rent (psf per month)

Base Rent for a specified month

Intime

Intime Properties Limited

Investment Management Agreement

The investment management agreement dated November
21, 2019, executed between the Trustee (on behalf of
Mindspace REIT) and the Investment Manager

Investment Manager

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP

Investor

An Eligible Investor investing in the Debentures.

Issue Closing Date

September 29, 2020

Issue Opening Date

September 29, 2020

Issuer Mindspace Business Parks REIT

KRC Infra KRC Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited

KRIT K. Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited

Market Value Market Value as determined by the Valuer as of March 31,
2020. This includes the market value of the Portfolio and the
facility management division which will be housed in one
of the Group SPVs, KRC Infra with effect from October 1,
2020.

MBPPL Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited

Mindspace Airoli East

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5&6, 7,
8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, completed club house and the future
development building nos. 15, 16 and high street retail
shopping plaza situated at Mindspace, Thane Belapur Road,
Airoli, Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, including a
portion of land admeasuring approximately 1.8 acres which
is proposed to be transferred subject to receipt of all
requisite prior approvals, permits, and consents from the
relevant authorities, as may be required and other conditions
as specified in the memorandum of understanding dated
August 5, 2016, extension letters dated August 5, 2017,
August 5, 2018 and August 5, 2019 and supplemental
memorandum of understanding dated December 16, 2019.

Mindspace Airoli West

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6
along with the centre court and the under-construction
building no. 9 situated at Gigaplex, Plot no. 5, MIDC, Airoli
Knowledge Park, Airoli, Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, India
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including a portion of land admeasuring approximately 16.4
acres which is proposed to be transferred subject to
conditions as specified in the memorandum of
understanding dated December 16, 2019.

Mindspace Madhapur

Collectively, Mindspace Madhapur (Intime), Mindspace
Madhapur (KRIT) and Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew)

Mindspace Madhapur (Intime)

Completed and operational building nos. 5B, 6 and 9
situated at Mindspace, Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana,
India

Mindspace Madhapur (KRIT)

Completed and operational building nos. 1A, 1B, 2A, 2B,
3A, 3B, 4A&B, 5A, 7, 8 and 10 and approximately 1.8 acres
land for future development situated at Mindspace,
Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew)

Completed and operational buildings nos. 11, 12A, 12B,
12C, 14 and 20, completed building no. 12D and the under-
construction building no. 22 (hotel) situated at Mindspace,
Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Mindspace Pocharam

Completed and operational building no. 8, under-
construction building no. 9 situated at Mindspace,
Pocharam, Ranga Reddy, Secunderabad, Telangana, India,
including a portion of land admeasuring approximately 59.0
acres for future development out of which 40.0 acres is
proposed to be transferred subject to conditions as specified
in the memorandum of understanding dated December 16,
20109.

Mindspace REIT

Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Mindspace REIT Assets

The Portfolio, and such other assets as may be held by
Mindspace REIT from time to time in accordance with the
REIT Regulations and applicable law

Net Operating Income (NOI)

Net Operating Income calculated as revenue from
operations less: direct operating expenses (which includes
maintenance service expenses, cost of work contract
services, property tax, insurance expense, cost of materials
sold, cost of power purchased and power-O&M expenses)

NSDL

National Securities Depository Limited

Occupancy (%)

Occupied Area/ Completed Area

Occupied Area (sf)

Completed Area for which lease agreements / leave and
license agreements have been signed with tenants

Paradigm Mindspace Malad

Completed and operational building no. 12, comprising A
and B wings of Paradigm Tower, situated at Chincholi
Bunder Link Road, Malad (West), Mumbai, Maharashtra,
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India

Parties to Mindspace REIT

The Sponsor Group, the Trustee and the Investment
Manager

Pay-in Date

September 29, 2020

Portfolio

Assets directly or indirectly owned by Mindspace REIT in
terms of the REIT Regulations, in (i) Paradigm Mindspace
Malad; (ii) Mindspace Airoli West; (iii) Commerzone
Porur; (iv) Mindspace Madhapur (Intime); (v) Mindspace
Madhapur (KRIT); (vi) Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew)
(vii) Gera Commerzone Kharadi; (viii) Commerzone
Yerwada; (ixX) Mindspace Airoli East; (x) The Square,
Nagar Road; (xi) Mindspace Pocharam; ; and (xii) The
Square BKC.

Pre-Leased Area or Pre-Committed
Area

Under Construction Area for which letter of intent /
agreement to lease/ lease deed/ leave and license agreement
has been entered into with prospective tenants

RBI Reserve Bank of India.
REIT(S) Real Estate Investment Trust
REIT assets Real estate assets and any other assets held by the REIT, on

a freehold or leasehold basis, whether directly or through a
Holding Company and/or a special purpose vehicle

REIT Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, including any
amendment or modification thereto.

REIT Trustee

AXxis Trustee Services Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Link Intime India Private Limited

SEBI

Securities and Exchange Board of India.

SEBI Guidelines

Circular dated December 19, 2016 on Guidelines for public
issue of units of REITs issued by SEBI as amended by
circular dated January 15, 2019, circular dated December
26, 2016 on Disclosure of Financial Information in Offer
Document for REITs issued by SEBI, circular dated
December 29, 2016 on Continuous Disclosures and
Compliances by REITs issued by SEBI, circular dated
January 18, 2018 on participation by Strategic Investor(s) in
InviTs and REITSs issued by the SEBI, Circular dated April
23, 2019 on Guidelines for determination of allotment and
trading lot size for Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS)
and Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs) and any other
circulars, guidelines and clarifications issued by SEBI under
the REIT Regulations, as amended from time to time
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SEBI ILDS Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing
of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008.

SEBI MLD Guidelines

SEBI circular Cir./IMD/DF/17/2011 dated September 28,
2011 titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured
Products/Market Linked Debentures” read with SEBI
circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/CIR/P/2020/120 dated July 13,
2020, as amended, modified and updated from time to
time.

Sponsor Group

Collectively, Mr. Ravi C. Raheja, Mr. Neel C. Raheja, Mr.
Chandru L Raheja, Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja, the Sponsors,
Capstan Trading LLP, Casa Maria Properties LLP, Genext
Hardware & Parks Private Limited, K Raheja Corp Private
Limited, Palm Shelter Estate Development LLP, Raghukool
Estate Development LLP and Ivory Property Trust

Sponsors

Collectively, ACL and CTL

Standalone Financial Statements

The standalone financial statements of the Issuer, which
comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2020, and as at
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018; the statement of profit
and loss for the financial year ended March 31, 2020, the
financial year ended March 31, 2019 and the financial year
ended March 31, 2018; and the cash flow statement for the
financial year ended March 31, 2020, the financial year
ended March 31, 2019 and the financial year ended March
31, 2018.

Stock Exchange BSE
Sundew Sundew Properties Limited
Tax Any tax, levy, impost, duty, surcharge, cess or other charge

or withholding of a similar nature (including any penalty or
interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any
delay in paying any of the same) imposed by any
Governmental Authority, and whether on a transaction,
income or otherwise and including stamp duties, registration
fees, service tax, VAT, education cess, etc., both present and
futureand “Taxes” shall be construed accordingly.

The Square, BKC

Completed and operational building C-61 located in Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai Region, Maharashtra. It is a
commercial building, previously held by Citi Bank N.A.,
with a total leasable area of approximately 0.1 million
square feet

The Square, Nagar Road

Completed and operational commercial and IT building
situated at 7, Ahmednagar Road, Wadgaon Sheri, Pune,
Maharashtra, India

Total Leasable Area(sf)

Total Leasable Area is the sum of Completed Area, Under
Construction Area and Future Development Area

Trust Deed

The trust deed dated November 18, 2019 entered into
between the Sponsors and the Trustee
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Under Construction Area(sf)

Leasable Area for which occupancy certificate has been
received; Completed Area comprises Occupied Area,
Committed Area and Vacant Area

Unitholders Any person or entity who holds Units of Mindspace REIT

Units An undivided beneficial interest in Mindspace REIT, and
such Units together represent the entire beneficial interest in
Mindspace REIT

Vacant Area Completed Area which is unoccupied and for which no
letter of intent / lease agreement / leave and license
agreement has been signed

WALE Weighted Average Lease Expiry based on area. Calculated

assuming tenants exercise all their renewal options post
expiry of their initial commitment period
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RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations in relation to
the Debentures. These risks may include, among others, business aspects, equity market, bond market,
interest rate, market volatility and economic, political and regulatory risks and any combination of
these and other risks. Eligible Investors should carefully consider all the information in this Information
Memorandum, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment in
the Debentures. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not
in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ISSUE
Every business carries certain inherent risks and uncertainties that can affect its financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. The management of the Issuer understands that risks can

negatively impact the attainment of both short term operational and long term strategic goals.

The following factors have been considered for determining the materiality, of which:

a) Some events may not be material individually but may be found material collectively.
b) Some events may have material impact qualitatively instead of quantitatively.
C) Some events may not be material at present but may have material impact in future.

The Issuer believes that these risk factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the
Debentures issued under this Information Memorandum. All of these factors may or may not occur
and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such event occurring.

The following are the risks envisaged by the management of the Issuer relating to the Issuer, the
Debentures and the market in general. Potential investors should carefully consider all the risk factors
in this Information Memorandum for evaluating the Issuer and its business and the Debentures before
making any investment decision relating to the Debentures. Unless the context requires otherwise, the
risk factors described below apply to the Issuer. The Issuer believes that the factors described below
represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Debentures, but does not represent that the
statements below regarding the risks of holding the Debentures are exhaustive. The order of the risk
factors is intended to facilitate ease of reading and reference and does not in any manner indicate the
importance of one risk factor over another. Investors should also read the detailed information set out
elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and reach their own views prior to making any investment
decision.

If any one of the following stated risks actually occurs, the Issuer’s business, financial conditions and
results of operations could suffer and, therefore, the value of the Issuer’s Debentures could decline
and/or the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations in respect of the Debentures could be affected. More
than one risk factor may have simultaneous effect with regard to the Debentures such that the effect
of a particular risk factor may not be predictable.

Please note that unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors, the Issuer is not in a position
to quantify the financial or other implications of any risk mentioned herein below.

a. Repayment of principal is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer.

While, the repayment of sums due at maturity is provided by the Issuer, Investors should be
aware that receipt of any coupon payment and principal amount at maturity on the Debentures
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is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer whereby the investor may or may not recover all or part
of the funds in case of default by the Issuer. Investors may or may not recover all or part of the
Principal Amount in case of default by the Issuer. The Investors assume the risk that the Issuer
will not be able to satisfy their obligations under the Debentures. Any stated credit rating of the
Issuer, having been conducted, reflects the independent opinion of the referenced rating agency
as to the creditworthiness of the rated entity but is not a guarantee of credit quality of the Issuer.
Any downgrading of the credit ratings of the Issuer, by any rating agency could result in a
reduction in the value of the Debentures. In the event that bankruptcy proceedings or
composition, scheme of arrangement or similar proceedings to avert bankruptcy are instituted
by or against the Issuer, the payment of sums due on the Debentures may be substantially
reduced or delayed.

Any downgrade in credit rating may affect the ability of the Issuer to redeem the
Debentures

The Debentures offered through this Issue have been provisionally rated “Provisional CRISIL
PP-MLD AAAr/Stable™*” (pronounced “CRISIL PP-MLD triple A r rating with Stable
outlook) by the Credit Rating Agency. Credit rating is merely an indicator of the perceived
repayment capability of a company. Therefore, the Credit Rating of the Debentures may not
bear any co-relation to the price of the Debentures. Further, the Credit Rating is subject to
continuous scrutiny and revision.

Tax Considerations and Legal Considerations

Special tax considerations and legal considerations may apply to certain types of potential
investors. Potential investors are urged to consult with their own financial, legal, tax and other
professional advisors to determine any financial, legal, tax and other implications of this
investment.

Issuer’s indebtedness and covenants imposed by its financing arrangements may restrict
its ability to conduct its business or operations

Issuer may enter into financing arrangements from time to time which may require it to maintain
certain security cover for some of its borrowings. Should there be any breach of financial or
other covenants of any financing arrangements and such breach continues beyond the stipulated
cure period (if any), the Issuer may be subjected to various consequences as a result of such
default including forced repayment of such borrowings. Further, under some of the financing
arrangements, the Issuer may be required to inform / obtain prior approval of the lenders /
debentures holders / debenture trustee for various actions. However, note that the Issuer,
presently, has no existing financing arrangements as on the date of this Information
Memorandum. Accordingly, no prior consent is required from existing lenders of the Issuer for
the issuance of Debentures or creation of security to secure the Debentures.

Accounting Considerations

Special accounting considerations may apply to certain types of taxpayers. Potential investors
are urged to consult with their own accounting advisors to determine implications of this
investment.

Security maybe insufficient to redeem the Debentures

The Debentures are proposed to be secured by the assets described in “Issue Details”. In the
event that the Issuer is unable to meet its payment and other obligations towards potential
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investors under the terms of the Debentures, the Debenture Trustee may enforce the security.
The potential investors’ recovery in relation to the Debentures will be inter alia subject to: (i)
the market value of the security; and (ii) finding a willing buyer for the security at a price
sufficient to repay the amounts due and payable to the potential investors’ amounts outstanding
under the Debentures.

Changes in regulations / tax laws to which the Issuer is subject could impair the Issuer’s
ability to meet payments or other obligations.

The Issuer is subject generally to changes in Indian law and/or tax laws, as well as to changes
in government regulations by applicable regulators in India and policies and accounting
principles. Any changes in the regulatory framework could adversely affect the profitability of
the Issuer or its future financial performance, by requiring a restructuring of its activities,
increasing costs or otherwise.

General risk factors

Investment in debt and debt related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should not
invest any funds in the debt instruments, unless they can afford to take the risks attached to such
investments. Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment
decision in this Issue. For taking an investment decision, the investors must rely on their own
examination of the Issuer, this Information Memorandum issued in pursuance hereof and the
Issue including the risks involved. The Issue has not been recommended or approved by SEBI
or RBI nor does SEBI or RBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this Information
Memorandum.

Risks to Issuer’s Business

This section should be read together with “Overview” and “Management’s perception of Risk
Factors™ as well as the Standalone Financial Statements, including the notes thereto, and other
financial information included elsewhere or referred or extracted in this Information
Memorandum. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks that we
currently face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we
currently believe to be immaterial, may also adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations and cash flow.

Without limiting or restricting the effect of the above, risks to Issuer’s business includes the
following:

i. We have assumed liabilities in relation to the Portfolio and these liabilities, if realised,
may adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows, the trading price of the Units
and our profitability and ability to make distributions.

il. The REIT Regulations require us to adhere to certain investment conditions, which
may limit our ability to acquire and/or dispose of assets.

iii. Regulatory framework governing REITs in India has been recently promulgated and is
relatively untested.

iv. The COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, financial condition, results

of operations, cash flows, liquidity and performance, and it may reduce the demand for
commercial real estate in future.
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Our business and profitability depends on the performance of the commercial real
estate market in India. Any fluctuations in market conditions may have an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

A significant portion of our revenues are derived from a limited number of tenants.
Any conditions that impact these tenants could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Mindspace REIT has no operating history and we may not be able to operate our
business successfully, achieve our business objectives or generate sufficient cash flows
to make or sustain distributions.

We may be unable to renew leases or license arrangements, lease or license vacant area
or re-lease or re-license area on favorable terms or at all, which could adversely affect
our business, results of operations and cash flows.

The actual rents we receive for the properties in our Portfolio may be less than
estimated market rents for future leasing, which could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and cash flows.

We have certain contingent liabilities, which if they materialize, may adversely affect
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Any appeal against the order of the Karnataka High Court quashing the list of
disqualified directors issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs may affect the ability
of Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja (designated partners of the Investment
Manager) to continue as designated partners of the Investment Manager and directors
on board of certain Group SPVs, which may have an adverse effect on our business
and reputation.

There are outstanding litigations, title irregularities and regulatory actions involving
the Group SPVs, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
cash flows.

Our business and results of operations are subject to compliances with various laws,
and any non-compliances may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Non-compliance with, and changes in, environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations could adversely affect the development of our properties and our financial
condition.

We may be adversely affected if the Group SPVs are unable to obtain, maintain or
renew all regulatory approvals that are required for their respective business.

Some of our assets are located on land leased from MIDC and MMRDA. The relevant
Group SPVs are required to comply with the terms and conditions provided in the
respective lease agreements with such government bodies, failing which MIDC and
MMRDA, as the case may be, may, impose penalties, terminate the lease or take over
the premises.

We are exposed to a variety of risks associated with safety, security and crisis
management.
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We may be unable to successfully grow our business in new markets in India, which
may adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We have entered and may enter into several related party transactions, which could
involve conflicts of interest. The Investment Manager may face conflicts of interests in
choosing our service providers, and certain service providers may provide services to
the Investment Manager, the Sponsor Group on more favorable terms than those
applicable to us.

Some of our assets are located on land notified as SEZs and the Group SPVs are
required to comply with the SEZ Act and the rules made thereunder. Further, some of
our Group SPVs have made applications for de-notifying certain land parcels notified
as SEZs and hence they will be eligible to avail lower fiscal incentives than what were
previously available to them, which may adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully complete future acquisitions
or efficiently manage the assets we may acquire in the future. Further, any of our
acquisitions in the future may be subject to acquisition related risks.

We may not be able to successfully meet working capital or capital expenditure
requirements of our Portfolio.

Some or all of our Under Construction Area and Future Development Area may not be
completed by their expected completion dates or at all. Such delays could affect our
estimated construction cost and timelines resulting in cost overruns, which in turn could
adversely affect our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Recent disruptions in the financial markets and current economic conditions could
adversely affect our ability to service our existing indebtedness and secure additional
debt financing on attractive terms and the values of our investments.

Our Portfolio may be subject to increases in direct expenses and other operating
expenses. Renovation work, repair and maintenance or physical damage to our assets
may disrupt our operations and collection of rental income or otherwise result in an
adverse effect on our business and results of operation.

We and our Group SPVs may be subject to certain restrictive covenants under the
financing agreements that could limit our flexibility in managing our business or to use
cash or other assets.

We may not be able to maintain adequate insurance to cover all losses we may incur in
our business operations.

Our business may be adversely affected by the illiquidity of real estate investments.
Security and IT risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth.

Any disagreements with our collaborators or joint venture partners may have an
adverse effect on our business and operations.

We do not own the trademarks or logos for “Mindspace”, “Mindspace Business Parks”,
“K Raheja Corp”, “Commerzone” “CAMPLUS” and “The Square” that are associated
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with our Portfolio. Further, we do not own the trademark or logo for “Mindspace
Business Parks REIT” and “Mindspace REIT”. These trademarks and logos are
licensed to our Group SPVSs, the Investment Manager and us, as applicable, by the
Sponsors or Sponsor Group or KRC group entities who are either the registered owners
of these trademarks and logos or have made applications for registered ownership. Our
inability to use or protect these intellectual property rights may have an adverse effect
on our business and results of operations.

Lease deeds, leave and license agreements and service agreements with some of our
tenants are not adequately stamped or registered, and consequently, we may be unable
to successfully litigate over such lease deeds in the future and penalties may be imposed
on us.

Our Group SPVs may, in the future be exposed to a variety of risks associated with
development of an Integrated IT Township, which may adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Land is subject to compulsory acquisition by the government and compensation in lieu
of such acquisition may be inadequate. Additionally, we may be subject to conditions
of use or transfer of land wherever such land is subject to orders under the Urban Land
(Ceiling and Regulation) Act, 1976.

There may be conflict of interests between the REIT Trustee and/or their respective
associates/affiliates and the Group SPVSs, the Investment Manager, the Sponsors,
Sponsor Group and/or their respective Associates/affiliates

We seek to protect our computer systems and network infrastructure from physical
break-ins as well as fraud and system failures. Computer break-ins and power and
communication disruptions could affect the security of information stored in and
transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure. We employ
security systems, including firewalls and password encryption, designed to minimize
the risk of security breaches. Although we intend to continue to implement security
technology and establish operational procedures to prevent fraud, break-ins, damage
and failures, there can be no assurance that these security measures will be adequate.
A significant failure of security measures or operational procedures could have a
material adverse effect on our business and our future financial performance. Although
we take adequate measures to safeguard against system-related and other frauds, there
can be no assurance that it would be able to prevent frauds. We are exposed to many
types of operational risks, including the risk of fraud or other misconduct by employees
and unauthorized transactions by employees. Although we have been careful in
recruiting all our employees, we have in the past been held liable for the fraudulent acts
committed by our employees adversely impacting our business. Our reputation could
be adversely affected by significant frauds committed by employees, customers or
outsiders

The title and development rights or other interests over land where the portfolio of the
Issuer (“Portfolio”) is located may be subject to legal uncertainties and defects, which
may interfere with our ownership of the assets and result in us incurring costs to remedy
and cure such defects.

24



XXXViil.

XXXIX.

For private circulation only
Serial Number:
Addressee:

Our dependence on rental income may adversely affect our profitability, our
ability to meet debt and other financial obligations and our ability to make
distributions to our Unitholders.

Our total income primarily comprises of income from facility rentals in our Portfolio.
As a result, our performance depends on our ability to collect rent from our tenants in
a timely manner. Our income and cash flows would be adversely affected if a
significant number of our tenants, or any of our large tenants, among other things, (i)
delay lease commencements, (ii) do not extend or renew leases, leave and license
agreements, upon expiration, (iii) fail to make rental payments on time or at all, (iv)
prematurely terminate the lease, leave and license agreement, without cause (including
termination during the lock-in period), or (v) declare bankruptcy. Any of these actions
could result in the termination of the lease, leave and license agreement and the loss of
rental income. We cannot assure you that we will be able to re-lease such area on
commercially advantageous term or at all. The possibility of loss of rental income from
a number of our tenants and our inability to replace such tenants may adversely affect
our profitability, ability to meet financial obligations and make distributions to our
Unitholders.

In addition, in a few instances, we enter into lease or leave and license agreements
wherein we are required to undertake certain fit out and interior works in, or obtain
occupancy certificates for, the premises prior to handing over the premises to tenants.
Such works also include setting up infrastructure for providing power and power back
up, air conditioning, sanitary facilities and fire protection services. In the event of any
delay in completion of such works or obtaining occupancy certificates, we are required
to provide rent-free days to tenants for such delay, which could adversely affect our
revenues. The tenants also have a right to terminate the arrangement in case such delays
exceed the agreed timelines. Any such instances may affect our business, results of
operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to renew leases or license arrangements, lease or license vacant
area or re-lease or re-license area on favorable terms or at all, which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

As part of our lease or leave and license agreements, the tenants are generally required
to furnish security, utility or maintenance deposit. The expiry or termination of such
agreements require us to refund any deposits to the tenants, which could temporarily
impact our liquidity. Further, any default by a tenant prior to the expiry of a lease or
license arrangement may result in deductions in or forfeiture of its security deposit. As
a consequence, issues may arise with our tenants in relation to the quantum of
deductions or forfeiture of the security deposits, which may result in our tenants
refraining from handing over possession of the property to us. Legal disputes, if filed
by us in this regard, may take several years to resolve and involve considerable expense
if they become the subject of court proceedings and their outcome may be uncertain.

Further, the renewal process of lease or license arrangements with existing tenants may
involve delay in execution and registration of such agreements resulting in our tenants
being in possession of units in our Portfolio without enforceable legal documents.
Further, we may be subject to dispute or litigation on account of non-compliance with
the terms of the lease or license arrangements with our lessees or licensees which may
have a negative impact on our reputation and operations.

We also generally enter into pre-committed lease or license arrangements with
prospective tenants and any changes to or delay in execution or non-execution of the
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final lease agreements or leave and license agreements may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and cash flows. Further, as per the terms of some of the
lease or leave and license agreements, we cannot lease or license floors in the same
premises to the competitors of the lessee. As a result, if vacancies continue for a longer
period than we expect, it would have an adverse effect on our financial condition.

The actual rents we receive for the properties in our portfolio may be less than
estimated market rents for future leasing, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and cash flows.

Due to a variety of factors, including competitive pricing pressure in our markets,
changing market dynamics including demand supply, a general economic downturn
and the desirability of our properties compared to other properties in our markets, we
may be unable to realize our estimated market rents across the properties in our
portfolio at the time of future leasing. If we are unable to obtain competitive rental rates
across our portfolio, it could adversely affect our business, results of operations and
cash flows.

There are outstanding litigations, title irregularities and regulatory actions
involving the Asset SPVs, which may adversely affect our business, results of
operations and cash flows.

The Asset SPVs are currently involved in a number of legal proceedings, including
criminal and regulatory proceedings. These legal proceedings are pending at different
levels of adjudication before various courts and tribunals. If any new developments
arise, for example, a change in Indian law or rulings against us by the appellate courts
or tribunals, we may face losses and may have to make provisions in our financial
statements, which could increase our expenses and our liabilities. Adverse decisions in
such proceedings may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We may be adversely affected if the Asset SPVs are unable to obtain, maintain or
renew all regulatory approvals that are required for their respective business.

Our Asset SPVs require various approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions from
the government, local bodies and other regulators, for operating their respective
business. A number of our approvals are subject to terms and conditions and a failure
to comply with these terms and conditions may result in an interruption of our business
operations, which may have an adverse effect on our business operations, future
financial performance and trading price of our Units. We have not obtained certain
approvals and some of our approvals may have expired in the ordinary course. Our
Asset SPVs either have applied, or are in the process of renewing some of these
approvals. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the lockdown restrictions in
few cities, our Asset SPVs may not be able to make such applications for approvals or
receive certain approvals, in time, which could result in non-compliance. Such non-
compliance may further lead to investigation or action by the government, or
imposition of fines on our Asset SPVs. Certain portions of our assets are also currently
under-construction and subject to obtaining regulatory approvals.

Our business is subject to various covenants and local state laws and regulatory
requirements, including permitting, licensing and zoning requirements. Local
regulations, including municipal or local ordinances, restrictions and restrictive
covenants imposed by community developers may restrict our use of our assets and
may require us to obtain approval from local officials or community standards
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organizations at any time with respect to our assets. Additionally, such local regulations
may cause us to incur additional costs to renovate or maintain our properties in
accordance with the particular rules and regulations. We cannot assure you that existing
regulatory policies or any changes to such policies will not adversely affect us or the
timing or cost of any future acquisitions, or that additional regulations will not be
adopted that would increase such delays or result in additional costs.

j. Risks Related to our Relationships with the Sponsors and the Manager

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Our Sponsors and the Sponsor Group will be able to exercise significant
influence over certain of our activities and the interests of the Sponsors and the
Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests of other Unitholders.

The Sponsors and the Sponsor Group own a majority of the issued and outstanding
Units and each of them are entitled to vote severally as Unitholders on all matters other
than matters where there are related party restrictions (in respect of which such parties
are not permitted to vote under the REIT Regulations).

The interests of the Sponsors and the Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests of
other Unitholders and we cannot assure you that the Sponsors and the Sponsor Group
shall conduct themselves, for business considerations or otherwise, in a manner that
best serves our interests or that of the other Unitholders.

We depend on the Investment Manager and its personnel for our success. We
may not find a suitable replacement for the Investment Manager if the
Investment Management Agreement is terminated or if key personnel cease to
be employed by the Manager or otherwise become unavailable to us.

We are managed and advised by the Investment Manager, pursuant to the terms of the
Investment Management Agreement. We cannot assure you that the Manager will
remain our manager or that we will continue to retain Investment Manager’s key
personnel. If the Investment Management Agreement is terminated or if the Investment
Manager defaults in the performance of its obligations thereunder, we may be unable
to contract with a substitute service provider on similar terms or at all, and the costs of
substituting service providers may be substantial. In addition, the Investment Manager
is familiar with our assets and, as a result, the Investment Manager has certain synergies
with us. Substitute service providers may lack such synergies and may not be able to
provide the same level of service. If we cannot locate a service provider that is able to
provide us with substantially similar services as the Investment Manager provides
under the Investment Management Agreement on similar terms, it could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on the Investment Manager to manage our business and assets, and
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely
affected if the Investment Manager fails to perform satisfactorily.

The Investment Manager is required to make investment decisions in respect of our
underlying assets including any further investment or divestment of assets.
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We cannot assure you that the Investment Manager will be able to implement its
investment decisions successfully or that it will be able to expand our portfolio at any
specified rate or to any specified size or to maintain distributions at projected levels.
The Investment Manager may not be able to make acquisitions or investments on
favorable terms or within a desired time frame, and it may not be able to manage the
operations of our underlying assets in a profitable manner. Factors that may affect this
risk may include, competition for assets, changes in the Indian regulatory or legal
environment or macro-economic conditions.

The Investment Manager may delegate certain of its functions to third parties. Should
the Investment Manager, or any third party to whom the Investment Manager has
delegated its functions, fail to perform its services, the value of our assets might be
adversely affected and this may result in a loss of tenants, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, the Investment Manager will also undertake property management for our
assets and, therefore, any change in our relationship with the Investment Manager could
affect the services provided by the Asset SPVs to their tenants.

k. Specific risks relating to operations in India:

>

A decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves may affect liquidity and interest rates in the
Indian economy, which could have an adverse impact on us. A rapid decrease in reserves
would also create a risk of higher interest rates and a consequent slowdown in growth.

Our business is highly dependent on Indian and international markets and economic
conditions. Such conditions in India include fluctuations in interest rates; changes in
consumer spending; the level of consumer confidence; housing prices; corporate or other
scandals that reduce confidence in the financial markets, among others. International
markets and economic conditions include the liquidity of global financial markets, the
level and volatility of debt and equity prices and interest rates, investor sentiment, inflation,
the availability and cost of capital and credit, and the degree to which international
economies are expanding or experiencing recessionary pressures. The independent and/or
collective fluctuation of these conditions can directly and indirectly affect demand for our
lending finance and other financial products, or increase the cost to provide such products.
Global financial markets were and continue to be extremely volatile and were materially
and adversely affected by a significant lack of liquidity, decreased confidence in the
financial sector, disruptions in the credit markets, reduced business activity, rising
unemployment, declining home prices and erosion of consumer confidence. These factors
have contributed to and may continue to adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Acts of terrorism and other similar threats to security could adversely affect our business,
cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

Natural disasters, pandemic or events of like nature could have a negative impact on the
Indian economy and damage our facilities.

Political instability or significant changes in the economic liberalization and deregulation

policies of the Government or in the government of the states where we operate, could
disrupt our business.
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» Statistical, industry and financial data in this Information Memorandum may be
incomplete or unreliable.

» Tax laws are subject to changes and differing interpretations, which may adversely affect
our operations and growth prospects.

> We are exposed to the risks of the Indian financial system, which in turn may be affected
by financial difficulties and other problems faced by certain Indian financial institutions.
Certain Indian financial institutions have experienced difficulties during recent years.
There has been a trend towards consolidation with weaker banks and non-banking financial
companies (“NBFCs”) being merged with stronger entities. The problems faced by
individual Indian financial institutions and any instability in or difficulties faced by the
Indian financial system generally could create adverse market perception about Indian
financial institutions, banks and NBFCs. This in turn could adversely affect our business,
our future financial performance, our shareholders’ funds and the market price of our
Debentures.

COVID-19 Pandemic

In the first half of 2020, the infection traced to a novel strain of coronavirus (known as COVID-
19) spread to a majority of countries across the world. On January 30, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a “Public Health Emergency of International
Concern” and on March 11, 2020 it was declared a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic and
preventative or protective actions that governmental authorities around the world have taken to
counter the effects of COVID-19, including lockdown of business and commercial operations,
social distancing, office closures, travel restrictions and the imposition of quarantines, have
resulted in a period of economic downturn and business disruption, including restrictions on
business activities and the movement of people comprising a significant portion of the world’s
population, including India.

On March 14, 2020, India declared COVID-19 as a “notified disaster” and imposed a
nationwide lockdown from March 25, 2020 onwards. The lockdown remains in force in few
cities, with limited relaxations being granted for movement of goods and people in other places.
Since all of our business and operations are located in India, the COVID-19 pandemic affects
our operations due to majority of our tenants limiting their operating staff and hours while others
opting to work from home, interruption in construction activities at our under-construction sites
due to the government directives to contain the spread of COVID-19, negative impact on the
business and financial condition of some of our tenants and their ability to pay rent. While we
did not face significant disruptions in our operations from COVID-19 during the financial year
ended March 31, 2020 and collected 99.4% of our Gross Contracted Rentals for the month of
March 2020, our properties were not fully occupied by the tenants for the months of April and
May 2020. However, we maintained and managed our properties throughout the lockdown to
ensure business continuity and safety of our tenants. As of May 31, 2020, Committed
Occupancy of our Portfolio was 92.4% and In-place Rent across our Portfolio was ¥ 52.5 psf.
We derive 99.4% of our Gross Contracted Rentals from leasing of office premises, and we have
not seen a significant decline in the rent receipts during these two months (we have collected
97.8% and 95.2% of our Gross Contracted Rentals for the months of April and May 2020,
respectively). During the months of March, April and May 2020, 1.0% of our Gross Contracted
Rentals were attributable to these industries. Further, we continue to enter into commitments
with potential tenants for securing pre-leasing as well as lease-up of vacant space in our assets.
Since April 1, 2020, we have leased 0.7 msf of area (of which 40.5% was leased to our existing
tenants and 59.5% was leased to new tenants) including pre-committed 42,567 sf of area in our
under-construction asset, Commerzone Porur. Also, we have not availed any deferments or

29



For private circulation only
Serial Number:
Addressee:

moratoriums with respect to any of our financial commitments. However, the complete extent
of pandemic’s impact on our business and operations for the fiscal year 2021 is currently
uncertain and its effect on our business and operations in the medium to long term will depend
on future developments, including the scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, the actions
to contain COVID-19, and the direct and indirect economics of the pandemic and containment
measures, among others.

In response to the pandemic and in order to promote the health and safety of tenants and visitors
to our properties, we have implemented various measures including restricting access and status
check from the Aarogya Setu App, screening with thermal cameras and infrared thermometers,
social distancing, disinfection of common areas and touch points, sanitization and hand wash
stations, ambulance on standby, signages and helpdesks to provide information on protocols to
be followed in our buildings, and isolation rooms to isolate employees with symptoms of
COVID-19. We have also undertaken infrastructure initiatives for surface disinfection and
hygiene initiatives such as vehicle disinfection, auto dispenser and biomedical waste disposal.
Further, we are in the process of evaluating and implementing additional measures, such as
upgrading the air conditioning system including ultra violet germicidal irradiation lights in air
handling unit to further enhance the air quality and ultra violet surface disinfection in our
properties. We have also equipped our maintenance staff with personal protective equipment
and trained them in COVID-19 safety protocols. We are constantly working towards solutions
that could further strengthen our COVID-19 containment measures and provide stakeholders at
our properties with a safe working environment.

We shall continue to monitor the effects of COVID-19 on our business operations, our tenants
and our suppliers.

Force Majeure Risks

The business and result of operations of the Issuer or the Asset SPV may be impacted by any
circumstance or an event which is beyond the reasonable control and anticipation of the Issuer,
the Asset SPV and/or the Debenture Holders including any event of war, aggression, incursion,
terrorism, earthquakes, hurricanes, cyclones, fires, acts of government, labour strikes, plagues,
pandemics, epidemics, acts of God or any other circumstance pursuant to which the
performance of its obligations under the Debentures becomes illegal or impractical in whole or
in part for any reason.

Structure Risks

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE ADVISED TO CAREFULLY READ THESE KEY
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE DEBENTURES. THESE RISKS ARE NOT, AND
ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE, A COMPLETE LIST OF ALL RISKS AND
CONSIDERATIONS RELEVANT TO THE DEBENTURES OR YOUR DECISION TO
PURCHASE THE DEBENTURES.

The Debentures being structured debentures are complex instruments which involve a
significant degree of risk and are intended for sale only to those Investors capable of
understanding the risks involved in such instruments. Please note that both the return on the
Debentures and the return of the principal amount in full are at risk if the Debentures are not
held till, or for any reason have to be sold or redeemed, before the final Redemption Date. The
Debentures are a principal protected product only upon maturity and are subject to the credit
risk of the Issuer.
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The Debentures are structured and are complex and an investment in such a structured product
may involve a higher risk of loss of a part of the initial investment as compared to investment
in other securities unless held till final Redemption Date. The registered Debenture holder shall
receive at least the face value of the Debentures only if the Investor holds and is able to hold
the Debentures till the final Redemption Date. Prior to investing in the Debentures, a
prospective Investor should ensure that such prospective Investor understands the nature of all
the risks associated with the investment in order to determine whether the investment is suitable
for such prospective Investor in light of such prospective Investor’s experience, objectives,
financial position and other relevant circumstances. Prospective Investors should independently
consult with their legal, regulatory, tax, financial and/or accounting advisors to the extent the
prospective Investor considers necessary in order to make their own investment decisions.

An investment in the Debentures where the payment of premium (if any), and/or coupon and/or
other consideration (if any) payable or deliverable thereon is determined by reference to one or
more equity or debt securities, indices, baskets, formulas or other assets or basis of reference
will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional fixed rate or floating rate debt
security. Such risks include, without limitation, changes in the level or value of the relevant
underlying equity or debt securities or basket or index or indices of equity or debt securities or
other underlying asset or basis of reference and the holder of the Debentures may receive a
lower (or no) amount of premium, coupon or other consideration than the holder expected. The
Issuer has no control over a number of matters that are important in determining the existence,
magnitude and longevity of such risks and their results, including, but not limited to, economic,
financial and political events. In addition, if an index or formula used to determine any amounts
payable or deliverable in respect of the Debentures contains a multiplier or leverage factor, the
effect of any change in such index or formula will be magnified. In recent times, the values of
certain indices, baskets and formulas have been volatile and volatility in those and other indices,
baskets and formulas may occur in the future.

Model Risk

Investment in the Debentures is subject to model risk. The Debentures are created on the basis
of complex mathematical models involving multiple derivative exposures which may or may
not be hedged and the actual behaviour of the securities selected for hedging may significantly
differ from the returns predicted by the mathematical models.

Risks relating to Debentures due to linkages to the reference asset

An investment in any series of Debentures that has payments of principal, coupon or both,
indexed to the value of any equity share, index or any other rate, asset or index, or a basket
including one or more of the foregoing and /or to the number of observation of such value
falling within or outside a pre- stipulated range (each of the foregoing, a “Reference Value”)
will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional fixed rate or floating rate debt
security. Such risks include, without limitation, changes in the applicable Reference Value and
how such changes will impact the amount of any principal or coupon payments linked to the
applicable Reference Value. The Issuer has no control over a number of matters that are
important in determining the existence, magnitude and longevity of such risks and their results,
including economic, financial and political events. Past performance of any Reference Value to
which any principal or coupon payments may be linked is not necessarily indicative of future
performance. Investors should be aware that a Reference Value may go down as well as up
and/or be volatile and the resulting impact such changes will have on the amount of any
principal or coupon payments will depend on the applicable index formula. The registered
Debenture holder shall receive at least the face value of the Debenture only if the Investor holds
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and is able to hold the Debentures and the Debentures are not sold or redeemed or bought back
till the final Redemption Date.

If so specified, the early redemption amount, if any, may in certain circumstances be determined
by the Valuation Agency (Debentures) based upon the market value of the Debentures less any
costs associated with unwinding any hedge positions relating to the particular series of
Debentures. In the event the terms and conditions do not provide for a minimum redemption
amount even in the event of an early redemption, then on such occurrence a holder may receive
less than 100.00% of the principal amount. In case of principal/capital protected market linked
debentures, the principal amount is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer whereby the registered
Debenture holder may or may not recover all or part of the funds in case of default by the Issuer.
However, if the Debentures are held till the final Redemption Date, subject to credit risk of the
Issuer, the registered Debenture holder of the Debenture will receive at least the principal
amount.

The Debentures are likely to be less liquid than conventional fixed or floating rate debt
instruments. No representation will be made as to the existence of a market for a series of
Debentures. While the Issuer intends under ordinary market conditions to indicate and/or
procure indication of prices for any such Debentures there can be no assurance as to the prices
that would be indicated or that the Issuer will offer and/or cause to purchase any Debentures.
The price given, if any, will be affected by many factors including, but not limited to, the
remaining term and outstanding principal amount of the particular series of Debentures, the
level of the Reference Value, fluctuations in interest rates and/or in exchange rates, volatility in
the Reference Value used to calculate the amount of any coupon or principal payments, and
credit spreads. Consequently, prospective Investors must be prepared to hold any series of
Debentures for an indefinite period of time or until the redemption or maturity of the
Debentures. Trading levels of any Debentures will be influenced by, among other things, the
relative level and performance of the applicable Reference Value and the factors described
above.

qg. No Claim against reference asset

The Debenture holders do not have any interest in or rights to the underlying assets, indices or
securities to which Debentures relate.

Unless otherwise stated, references to “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms are to Mindspace Business
Parks REIT.
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ISSUER INFORMATION

ABOUT THE ISSUER

Name

Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Date of registration of Issuer with
SEBI as Real Estate Investment
Trust (REIT)

December 10, 2019

Principal Place of Business of the
Issuer

Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Corporate Office of the Issuer

Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Chief Financial Officer of the
Investment Manager of the Issuer

Ms. Preeti Chheda

Compliance Officer of the Investment
Manager of the Issuer

Name: Mr. Vishal Kumar

Designation:  Compliance Officer

Address: Raheja Tower

Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30

Bandra Kurla Complex

Mumbai - 400 051

Maharashtra, India

Phone No.:+91 99877 79681, +91 22 2656 5748

E mail id: bondcompliance@mindspacereit.com

Trustee of the Issue

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent of the
Issue

Link Intime India Private Limited

Credit Rating Agency(ies) of the CRISIL Limited

Debentures

Valuation Agency for the Debentures | CRISIL Limited

Auditors of the Issuer Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered
Accountants

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS / ACTIVITIES OF THE ISSUER AND ITS LINE

OF BUSINESS

Overview

Mindspace REIT was settled on November 18, 2019 at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India as a
contributory determinate irrevocable trust under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882,
pursuant to a trust deed dated November 18, 2019. Mindspace REIT was registered with SEBI on
December 10, 2019, at Mumbai as a REIT pursuant to the REIT Regulations having registration
number IN/REIT/19-20/0003. Mindspace REIT has been settled by the Sponsors for an initial sum
of ¥ 10,000. As on date of this Information Memorandum:

e CTL and ACL are the sponsors of Mindspace REIT,;

o K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (held by Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja,
as the partners) has been appointed as the Investment Manager to Mindspace REIT; and

o Axis Trustee Services Limited has been appointed as the Trustee to Mindspace REIT.
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Pursuant to the Formation Transactions, assets forming part of the Portfolio are held by Mindspace
REIT through the Group SPVs. The following illustration sets out the relationship between
Mindspace REIT, the REIT Trustee, the Investment Manager and the Group SPVs.
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Mindspace REIT Structure
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Note:
1. % indicates Mindspace REIT’s shareholding in respective Group SPVs.
2. 11% shareholding in Sundew, Intime and KRIT is held by APIIC.
3. KRC Infra will commence facility management division with effect from October 01, 2020
under the brand name “CAMPLUS”.

We own a quality office portfolio located in four key office markets of India. Our Portfolio has
Total Leasable Area of 29.5 msf. Our Portfolio comprises 23.0 msf of Completed Area, 2.8 msf of
Under Construction Area and 3.6 msf of Future Development Area, as of March 31, 2020. Our
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Portfolio has five integrated business parks with superior infrastructure and amenities (such as
restaurants, créches and outdoor sports arenas) and five quality independent offices. Our assets
provide a community-based ecosystem and we believe that they have been developed to meet the
evolving standards of tenants and the demands of “new age businesses”, which makes them among
the preferred options for both multinational and domestic corporations.

We believe that the scale and quality of our Portfolio has given us a market leading position and
replicating a similar portfolio of large-scale, integrated business parks by other players may be
challenging due to long development timelines and a lack of similar sized aggregated land parcels
in comparable locations. We are committed to tenant service and developing long-standing
relationships with our occupiers. We have also implemented various sustainability initiatives
across our Portfolio, with a focus on clean energy and recycling that enable our tenants to enjoy an
efficient working environment.

Our Portfolio is located in Mumbai Region, Hyderabad, Pune and Chennai (“Portfolio Markets”).
We believe that our assets are located in the established micro-markets of their respective Portfolio
Markets, with proximity and/or connectivity to major business, social and transportation
infrastructure.

As of March 31, 2020, our Portfolio is well diversified with 172 tenants and no single tenant
contributed more than 7.7% of our Gross Contracted Rentals. Furthermore, as of March 31, 2020,
approximately 84.9% of our Gross Contracted Rentals were derived from leading multinational
corporations and approximately 39.4% from Fortune 500 companies. Our tenant base comprises a
mix of multinational and Indian corporates.

Our Portfolio is stabilized with 92.0% Committed Occupancy and a WALE of 5.8 years, as of
March 31, 2020, which provides long-term visibility to our revenues. Our focus on offering a
comprehensive ecosystem through optimal density and well-amenitized parks to tenants that
provide high value-added services has enabled our assets to outperform in their respective micro-
markets. For example, at our Mindspace Airoli East and Mindspace Airoli West properties, we
have achieved average power cost savings (approximately between % 3.0 and ¥ 6.0 psf per month
for fiscal year 2020) for our tenants through in-house distribution of power. Our Committed
Occupancy is 240 bps higher than average occupancy in our Portfolio Markets, as of March 31,
2020.

We believe our Portfolio is well positioned to achieve further organic growth through a
combination of rent commencement from leased out space which is contracted, as of March 31,
2020, and has not generated rental income for the full year during fiscal year 2020, contractual rent
escalations, lease-up of vacant space, re-leasing at market rents (considering the Market Rent
across our Portfolio we estimate to realize mark to market of approximately 22.6% above the
average In-place Rent, as of March 31, 2020), and new construction within our Portfolio to
accommodate tenant demand. Our Portfolio’s NOI is projected to grow by 59.2% over the
Projections Period, primarily due to these factors.

Between April 1, 2017 and March 31, 2020, through our operating expertise, we have:

. leased 7.6 msf of office space; achieved average re-leasing spreads of 28.9% on 3.0 msf
of re-leased space and leased 4.6 msf of new area (including Pre-Leased Area and
Committed Area, as of March 31, 2020) to 60 tenants; achieved re-leasing spread of 23.1%
for 1.1 msf of area re-leased during fiscal year 2020;
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o grown our Portfolio by 4.9 msf primarily through strategic on-campus development of our
business parks;

. maintained consistently high Occupancy and achieved Committed Occupancy of 92.0% ;
° grown In-place Rent of our Portfolio at a CAGR of 6.7% and
° undertaken strategic renovations, such as lobby and facade upgrades and addition of cafes,

food courts and boardwalks, at certain assets, to improve tenant experience. We have
cumulatively invested ¥ 737.0 million to renovate our Portfolio, as of March 31, 2020.

We are managed by the Investment Manager that is led by Mr. Vinod Rohira, our chief executive
officer, who has approximately 20 years of experience in the real estate industry and supported by
a seven-member core team with an experience in operating, developing, leasing and managing
commercial real estate in India. Our Sponsors are part of the KRC group, a leading real estate
company in India with approximately four decades of experience in developing and managing real
estate in India. As of March 31, 2020, the KRC group has acquired and/or developed properties
across various businesses (approximately 28.5 msf of commercial projects, six operational malls,
2,554 operational hotel keys and residential projects across five cities in India). In addition, KRC
group operates 278 retail outlets across India, as of March 31, 2020.

Our Portfolio

Table below shows certain key financial and operational metrics of our Portfolio, as of March 31,

2020.
Portfolio Type of Total Committed | WALE Revenue Market % of
asset Leasable | Occupancy | (Years) from Value Total
Area (%) Operations ® Market
(msf) for FY 2020 | million) | Value
(X million)
Mumbai 12.1 86.5% 5.7 6,600 92,022 | 38.9%
Region
Mindspace Business 6.8 98.0% 4.8 3,569 43,107 | 18.2%
Airoli East Park
Mindspace Business 4.5 72.3% 8.1 2,269 35,205 14.9%
Airoli West Park
Paradigm Independent 0.7 93.8% 3.3 762 9,409 4.0%
Mindspace Office
Malad
The Square, Independent 0.1 - - - 4,302 1.8%
BKC® Office
Hyderabad 11.6 97.4% 5.5 6,237 90,570 | 38.3%
Mindspace Business 10.6 97.6% 5.6 6,107 37.0%
Madhapur Park 87,5850
Mindspace Independent 1.0 92.4% 2.9 130 2,984 1.3%
Pocharam Office
Pune 5.0 90.0% 7.0 4,823 42,681 | 18.0%
Commerzone Business 1.7 99.9% 5.6 1,611 19,100 8.1%
Yerwada Park
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Gera Business 2.6 71.3% 10.9 2,296 15,486 6.5%
Commerzone Park

Kharadi

The Square, Independent 0.7 100.0% 55 916 8,094 3.4%
Nagar Road Office

Chennai 0.8 - - - 5,946 2.5%
Commerzone | Independent 0.8 - - - 5,946 2.5%
Porur Office

Facility Management Division® 5,532 2.3%
Total | 205® | 92.0% | 58 17,660 236,751 | 100%

@

@
®

4

®)

The Market Value of Mindspace Madhapur is with respect to 89.0% ownership of the respective
Group SPVs that own Mindspace Madhapur.

The Square, BKC was acquired by us in August 2019 and is currently not leased.

The facility management division with approximately 140 employees will be housed in one of
the Group SPVs, KRC Infra, with effect from October 1, 2020.

Includes 23.0 msf of Completed Area, 2.8 msf of Under Construction Area and 3.6 msf of Future
Development Area.

While Mindspace Airoli East has aggregate development potential of 2.1 msf, Mindspace REIT
has currently formulated development plans for 0.9 msf and, accordingly, only 0.9 msf of the
future development area has been considered for the purpose of valuation.

The Total Market Value of our Portfolio, which comprises Market Value of the Portfolio and the
facility management division, as of March 31, 2020, as per the Valuer, is ¥ 236,751 million.

1. Corporate Structure

Mindspace REIT was settled on November 18, 2019 at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India as a
contributory determinate irrevocable trust under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882,
pursuant to a trust deed dated November 18, 2019. Mindspace REIT was registered with SEBI on
December 10, 2019, at Mumbai as a REIT pursuant to the REIT Regulations having registration
number IN/REIT/19-20/0003. Mindspace REIT has been settled by the Sponsors for an initial sum
of ¥ 10,000. The present corporate structure of the Issuer as on date is as follows:

. As a percentage
Category Category of Unit Holder N ﬁf =l or‘:‘ total ’
eld . .
Unitholding
Sponsors / Investment Manager and
(A) their associates/ related parties and 374,897,081 63.22
Sponsor Group
B Public Holding 218,121,101 36.78
Total Units Outstanding 593,018,182 100.00
(C)=(A) +(B)

*All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form

Key Operational and Financial Parameters for the last three audited years

Given that the Issuer was settled as a Trust on November 18, 2019, Standalone Financial

Statements for FY 2018-19 and FY 2017-18 are not available. The Standalone Financial

Statement of the Issuer for FY 19-20 and the Condensed Combined Financial Statements of
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Mindspace Business Parks Group for FY 19-20, FY 18-19 and FY 17 -18 are attached at
Schedule 4. The key operational and financial parameters as per the Standalone Financial
Statements for FY 2019-20 on standalone basis for the Issuer, are set out below.

(Amount in INR Million)

FY 2019-

Parameters 20
Net Worth (48.85)*
Total debt (includes liabilities for finance lease) -
Of which-Non Current Maturities of Long Term -
Borrowing
-Short Term Borrowing -
-Current Maturities of Long Term Borrowing -
Net Fixed Assets }
Non Current Assets -
Cash and Cash Equivalents 0.01
Current Investments -
Total Current Assets 0.01
Current Liabilities 48.86
Interest Income -
Finance Cost -
PAT (Concern share) (48.86)
Gross NPA (%) NA
Net NPA (%) NA
Leverage Ratio NA
Net sales NA
EBITDA (48.86)
EBIT (48.86)
Finance cost -
PAT (Concern share) (48.86)
Dividend Amounts (excludes DDT) )
Current Ratio 0.00
Interest Service Coverage Ratio NA
Gross debt / equity ratio NA
Debt service coverage ratio NA

*N.B.: THE ABOVE DATA IS AS PER THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FY2019-
20 AS OF MARCH 31, 2020. SINCE THEN, THE ISSUER HAS UNDERTAKEN AN
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING ON JULY 30, 2020 AND AUGUST 4, 2020 OF ITS UNITS

WHEREIN IT RECEIVED PRIMARY EQUITY INFUSION OF UPTO INR 1000,00,00,000
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VI.

(INDIAN RUPEES TEN BILLION). POST THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER, THE
STANDALONE NET WORTH OF THE ISSUER AS ON DATE IS IN EXCESS OF INR
100,00,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE BILLION). THEREFORE, THE KEY
OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL PARAMETERS OF THE ISSUER ARE IN
COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUISITE NET WORTH RATIO PRESCRIBED UNDER
THE SEBI MLD REGULATIONS.

Gross Debt: Equity ratio of the Issuer as on March 31, 2020.

Amount in Million

As on March 31, 2020
Standalone

Before the issue

Gross Debt N.A.

Total Equity (48.85)

Gross Debt : Equity ratio (before Issue) N.A.

Issue size N.A.

Gross Debt : Equity ratio after Issue (provisional) N.A.

Project cost and means of financing, in case of funding of new projects

Not applicable

BRIEF HISTORY OF THE ISSUER SINCE ITS REGISTRATION GIVING DETAILS OF
THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

Details of Units issued as on date:

Pursuant to the initial public offer of Units by the Issuer, the Issuer allotted 163,636,200 Units at
an offer price of ¥ 275 per Unit and 593,018,182 Units are outstanding as on date.

Changes in the capital structure of the Issuer as on last quarter end, for the last five years —

The Issuer allotted its Units on July 30, 2020 and August 4, 2020 pursuant to the initial public offer
of Units. Thus, there were no units as on quarter ending March 31, 2020, i.e. the last quarter end of
FY 2019-20.

*N.B.: THE ISSUER HAD ALLOTTED NO UNITS BEFORE JULY 30, 2020 SAVE AND
EXCEPT THE INITIAL CONTRIBUTION OF INR 10,000 (RUPEES TEN THOUSAND)
MADE BY THE SPONSORS, IN LIEU OF WHICH NO UNITS WERE PREVIOUSLY
ALLOTTED.

Date of change i.e. the | Equity Value Particulars
date of the annual
general meeting / extra-
ordinary general
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VII.

VIII.

meeting / Board /
Committee Meeting
N.A. N.A. N.A.
The Issuer, being a REIT, does not have an authorised capital.

Unit capital history of the Issuer as on last quarter end, for the last five years

The Issuer allotted its Units on July 30, 2020 and August 4, 2020 as set out below.

Date of No. of Units | Offer | Consideration | Nature of Cumulative | Remarks
Allotment price | (Cash other allotment number of
per than cash, Units

Unit etc)
(in¥)

July 30, 556,654,582 275 | Other than | Allotment 556,654,582
2020 cash pursuant to
the
Formation
Transactions
by swap of
shares of the
Group SPVs

August 4, 36,363,600 275 Cash | Allotment 59,30,18,182
2020 pursuant to
the initial
public offer
of Units of
the Issuer

* The securities being Units of a real estate investment trust do not have a face value and
accordingly, details of face value and premium in respect of Units have not been disclosed.
** The Issuer had no Units before the initial public offer of the Units on July 30, 2020.

Details of any acquisition or amalgamation in the last one year

Pursuant to the consummation of the Formation Transactions, the Issuer acquired the shares of the
Group SPVs from the Sponsor Group and the BREP Entities.

Details of reorganization or reconstruction in the last one year

The Asset SPV filed a petition on October 24, 2019 before the NCLT, Mumbai for capital
reduction in order to set off the accumulated losses carried forward by the Asset SPV in its financial
statements against the securities premium account, which was approved by NCLT, Mumbai
through its order dated March 12, 2020 and received certificate from Registrar of Companies,
Mumbai on June 11, 2020. The Asset SPV has given effect to this capital reduction in the financial
statements for the financial year ending March 31, 2020.

Details of the unitholding of the Issuer as on last quarter end

(i)  Unitholding pattern of the Issuer as on last quarter end

The Issuer allotted its Units on July 30, 2020 and August 4, 2020. Accordingly, the
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unitholding pattern as on last quarter ended (being, June 30, 2020) is not available, since the
Issuer had not issued any Units prior to June 30, 2020. The unitholding pattern as on
September 18, 2020 is set out below:

Category

Category of Unit Holder

No. of Units Held

As a percentage of
total Unitholding

Sponsors / Investment Manager and their

(A) associates/ related parties and Sponsor
Group
Q) Indian
@) Individuals/ HUF 85,105,048 1435
(b) Central/ State Government 0.00
(©) Financial Institutions/ Banks 0.00
(d) Any other (Trust) 0.00
(e) Bodies corporate 289.792,033 48.87
Total Indian Unit Holding Sub- Total (A)
(1) 374,897,081 63.22
(2 Foreign 0.00
@) :ndividuals (Non Resident Indians/ Foreign 0.00
ndividuals)
(b) Foreign Government 0.00
(c) Institutions 0.00
(d) Foreign Portfolio Investors 0.00
(e) Other foreign unit holding 0.00
Total Foreign unit holding sub - Total (A) 0.00
() i '
Total Unitholding of Sponsor & Sponsor 374,897,081
Group 63.22
(A) = (A)D) + (A)2)
B Public Holding
@ Institutions
(@) Mutual Funds 1,541,200 0.26
(b) Financial Institutions/ Banks 0.00
(©) Central/ State Government 0.00
(d) Venture Capital Funds 0.00
(e) Insurance Companies 0.00
()] Provident/ Pension Funds 0.00
(0) Foreign Portfolio Investors 108,343,600 18.27
(h) Foreign Venture Capital Investors 0.00
(M Any others 0.00
() Bodies corporate 54,595,301 921
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As a percentage of

() =(A) +(B)

Category Category of Unit Holder No. of Units Held total Unitholding
(k) Alternative Investment Funds 8.964.600 151
Total institutions unit holding Sub- Total
(B) (V) 173,444,701 29.25
(2) Non-Institutions
@) Central Government/ State Government/ 0.00
President of India '
(b) | Individuals 23,623,711 3.98
(© NBFCs registered with RBI 1.957 200 021
(d) Other non-institutions unit holding 0.00
(€) | Trusts 15,600 0.00
()] Non-Resident Indians 564.800 010
(9) Clearing Members 2611.105 0.44
(h) Bodies corporate 16.603.984 280
Total non-Institutions Sub- Total (B) (2) 44,676,400 7.53
Total Public Unit Holding
218,121,101 36.78
(B)=(B)1) + (B)(2)
Total Units Outstanding 593.018.182 100.00

*N.B.: NO UNITS HAVE BEEN ALLOTTED BY THE ISSUER FOR THE INITIAL
SETTLEMENT AMOUNT OF ¥ 10,000 PAID BY THE SPONSORS

* All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form

Notes: Units pledged or encumbered by the Sponsors and Sponsor Group (if any) -

1. Sponsors

a) ACL has created a non-disposal undertaking over 25,203,273 Units aggregating to
4.25 % of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

b) CTL has created a non-disposal undertaking over 25,203,273 Units aggregating to
4.25 % of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

2. Sponsor Group

a) Mr. Chandra L. Raheja has created a pledge over 32527465 Units aggregating to
5.49% of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.
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XI.

b)

€)

Raghukool Estate Development LLP has created a pledge over 17731322 Units
aggregating to 2.99% of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

Palm Shelter Estate Development LLP has created a pledge over 27190548 Units
aggregating to 4.59% of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

K Raheja Corp Private Limited has created a pledge over 36058116 Units
aggregating to 6.08% of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

Genext Hardware & Parks Pvt. Ltd. has created a pledge over 22886731 Units
aggregating to 3.86% of the total outstanding Units of Mindspace REIT.

(i) List of top 10 holders of Units of the Issuer as on the latest quarter end

The Issuer allotted its Units on August 4, 2020 pursuant to the initial offer of Units. Accordingly,
the list of top 10 holders of Unit as on last quarter ended (being, June 30 2020) is not available.
The unitholding pattern of the top 10 holders of Units of the Issuer as date is set out below:

S. Name of the Unitholder Total Total unitholding as a % of
No. number total no. of Units
of Units
1.| BREP ASIA SG PEARL HOLDING
(NQ) PTELTD 54,291,425 9.16%
2.| CHANDRU LACHMANDAS
RAHEJA 41,399,037 6.98%
3.| PALM SHELTER ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT LLP 41,095,719 6.93%
4.
CAPSTAN TRADING LLP 41,095,719 6.93%
5.
CASA MARIA PROPERTIES LLP 41,095.719 6.93%

6. RAGHUKOOL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT LLP 36,212,069 6.11%

CAPE TRADING LLP

35,404,890 5.97%

8.| KRAHEJA CORP PRIVATE
LIMITED 35,094,390 5.92%

9.

ANBEE CONSTRUCTIONS LLP 29.526,221 4.98%
140 GENEXT HARDWARE AND

PARKS PRIVATE LTD 22,886,731 3.86%

All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form

Parties to the Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Sponsors
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The Sponsors of Mindspace REIT are Anbee Constructions LLP (“ACL”) and Cape Trading LLP
(“CTL”). Both the Sponsors are LLPs incorporated under the Limited Liability Partnership Act,
2008 (as amended from time to time, the “LLP Act”), at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India.

Both ACL and CTL form part of the KRC group, which is one of India’s leading real estate
development and retail business groups, with experience of over four decades in developing and
operating assets across commercial, hospitality, retail, malls and residential segments. KRC group
has acquired and/or developed properties across various businesses of approximately 28.5 million
square feet of commercial real estate, as of March 31, 2020.

ACL and CTL were one of the promoters of certain Group SPVs which are Intime Properties
Limited, Sundew Properties Limited, K. Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited, Mindspace Business
Parks Private Limited and Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited. In addition to
the above mentioned Group SPVs, ACL and CTL are also one of the promoters of certain other
entities which are engaged in hospitality, malls, residential and retail real estate development. These
entities include Chalet Hotels Limited, Inorbit Malls (India) Private Limited, Shoppers Stop
Limited and K Raheja Corp Private Limited.

Each of Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are one of the partners of both ACL and CTL
.Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja have over 20 years of experience in real estate
development activities. Both Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are the group presidents
of the KRC group. Both Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are one of the promoters of
various entities in the KRC group including Chalet Hotels Limited (owner, developer and asset
manager of six high-end operating hotels comprising 2,554 keys, as of March 31, 2020), Inorbit
Malls (India) Private Limited (retail real estate arm of KRC group with six operating malls across
Mumbai Region, Hyderabad, Bengaluru and VVadodara), K Raheja Corp Private Limited, Shoppers
Stop Limited (retail arm of KRC group with a footprint of 278 retail outlets across India, as of
March 31, 2020) and other companies housing some of the residential projects of the KRC Group.
The significant commercial real estate development projects spearheaded by Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
and Mr. Neel C. Raheja include Mindspace Madhapur in Hyderabad, Mindspace Airoli East and
Mindspace Airoli West in Mumbai Region.

The Sponsor Group
For a list of the entities forming part of the Sponsor Group, see “Glossary”.
The Investment Manager

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP was incorporated under the LLP Act on February 26,
2018 with LLP identification number AAM-1179. Pursuant to the Investment Management
Agreement, K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP has been appointed as the manager of
Mindspace REIT in accordance with the REIT Regulations.

The partners of the Investment Manager entered into an LLP agreement dated March 7, 2018, to
enable the Investment Manager to (i) provide fund, investment, asset, portfolio and project
management services, (ii) undertake development of real estate, (iii) provide any other type of
services to manage, administer or advise trust or funds including REITS, infrastructure investment
trusts, whether in India or outside India.

The REIT Trustee and Investment Manager have executed the Investment Management Agreement,

under which various powers, duties, rights and liabilities of the Investment Manager have been

prescribed in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Investment Manager has been appointed

by the REIT Trustee, based on the recommendation of the Sponsors. In accordance with the
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Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is, inter alia, empowered to (i)
manage Mindspace REIT and the Trust Fund and to render investment management services to
Mindspace REIT in accordance with the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the
REIT Regulations and other applicable laws, (ii) provide (either by itself or by any other entity
which may be identified) property management and other support services to Mindspace REIT and
the Group SPVs and/or holding company (as defined under the REIT Regulations) , (iii) manage
the day-to-day affairs of Mindspace REIT and provide other services in accordance with the
provisions of the Investment Management Agreement and the REIT Regulations and (iv) make,
originate, negotiate, acquire, manage, monitor, oversee and sell or otherwise dispose of investments
undertaken by Mindspace REIT, in accordance with the provisions of the REIT Documents (as
defined in the Investment Management Agreement) and applicable law.

The REIT Trustee

AXis Trustee Services Limited is the REIT Trustee of Mindspace REIT. The REIT Trustee is a
registered intermediary with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Debenture
Trustees) Regulations, 1993, as a debenture trustee having registration number IND000000494
which is valid until suspended or cancelled by SEBI. The REIT Trustee is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Axis Bank Limited.

As the REIT Trustee, it ensures compliance with statutory requirements and believes in ethical
standards and best practices in corporate governance. It aims to provide best services in the industry
with its well trained and professionally qualified staff. The REIT Trustee is involved in varied facets
of debenture and bond trusteeships, including, advisory functions and management functions. The
REIT Trustee also acts as a security trustee and is involved in providing services with respect to
security creation, compliance and holding security on behalf of lenders. The REIT Trustee is also
involved in providing services as (i) a facility agent for complex structured transactions with advice
on suitability of the transaction on operational aspects; (ii) an escrow agent; (iii) a trustee to
Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) Regulations, 2012; (iv) custodian of
documents as a safe keeper; and (v) monitoring agency.

The Sponsors and the REIT Trustee have executed the Trust Deed, under which various powers,
duties, rights and liabilities of the REIT Trustee have been prescribed in accordance with the Indian
Trusts Act, 1882, the REIT Regulations and the applicable SEBI Guidelines. The REIT Trustee
shall hold the Trust Fund in the name of Mindspace REIT and for the benefit of the Unitholders.
The power to manage and operate the Trust Fund is entrusted by the REIT Trustee to the Investment
Manager under the Investment Management Agreement; provided that the REIT Trustee shall at all
times remain responsible to oversee the management of the Trust Fund in accordance with the
provisions of the REIT Documents (as defined under the Trust Deed) and REIT Regulations. The
REIT Trustee, on the advice of the Investment Manager, may, subject to the provisions of the REIT
Documents and applicable law, if it deems expedient, from time to time, review, revise, amend,
vary or alter the investment strategy and objective of Mindspace REIT in accordance with the Trust
Deed. To the extent that the powers, rights and/ or obligations of the REIT Trustee under the Trust
Deed have been entrusted to the Investment Manager (under the Investment Management
Agreement), the REIT Trustee shall not engage in the day to day operations and management of
Mindspace REIT and shall be entitled to exercise such powers, rights and/ or obligations only where
required by applicable law or in the event of failure / inability of the Investment Manager to exercise
such powers, rights and/ or obligations or in the event that the Investment Manager specifically
refers any such matter to the REIT Trustee.
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XIlI.

XIII.

Brief particulars of the management of the Issuer:

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP has
been appointed as the Investment Manager of Mindspace REIT to: (i) manage the assets and
investments of Mindspace REIT; (ii) render investment management services; (iii) undertake
operational and administrative activities of Mindspace REIT; and (iv) cause the issuance and listing
of the Units on Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to Regulation 10(4) of the REIT Regulations, the Investment Manager is required to
undertake the management of the assets forming part of the REIT including lease management and
maintenance of the assets either directly or through the appointment and supervision of appropriate
agents. Accordingly, the Investment Manager will also be responsible for supervision of third party
service providers through its representatives forming part of the board of directors of the Group
SPVs.

Accordingly, the Investment Manager provides property management services and certain key
support services for the operation (including finance, taxation and marketing) to Mindspace REIT.
The facility management services for each of the other Group SPVs shall be carried out by KRC
Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited, one of the Group SPVs, under “CAMPLUS” brand
from the first day of the quarter following listing of Units on the Stock Exchange. The future
development management services and certain support services (human resources, information
technology, administration and other ancillary and day-to-day services in relation thereto) is
provided by K. Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited.

Following details regarding the members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager

(i)  Details of the current members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager

Name, Designation and Age Address Member of the Details of other

DIN Governing Directorships*
Board of the (Details of Indian
Investment Companies in which
Manager since | a person is Director

is provided)
Mr. Deepak Ghaisas 63 B/61-62, November 20, Shoppers Stop Limited
(Chairman — Independent | years Swapnashilp 2019
Member) Mahant Road, Vile USV Private Limited
Parle East,
DIN: 00001811 Mumbai 400 057, Bhogale Automotive
Maharashtra, India Private Limited
Citicorp Finance

(India) Limited

Sarvatra Technologies
Private Limited

Healthbridge Advisors
Private Limited
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Name, Designation and
DIN

Age

Address

Member of the
Governing
Board of the
Investment
Manager since

Details of other
Directorships*
(Details of Indian
Companies in which
a person is Director
is provided)

Hariom Infrafacilities
Services Private
Limited

GCV Life
Limited

Private
Cogencis Information
Services Limited

Chitpavan Foundation
Gencoval

Services
Limited

Strategic
Private

Stemade Biotech

Private Limited

Ms. Manisha Girotra
(Independent Member)

DIN: 00774574

51
years

71, Chitrakoot,
Altamount Road,
Mumbai — 400

026,

Mabharashtra, India

November 20,
2019

Ashok Leyland
Limited

Jio Payments Bank
Limited

Moelis & Company
India Private Limited

Mr. Bobby Parikh
(Independent Member)

DIN: 00019437

56
years

4, Seven of the
Hill, Auxilium
Convent Road,
Bandra West,
Mumbai 400 050,

Maharashtra, India

December 17,
2019

Biocon Limited

Indostar Capital
Finance Limited

Infosys Limited

Biocon Biologics
India Limited

Aditya Birla Sun Life
AMC Limited

Aviva Life Insurance
Company India Ltd
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Name, Designation and Age Address Member of the Details of other
DIN Governing Directorships*
Board of the (Details of Indian
Investment Companies in which
Manager since | a person is Director
is provided)

BMR Business
Solutions Private
Limited

Taxand Advisors
Private Limited

BMR Global Services
Private Limited

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja 48 Raheja HSE, July 18, 2019 Shoppers Stop Limited
(Non-independent years Auxilium Convent
member) Road Pali Hill Chalet Hotels Limited
Bandra West,
Mumbai K.Raheja Private
DIN: 00028044 Limited

Inorbit Malls (India)
Private Limited

Trion Properities
Private Limited

K.Raheja IT Park
(Hyderabad) Limited

Intime Properties
Limited

K Raheja Corp Private
Limited

Ivory Properties And
Hotels Private Limited

Support Properties
Private Limited

Sundew Properties
Limited

Whispering  Heights
Real Estate Private
Limited
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Name, Designation and
DIN

Age

Address

Member of the
Governing
Board of the
Investment
Manager since

Details of other
Directorships*
(Details of Indian
Companies in which
a person is Director
is provided)

Genext Hardware &
Parks Private Limited

K Reheja Hotels and
Estates Private Limited

Mr. Neel C. Raheja
(Non-independent
member)

DIN: 00029010

46
years

4" Floor, Raheja
House, Auxilium
Convent Road Pali
Hill Bandra West,
Mumbai

July 18, 2019

Shoppers Stop Limited
Chalet Hotels Limited

K.Raheja Private

Limited

Inorbit Malls (India)
Private Limited

Trion Properities
Private Limited

K.Raheja IT Park
(Hyderabad) Limited

Intime
Limited

Properties

K Raheja Corp Private
Limited
Eternus Real Estate
Private Limited

Ivory Properties And
Hotels Private Limited

Sundew
Limited

Properties

Genext Hardware &
Parks Private Limited

K Reheja Hotels and
Estates Private
Limited

Mr. Alan Miyasaki
(Non-independent
member)

44
years

8, Orange Grove
Road, #10-01,

December 17,
2019

Nil

50




Name, Designation and Age Address Member of the Details of other
DIN Governing Directorships*
Board of the (Details of Indian
Investment Companies in which
Manager since | a person is Director
is provided)
Singapore —
DIN: N.A. 258342

Note: Issuer to disclose hame of the current directors who are appearing in the RBI defaulter list and/
or ECGC default list, if any:
None of the current members of the governing board of the Investment Manager, are appearing in
the RBI defaulter list and/or ECGC default list.

(i)  Details of change in the members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager since

last three years

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager was constituted on July 18, 2019 and the
members of the Governing Board were appointed on different dates as specified in paragraph
XII1 (i) above. There has been no change in the members of the Governing Board of the
Investment Manager since their appointment.

X1V. Management’s perception of Risk Factors:

Please refer to the section titled “Risk Factors” above of the Information Memorandum.

XV. Following details regarding the auditors of the Issuer

(i)  Auditors of the Issuer

Elphinstone Mill Compound, Elphinstone (W)

Mumbai - 400 013
Maharashtra, India

Name Address Auditor Since
Deloitte Haskins & Indiabulls Finance Centre, Tower 3 FY 2019-20. The
Sells, LLP 271-32™ Floor, Senapati Bapat Marg resolution of the

governing board of
the Investment
Manager is annexed
with this Information
Memorandum as
Schedule 6.

(ii) Details of change in auditor since last three years

N/A

XVI. Details of Borrowings of the Issuer, as on last quarter end

(i) Details of secured loan facilities - Nil

(if) Details of unsecured loan facilities - Nil

51




(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Details of non-convertible debentures - Nil
List of Top 10 Debenture holders - Nil

The amount of corporate guarantee issued by the Issuer along with the name of the counter
party (like name of subsidiary, JV entity, group company, etc.) on behalf of whom it has
been issued - Nil

Details of Commercial Paper — The total face value of commercial papers outstanding as
on the latest quarter end - Nil

Details of all default/s and/or delay in payments of interest and principal of any kind of term
loans, debt securities and other financial indebtedness including corporate guarantee
issued by the Company, in the past 5 years - Nil

Rest of the borrowing of the Issuer (if any including hybrid debt like FCCB, Optionally
Convertible Debentures / Preference Shares ) as on date — NIL

Details of any outstanding borrowings taken/ debt securities issued where taken / issued (i)
for consideration other than cash, whether in whole or part, (ii) at a premium or discount,
or (iii) in pursuance of an option: Nil

XVII. Details of the Sponsors of the Issuer
(i) Details of Sponsors’ holding of the Issuer as on the latest quarter end
The lIssuer allotted its Units, pursuant to the swap of shares of the Group SPVs held by
members of the Sponsor Group and BREP Entities on July 30, 2020. Further, the Issuer
allotted its Units to the public on August 4, 2020 pursuant to the initial offer of Units. Since
the Issuer had not allotted any Units as on the last quarter end (i.e. June 30, 2020), the details
of the Sponsors’ holding of the Issuer as on last quarter ended (being, June 30 2020) is not
applicable. The holding of the Sponsor and Sponsor Group in the Issuer as on August 7,
2020 is set out below:
% of Units
Sponsor _Total_ e o_f 2IIE p?g(?égitrfgn
S Name of the / Total no. unitholding T " subject to di |
' . f Units as % of ype 0 ledge / non Isposa
No. | unitholders | Sponsor 0 h encumbrance | P'°09 undertaking
Group eld total no. of dlsposa_l with respect
Units undertaking ;
to Units
owned
1 ACL Sponsor 35404890 | 5.97% Non-disposal 25203273 71.19
undertaking
2 CTL Sponsor 35404890 | 5.97% Non-disposal 25203273 71.19
undertaking
3 Mr. Chapdru Sponsor 32634433 5.50% Pledge 32527465 99.67
L. Raheja Group
4 Raghukool Sponsor 6.11% Pledge 17731322 48.97
Estate Group 36212069
Development
LLP
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% of Units
Sponsor Total 'Tr?tfg' Notc:_f Ll pf:(:ljégcltr:gn
S. Name of the / e il el Type of subject to disposal
No. | unitholders | Sponsor o Ll B o ol encumbrance Bl 4 Mo undertaking
' G held total no. of disposal .
roup . - with respect
Units undertaking :
to Units
owned
5 Palm Shelter | Sponsor 6.93% Pledge 27190548 66.16
Estate Group
Development 41095719
LLP
6 K. Raheja Sponsor 6.17% Pledge 36058116
Corp Pvt. Group 36596296
Ltd.
7 Genext Sponsor 3.86% Pledge 22886731
Hardware & Group
Parks Pvt. 22886731
Ltd.

All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form

XVIII. Particulars of the offer:

Date of passing of resolution by the
governing board of the Investment Manager
and the executive committee of the
governing board of the Investment Manager

Governing Board Resolution: September 14, 2020

A copy of the said board resolution is annexed herewith
and marked as Schedule 3.

Executive committee resolution: September 26, 2020

A copy of the said resolution of the executive committee
is annexed herewith and marked as Schedule 3.

Date of passing of resolution in general
meeting, authorizing the offer of securities

N.A.

Kinds of securities offered (i.e. whether unit
or debenture) and class of security; the total
number of unit or other securities to be
issued

In aggregate up to 5000 (five thousand) 10 year G-sec
linked secured, listed, guaranteed, senior, taxable, non
cumulative, rated, principal protected — market linked
secured, redeemable, non- convertible debentures

Price at which the security is being offered,
including premium if any, along with
justification of the price

The Debentures are being offered at face value of INR
10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakhs Only) per Debenture at par

Name and address of the valuer who
performed valuation of the security offered
and basis on which the price has been arrived
at along with report of the registered valuer

Not applicable as the Debentures are being issued at par

Relevant date with reference to which the
price has been arrived at

Not Applicable

Intention of sponsors, members of the
governing board of the Investment Manager

Not applicable
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or key managerial personnel to subscribe to
the offer (applicable in case they intend to
subscribe to the offer)

The change in control, if any, in the Issuer
that would occur consequent to the private
placement

No change in control would occur consequent to the
private placement.

The number of persons to whom allotment
on preferential basis/ private placement/
rights issue has already been made during the
year, in terms of number of securities as well
as price.

NIL

The justification for the allotment proposed
to be made for consideration other than cash
together with valuation report of the
registered valuer.

Not Applicable

Amount, which the Issuer intends to raise by

Up to INR 500,00,00,000 (Rupees Five Hundred crores

way of proposed offer of securities only)
Terms of raising of securities: Duration, if | 577 days from the Deemed Date
applicable: of Allotment.
Rate of | To be determined and paid as per
Interest the provisions of the Transaction
Documents and as more
particularly described in the
Debenture Trust Deed.
Mode of | RTGS/ NEFT
Payment
Mode of | RTGS/ NEFT
Repayment

Proposed time schedule for which the
Information Memorandum is valid

The Issue will open and close on September 29, 2020 and
shall be valid during the regular business hours on
September 29, 2020.

Purpose and objects of the Issue

The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer
in compliance with the provisions of the applicable laws
for general corporate purposes including payment of fees
and expenses in connection with the Issue, direct or
indirect acquisition of commercial properties and for
providing loans to the Group SPVs of the Issuer for
meeting their construction related expenses, working
capital or general corporate requirements, repayment of
their existing financial indebtedness, for providing inter-
company deposits to other Group SPVs financing their
operations, and/or acquisition of commercial properties
directly or indirectly by way of purchase of any securities
of other entities holding commercial properties, each in
accordance with applicable laws.
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Contribution being made by the Sponsors or | Not Applicable
members of the either as part of the offer or
separately in furtherance of the object

Principal terms of assets charged as security, | «  First ranking exclusive charge by way of registered
if applicable simple mortgage over immoveable properties of the
Asset SPV, as set out in Schedule 8 of this Information
Memorandum and as more particularly described in
the Debenture Trust Deed (“the Mortgaged
Properties”) and a first ranking exclusive charge over
the cash flows and receivables of the Asset SPV
arising exclusively from the Mortgaged Properties in
a designated escrow account (“Escrow Account™), in
favour of the Debenture Trustee.

» Corporate guarantee from the Asset SPV in favour of
the Debenture Trustee.

More detailed terms pertaining to the Debentures and the
security being created in connection with the Debentures
are captured in the Terms and Conditions (under Issue
Details) and the documents to be executed in relation to
the Debentures. Security shall be created and perfected
within 60 days of Deemed Date of Allotment.

The details of significant and material orders | N.A.
passed by the regulators, courts and tribunals
impacting the going concern status of the
Issuer and its future operations

XIX. Disclosure with regard to interest of members of the governing board of the Investment
Manager, litigation, etc.:

Any financial or other | Nil
material interest of the
members of the governing
board of the Investment
Manager, Sponsors or key
managerial personnel of the
Investment Manager in the
Issue and the effect of such
interest in so far as it is
different from the interests
of other persons
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Details of any litigation or
legal action pending or
taken by any Ministry or
Department of the
Government or a statutory
authority  against  any
Sponsor of the Issuer during
the last 3 (three) years
immediately preceding the
year of the circulation of
this Information
Memorandum and any
direction issued by such
Ministry or Department or
statutory authority upon
conclusion of such
litigation or legal action
shall be disclosed

Nil

Remuneration of members
of the governing board of
the Investment Manager
(during the last 3 (three)
financial years).

The Chairperson of the governing board of the Investment
Manager shall be paid a commission of 0.75% (zero point
seventy five only) of the total fee earned by the Investment
Manager from Mindspace REIT and the Group SPVs in a
Financial Year, subject to a maximum of Rs. 45,00,000
(Rupees Forty-Five Lakhs Only. No other fees or
remuneration (other than sitting fee) is paid to any other
member of the governing board of the Investment Manager.

However during financial year ended on March 31, 2020, no
commission has been to the Chairperson of the governing
board.

Related party transactions
entered during the last 3
(three)  financial  years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of this
Information Memorandum
including with regard to
loans made or, guarantees
given or securities provided

The Issuer was settled as a REIT on November 18, 2019. Thus,
no related party transactions were entered into by the Issuer
during the financial years 2017-18 and 2018-19.

Related party transactions entered into by the Issuer during
the financial year 2019-20 are annexed at Schedule 5 of this
Information Memorandum.

Summary of reservations or
gualifications or adverse
remarks of auditors in the
last 5 (five) financial years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of this
Information Memorandum
and of their impact on the

Nil
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XX.

financial statements and
financial position of the
Issuer and the corrective
steps taken and proposed to
be taken by the Issuer for
each of the said reservations
or qualifications or adverse
remark

Details of any inquiry,
inspections or
investigations initiated or
conducted under the Act or
any previous company law
in the last 3 (three) years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of
private placement offer cum
application letter in the case
of the Issuer and all of its
Group SPVs. Also if there
were any prosecutions filed
(whether pending or not)
fines imposed,
compounding of offences in
the last 3 (three) years
immediately preceding the
year of this Information
Memorandum and if so,
section-wise details thereof
for the Issuer and all of its
subsidiaries

Nil

Details of acts of material
frauds committed against
the Issuer in the last 3
(three) years, if any, and if
so, the action taken by the

Issuer

Nil

Financial Position of the Issuer:

The capital structure of the Issuer in the following manner in a tabular form:

The authorised,
issued,  subscribed
and paid up capital
(number of securities,

Not applicable.

The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does not have
authorised, issued, subscribed and paid up capital. The total number

description and | of Units issued by the Issuer as on the date is 593,018,182 Units
aggregate  nominal

value)

Size of the Present | Up to 5000 (five thousand) 10 year G-sec linked secured, listed
Issue guaranteed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated, principal
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protected — market linked secured, redeemable, non- convertible
debentures aggregating to INR 500,00,00,000/- (Rupees Five
Hundred crores only) pursuant to this Information Memorandum.

Paid-up Capital:
a. After the offer:

Not applicable. The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does
not have a paid-up capital.

b. After the
conversion of
Convertible
Instruments  (if
applicable)
Share Premium
Account: Not applicable. The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does

a. Before the offer:

b. After the offer:

not have a share premium account.

Details of the existing
unit capital of the
Issuer in a tabular
form, indicating
therein with regard to
each allotment, the
date of allotment, the
number of  units
allotted, the face
value of the shares
allotted, the price and
the form of
consideration.
Provided that the
Issuer shall also
disclose the number
and price at which
each of the allotments
were made in the last
one year preceding
the date of the offer
letter separately
indicating the
allotments made for
considerations other
than cash and the
details of the
consideration in each
case

As set out in Issuer Information, Section B Part VI

Details of allotments
of Units made by the
Issuer in the last 1
(One) year preceding
the date of the offer
letter for

As set out in Issuer Information, Section B Part 111
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Consideration other
than cash

Profits of the Issuer, | The Issuer was settled as a REIT on November 18, 2019. Thus, the
before ~and  after | profits of the Issuer for the financial years 2017-18 and 2018-19 are
making provision for | not applicable.

tax, for the 3 (three)
financial years | Profits / (Loss) as on March 31, 2020 — INR (48.86) million
immediately
preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

Distribution declared | N.A.
by the Issuer in
respect of the said 3
(three) financial
years; interest
coverage ratio for last
three years (cash
profit after tax plus
interest paid/interest
paid)

A summary of the | Annexed at Schedule 4 of this Information Memorandum
financial position of
the Issuer as in the 3

(three) audited
balance sheets
immediately

preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

Audited Cash Flow | Annexed at Schedule 4 of this Information Memorandum
Statement for the 3
(three) years
immediately
preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

Any  change in | None.
accounting  policies
during the last 3
(three) years and their
effect on the profits

XXI. Abridged version of Standalone Financial Statements and auditor qualifications, if any

- Standalone Financial Statements of the Issuer and Condensed Combined Financial Statements of
Mindspace Business Parks Group given in Schedule 4
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XXII.

XXIII.

Any material event/ development or change having implications on the financials/credit
quality (e.g. any material regulatory proceedings against the Issuer/Sponsors, tax litigations
resulting in material liabilities, corporate restructuring event etc.) at the time of issue which
may affect the Issue or the investor's decision to invest / continue to invest in the debt
securities. — Nil

Debenture Trustee

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited has given its consent to the Issuer for its appointment as
debenture trustee vide its letter dated September 15, 2020 and has entered into a Debenture Trustee
Agreement dated September 28, 2020 with the Issuer. Copy of the consent letter dated September
15, 2020 is enclosed in this Information Memorandum as Schedule 1. The Debenture Trustee has
given its consent to the Issuer for its appointment under applicable laws.

XXIV. The detailed rating rationale(s) adopted (not older than 1 year on the date of opening of the

XXV.

XXVI.

XXVII

XXVII

Issue) / credit rating letter issued (not older than 1 month on the date of opening of the Issue)

by the rating agencies

Schedule 2 to this Information Memorandum may be referred for the rating letter issued by the
Credit Rating Agency and the rating rationale respectively.

If the security is backed by a guarantee or letter of comfort or any other document / letter
with similar intent, a copy of the same shall be disclosed. In case such document does not
contain detailed payment structure (procedure of invocation of guarantee and receipt of
payment by the investor along with timelines), the same shall be disclosed in the offer
document. —

The Debentures are secured, inter alia, by way of an unconditional, irrevocable guarantee from the
Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee for the benefit of the Debenture holders in case of
default in the repayment of outstanding principal and interest on the redemption date by the Issuer.
In consideration for the security created by the Asset SPV to secure the Debentures and as covered
under the security documents (as more particularly described in the Transaction Documents) , the
Issuer undertakes to pay such fees to the Asset SPV as more particularly described in the relevant
Transaction Documents.

Copy of consent letter from the Debenture Trustee

Attached in Schedule 1.

. Listing of Debentures

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on BSE.
I. Other Details

Q) Debenture Redemption Reserve - relevant regulations and applicability

Not applicable
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(i) Issue/instrument specific regulations - relevant details

The Debentures offered are subject to provisions of the SEBI ILDS Regulations, SEBI
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015, SEBI (Debenture
Trustees) Regulations, 1993, the Depositories Act, 1996, as amended and rules and
regulations made under these enactments (as applicable) and SEBI circular
Cir./IMD/DF/17/2011 dated September 28, 2011 titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and Listing
of Structured Products/Market Linked Debentures” read with SEBI circular
SEBI/HO/DDHS/CIR/P/2020/120 dated July 13, 2020 as amended; SEBI circular
SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS/CIR/P/2018/71 dated April 13, 2018 titled ‘Guidelines for
issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and Infrastructure
Investment Trusts (InvITs)’.

XXIX. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

The Debentures are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the existing laws of
India. Any dispute arising thereof will be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts at Mumbai in
India.

D. DISCLOSURES PERTAINING TO WILFUL DEFAULTS

Neither the Issuer, nor the Investment Manager or Sponsors have been declared to be a wilful
defaulter and do not appear in the RBI’s wilful defaulter’s list or CIBIL’s defaulter’s list or
ECGC’s caution list.

E. ISSUE PROCEDURE

The Issuer proposes to issue the Debentures on the terms as set out in this Information
Memorandum subject to the provisions of the SEBI ILDS Regulations, the Debenture Trust Deed
and other applicable laws. This section applies to all applicants.

(1) Listing
The Debentures of the Issuer are proposed to be listed on the Wholesale Debt Market
(WDM) segment of the BSE. The Issuer shall comply with the requirements of the listing

agreement to the extent applicable to it on a continuous basis.

(i)  Minimum Subscription

As the current issue of Debentures is being made on a private placement basis, the
requirement of minimum subscription shall not be applicable and therefore the Issuer shall
not be liable to refund the Issue subscription(s)/ proceed(s) in the event of the total issue
collection falling short of issue size or certain percentage of issue size.

(iii)  Date of Allotment

All benefits relating to the Debentures will be available to the investors from the Date of
Allotment. The actual allotment of Debentures may take place on a date other than the
Deemed Date of Allotment.

(iv)  Interest on Application Money
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

This Issue does not contemplate payment of any interest on application money till
allotment of Debentures.

Debenture holder not a Unitholder

The Debenture holders will not be entitled to any of the rights and privileges available to
the Unitholders.

Terms of Payment

The full-face value of the Debentures applied for, is to be paid in such process as has been
listed in this Information Memorandum.

Force Majeure

The Issuer reserves the right to withdraw at any time prior to the Issue Closing Date in the
event of any unforeseen Force Majeure Event. In such event, the Issuer will refund the
application money, if any collected in respect of the Issue, without assigning any reason.

Depository arrangements

The Issuer has appointed Link Intime India Private Limited having its office at C 101, 247
Park, L B S Marg, Vikhroli West, Mumbai 400 083 as the Registrar and Transfer Agent
for the present Issue. The Issuer has entered into necessary depository arrangements with
NSDL and CDSL for dematerialization of the Debentures offered under the present Issue,
in accordance with the Depositories Act, 1996 and regulations made there under. In this
context, the Issuer has signed tripartite agreement with the NSDL dated September 28,
2020 and CDSL dated September 22, 2020 and the Registrar and Transfer Agent for
dematerialization of the Debentures offered under the present Issue.

Procedure for applying

(a) Applicant(s) must have a beneficiary account with any Depository Participant of
NSDL or CDSL prior to making the application.

(b) For subscribing to the Debentures, names should be identical to those appearing in the
account details of the Depository. In case of joint holders, the names should necessarily
be in the same sequence as they appear in the account details in the Depository.

(c) If incomplete/ incorrect beneficiary account details are given which does not match
with the details in the depository system, it will be deemed to be an incomplete
application and the same be held liable for rejection at the sole discretion of the Issuer.

(d) The Debentures shall be directly credited to the beneficiary account and after due
verification, allotment advice/ refund order, if any, would be sent directly to the
applicant by the Registrar and Transfer Agent but the confirmation of the credit of the
Debentures to the applicant’s depository account will be provided to the applicant by
the Depository Participant of the applicant.

(e) Interest or other benefits with respect to the Debentures would be paid to those holders
whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the depository to the
Issuer as on the Record Date. In case, the beneficial owner is not identified by the
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(x)

depository on the Record Date due to any reason whatsoever, the Issuer shall keep in
abeyance the payment of interest or other benefits, till such time the beneficial owner
is identified by the depository and intimated to the Issuer. On receiving such
intimation, the Issuer shall pay the interest or other benefits to the beneficiaries
identified, within a period of 15 calendar days from the date of receiving such
intimation.

(f) Applicants may please note that the Debentures shall be allotted and traded on the
stock exchange(s) only in dematerialized form.

Credit of Debentures

The Issuer as soon as practicable thereafter but in any event within 2 (two) Business Days
from the Deemed Date of Allotment, credit the Debentures in dematerialized form to the
demat depository account of the Debenture holders.

Subject to the completion of all statutory formalities within time frame prescribed in the
applicable laws, the initial credit akin to an allotment resolution passed by the executive
committee of the governing board of the Investment Manager in the beneficiary account
of the investor would be replaced with the number of Debentures allotted. The Debentures
since issued in electronic (dematerialized) form, will be governed as per the provisions of
the Depository Act, SEBI (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 1996, rules notified
by NSDL / Depository Participant from time to time and other applicable laws and rules
notified in respect thereof. The Debentures shall be allotted in dematerialized form only.
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APPLICATION PROCESS AND OTHER ISSUE RELATED DETAILS
Terms of offer are set out under the section “Issue Details”. Below are the general terms and conditions.
Issue

Issue of the Debentures with a face value of INR 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakh only) each, for an
aggregate principal amount of upto INR 500,00,00,000 (Rupees five hundred crores only) on a private
placement basis not open for public subscription.

Compliance with laws

The Issue of Debentures is being made in reliance upon the SEBI ILDS Regulations, the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the SEBI (Debenture Trustees)
Regulations, 1993, SEBI circular Cir./IMD/DF/17/2011 dated September 28, 2011 titled ‘Guidelines
for Issue and Listing of Structured Products/Market Linked Debentures” read with SEBI circular
SEBI/HO/DDHS/CIR/P/2020/120 dated July 13, 2020 and other applicable laws in this regard.

Who Can Apply

This Information Memorandum and the contents hereof are restricted to only the intended recipient(s)
who have been addressed directly through a communication by or on behalf of the Issuer, and only such
recipients are eligible to apply for the Debentures.

Who Cannot Apply
The entities apart from the “Eligible Investors™ as set out in “Issue Details”, shall not be eligible to
participate in the Issue and any applications from such persons and entities shall be rejected.

Prospective subscribers must make their own independent evaluation and judgment regarding their
eligibility to invest in the Issue. Prior to making any investment in these Debentures, each investor
should satisfy and assure herself/himself/itself that it is authorized and eligible to invest in these
Debentures. The Investment Manager shall be under no obligation to verify the eligibility/authority of
the investor to invest in these Debentures.

DISCLAIMER: AN APPLICATION, EVEN IF COMPLETE IN ALL RESPECTS, IS LIABLE TO
BE REJECTED WITHOUT ASSIGNING ANY REASON FOR THE SAME. THE LIST OF
DOCUMENTS PROVIDED ABOVE IS ONLY INDICATIVE, AND AN INVESTOR IS REQUIRED
TO PROVIDE ALL THOSE DOCUMENTS/ AUTHORIZATIONS / INFORMATION, WHICH ARE
LIKELY TO BE REQUIRED BY THE ISSUER. THE ISSUER MAY, BUT IS NOT BOUND TO
REVERT TO ANY INVESTOR FOR ANY ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS / INFORMATION, AND
CAN ACCEPT OR REJECT AN APPLICATION AS IT DEEMS FIT. INVESTMENT BY
INVESTORS FALLING IN THE CATEGORIES MENTIONED ABOVE ARE MERELY
INDICATIVE AND THE ISSUER DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THEY ARE PERMITTED TO
INVEST AS PER EXTANT LAWS, REGULATIONS, ETC. EACH OF THE ABOVE CATEGORIES
OF INVESTORS IS REQUIRED TO CHECK AND COMPLY WITH EXTANT
RULES/REGULATIONS/ GUIDELINES, ETC. GOVERNING OR REGULATING THEIR
INVESTMENTS AS APPLICABLE TO THEM AND THE ISSUER IS NOT, IN ANY WAY,
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY STATUTORY OR REGULATORY
BREACHES BY ANY INVESTOR, NEITHER IS THE ISSUER REQUIRED TO CHECK OR
CONFIRM THE SAME.

How to Apply
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Application(s) for the Debentures must be made by submitting the Applications Form which must be
completed in block letters in English substantially in the format as set out in Schedule 7. Application
form must be accompanied by electronic fund transfer instruction as per below details.

The payment can be made by Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) by crediting the funds to the
designated bank account of the Issuer for pay-in of subscription monies. The details of the designated
bank account are as given below:

Account NameMindspace Business Parks REIT-NCD Subscription Account
Bank HDFC Bank Ltd.

Branch Name [Fort - Ground floor, Jehangir Building, MG Road, Fort, Mumbai
Account No. [57500000569645

IFSC Code  |HDFC0000060

The applications must be accompanied by certified true copies of (i) a letter of authorization, and (ii)
specimen signatures of authorised signatories.

Instructions for filling up the application form

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

Application must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS IN ENGLISH. A blank must be left
between two or more parts of the name.

Signatures should be made in English.

The Debentures are being issued at par to the face value. Full amount has to be paid on application
per Debenture applied for. Applications for incorrect amounts are liable to be rejected. Face
Value: INR 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakh only) each.

Money orders or postal orders will not be accepted. The payments can be made by NEFT/ RTGS,
the details of which are given above. Payment shall be made from the bank account of the person
subscribing. In case of joint-holders, monies payable shall be paid from the bank account of the
person whose name appears first in the application.

No cash will be accepted.

The applicant should mention its permanent account number or the GIR number allotted to it
under the Income Tax Act, 1961 and also the relevant Income-tax circle/ward/District.

Applications under power of attorney/relevant authority

In case of an application made under a power of attorney or resolution or authority to make the
application a certified true copy of such power of attorney or resolution or authority to make the
application and the Memorandum and Articles of Association and/or bye-laws of the investor
must be attached to the application form at the time of making the application, failing which, the
Issuer reserves the full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any application in whole
or in part and in either case without assigning any reason therefore. Further any modifications /
additions in the power of attorney or authority should be notified to the Issuer at its registered
office. Names and specimen signatures of all the authorised signatories must also be lodged along
with the submission of the completed application.
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8)  Anapplication once submitted cannot be withdrawn. The applications should be submitted during
normal banking hours at the office mentioned below:

Address: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla
Complex Bandra (East) Mumbai 400051

Attention: Mr. Vishal Kumar

9)  The applications would be scrutinised and accepted as per the terms and conditions specified in
this Information Memorandum.

10) Any application, which is not complete in any respect, is liable to be rejected.

11) The investor / applicant shall apply for the Debentures in electronic, i.e., dematerialised form
only. Applicants should mention their Depository Participant’s name, DP-ID and Beneficiary
Account Number in the application form. In case of any discrepancy in the information of
Depository/Beneficiary Account, the Issuer shall be entitled to not credit the beneficiary’s demat
account pending resolution of the discrepancy.

The applicant is requested to contact the office of the Issuer as mentioned above for any clarifications.

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Requlations, 2018

The Issue is governed by the provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and
Participants) Regulations, 2018.

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, if any issued under this Information
Memorandum, shall be subject to this Information Memorandum, the Debenture Trust Deed and also
be subject to the provisions of the constitutional documents of the Issuer.

Option to Subscribe

The Issuer has made arrangements for issue and holding of the Debentures in dematerialized form.

Right to NCD holders:

The Debentures shall not, confer upon the Debenture Holders thereof any rights or privileges available
to the Unitholders of the Issuer.

Right to accept or reject applications

The Issuer reserves its full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any application, in part or
in full, without assigning any reason thereof. The rejected applicants will be intimated along with the
refund warrant, if applicable, to be sent. Application would be liable to be rejected on one or more
technical grounds, including but not restricted to:

1) incomplete application forms;

2) applications exceeding the Issue size;
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3) bank account details have not been provided;
4) details for issue of Debentures in electronic / dematerialised form not given;
5) PAN or GIR No. and the income tax circle / ward / district is not given;

6) in case of applications made through power of attorneys, if the relevant documents are not
submitted.

The full amount of Debenture has to be submitted along with the application form. Also, in case of over
subscription, the Issuer reserves the right to increase the size of the placement subject to necessary
approvals/certifications, and the basis of allotment shall be decided by the Issuer.

Allotment

The Debentures allotted to investor in dematerialized form would be directly credited to the beneficiary
account as given in the application form after verification. The Debentures will be credited to the
account of the allottee(s) as soon as practicable but in any event within two (2) days of Deemed Date
of Allotment.

Reaqister of Debentures Holder(s)

A register of all Debenture holder(s) containing necessary particulars of the Debenture holders will be
maintained with the Depository. The Issuer shall at all times duly maintain all details of Debenture
Holders in the form and manner as required under Applicable Laws.

Tax Deduction at Sources

All payments to be made by the Issuer and/or the Asset SPV to a Debenture Holder in accordance with
the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed and other transaction documents, including any outstanding
nominal value, all other payments upon redemption of the Debentures, shall be made free and clear of
and without any deduction or withholding for or on account of tax unless the Issuer and/or the Asset
SPV is required to make a tax deduction by the applicable law in which case the Issuer and/or the Asset
SPV shall make that tax deduction in accordance with and within the time prescribed by the applicable
law and deliver to the relevant Debenture Holder a tax deduction certificate in the format prescribed
and within the time prescribed under the applicable laws.

Transfer / Transmission/Trading of Debentures

The Debentures shall be transferable freely to all classes of Eligible Investors. It is clarified that the
Debentures are not intended to be held by any category of persons who are not Eligible Investors.
Subject to the foregoing, the Debentures may be transferred and/or transmitted in accordance with the
applicable provisions of the applicable laws. The Debentures held in dematerialised form shall be
transferred subject to and in accordance with the rules/procedures as prescribed by depositories and the
relevant Depository Participants of the transferor or transferee and any other applicable laws and rules
notified in respect thereof. The transferee(s) should ensure that the transfer formalities are completed
prior to the Record Date. In the absence of the same, interest will be paid/redemption will be made to
the person, whose name appears in the register of Debenture holders maintained by the Depositories. In
such cases, claims, if any, by the transferees would need to be settled with the transferor(s) and not with
the Issuer.
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Provided further that nothing in this section shall prejudice any power of the Issuer to register as
Debenture holder any person to whom the right to any Debenture of the Issuer has been transmitted by
operation of law.

Subject to the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the normal procedure followed for transfer of
securities held in dematerialized form shall be followed for transfer of these Debentures held in
electronic form. The seller should give delivery instructions containing details of the buyer’s Depository
Participant account to its Depository Participant. The Issuer undertakes that there will be a common
transfer form / procedure for transfer of debentures.

The Debentures shall be issued only in dematerialised form in compliance with the provisions of the
Depositories Act, 1996 (as amended from time to time), any other applicable regulations (including of
any relevant stock exchange) and these conditions. No physical certificates of the Debentures would be
issued.

Authority for the placement

This private placement of Debentures is being made pursuant to the resolution passed by the governing
board of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated September 14, 2020 read with the resolution
passed by the executive committee of the governing board of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
dated September 26, 2020 authorising the Issuer to borrow monies by way of issue of market linked
non-convertible debentures. Further, this private placement of Debentures is being made in compliance
with the borrowing policy adopted by the Investment Manager.

The Issuer can carry on its existing activities and future activities planned by it in view of the existing
approvals, and no further approvals from any Government authority are required by the Issuer to carry
on its said activities save and except as may be required for creation of security in connection with the
Debentures.

Record Date

This will be 15 (fifteen) calendar days prior to the payment date. The list of beneficial owner(s) provided
by the Depository as at the end of day of Record Date shall be used to determine the name(s) of person(s)
to whom the interest and/or principal instalment is to be paid notwithstanding any subsequent transfer
by the existing Debenture Holders after the Record Date.

Effect of Holidays

In case the coupon payment date or the Scheduled Redemption Date falls on a day which is not a
Business Day, the payments to be made on such coupon payment date or Scheduled Redemption Date
shall be made on the immediately preceding Business Day.

Redemption on Maturity of Debenture

The Issuer shall pay, in respect of each outstanding Debenture, an amount that is equal to the outstanding
principal amount of that Debenture on the expiry of 577 (five hundred seventy seven) days from the
Deemed Date of Allotment and any accrued but unpaid interest applicable to the principal amount of
each Debenture is payable annually.
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The details of the settlement mechanism upon redemption of Debentures have been specified under
“Issue Details”.

Compliance Officer

The investor may contact the Issuer in case of any pre -issue / post-issue related problems such as non-
receipt of credit of debentures / refund orders etc.

Debentures to Rank Pari-Passu

The Debentures of this Issue shall rank pari-passu inter-se without preference or priority of one other
or others.

Payments at Par

Payment of the principal, all interest and other monies will be made to the registered Debenture
holder(s)/ beneficial owner(s) and in case of joint holders to the one whose name stands first in the
register of Debenture holder(s) / in the list of beneficial owner(s) provided to the Issuer by the
Depository. Such payment shall be made through electronic clearing services (ECS), real time gross
settlement (RTGS), direct credit or national electronic fund transfer (NEFT).

Right to Re-Purchase Debenture(s)

Any person forming part of the Sponsor Group (other than the Issuer) or related party of the Issuer,
may, subject to applicable law, at any time and from time to time, prior to the relevant final redemption
date, purchase the Debentures in part (on a pro-rata basis or otherwise) or full at fair market value, at a
discount, at par or at premium in the open market or otherwise. Subject to applicable law, such
Debentures, at the option of the Issuer, may be cancelled, held or resold at such price and on such terms
and conditions as agreed between the purchaser and seller of the Debentures . Such purchase / sale of
Debentures shall not require any further consent / approval of the Debenture Holder(s) /Debenture
Trustee. However, for avoidance of doubt, it is clarified, that such a right shall at no point be construed
to be a call option, or a similar right on the Debentures, of the Issuer.

Tax Benefits

There are no specific tax benefits attached to the Debentures. Investors are advised to consider the tax
implications of their respective investment in the Debentures.

All the rights and remedies of the Debenture holder(s) shall vest in and shall be exercised by the
Debenture Trustees without having it referred to the Debentures holder(s).

Payment Instruments (if applicable)

Loss of any payment instrument, if applicable,should be intimated to the Issuer along with the request
for issue of a duplicate payment instrument(s), if applicable. If any payment instrument(s), if applicable,
is lost, stolen, or destroyed, then upon production of proof thereof, to the satisfaction of the Issuer and
upon furnishing such indemnity, as the Issuer may deem adequate and upon payment of any expenses
incurred by the Issuer in connection thereof, new payment instrument(s), if applicable shall be issued.

Refunds
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In case of delay in listing of the Debentures beyond 20 (twenty) days from the Deemed Date of
Allotment, the Issuer shall pay a penal interest of 1% (one per cent.) per annum over and above the
Coupon Rate which shall be computed on and from the date falling on the expiry of 30 (thirty) days
from the Deemed Date of Allotment until the Debentures are listed on the Stock Exchange

Notices

Any communication to be made under or in connection with the Debentures and the Transaction
Documents shall be in accordance with the provisions of Clause 20 (Notices) of the Debenture Trust
Deed.

All transfer related documents, tax exemption certificates, intimation for loss of allotment
resolutions/Debenture(s), etc., requests for issue of duplicate documents and/or any other notice /
correspondence by the Debenture holder(s) to the Issuer with regard to the Issue should be sent in the
manner and to the persons specified by the Issuer in the Transaction Documents.

Sharing of Information

The Issuer may, at its option, use on its own, as well as exchange, share or part with any financial or
other information about the Debenture holders available with the Issuer, with its subsidiaries and
affiliates and other banks, financial institutions, credit bureaus, agencies, statutory bodies, as may be
required and neither the Issuer or its subsidiaries and affiliates nor their agents shall be liable for use of
the aforesaid information.

Debentures subject to the Debenture Trust Deed, etc.

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, issued under this Information
Memorandum, shall be subject to prevailing guidelines/regulations of RBI and other authorities and
also be subject to the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed and all documents to be entered into by
the Issuer in relation to the Issue, including this Information Memorandum, the Debenture Trust Deed
and other transaction documents.

Governing Law

The Debentures are governed by and will be construed in accordance with Indian law. The Issuer and
Issuer’s obligations under the Debentures shall, at all times, be subject to the directions of RBI, SEBI
and stock exchanges and other applicable regulations from time to time. Applicants, by purchasing the
Debentures, agree that the courts at Mumbai shall have jurisdiction with respect to matters relating to
the Debentures.

Permission / Consent from the prior creditors and undertaking on creation of charge

The Issuer undertakes to obtain consent from the prior creditors (if required) for the creation of the
Security for the Debentures being issued.

Conflict

This Information Memorandum supercedes all previous deeds, documents arrangements, agreements,
memoranda of understanding including any term sheet that may have been entered into by the Issuer
and/or the Asset SPV with the Debenture Holders and/or the Debenture Trustee in connection with the
Debentures and in the event of any conflict or inconsistency with such documents, deeds and agreements
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the provisions of this Information Memorandum shall prevail. However, in case of any repugnancy,
inconsistency or where there is a conflict between the conditions as are stipulated in this Information
Memorandum and the Debenture Trust Deed executed by the Issuer, the provisions as contained in the
Debenture Trust Deed shall prevail and override the provisions of such Information Memorandum.

Investor Relation and Grievance Redressal

Arrangements have been made to redress investor grievances expeditiously. The Issuer endeavours to
resolve the investors’ grievances within promptly upon receipt. All grievances related to the Issue
quoting the application number (including prefix), number of bonds applied for, amount paid on
application, may be addressed to the Registrar and Transfer Agent / Compliance Officer. All investors
are hereby informed that the company has appointed a Registrar and Transfer Agent / Compliance
Officer who may be contacted in case of any problem related to this Issue.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND AGREEMENTS

Set out below is the statement containing particulars of, dates of, and parties to all material contracts
and agreements of the Issuer:

Trust Deed and the certificate of registration granted by SEBI.

Debenture Trust Deed dated on or before this Information Memorandum to be executed between
the Issuer (represented by the Investment Manager) and the Debenture Trustee for recording the
terms and conditions and stipulations pursuant to which the Debentures are being issued.
Indenture of Mortgage to be executed by the Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee for
creating first ranking exclusive charge over the Mortgaged Properties (as more particularly
described therein)in favour of the Debenture Trustee.

Account Agreement to be executed by the Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee in
relation to the operation and maintenance of the Escrow Account.

Corporate Guarantee to be executed by the Asset SPV as the guarantor, and the Issuer as a
confirming party in favour of the Debenture Trustee for guaranteeing the obligations of the Issuer
under the Transaction Documents.

Debenture Trustee Agreement executed between the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee for the
appointment of the Debenture Trustee in relation to the issue of Debentures.

Credit Rating Letter dated September 22, 2020 from the Credit Rating Agency.

Consent from IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited to act as debenture trustee vide their letter dated
September 15, 2020.

Copy of the resolution(s) of the governing board of the Investment Manager authorizing, inter
alia, issue of the Debentures dated September 14, 2020 and executive committee of the governing
board dated September 26, 2020.

An undertaking from the Issuer stating that the necessary documents for the creation of the
charge, where applicable, including the Debenture Trust Deed will be executed within the time
frame prescribed in the relevant Transaction Documents and as per applicable law, and the same
shall be uploaded on the website of the stock exchange where the Debentures have been listed,
within 5 (five) working days of execution of the same.

Future Borrowings

The Issuer shall be entitled from time to time to make further issue of debentures or any other
instruments to the public, members of the Issuer and /or any other person(s) and to raise further loans,
advances or such other facilities from Banks, Financial Institutions and / or any other person(s) on the
security or otherwise of its assets, subject to such consents and approvals, as may be required under
applicable law or any financing agreement(s) and compliance with financial covenants.
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ISSUE DETAILS

Below is a brief summary of the terms and conditions of the Debentures, each of which shall be
more particularly specified in the Debenture Trust Deed.

TERMS & CONDITIONS

Issuer Mindspace Business Parks REIT (“REIT” or “Issuer”)
Sponsor Cape Trading LLP & Anbee Constructions LLP
Group REIT and its Group SPVs including the Asset SPV
(REIT)
Asset SPV Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited
Investment K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
Manager
Security MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT- 6.8%- 2022
Name
ISIN (NSDL) ' INEOCCU07017
Debenture IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited
Trustee
Type of 10 year G-sec linked secured, listed _guaranteed, senior, taxable, non cumulat?ve,
Instrument rated, principal protected — market linked secured, redeemable, non- convertible
debentures
Mode of Private Placement
Issue
Listing The _Issuer s_hall list the Debentures on the Wholesale Debt Market segment of BSE
within 15 (fifteen) days from the Deemed Date of Allotment.
Seniority Senior
E::)quzrt)?(:n Principal is protected at Maturity
Underlying/ | 10-year Government Security — 5.79% GS 2030 (ISIN: IN0020200070)
Reference Issue Date: 11-May-2020
Index Maturity Date: 11-May-2030
e resident individuals,
e Hindu undivided family,
e trust,
o limited liability partnerships, partnership firm(s),
Eligible ° portfqlic_) managers,
Investors o assomat!on of persons, _ _ _ _
e companies and bodies corporate including public sector undertakings,
e commercial banks, regional rural banks, financial institutions,
e insurance companies,
o mutual funds/ alternative investment fund (AlF), and
any other investor eligible to invest in these Debentures,
in each case, as may be permitted under applicable law
zfls\lus)&ze INR 500,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees five hundred crores only)
Option to
Retain

Oversubscript
ion

Not Applicable
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Minimum
Application
Size

Face Value
Issue Price
Discount at
which
security is
issued and
the effective
yield because
of such
discount.
Justification
of Issue Price

Purpose and
objects of the
Issue

Tenor In
Days

Issue
Opening Date
Issue Closing
Date

Initial Fixing
Date

Initial Fixing
Level

Final Fixing
Date

Final Fixing
Level
Scheduled
Redemption
Date
Redemption

25 debentures and in multiples of 1 debenture thereafter

INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture
INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture

NA

The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer in compliance with the
provisions of the applicable laws for general corporate purposes including payment
of fees and expenses in connection with the Issue, direct or indirect acquisition of
commercial properties and for providing loans to the Group SPVs of the Issuer for
meeting their construction related expenses, working capital or general corporate
requirements, repayment of their existing financial indebtedness, for providing inter-
company deposits to other Group SPVs financing their operations, and/or acquisition
of commercial properties directly or indirectly by way of purchase of any securities
of other entities holding commercial properties, each in accordance with applicable
laws.

577 Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment
September 29, 2020

September 29, 2020

September 29, 2020

Last Traded Price (LTP) of Underlying/Reference Index as on Initial Fixing Date

It means, as the context may require, the following:

(a) if an acceleration notice has been issued under the Debenture Trust Deed,
the date falling 14 (fourteen) Business Days immediately prior to the date
of issuance of the acceleration notice; and

(b) if no acceleration notice has been issued under the Debenture Trust Deed,
March 30, 2022.

Last Traded Price (LTP) of Underlying/Reference Index as on Final Fixing Date

April 29, 2022

Principal + Coupon less applicable taxes
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Value
Pay-in-Date
Deemed Date
of Allotment

Last Traded
Price (LTP)

Underlying
Performance

Coupon

Coupon Step
Up/Step
Down

September 29, 2020
September 29, 2020

“Last Traded Price” means, on any reference date:

a) if the last traded price of the Underlying / Reference Index is available as
published by the RBI on its official website as on the Initial Fixing Date or
the Final Fixing Date, as the context may require, then such last traded price;

b) if the price of the Underlying / Reference Index as set out in paragraph (a)
above, is not available, the price of the Underlying / Reference Index on the
immediately preceding Business Day as published by the RBI on its official
website, provided such Business Day falls no earlier than 14 (fourteen) days
prior to the said reference date;

C) if the price as set out in either paragraph (a) or (b) is not available, the clean
price derived by computing the yields of liquid securities of similar tenure
and credit risk as the Debentures.

(Final Fixing Level / Initial Fixing Level) *100

Scenario Coupon
If Final Fixing Level>25% of the 6.80%
Initial Fixing level
If Final Fixing Level<=25% of the 0.000%

Initial Fixing level

Note: The indicative returns/ coupon rates are specified in percentage terms and on
an annualized basis.

Coupon shall be increased by 25 bps for every notch downgrade in the rating by the
Credit Rating Agency. In case rating is upgraded after any rating downgrade, the
Coupon shall be decreased by 25 bps for each upgrade. The change in Coupon shall
be applicable from the date of such rating action as more particularly set out in the
Debenture Trust Deed.

The Investors shall have the right to accelerate the MLD if the rating is downgraded
to A+.

Please see below an indicative illustration:

Rating on -
Scena| Rating action (from | final Comments absﬁ?&':'g:jl on
rio allotment date) |valuation tp
at maturity
date
Downgraded to AA+
after 3 months from Additional coupon of 0
Deemed Date of AR+ 0.25% for 16 months 0.33%
1 |Allotment
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http://the/

Coupon
payment
frequency
Coupon
payment
dates
Coupon type
Coupon
Reset Process
(including
rates, spread,
effective
date, interest
rate cap and
floor etc).
Day Count
Basis
Default
interest rate

Proposed tim
e
schedule for

Downgraded to AA+
after 3 months from
Deemed Date of Additional coupon of
Allotment, 0.25% for 6 months, 0
Downgraded to AA AA Additional coupon of 0.54%
after 9 months from 0.5% for 10 months
Deemed Date of
2 |Allotment
Downgraded to AA+
after 3 months from
Deemed Date of Additional coupon of]
Allotment, Upgraded | AAA |00 % morﬁ’ths 0.13%
to AAA after 9 e970
months from Deemed
3 |Date of Allotment
Downgraded to AA
after 3 months from .
Deemed Date of Additional coupon of
0.5% for 6 months,
Allotment, Upgraded | AA+ . 0.46%
Additional coupon of
to AA+ after 9
0.25% for 10 months
months from Deemed
4 |Date of Allotment

For avoidance of doubt, the above example is for illustration purposes only and is
not indicative of the actual coupon to be paid or the actual Coupon rate. The actual
Coupon rate and Coupon payable will be calculated in accordance with the terms
of the Transaction Documents including the Debenture Trust Deed.

Coupon, if any will be paid on Redemption Date

Coupon, if any will be paid on Redemption Date

Coupon linked to Underlying / Reference Index.

Not Applicable

Actual / Actual

In case of default in payment of Coupon and/or principal redemption on the
Redemption date, additional interest @ 2% p.a. over the Coupon will be payable by
the Issuer for the defaulting period on the amount of default.

Till redemption
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which

the Informati
on
Memorandu
m is valid
Redemption
Premium/Dis
count

Put Option
Put Option
Date

Put Option
Price

Put
Notification
Time

Call Option
Call Option
Date

Call Option
Price

Call
Notification
Time

Listing

Issuance
mode of
Debenture
Settlement
mode of the
Instrument
Provisions
related to
Cross Default
Clause
Trading
mode of the
Debenture

Depository

Security

Not Applicable

None

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

None

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

The Issuer proposes to list these Debentures on the BSE WDM segment. The Issuer
confirms that the Debentures would be listed within 15 (fifteen) days from the
Deemed Date of Allotment.

In dematerialised mode

RTGS

N.A.

In dematerialised mode

NSDL and CDSL

The obligations of the Issuer under the Instrument, all interest and other monies in

respect of the Instrument shall be secured by:

» First ranking exclusive charge by way of registered simple mortgage over
specific immoveable properties of the Asset SPV, as more particularly described
in the Debenture Trust Deed and as set in Schedule 8 of this Information
Memorandum (“the Mortgaged Properties”) and the cash flows and
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Provisional
Rating

Contribution
by Sponsors
or members
of the
Sponsor
Group either
as part of this
offer or
separately in
furtherance
of the objects
of the Issue

Business Day

Business Day

receivables of the Asset SPV arising exclusively from the Mortgaged Properties
being deposited in an identified escrow account (“Escrow Account”).
» Corporate Guarantees from the Asset SPV.

Security shall provide a cover of at least 2.0x over immovable assets.

Incremental debt shall be permissible in the Asset SPV subject to covenant
compliance as mentioned below.

“Provisional CRISIL PP-MLD AAAr/Stable™*” (pronounced “CRISIL PP-
MLD triple A r rating with Stable outlook) by CRISIL Limited

Nil

A day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks are open for general
business in Mumbai

Unless otherwise stated, Modified Following Business Day Convention

Convention
BANK HDFC Bank Ltd.
BRANCH FORT
Ground floor, Jehangir Building, MG Road,
ADDRESS Fort, Mumbai
Settlement Mindspace Business Parks REIT-NCD
Bank A/C Name @ Subscription Account
Bank A/C No 57500000569645
RTGS/NEFT
IESC HDFC0000060
Any person forming part of the Sponsor Group (other than the
Issuer) or related party of the Issuer, may, subject to applicable
law, at any time and from time to time, prior to the relevant final
redemption date, purchase the Debentures in part (on a pro-rata
basis or otherwise) or full at fair market value, at a discount, at
Right to Re-purchase par or at premium in the open market or otherwise. Subject to
Debentures applicable law, such Debentures, at the option of the Issuer, may

be cancelled, held or resold at such price and on such terms and
conditions as agreed between the purchaser and seller of the
Debentures. Such purchase / sale of Debentures shall not require
any further consent / approval of the Debenture Holder(s)
/Debenture Trustee. However, for avoidance of doubt, it is
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Record Date

Interest on Application Money

Transaction Documents

Conditions Precedent to
Disbursement

Conditions Subsequent to
Disbursement

Events of Default

Roles and Responsibilities of
Debenture Trustee

Financial Covenants

clarified, that such a right shall at no point be construed to be a
call option, or a similar right on the Debentures, of the Issuer.

The date, as may be fixed by the Issuer, which will be 15 calendar
days prior to the redemption date on which the determination of
the persons entitled to receive coupon/redemption amount in
respect of the Debentures (i.e., persons whose names are
registered in the register of Debenture holders or NSDL/CDSL
record) shall be made.

This Issue does not contemplate payment of any interest on
application money till allotment of Debentures.

Nil

Nil

Tripartite agreement with the NSDL dated September 28,
2020 and CDSL dated September 22, 2020 and the
Registrar and Transfer Agent.

Debenture Trust Deed.

Indenture of Mortgage to be executed by the Asset SPV in
favour of the Debenture Trustee.

Account Agreement to be executed by the Asset SPV in
favour of the Debenture Trustee in relation to the
operation and maintenance of the Escrow Account.
Corporate Guarantee to be executed by the Asset SPV and
the Issuer in favour of the Debenture Trustee.

Debenture Trustee Agreement executed between the Issuer
and the Debenture Trustee.

Credit Rating Letter dated September 22, 2020 from the
Credit Rating Agency.

Consent from IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited to act as
debenture trustee vide their letter dated September 15,
2020.

Copy of the resolution(s) of the governing board of the
Investment Manager authorizing, inter alia, issue of the
Debentures dated September 14, 2020 and executive
committee of the governing board dated September 26,
2020.

Any other documents as per the Debenture Trust Deed.

As per Debenture Trust Deed

As per Debenture Trust Deed
At the REIT level:

Gross Debt / NOI < = 5.00x
Loan To Value <= 49%

At the Asset SPV level:

Gross Debt / NOI < = 5.00x
Loan To Value <= 49%
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Other Key Covenants

Force Majeure Event

Distribution of proceeds from
Escrow Account prior to an
Event of Default

Where:

“Gross Debt” means the consolidated external Financial
Indebtedness availed by the Issuer or the Asset SPV, as the
context may require;

“Net Operating Income” or “NOI” means revenues from
operations less: direct operating expenses (which includes
Maintenance services expense, property tax, insurance expense,
cost of material sold and cost of power purchased, if any); and

“Loan to Value Ratio” means the aggregate borrowings and
deferred payments, net of Cash and Cash Equivalents divided by
the value of assets owned by the Issuer, on a Consolidated Basis
and expressed as a percentage.

The financial covenants set out herein shall be calculated as set
out in this paragraph and tested annually no later than 60 days
from the end of every financial year until the final redemption
date of the Debentures (the “Financial Covenant Testing Date”)
by reference to the audited financial statements of the financial
year ending immediately prior to such Financial Covenant
Testing Date. The first Financial Covenant Testing Date shall be
March 31, 2021.

e REIT shall not provide any financing loans/guarantees to
any entity outside the Group (REIT) except in case of any
forward purchase of assets in the REIT portfolio and
subject to Financial Covenants.

e Sponsor of the REIT to be a member of the KRC group
No encumbrance on the shares of the Asset SPV held by
the REIT

e The Asset SPV shall not incur any indebtedness which
contains terms restricting that SPV from making
distributions to the REIT other than upon the occurrence
of an event of default.

Valuation report by the valuer appointed by the Issuer with
respect to the assets provided as Security to be submitted to the
Debenture Trustee prior to disbursement and on a semi-annual
basis thereafter.

means and includes any event of war, aggression, incursion,
terrorism, earthquakes, hurricanes, cyclones, fires, acts of
government, labour strikes, plagues, pandemics, epidemics, Acts
of God or any other circumstance which are beyond the
reasonable control and anticipation of the Issuer and/or the
Debenture Holders.

Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default in accordance with
the Debenture Trust Deed and other transaction documents, the
Asset SPV shall have the right to deal with and operate the
Escrow Account and deal with all amounts lying in and/or

standing to the credit thereof, withdraw or transfer any amount
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Distribution of proceeds from
Escrow Account after an Event
of Default

Information Provision

Governing Law

Jurisdiction

from the Escrow Account, in any manner whatsoever including,
without limitation, issuing standing instructions to the Escrow
Account Bank for transfer, withdrawal or debits of any amounts
from the Escrow Account and, at its sole and absolute discretion,
and for the avoidance of doubt, without any intimation to or
consent from the Debenture Holders and/or Debenture Trustee.

Upon occurrence of an event of default (“Event of Default™) in
accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and other transaction
documents and only for so long as such Event of Default is
outstanding, no debits shall be permitted from the Escrow
Account without the prior written consent of the Debenture
Trustee, save and except any debits, withdrawals or transfers
made by the Asset SPV and specifically for the purposes
specifically permitted under the Debenture Trust Deed and other
transaction documents, for which no consent from or instructions
of the Debenture Trustee shall be required in the order of priority
as set out below:

(i) payment of any statutory dues including Taxes;

(if) payment of operational expenses of the Asset SPV
including ooperational and maintenance expenditure
required by it to operate as a going concern and expenses
required for capital expenditure required by it to comply
with the relevant safety guidelines or regulations under
applicable laws and any payments towards insurance
premia, excluding payment of fees to the Investment
Manager in accordance with the terms of the agreement
dated November 21, 2019 entered into between the REIT
Trustee (acting on behalf of the Issuer) and the Investment
Manager;

(iif) payment of coupon / returns on the Debentures;

(iv) payment of mandatory redemption amount or Scheduled
Redemption Amount (as the case maybe), or any other
amounts due and payable by the Issuer to the Debenture
Holders in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and
other transaction documents (as may be applicable); and

(v) balance amount, if any, shall be available to the Asset SPV
and or the Issuer.

The Issuer undertakes to provide information pertinent to a credit
assessment of the Issuer by the potential investors in a timely
fashion. This information will include, but not be limited to, latest
financial information, rating letter and rating rationale, copies of
the resolutions authorizing the borrowing and the latest company
profile.

Indian Law

(@ Courts of Mumbai for all Transaction Documents (other
than the corporate guarantee to be issued by the Asset SPV)
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Other Terms

(b) Courts of Hyderabad with respect to the corporate
guarantee to be issued by the Asset SPV.

Customary to transactions of this nature, the detailed terms and
conditions would include clauses related to conditions precedent
to issuance, conditions subsequent, events of default and
consequences, representations and warranties, affirmative
covenants, negative covenants, information covenants,
arbitration, costs and taxes etc.

Valuation Agency (Debentures) | Fees shall be paid to Valuation Agency (Debentures) by the

Fees

Issuer.

Valuation Agency (Debentures) | CRISIL Limited

The latest and historical valuation for the Debentures shall be

Availability of valuation reports | made available on the websites of the Issuer and of the Valuation

Agency (Debentures).

The securities are created based on complex mathematical models
involving multiple derivative exposures which may or may not be
hedged and the actual behavior of the securities selected for

Risk Factors associated with hedging may significantly differ from the returns predicted by the
Market Linked Debentures mathematical models.

Premature Exit

Notes: (if any)

The principal amount is subject to the credit risk of the issuer
whereby the investor may or may not recover all or part of the
funds in case of default by the Issuer.

At the request of an Investor, the Issuer shall at its discretion and
without being obliged to do so, arrange for the buyback of such
number of Debentures as the Investor shall request.

In case of any inconsistency between the terms of this Information Memorandum and the Transaction
Documents, the terms of the Transaction Documents will prevail.

Issuer
Tenure
Face Value
Issue Price
Date
Allotment
Scheduled
Redemption
Date
Scheduled
Redemption
Amount

Redemption

of

Mindspace Business Parks REIT

577 Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment
INR 10,00,000 Per Debenture

INR 10,00,000 Per Debenture

September 29, 2020

577 days from the Deemed Date of Allotment i.e. April 29, 2022

INR 500,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees five hundred crores)

Scheduled Redemption

The Issuer shall, on the Scheduled Redemption Date, unconditionally pay to, or

to the order of, each Debenture Holder whose names appears on its register of

beneficial owners as on the Record Date, in INR, the aggregate of the applicable

Scheduled Redemption Amount and all other amounts due in respect of the
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Coupon Rate

Frequency  of
the interest
payment  with
specified dates

Debentures being redeemed, in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and
the other transaction documents.

Mandatory Redemption

Upon occurrence of a mandatory redemption event (in accordance with the
provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed), the Issuer shall promptly notify the
Debenture Trustee and the Debenture Holders shall have the right to require the
Issuer to redeem the Debentures issued to and held by them.

Upon occurrence of a mandatory redemption event, the Debenture Trustee may,
by issuing not less than 30 (thirty) business days notice to the Issuer, require the
Issuer to redeem in full (or as the case may be, in part) all the Debentures then
outstanding by paying an amount equal to the total mandatory redemption amount
in respect of each Debenture. The Debenture Trustee shall notify the mandatory
redemption amount payable by the Issuer in the notice specified above, in
accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed.

The Issuer shall, on the date specified by the Debenture Trustee in the notice,
unconditionally pay to, or to the order of, each Debenture Holder whose names
appears on its register of beneficial owners as on the Record Date in INR, an
amount that is equal to the mandatory redemption amount and all other amounts
due in respect of the Debentures being redeemed, in accordance with this Deed
and the other transaction documents.

Scenario Coupon
If Final Fixing Level>25% of the 6.80%
Initial Fixing level
If Final Fixing Level<=25% of the 0.000%

Initial Fixing level
Coupon if any, will be paid on Redemption Date
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Illustration of cash flows for the Debentures

As per SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/18/2013 dated October 29, 2013, the cash flows emanating
from the Debentures is set out below:

The terms ‘Reference Index’, ‘Initial Fixing Level’, ‘Initial Fixing Date’, ‘Final Fixing Level’ and
‘Final Fixing Date’ are defined in the Issue Details.

Illustration of Bond Cash Flows to be shown in Information

Memorandum

Company Issuer

Face Value (per security) 10,00,000

Issue Date/Date of Allotment 29-09-2020
Redemption 29-04-2022
Coupon Rate 6.80%
Frequency of the Interest Payment with At the end of maturity
specified dates

Day Count Convention Actual / 365

e |f Final Fixing Level >= 25% of the Initial Fixing level

Cash Flows Date No. of days in | Amount (in Rupees)
Coupon Period
1st Coupon Friday, 29 April 2022 577 1,09,600
Principal Friday, 29 April 2022 577 10,00,000
Total 11,09,600

e If Final Fixing Level < 25% of the Initial Fixing level

Cash Flows Date No. of days in | Amount (in Rupees)
Coupon Period
1st Coupon Friday, 29 April 2022 577 NIL
Principal Friday, 29 April 2022 577 10,00,000
Total 10,00,000

The above table is for illustration purposes only, actual cashflow might differ from above. The above
working is as per the final term sheet of the Issue.

Scenario Analysis

Tabular Representation

The following detailed scenario analysis/ valuation matrix shows the value of the Debenture under
different market conditions such as rising, stable and falling market conditions along with a graphical
representation.
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Initial | Final Underlying Issue Maturity Annualized

Level Level Performance Price Value Return
100 200 100% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 195 95% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 175 75% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 145 45% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 125 25% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 100 0% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 90 -10% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 50 -50% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 25 -75% 10,00,000 | 11,09,600 6.80%
100 20 -80% 10,00,000 | 10,00,000 0.00%
100 0 -100% 10,00,000 | 10,00,000 0.00%
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Graphical Representation

Annualized Return to Investor
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This scenario analysis is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not represent actual
termination or unwind prices, nor does it present all possible outcomes or describe all factors that may
affect the value of your investment.

Commission

No commissions/fees/charges, if any, have been paid by the Issuer to any other third party intermediary
for selling/ distribution of the Debentures to the Investors.
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Declaration

The Investment Manager hereby declares that this Information Memorandum contains full disclosure
in accordance with SEBI ILDS Regulations and circulars issued thereunder.

The Investment Manager also confirms that this Information Memorandum does not omit disclosure of
any material fact which may make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they are made, misleading. The Information Memorandum also does not contain any false or
misleading statement in any material respect.

The Investment Manager accepts no responsibility for the statements made otherwise than in this
Information Memorandum or in any other material issued by or at the instance of the Investment
Manager and that anyone placing reliance on any other source of information would be doing so at his
own risk. The Investment Manager declares that all the relevant provisions of the relevant regulations
or guidelines issued by SEBI and other applicable laws have been complied with and no statement made
in this Information Memorandum is contrary to the provisions of the regulations or guidelines issued by
SEBI and other applicable law, as the case may be.

The Investment Manager having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms
that the information contained in this Information Memorandum is true and correct in all material
aspects and is not misleading in any material respect and that the opinions and intentions expressed
herein are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which make this document as
a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in
any material respect.

The Investment Manager accepts no responsibility for statements made otherwise than in this
Information Memorandum or any other material issued by or at the instance of the Issuer and anyone
placing reliance on any other source of information would be doing so at his/her/their own risk. The
information contained in this Information Memorandum is as applicable to privately placed debt
securities and subject to information available with the Issuer. The extent of disclosures made in the
Information Memorandum is materially consistent with disclosures permitted by regulatory authorities
to the issue of securities made by companies in the past.

DECLARATION BY THE AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY OF THE INVESTMENT
MANAGER

The monies received under the offer shall be used only for the purposes and objects indicated in the
Information Memorandum.

I am authorized by the governing board of the Investment Manager of the Issuer vide resolutions dated
September 14, 2020 read with the resolution passed by the executive committee of the governing board
of the Investment Manager dated September 26, 2020 to sign this Information Memorandum and declare
that the subject matter of this Information Memorandum and matters incidental thereto have been
complied with.

Whatever is stated in this Information Memorandum and in the attachments thereto is true, fair,
adequate, correct and complete in all material aspects and no information material to the subject matter
of this Information Memorandum has been suppressed or concealed and is as per the original records
maintained by the Issuer. It is further declared and verified that all the required attachments have been
completely, correctly and legibly attached to this form.

For Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(acting through its Investment Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP)

PREETI Digtaly sined iy
CHHEDA 125607 +0530
Name: Preeti Chheda

Designation: Chief Financial Officer
Date: September 28, 2020

Place: Mumbai
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SCHEDULE 1
CONSENT LETTER FROM DEBENTURE TRUSTEE AND VALUATION AGENCY
(DEBENTURES)

IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd >
CIN: ussssmnzgoxcoumy @ IDBI trustee

Ref: 18417/1TS1/OPR/CL/20-21/ DER/556/1
September 15, 2020

Mindspace Business Parks REIT,

GST Principal Place of Business:

Raheja Tower, Block ‘G',

C-30, Bandra Kurla Complox Barxira (East)

Kind Aten: Mr, Vishal Kumar

Dear Sir,

ject: Con ghenture Trustee for Listed, . ri I Protected - Market Linked

Secured, NCD aggregating upto Its 500 Crs,

This has reference to our discussion and subsequent mail regarding the appointment of IDBI Trusteeship
Services Ltd, (ITSL) as Debenture Trustee for the Company’s proposed debentures issue aggregating to
INR 500 Crores on private placement basis. In this connection, we confirm our acceptance to act as
Debenture Trustee for the same, subject to the company agreeing the conditions as set out in Annexure -
A

We are also agreeable for inclusion of our mame as trustess in the Company’s offer document / disclosure
document / listing application / any other document to be filed with SEBI / ROC / the Stock
Exchange(s) or any other authority as required,

Mindspace Business Parks REIT shall enter into Debenture Trustee Agreement for the said issue of the
NCDs.

Yours Faithfully,

For 1%” teeship Services Limited
A5

Authorized Signatory

Regd. Office : Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17, R, Kamani Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai - 400 001,
Tel. : (22-4080 7000 « Fax : 022-6631 1776 + Emall : itsl@idbitrustee.com » response@idbitrustee.com
Website : www.idbitrustee.com
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Annexure A

i) The Issuer Company confirms that all necessary disclosures have been made in the Information
Memorandum/Disclosure document including but not limited to statutory and other regulatory
disclosures, Investors should carefully read wsnd note the contents of the Information
Memorandum/Disclosure document, Ench prospective investor should make its own independent
assessment of the merit of the investment in NCDs/Bonds Issue and the Issuer Company, Prospective
Investor should consult their own financial, legal, tax and other professional advisors as to the risks and
investment considerations arising from an investmeént in the NCDs/ Bonds and should possess the
appropriate resources to analyze such investment and suitability of such investment to such investor's
particular circumstance , Prospective investors are required to make their own independent evaluation
and judgment before making the investment and are believed to be experienced in investing in debt
markets and are able to bear the economic risk of investing in such instruments.

ii) The Trustees, “ipso facto” do not have the obligations of a borrower or a Principal Debtor or a
Guarantor as to the Monies paid/invested by investors for the Debentures/Bonds.

iili) The Company agrees and undertakes to create the securities wherever applicable over such of ils
immovable and moveable propertics and on such terms and conditions as agreed by the
Debenture/Bond holders and disclose in the Information Memorandum or Disclosure Document and
execute, the Debenture/ Bond Trust Deed and other necessary security documents for each series of
debentures/ bonds as approved by the Debenture/ Bond Trustee, within a period as agreed by us in the
Information Memorandum or Disclosure Document in any case not exceeding 3 months from the date of
closure,

iv) The Company agrees & undertakes to pay to the Debenture/ Bond Trustees so long as they hold the
office of the Debenture/ Bond Trustee, remuneration as mutually agreed for their services as Debenture/
Bond Trustee in addition to all legal, traveling and other costs, charges and expenses which the
Debenture/ Bond Trustee or their officers, employees or agents may incur in relation to execution of the
Debenture/ Bond Trust Deed and all other Documents affecting the Security till the monies in respect of
the Debentures/ Bonds have been fully paid-off and the requisite formalities for satisfaction of charge in
all respects, have been complied with.

v) The Company agrees & undertakes to comply with the provisions of SEBI (Debenture Trustees)
Regulations, 1993, SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, SEBI Circular No.
SEBI/IMD/DOF-1/Bond/2009/11/05 dated 11/05/2009 on Simplified Listing Agreement for Debt
Securities read with the SEBI Circular No, SEBI/IMD/DOF-1/BOND/Cir-5/2009 dated the 26th
November, 2009, the Companies Act, 1956 and other applicable provisions as amended from time to time
and agrees to furnish to Trustees such information in terms of the same on regular basis,

For IDBLTrusteeship
i

Authorized Signatory

The agreement executed between the Issuer and the Valuation Agency (Debentures) is annexed
separately.
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SCHEDULE 2
CREDIT RATING LETTERS AND RATING RATIONALE FROM THE CREDIT RATING
AGENCY

Ratings CRISIL

An BAF Glotiw Comparny

CONFIDENTIAL
MIBPKR/2SSOSOLTPPMLDAS2001 244
Septerber 22, 2020
Ms. Preet] Chheds
Chief Financial Officer
Mindspace Business Parks RETT (Mindspace REIT)
Rahejn Tower, Level 8,
Block G, C-30,
Bandea Kurls Conglex
Manbui- 400051
Dear Ms. Preeti Chbeda,
Re: CRISIL Rating on the Rs.500 Crore Long Termn Principal Protected Market Linked Debentures of
Mindspace Busimess Parks REIT (Mindspace REIT)

We refier to your request foc a rating for the captecoed Loag Terss Priscipal Prosected Markes Linked Debertures,

CRISIL baw, after due sderaty d » "Provisi cnmnumu.u *" (peomovmced “CRISIL

PP-M!.th)kAnqm&lhh«nhok“)mbh ptioned debt 3 widh this rating are

wmhuwmdmw-ﬂquammmmm

lowest cred nisk.

Mmhhmﬂmﬂhmﬂuﬂmh@ﬂmhmmm

dely d wickin 120 days frem the date of assigament of the provisional eating, t the sasisiaction of

CRISIL.

*  Ressipt of cxoouted debenture st deed

o Prepaymentirefinancing of debe wt SPV Jevel

Additicasl & f anry, d for the will a0 have 10 be provaded. CRISIL will issue » final ovting leter on

receipt of documests mestooed above.

Plesse vote that, i amivisg ot the ratings, CRISIL bas d S e made by Misudspwos REIT aee truc sad that

bmwmmmsmwwmmaom the Y. adequacy, or
2 of the rep marde by you to CRISIL md or the rep jonts ke m the o CRISIL

umtmpm‘bkh-yamd or 30n of the Mindspace REIT and'or the Trustee.

As per owr Rating Agreement, CRISIL wosld disscimate the rating aloag with outheok theough its prblications and other meda,

ﬂwhmmmmmm&hhﬁd&aMMrw\uhmmnﬂwa

m-cﬁ:mm igned to the captioned & it any Sme. oo the basss of new indoenmatios, or ussrvuilability of
of ofber ¢ whoch CRISIL believes nevy have an ntpact on the titing.

Mpummm(mmmmuxvmnxwmuﬂms)mmm&.

you e d 10 provde hon tasher (ISIN: sbong with the
nfaa»emﬂundhdnuf&m.lﬂa)&dlhudwmu&wumlﬂmbn The circulee
hmmbhhm&nﬂmvﬁnw&‘%nﬂuh%dhm We reecst you %o mssed e all the

y mad rdevant 1 at debersue@ermal com. This will enable CRISIL % venfy md coafiom to the depossones,
Mmdmhmh-ﬁd&uﬁwmumwmlF:lhcbwmh-wchnﬁm
you may have at delemefenul som
Shold you reqere any chnfications, plesss fesd free %0 pet in toush with ws
With wans regseds,

Yours sincerely,
M "( ~> v
\.g ’
/ \F'?'\T e
Suskmits Majossdar Nivedaa Shibu
Darector - CRISIL Ratmgs Assocante Director - CRISIL Ratings

A CRISN mong mafects CRASITYS commnl apwson on W Ehaihood of Mewely sonpvred Of the obigiadons wader e fited wsturmend sod
does ol consiude an sudd of the raled ontty by CRISK. CRISI mumnmwwhmuw

Dy CRYSIL fom sources £ consdes /edatve CRIEL does nof y of he on nhvich the
m-MAmmsnnmbn maunmmumnmmm«w
D of JbsONy R @ perfcuk irestor AV ORISK Gngs aw onder svedines CRISY. ov A6 assocales may bove ofwe

Duruacthons wih the RAtngs am mewsed a3 and when CREUTElnces S0 marat CRISE & sof sesponabie
mwmuwmmmumwm 10 the subacrdera / wsen / /& o
ths prody CAISY. Radngs raling ofena ae avadabie withou! o e potiic on the CRISL wed st waw.cnsdcom For e
Gatest 2a0ng NGmeton OF Iy SiETUmEn of ATy company maded by Please costac! Cusiomer Sevice Hefpdesk of 1800267

1
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Ragheerad O CRIER. Mema. Conwel Avesse, Mosnenduss Bucnese Pwt; Powes. Siumie:- 58 670 Stme: =41 I3 5347 2008 | Pun: =44 13 Sbeh Sowe
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Ratings CRISIL

An GAF Globa Company

“A prefix of ‘Provisional” mdscates that the ratng centrally factors m the strength of specific srvctwres, and will be
supported by certain critical documentation by the ixsar, without which the rating would either have been different or not
asvigned ob initio. This s in compliance witk @ May 6, 2015, directive by the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(SEBY), 'Sandardising the term, rating symbol, and manner of disclasure with regard to canditional/ provisional/ -
principle ratings assigned by credit rating agencies (CRAs)'

* 4 prefix of PP-MLD' mmmmmmwamwmmwm The terms of such
inztruments indicate that while the tssuer promizer to pay back the face valuaprincipal of the instrument, the coupon rates
afﬁmmﬁﬂmhﬁddmﬂdh&nmammﬂwﬂcaﬂamﬂrym
equity share prices, indices, or foreign exchange rares. The r' suffix indieates thar payments on the ruved nstraoment have
sigmficant risks other than credit risk. The terms of the mstrument specify that the payments to mvestors will not be fixed,
and could be linked o one ov more extermal vartables such as commovdiny prices, equity indices, or foreign exchange rates.
This couid result in variabulity in returns because of adverse movement in walue of the exeral wariables, andlor pozsible
material loss of prncipal ow early redemprion of the mstrument. The risk of such adverse movemant o price / valug is mot
addressed by the rating.

Tang reflects CRIGH S Caent opsan an the Nkethood of imely payment of fhe colgatons undey he rafed IStmen’ and
does not consitufe an aud¥ of the raled andty by CRISIL. CRISE. ralngs are based on informaton provided by the issuey or ablaned
by CRISIL from sources # considers refkable mmumhmumduMth
saexg s hased A CRISIK rafing i nol & yecommendaton b buy. sei o hold the rated d, X does not on the make!
oo o susabWy fv a parculsr ivesior. Al CRISK ratvgo are under sivewance. CRYSIL or é5 assocufes may have other
commesal ransactons with the companyentily. Ratngs are revised a5 and when orcumalances 5o waran!, CRYSIL & nof maponsble
for any emors and especsally stades thaf f has no fmanoml Aabdity whatsoever fo e subscoribers / ustys / franamitlers / dstributors of
thes product. CRISK. Radngs raing onderia ave avaslible wehout chage fo the putic an e CRASIL web afe, www crsd com For the
Ltz ratng mkvmabon on any of any company raled by CRISIL, please contact Customer Servace Helpdesk af 1800-267-

e
Cmspenete |Smasivy [fuabes Lo TSRS TPL OB baN

Wegtetared Offue CRIEIL Muses © ammal Park, Posmas, Maubus. 400 B58 Pane 41 22 1162 1000 (Fan ~W1 12 hed 18900
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SCHEDULE 3
GOVERNING BOARD AND COMMITTEE RESOLUTIONS

CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD
(“BOARD”) OF K RAHEIA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS LLP ("MANAGER”) AT THEIR MEETING HELD
ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020.

ALELLS g

denominated debentures by Mindspace Business Parks REIT;

"RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of (8] SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations,
2014) (“REIT Regulations®), (b} SEBI (Issue and Listing Of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, (c)
Guidedines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REMs) and Infrastructure
Investment Trusts (InviTs) ssued by SEBI vide dreular dated April 13, 2018, (d) Guidefines for Issue and
Listing of Structurad Products / Market Linked Debentures issued by SEBI vide circular dated September
28, 2011 and July 13, 2020, (e} {Usting Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, including any
amendment or substitution thereof read with all other applicable regulations, drculars, notifications and
guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of india {"SEBI") or any other regulatory body and as
may be applicable and the applicable provisions of the trust deed executed by and between Cape
Trading LLP, Anbee Constructions LLP and Axis Trustee Services Limited dated November 18, 2019 {"REIT
Trust Deed”}, and the applicable provisions of the investment management agreement executed by and
between Axis Trustee Services Umited and K Rahefa Corp Investment Managers LLP dated Movember 21,
2019, the issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured, redeemable, non-
convertible rupee denominated debentures {“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs. 500,00,00,000/-
(Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series [ issuances [ phases, in
dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of Incka Limited, to cligible
Investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, on such terms and in such manner as may be deemed fit
and approved by the Executive Committee, be and is hereby approved.

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consent of the Board be and is hereby given to create security for the
due repayment of all amounts payable in relation to the Market Linked Debentures, pursuant to the
Transaction Documents and as the Executive Committee may deem fit and agree with the debenture
holders and the debenture trustee / security trustee, including by way of mortgage, hypothecation,
pledge, lien, guarantee or any other security or encumbrance, in each case, in favour of the debenture
trustee and/ or the securlty trustee {acting for the benefit of the Debenture Holders).

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consent of the Board be and Is hereby given for execution of various
documents by Mindspace Business Parks REIT including but not limited to debenture trustee
appontment agreement(s), debenture trust deed(s), varlous other agreements (such as listing
agreements, account agreements, escrow agreements, trust and retention account agreements, letter
agreement(s) etc), engagement letters, deed of hypothecation, deed of guarantee, information
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memorandum / disclosure document, declaration and memorandum of entry, indenture of mortgage,
mortgage deed, pledge deed, non-disposal undertakings and any other letters, documents etc. relating
to the Market Linked Debentures with debenture trustee, security trustee, registrar and transfer agent,
credit rating agency, valuer and/or valuation agency, depositories, stock exchanges, arrangers,
debenture holders or such other persons and entities as may be necessary (collectively, the
“Transaction Documents"”).

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Executive Committee be and is hereby authorised and empowered to

undertake all activities pertaining to the issuance, allotment, listing and redemption of the Market

Linked Debentures Induding finalization / amendment / modification of the terms of issuance and

redemption of the Market Linked Debentures to be issued by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, in one or

more tranches/series/issuances/phases, from time to time, including without limitation:

{i)  negotiating, finalizing and approving (a) the terms of issuance of the Market Linked Debentures,
(b} allotment of the Market Linked Debentures, (c} the terms of all the Transaction Decuments
and any other document designated in writing as a Transaction Document by the debenture
trustee and/ or the security trustee (as the case may be} and Mindspace Business Parks REIT, {d)
execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents and any other decument
designated In writing as a Transaction Document by the debenture trustee and/ or the security
trustee {as the case may be) and Mindspace Business Parks REIT and (e) any modifications,
variations, amendments {however fundamental they may be) thereto;

() negotiating, finalizing and approving (a) creation of security in favour of the debenture trustee
and/for the security trustee for the repayment of all amounts in connection with the Market
Linked Debentures, over movable and/or immovable properties of the Mindspace REIT and/or any
SPVs of Mindspace REIT, whether by way of pledge, hypothecation, mortgage, lien or any form of
encumbrance, (b} terms of decuments for creation of the aforesaid security for the Market Linked
Debentures, (c) execution, delivery and performance of documents for creation of the aforesaid
security for the Market Linked Debentures, (d} execution, presentation and registration of any
documents before the sub registrar of assurances for creation of the aforesaid security for the
Market Linked Debentures and (e) any meodifications, variations, amendments (however
fundamental they may be} thereto;

(i} Naising with and completing all legal, statutary, procedural, operaticonal, registration, engagement
and appeintment related formalities for issue, security creation, allotment, listing and redemption
of Market Linked Debentures, induding (3} appointment of various intermediaries |including but
not limited to debenture trustee{s}, security trustee(s), merchant banker|s} and lead manager(s),
arranger{s), registrar and transfer agent(s), custedians, legal and tax counsells), valuation
agency(s), credit rating agencyl(ies), banker(s), depository(ies), subscriber(s), investor{s),
underwriter{s}, guarantor(s), escrow agentis), consultant(s), advisor(s), auditorls), chartered
accountant(s), monitoring agencylies), advertising agencylies) and any other agency(ies) or
person(s} or intermediary(ies)] and negotiating terms of their appointment and execution,
delivery and performance of any agreements, letters and documents with them and any
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modifications, variations, amendments (however fundamental they may bej to such agreements,
letters and documents, (b} filing / registering of any documents including the Information
Memarandum with SEBI, the Stock Exchange(s), (c) payment of stamp duties, registration fees and
all other stamp taxes, as required under applicable law and (d) approving, executing and
submitting any other forms, documents, letters, undertakings or applications required to be filed
with any other governmental/regulatory/statutory/quasi-judicial and judicial authorities,
including any local authority, the Reserve Bank of India {“RBI), SEBI, the central government, any
state government, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, [as may be applicable), tax authorities and/or
other governmental bodies or undertakings (collectively "Governmental Authorities”), in
accordance with applicable law and (e) to do all acts in refation thereto;

to seek, |f required, the consent of the lenders, parties with whom the Asset SPVs have entered
into various commercial and other agreements, all concerned government and regulatory
authorities in India or outside India, and any other consents that may be required in connection
with the issue, allotment, listing and redemption of the Market Linked Debentures,

to negotiate, finalise, approve and settle and to execute where applicable and deliver or arrange
the delivery of the draft and/or final offer document / information memorandum, offer letter or
any other document inviting subscriptions to the Market Linked Debentures (induding any
notices, amendments, addenda, corrigenda or supplements thereto), the agreements and all
other documents, deeds, agreements and instruments and any notices, supplements and
corrigenda thereto, as may be required or desirable with respect to the Market Linked
Debentures and to set up an online bidding mechanism on the electronic book platform of the
Stock Exchanges, if required;

to issue advertisements and/or notices as it may deem fit and proper in accordance with
applicable law;

to finalize the allotment of and to allot the Market Linked Debentures on the basis of the
applications received including the basis of the allotment;

to authorize and approve, the Incurring of expenditure and payment of fees, commission,
remuneration and expenses, including the stamp duty, registration costs and all other charges to
be incurred in connection with the Market Linked Debentures;

giving or authorizing any cencerned person to give such declarations, affidavits, certificates,
consents and authorities as may be required from time to time;

approving terms of and execution of the term sheet, Information Memorandum, application form
etc. {incdluding amending, varying or modifying the same, however fundamental they may be, as
may he considered desirable or expedient), in relation to the Market Linked Debentures;

filing of the information memorandum with the Stock Exchange within the prescribed time period
and setting up an online bidding mechanism on the electronic book platform of the Stock
Exchanges, if required, in accordance with applicable law;

filing and obtaining in-principle approval, seeking the listing of the Market Linked Debentures on
the Stock Exchange, submitting the listing application to such Stock Exchange and taking all
actions that may be necessary in connection with obtaining such listing;
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[xiii) authorizing the maintenance of a register of debenture holders;

{xiv) dealing with all matters relating to the issue, allotment and listing of the Market Linked
Debentures including but not limited to as spedified under the SEBI (Real Estate Investment
Trusts) Reguiations, 2014 ("REIT Regulations”), the SEBI [Issue and Listing of Debt Securities)
Regulations, 2008, SEBI (Debenture Trustees) Regulations, 1993, guidelines issued by SEBI titled
‘Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REMs) and
Infrastructure Investment Trusts {InvITs)' dated April 13, 2018, as may be amended from time to
time (“REIT Debenture Guidelines”}, guidelines Issued by SEBI titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and
Listing of Structured Products/ Market Linked Debentures dated September 28, 2011, as may be
amended from time to time (“MLD Guidelines”) and other circulars, directives and regulations
issued by SEBI and other regulatory/governmental/statutory bodies, from time to time;

{xv) accepting and wutilizing the proceeds of the Market Linked Debentures in the manner provided
under the respective Transaction Documents and the applicable law with power to amend the
utilization in accordance with applicable laws and the Transaction Documents;

[xvi) deciding the pricing and all the other terms of the Market Linked Debentures (including any
coupen, redemption amounts and all other monies payable in relation to the Market Linked
Debentures), and all other related matters;

(xvil) designing, approving and laying down such standard operating procedures (“SOPs”), authority
matrix and other precesses as it may deem fit for issue, allotment, listing and redemption of
Market Linked Debentures and reviewing and revising the same from time to time,

[xvii} to open, operate, close or change the operating instructions of any bank accounts, demat
accounts, escrow account, investment account, and authorize any person(s) {a) for execution of
any application, form, KYC, declaration, disclosure, affidavit and any other submission required to
be made in respect of any such account and (b) for operation of any such account, from time to
time and to avail additional facilities and features such as online access, net-banking services, cash
management, treasury management from bankers, depository participants and other
Iintermediaries,

[xix) to (a) do any other act and/or deed, [b) negotiate and execute any document|s), application(s),
agreement(s}, undertaking(s), deed(s), affidavits, declarations and certificates, (c] settie any
questions or difficulties that may arise for giving effect to this resolution, and (d] give such
direction as it deems fit or as may be necessary or desirable with regard.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in connection with any of the foregoing resolution, the Executive Committee
be and Is hereby authorized to delegate all or any such powers vested in it to any officer(s) of the
Manager or any other person, including by the grant of power of attorney, to do such acts, deeds and
things as such authorized person in his/her/its absolute discretion may deem necessary or desirable and
giving or authorizing any concerned person to give such declarations, affidavits, certificates, consents
and authorities as may be required in furtherance of the powers vested in the Executive Committee,
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the sbove resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Board or Chief Executive Officer or Chief Finandial Officer or Comphance Officer of the Manager, be
provided to the concerned autharities or such other persons as may be required.”

{/Certified to be true//

For K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP

(For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PREET) oome™
NAVEEN N
CHHEDATLN o0

Preetl Chheda

Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbal

Date: September 22, 2020
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD ("BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP ("MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 2020.

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of (a) SEBI {Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014}
("REIT Regulations”), (b) SEBI {Issue and Listing Of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, (c) Guidelines for
issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts {REITs) and Infrastructure Investment Trusts
{InviTs) issued by SEBI vide circular dated April 13, 2018, {d} Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured
Products / Market Linked Debentures issued by SEBI vide circular dated September 28, 2011 and July 13,
2020, (e} SEBI (Listing Obligaticns and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, including any amendment or
substitution thereof and (f} SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015,
including any amendment or substitution thereof read with all other applicable regulations, circulars,
notifications and guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") or any other
regulatory body and as may be applicable and the applicable provisions of the trust deed executed by and
between Cape Trading LLP, Anbee Constructions LLP and Axis Trustee Services Limited dated November
18, 2019 ("REIT Trust Deed”), and the applicable provisions of the investment management agreement
executed by and between Axis Trustee Services Limited and K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
dated November 21, 2019, the issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) aggregating
up to Rs, 500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in dematerialised form, on private placement
basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized stock exchange In India including BSE Limited,
to eligible investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, to the eligible investors, be and is hereby approved
on the terms and conditions of the Market Linked Debentures as provided briefly and as more specifically
detailed in the draft information memorandum (“Information Memorandum®) presented before the
Committee:

Security Name | MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT-6.8%- 2022
ISIN(NSDL | INEOCCUO7017

Debenture IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited

Trustee
S 10 year G-sec linked secured, listed guaranteed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative,
ype rated, principal protected — market linked secured, redeemable, non- convertible
Instrument
| debentures
Seniority | Senior
Principal oo i
Protection Principal is protected at Maturity

Underlying/ 10-year Government Security — 5.79% GS 2030 {ISIN: INO020200070)
Reference Issue Date: 11-May-2020

Index | Maturity Date: 11-May-2030

Eligible * resident individuals,
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Investors Hindu undivided family,

trust,

limited liability partnerships, partnership firm(s),

portfolio managers,

association of persons,

companies and bodies corporate including public sector undertakings,
commercial banks, regional rural banks, financial institutions,
Insurance companies,

mutual funds/ alterative investment fund (AIF), and

any other investor eligible to invest in these Debentures

in each case, as may be permitted under applicable law
Issue Size
(INR) .
_FaceValue | INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture
IssuePrice | INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture
Tenor In Days | 577 Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment
Pay-inDate | September 29, 2020

INR 500,00,00,000 {Indian Rupees five hundred crores only)

mz::e september 29,2020
Scheduled

Redemption | April 29, 2022

Date

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Information memorandum, for the issue of Market Linked Debentures, as
presented before the Committee be and is hereby finalized, adopted and approved for private circulation
to eligible investors.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja or Mr. Neel Raheja, designated partners and Mr. Vined Rohira,

Chief Executive Officer and Ms. Preeti Chheda, Chief Financial Officer of the Manager, be and are hereby

severally authorized, on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT acting through its Manager K Raheja

Corp Investment Managers LLP, to sign and submit all required applications, letters, documents, deeds

and writings and do all such acts, deeds and things as may be required in this regard to implement and

give effect to this resolution including:

a) toapprove the terms of and execution of the term sheet, information Memorandum, application form
etc, (including amending, varying or maodifying the same, however fundamental they may be, as may
be considered desirable or expedient), in refation to the Market Linked Debentures,

b) to negatiate, finalize, execute, adopt, date and deliver or arrange the delivery of the Information
Memorandum and/or any other document inviting subscriptions to the Market Linked Debentures
{including any notices, amendments, addenda, corrigendz or supplements thereto), the agreements

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
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and all other documents, deeds, agreements and instruments and any notices, supplements and
corrigenda thereto, as may be required or desirable with respect to the Market Linked Debentures to
be executed by Mindspace REIT with the debenture holders, the Debenture Trustee in respect of the
Information Memorandum and/or the Market Linked Debentures (collectively, the “Transaction
Documents”) to which Mindspace REIT is a party,

¢} to circulate the Information Memorandum to the eligible investors,

d) tofile / register documents including the Information Memorandum with SEBI, the Stock Exchange(s)
within the timeline prescribed under applicable law(s),

e) to pay all costs, stamp duties, filing fees, registration fees or other such expenses in connection with
the Transaction Documents, and any other costs, fees and expenses in relation to the listing of the
Market Linked Debentures, and

f) to otherwise deal with regulatory authorities including without limitation RBI, the SEBI, the Stock

Exchange, the relevant depositories, authorities appointed under the Income Tax, 1961 and such other

authorities as may be required in connection with the Market Linked Debentures and to do all such

acts, deeds, matters and things as may deemed necessary to give effect to this resolution. , and

to do any other act andfor deed, (i) negotiate and execute any document(s), application(s),

agreement(s), undertaking(s), deed(s), affidavits, declarations and certificates, {iii) settle any questions

or difficulties that may arise for giving effect to this resolution, and {iv) give such direction as it deems
fit or as may be necessary or desirable with regard.

-

B

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in connection with this resolution, Mr, Ravi Raheja or Mr. Neel Raheja,
designated partners and Mr. Vinod Rohira, Chief Executive Officer and Ms. Preeti Chheda, Chief Financial
Officer of the Manager, be and are hereby severally authorized to delegate all or any such powers vested
in them to any other person, including by the grant of power of attorney, to do such acts, deeds and things
as such authorized person in his/her/its absolute discretion may deem necessary or desirable and giving
or authorizing any concerned person to give such dedlarations, affidavits, certificates, consents and
authorities as may be required in furtherance of the powers vested in them.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such other
persons as may be required,”

[/Certified to be true//

For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT

(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PREETI  Uwishipel

tyfean

NAVEEN  wenimawens
D00

CHHEDA 11 orw
Preeti Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: September 28, 2020
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD ("BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP ("MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 2020.

"RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of {a) SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014)
(“REIT Regulations”), (b} SEBI {Issue and Listing Of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, (c| SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, (d)
Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts {REITs) and Infrastructure
Investment Trusts {InviTs) issued by SEBI vide circular dated April 13, 2018, (e} Guidelines for Issue and
Listing of Structured Products / Market Linked Debentures issued by SEBI vide circular dated September
28, 2011 and July 13, 2020, (f) SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements}, 2015, including any
amendment or substitution thereof read with all other applicable regulations, drculars, notifications and
guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India (“"SEBI”) or any other regulatory body and as
may be applicable and the applicable provisions of the trust deed executed by and between Cape Trading
LLP, Anbee Constructions LLP and Axis Trustee Services Limited dated November 18, 2019 {“REIT Trust
Deed"), and the applicable provisions of the Investment management agreement executed by and
between Axis Trustee Services Limited and K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated November 21,
2019, in refation to the issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured, redeemable,
non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- {Rupees five hundred crores enly), in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to
be listed on the debt segment of any recognized stock exchange in India induding BSE Limited and/or
National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the
approval of the Committee be and is hereby accorded for the terms of and the execution of, and the
transactions contemplated by:

1. the Debenture Trustee Agreement,

2. the Debenture Trust Deed, and

3. the Corporate Guarantee,

as per the drafts placed before the Committee.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja or Mr. Neel Raheja, designated partners and Mr. Vinod Rohira,
Chief Executive Officer and Ms. Preeti Chheda, Chief Finandal Officer of the Manager (“Authorised
Signatories”| be and are hereby severally authorized, on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT acting
through the Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP, to sign and submit all required
applications, letters, documents, deeds and writings and do all such acts, deeds and things as may be
required in this regard to implement and give effect to this resolution including:

a) to negotiate, finalise and approve (i) the terms of issuance of the Market Linked Debentures;
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b) to negotiate, finalize, execute, register and deliver Debenture Trustee Agreement, Debenture Trust

Deed and Corporate Guarantee accounts agreement, if applicable,and/or any other decument to be

executed by the Mindspace Business Parks REIT with the Debenture Holders, the Debenture Trustee

and/or the Security Trustee in respect of the Market Linked Debentures {collectively, the “Transaction

Documents”) to which it is a party,

lizising with and completing all legal, statutory, procedural, operational, registration, engagement and

appointment related formalities for issue, security creation, allotment, listing and redemption of

Market Linked Debentures, including {a) appointment of various intermediaries [including but not

limited to debenture trustee(s), security trustee(s), merchant banker(s} and lead manager(s),

arrangerls), registrar and transfer agent(s), custodians, legal and tax counsel(s), valuation agency(s),
credit rating agencylies), bankerls), depository{ies), subscriber(s), investor(s), underwriter|s),
guarantor(s), escrow agent(s), consultant{s), advisor(s), auditor(s), chartered accountant(s),
monitaring agencylies), advertising agency(ies)] and any other agencylies) or person(s) or
intermediary(ies)] and negotiating terms of their appointment and execution, delivery and
performance of any agreements, letters and documents with them and any modifications, variations,

amendments (however fundamental they may be) to such agreements, letters and documents, (b)

filing / registering of any documents including the Information Memorandum with SEBI, the Stock

Exchange(s), (¢) payment of stamp duties, registration fees and all other stamp taxes, as required under

applicable law and (d) approving, executing and submitting any other forms, documents, letters,

undertakings  or  applications  required te  be filed with  any  other
governmental/regulatory/statutory/quasi-judicial and judicial authorities, including any local
authority, the Reserve Bank of India ("RBI"), SEBI, the central government, any state government, the

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, (as may be applicable), tax authorities and/or other governmental bodies

or undertakings (collectively "Governmental Authorities”), in accordance with applicable law and (e}

to do all acts in relation thereto;

d) to make any changes to the Transaction Documents to which Mindspace Business Parks REIT is a party
that they, in their absolute discretion, may think fit, and to execute and any other deeds, agreements,
indenture, documents, letters etc. including any amendments, supplementary agreements, addendum
as may be required in relation to the marketing, issue, allotment, listing of the Market Linked
Debentures and also to perform the obligations of Mindspace Business Parks REIT in relation to the
Market Linked Debentures,

e) toaccept and utilize the proceeds of the Market Linked Debentures in the manner provided under the
respective Transaction Documents and the applicable law with power to amend the utilization in
accordance with applicable laws and the Transaction Documents;

f) to decide the pricing and all the other terms of the Market Linked Debentures (including any coupon,

redemption amounts and all other monies payable in relation to the Market Linked Debentures), and

all other related matters;

to make any applications to file, deliver or register any documents, instruments, deeds, amendments,

supplements, papers, applications, notices or letters as may be required under applicable laws

{including but not limited to notarisation of the relevant powers of attorney and registration of the

C

—

—

[
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relevant Transaction Documents with the relevant registrar of sub-assurances (whether by themselves
or through the person holding their power of attorney);

h) to do any other act and/or deed, (i) negotiate and execute any document(s), application(s),
agreement(s), undertaking(s), deed(s), affidavits, dedarations and certificates, (jii) settle any questions
or difficulties that may arise for giving effect to this reselution, and (iv) give such direction as it deems
fit or as may be necessary or desirable with regard.

i) to open, operate, dose or change the operating instructions of any bank accounts, demat accounts,
escrow account, investment account, and authorize any person(s) {a) for execution of any application,
form, KYC, declaration, disclosure, affidavit and any other submission required to be made in respect
of any such account and (b) for operation of any such account, from time to time and to avail additional
facilities and features such as online access, net-banking services, cash management, treasury
management from bankers, depository participants and other intermediaries,

j) to pay all costs, stamp duties, filing fees, registration fees or other such expenses in connection with

the registration and perfection of the security to be created for Market Linked Debentures (including

for notarization of the relevant power(s} of attorney and registration of the relevant Transaction

Documents with the relevant registrar of sub-assurances) and

to otherwise deal with regulatory authorities including without limitation RBI, the SEBI, Stock

Exchange, the relevant depositories, authorities appointed under the Income Tax, 1961 and such other

authorities as may be required in connection with the Market Linked Debentures and to do all such

acts, deeds, matters and things as may deemed necessary to give effect to this resolution.

k

—

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in connection with this resolution, Mr. Ravi Raheja or Mr. Neel Raheja,
designated partners and Mr. Vinod Rohira, Chief Executive Officer and Ms. Preeti Chheda, Chief Financial
Officer of the Manager be and are hereby severally authorized to delegate all or any such powers vested
in them to any other person, including by the grant of power of attorney, to do such acts, deeds and things
as such authorized person in hisfher/its absolute discretion may deem necessary or desirable and giving
or authorizing any concerned person to give such dedlarations, affidavits, certificates, consents and
authorities as may be reguired in furtherance of the powers vested in them.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in addition to the Authorised Signatories, Mr. Shrawan Kumar Gone and Mr.
Ganesh Subudhi, be and are hereby severally authorized, on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
acting through the Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP, to negotiate, finalize, execute,
register and deliver the Corporate Guarantee and/or any other document to be executed by the
Mindspace Business Parks REIT with the Debenture Holders, the Debenture Trustee and/or the Security
Trustee in relation to the Corporate Guarantee respect of the Market Linked Debentures to which it is a
party.
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the

Committee or Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such other
persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//
For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PREETI vy oo
NAVEEN i
OHEDA T2
Preeti Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: September 28, 2020
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD (“BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP (“MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020,

To open Current Account of Mindspace Business Parks REIT with HDFC Bank, Fort Branch:

“RESOLVED THAT consent of the member of the Committee be and is hereby accorded to open a current
account of Mindspace Business Parks REIT (“Mindspace REIT”), constituted as a contributory,
determinate, irrevocable trust registered with joint sub-registrar Andheri -2 vide registration number
6033/2019 and acting through its Investment Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP, be
opened with HDFC Bank, Fort Branch, Mumbai (“said Bank"} with the account title "Mindspace Business
Parks REIT - NCD Subscription Account”. .

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the said Bank be and is hereby authorised to accept all documents, honour all
cheques, bills of exchange, promissory notes drawn, sighed, executed and/or endorsed by any two of the
tollowing persons Jointly {no limit):

Mr. Ravi Chandru Raheja
Mr. Neel Chandru Raheja
Mr. Vinod Nandlal Rohira
Ms, Preeti Naveen Chheda
Mr. Pankaj Chetan Gupta

and further to act on any instructions so given relating to the account, whether the same be overdrawn
or not or relating to the transactions of Mindspace REIT,

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any two of the above mentioned Authorised Signatories acting jointly be and
are hereby authorized to sign the account opening form and all other related documents as may be
required by the said Bank to open and operate the aforesaid Bank Account.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of this resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the Committee
of the Board or Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required to give effect to the aforesaid resolution.”

//Certified to be true//
For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

PRET o
NOER. e
£ u_'jnl Al
Preeti Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai

Date: September 28, 2020

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD ("BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP ("MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020,

To make an application to National Securities Depository Limited (“NSDL") and Central Depository
Services Limited ("CDSL"), depositories to obtain International Securities Identification Number (“ISIN")
for proposed private placement of Market Linked Debentures:

“RESOLVED THAT approval of the Committee be and is hereby accorded for making application to
National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL} and Central Depository Services {I) Limited (CDSL) to obtain
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) to enable listed, rated, principal protected - market
linked secured, redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked
Debentures”) of upto Rs. 500,00,00,000/- {Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches /
series /[ issuances / phases, in dematerialised form,

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr, Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
member of the committee, be and are hereby severally authorised to negotiate, finalise, sign, execute,
deliver and perform the tripartite agreements to be entered into between {a) Mindspace Business Parks
REIT {b) National Securities Depository Limited and/or Central Depository Services (1) Limited i.e. the
depositories and (c) Link Intime India Private Limited i.e. the registrar and share transfer agent, make
payment of necessary fees and to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be necessary to give
effect to this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any member of the
Committee or by the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or
such other persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//
For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
{acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PREETI  Sha™
NAVEEN Sore
(HHED Law masm

S50

Preeti Chheda

Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai

Date: September 28, 2020

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD ("BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP (“MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020.

a.  Appointment of Legal Counsel:

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appaint M/s. Shardul Amarchand
Mangaldas and Co. as the legal counsel to Mindspace Business Parks REIT and the Manager.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid legal counsel including but not limited to (a)
negotiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aforesaid legal counsel, (b) negotiate,
finalize, execute and deliver engagement letters, memoranda of understanding, non-disclosure
agreements, and such other agreements, letters, documents ete, as they may, in their absolute discretion,
deem necessary or desirable to give effectto  this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any member of the
Committee or the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required.”

b.  Appointment of credit rating agency:

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / Issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appoint CRISIL Limited {“CRISIL")
as the rating agency for carrying out credit rating of the Market Linked Debentures.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid credit rating agency including but not limited to (a)

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
LLP Identification Number (LLPIN): AAM-1179
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negatiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aferesaid credit rating agency, (b)
negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver engagement letters, memoranda of understanding, non-disclosure
agreements, and such other agreements, letters, documents etc. as they may, in their absolute discretion,
deem necessary or desirable to give effect to this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or the Caompliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required.”

¢ Appointment of registrar and transfer agent:

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appoint Link Intime India Private
Limited ("Link Intime") as the registrar and transfer agent for the Market Linked Debentures.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr, Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do zll such acts, deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid registrar and transfer agent including but not
limited to {a) negotiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aforesaid registrar and
transfer agent, (b} negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver engagement letters, memoranda of
understanding, non-disclosure agreements, and such other agreements, letters, documents etc. as they
may, in their absolute discretion, deem necessary or desirable to give effect to this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required.”

d.  Appointment of debenture trustee:

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appoint IDBI Trusteeship Services

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
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Limited ("IDB! Trusteeship/Debenture Trustee”) as the debenture trustee for the Market Linked
Debentures.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consent letter received from the aforesaid debenture trustee dated
September 7, 2020, to act as the Debenture Trustee of the issue of Market Linked Debentures is hereby
taken on record.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid debenture trustee including but not limited to (a)
negatiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aforesaid debenture trustee, (b)
negatiate, finalize, execute and deliver debenture trustee appointment agreement, engagement letters,
memoranda of understanding, non-disclosure agreements, and such other agreements, letters,
documents etc, as they may, in their absolute discretion, deem necessary or desirable to give effect to
this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required.”

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, nen-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of india Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appoint CRISIL Limited (“CRISIL"),
which Is an agency appointed by Association of Mutual Funds (“AMFI”), as the valuation agency for
valuation of the Market Linked Debentures.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do all such acts; deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid valuation agency including but not limited to (a)
negatiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aforesaid valuation agency, (b)
negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver debenture trustee appointment agreement, engagement letters,
memoranda of understanding, non-disclosure agreements, and such other agreements, letters,
documents etc, as they may, in their absolute discretion, deem necessary or desirable to give effect to
this resolution.
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned autharities or such
other persens as may be required.”

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto Rs.
500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches [ serfes / Issuances / phases,
in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized
stock exchange In India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible
investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT, the Committee do hereby appoint Cushman & Wakefield
India Private Limited ("Cushman and Wakefield"), as the valuation agency for valuation of security
provided to the Market Linked Debentures by Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or Asset SPVs.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the Committee, be and are hereby severally authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters
and things in relation to the appointment of aforesaid valuation agency including but not limited to (a)
negotiate and finalize fees and other terms of appointment of the aforesaid valuation agency, (b)
negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver debenture trustee appointment agreement, engagement letters,
memoranda of understanding, non-disclosure agreements, and such other agreements, letters,
documents etc. as they may, in their absolute discretion, deem necessary or desirable to give effect to
this resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Committee or the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or such
other persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//

For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT

(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PREETT  inps e

O Jsa e

CHHEDA risax s

Preeti Chheda

Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai

Date: September 28, 2020
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE") OF THE GOVERNING BOARD (“BOARD”) OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS
LLP (“MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020.

To grant authority for signing and submission of various documents in relation to the issue and listing
of Market Linked Debentures:

“RESOLVED THAT for the purpose of issue of listed, rated, principal protected - market linked secured,
redeemable, non-convertible rupee denominated debentures (“Market Linked Debentures”) of upto
Rs. 500,00,00,000/- (Rupees five hundred crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances /
phases, in dematerialised form, on private placement basis, to be listed on the debt segment of any
recognized stock exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited,
to eligible investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT and pursuant to the provisions of (a) SEBI (Real
Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014) ("REIT Regulations”), (b} SEBI (Issue and Listing Of Debt
Securities) Regulations, 2008, (c) Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment
Trusts (REITs) and Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InviTs) issued by SEBI vide circular dated April 13,
2018, (d) Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured Products / Market Linked Debentures issued by
SEBI vide circular dated September 28, 2011 and July 13, 2020, {e) (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements}, 2015, including any amendment or substitution thereof read with all other applicable
regulations, circulars, notifications and guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India
{"SEBI”) or any other regulatory body and as may be applicable and the applicable provisions of the trust
deed executed by and between Cape Trading LLP, Anbee Constructions LLP and Axis Trustee Services
Limited dated November 18, 2019 (“REIT Trust Deed"), and the applicable provisions of the investment
management agreement executed by and between Axis Trustee Services Limited and K Raheja Corp
Investment Managers LLP dated November 21, 2019, Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira
and Ms. Preeti Chheda, the members of the Committee (“Authorised Signatory”), be and are hereby
severally authorised:

{a) lizising with and completing all legal, statutory, procedural, operational, registration, engagement and
appointment related formalities for issue, security creation, allotment, listing and redemption of
Market Linked Debentures, including {a) appointment of various intermediaries [including but not
limited to debenture trustee(s), security trusteels), merchant banker(s} and lead manageris),
arranger(s), registrar and transfer agent(s), custodians, legal and tax counsells), valuation agency(s),
credit rating agencylies), banker(s), depository{ies), subscriber(s), Investor(s), underwriteris),
guarantor(s), escrow agent{s), consultant{s), advisor(s}, auditor(s), chartered accountant(s),
monitoring agencylies), advertising agency(ies] and any other agency(ies) or person(s] or
intermediarylies)] and negotiating terms of their appointment and execution, delivery and
performance of any agreements, letters and documents with them and any modifications, variations,
amendments (however fundamental they may be) to such agreements, letters and documents, (b)
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filing / registering of any documents induding the Information Memorandum with SEBI, the Stock
Exchange(s), (c) payment of stamp duties, registration fees and all other stamp taxes, as required under
applicable law and (d) approving, executing and submitting any other forms, documents, letters,
undertakings or  applications required to  be filed with any  other
governmental/regulatory/statutory/quasi-judicial and judicial authorities, including any local
autharity, the Reserve Bank of India ("RBI”), SEBI, the central government, any state government, the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, (as may be applicable), tax authorities and/or other governmental bodies
or undertakings (collectively "Governmental Authorities”), in accordance with applicable law and (e)
to do all acts in relation thereto;

{b} to approve and finalize, sign, execute, deliver and perform agreements including listing agreement,
applications, documents, writings, undertakings, letters, and to file the necessary forms, retumns,
documentation for in-principles or final listing approval, information, application, intimation and any
other related documents with Stack Exchange, SEBI, depositories, Reserve Bank of India (as applicable)
or any other Government Authority and

{¢) to do all such deeds and acts in connection there with ancillary and incidental thereto for and on
behalf of the Manager.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any member of the
Committee or by the Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the concerned authorities or
such other persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//
For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
{acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)
PAEET Padt 4t
NAVEEN oy
CHHEDA 1oer o
Preeti Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai
Date: September 28, 2020
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SCHEDULE 4
STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ISSUER AND CONDENSED
COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP

The Standalone Financial Statements of the Issuer and the Condensed Combined Financial Statements
of Mindspace Business Parks Group is annexed separately.
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SCHEDULE 5

DETAILS OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(All amounts are in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

MINDSFACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
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Itaginbkool Baase Developatiem LLY
Paber Shbr [atnte Develepmaent LLIY

Mr. v C, Ralieja
M Need € Rabiagn
Arbee Constmmtions LI
Cage Teading 110"
Capatan Trwding L1 Ravwl ©, Nathegu
Camm Mariin Prupenties LLP Nzl © Iuhen
I ghokl Tanase Develapanent LI fasagh Couad Dyoes
Cialet Vetely Limsed Hiese] Qonl

K N Coep Mivale Lied Hagoey Newwe
I Rty P vate Limied ooy Shi
Ivory Pvoperias & Hetels Pt Lid el Piranal
Tosshistane Progerties snd Hotes 't Lil Arthier William Cv Haest
Govress Mardwiee aoed Moiks Privem Listited
Ivery Peogernas mul Viatels Pyt 10 (fe asd
0 baalf of Dnobslanion of vty Fropunty
Lisal).
Chawnibn L. Kabwpe
Tyunl €, Tisheria
Lvory Progernies & Hotels ' L1l
I Rrageny Yost Lavs C Ridvign
Mot C, Babigje
(all e
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:AN/REIT/A9-200003

Nates 10 the finuncin) statemnents s at March 31, 2020
LAI annemuny i Jx Mitlion wnfess ciervise siated)

B Related party disclosures
A. Parthes to Mindspace REIT (refer note Lelow)

[Particulars Numse of Entities {Promuters/Partuers [Dircctors
Mr. Ruyi C Raheja Joantly with
Mr. Chinndru L. Raheja Joindy with
Mis. Jyoti C. Ralieja

Geriext Hardware & Parks Py, Lid Mr. Neel C, Raheja Jotntly with
Mr. Chiandru L. Raliesa Jodnily with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rahega Ravi C. Rahcis
Chandru L. Raheja jointly with Jyoti C Neel C. Raheja
Rahieja on behadf af Ivory Propesty Trusl Ramesh Valochn

Mr. Chandri L Rahega Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Roheja

Mis. Jyotl C. Rahejs Jointly with
Mi Chandru L. Roheja

Mr. Ravi €. Ralwegn Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Rabejs Joimtly with
Mis. Jyoei C. Raheja

Rawi C. Raheja
{K Raheja Private Limited Mr. Neel C. Raheia Jointly with Neel C- Raheja
Mr, Chandni L. Raheja Jointly with Vinod Rohisa
Mirs. Jyou C Ralbiein

Anbee Canstructions LLPP

Cnpe Trading LLIP

Cnpstan Trading LLP

Casa Mario Propesties LLP
Rayhukoal Estate Developoment LLP

Prln Shebier Estate Development [LLP
Others {Babby Priikh Associates - -
Note :1dentificd by (e Management and as legally advised, on the basis of eriterla speeificd in Regulstion 4(2)(u)l) of Securities nmd Exchange
Board of Indin (Resl Estate § t Trust) Regolati 2014, us winended andd the circalars and guidance issued thercunder, 1t also inclhades
party us per under IndAS 24,

Note 2; Chalet Hutels Limited upon sale of shares of Intime Properties is un langer & part of the Sponsor group and therefore not a related purty ny
on March 31, 2020

Note 3: Kishore Bhatija has resigued from the directorship of Inrebit Malls (1ndia) Frivate Limited w.e.f. December 31, 2019
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT

RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003
Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020
(1l comonnts in Rs, Million unless otherwise stared)

10

B

Related party disclosures (Continued )

Transaction with reluted partics during the period:

‘Ihe nature and volume of transactions of the Trust with the above refated parties were as follows:

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Anbee Constructions LLP 0.94

Royailty charges March 31,2020 Cape Trading LLP 0.94

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Mindspace Business Parks 1.48
Pyt Lid

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Ivory Propertics & Hotels Pyt 1.42
Ld

Raoyalty charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Pvt Lid 1.30

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Pyt Lud 1.62

Corpus March 31, 2020 Anbee Constructions LLP 0.01

Corpus March 31, 2020 Cape ‘I'tading LLP 0.01

l.cgal. Professional and other fees  [March 31, 2020 K. Rahcja Corp Investment 2495
Munager LLP *

Filing andl stamping fees March 31, 2020 K. Rahcja Corp Investment 14.94
Manager LLP

Statutory audit fees March 31, 2020 K. Rahcja Corp Invesiment 071
Manager LLP

Travelling expenses March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Invesument 0.57
Manager LLP

Balance with related parly at the end of the year

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

Other payubles March 31, 2020 K. Rahcja Corp Invesiment 48.86
Manager LLP *

* |t includes reimbursement of professional services of Rs, | million payable o M/s. Bobby Parikh Associates.

Operating segments

During the period under review, the Trust had incurred issue expenses and had no other activity. Hence, there are

no segments for reporting as defined by Indian Accounting Standard 108 on "Operating segments",

Earning per unit (EPU)

Presently, the Trust has not issued units. Hence, the disclosure in respect of earming per unit is not presented.




SCHEDULE 6
RESOLUTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

= SPACE

CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD
("BOARD") OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS LLP ("MANAGER") AT THEIR MEETING HELD
ON TUESDAY, DECEMBER 24, 2019.

The Board was informed about the need to appoint an auditor for Mindspace REIT in accordance with
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended
("REIT Regulations”) read together with the circulars, guldelines, notifications (ssued or framed
thereunder and other applicable laws. The following resolution was passed unanimously:

“RESOLVED THAT in consultation with Axis Trustee Limited, Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered
Accountants, bearing firm registration No. = 117366W/W100018 be and is hereby appointed as the
auditor to Mindspace REIT for a period of 3 years e, for the Financial Year end March 31, 2020, March
31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 to Inter alia carry out the activities as the auditor of Mindspace REIT under
the REIT Regulations and the applicable law."”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Member of the Governing Board of the Manager or Chief Executive Officer
or Chief Financlal Officer of the Manager, Authorised Persons, be and are authorized severally to do all
such acts, deeds, matters and things and to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver all engagement letters,
confirmations and such other documents, etc. as they may, in their absolute discretion, deem necessary
or desirable to implement the above resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the
Board or the Compliance Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of the Manager, be provided to the
concerned authorities or such other persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//
For K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(For and on behalf of Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

Preeti Chheda

Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbal

Date: September 13, 2020

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
LLP Identification Number (LLPIN): AAM-1179
Regd. Office: Raheja Tower, plot No, C-30, Block ‘G’, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbal - 400 051
Phone: +91 ~ 22- 2656 4000 | mindspacereit.com
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SCHEDULE 7
FORMAT OF APPLICATION FORM
Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(Registered in the Republic of India as a contributory, determinate and irrevocable trust on November
18, 2019 at Mumbai under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 and as a real estate investment trust on December
10, 2019 at Mumbai under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts)
Regulations, 2014 having registration no. IN/REIT/19-20/0003.

Principal Place of Business: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Mumbai - 400 051
Corporate Office: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Phone: +91 2656 4000; Fax: +91 22 2656 4747,
E-mail: bondcompliance@mindspacereit.com; Website: www.mindspacereit.com

APPLICATION FORM FOR PRIVATE PLACEMENT OF 10 YEAR G-SEC LINKED
SECURED, LISTED GUARANTEED, SENIOR, TAXABLE, NON CUMULATIVE,
RATED, PRINCIPAL PROTECTED - MARKET LINKED SECURED, REDEEMABLE,
NON- CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES OF FACE VALUE OF INR 10,00,000 (RUPEES
TEN LAKH) EACH (THE “DEBENTURES”) ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS (THE
“ISSUE”)

Date of Application: , 2020
Dear Sir/Madam,

We have received, read, reviewed and understood all the terms and conditions contained in the
information memorandum dated (“Information Memorandum?).

Now, therefore, we hereby agree to subscribe to such number of Debentures as mentioned hereunder
in this application form, subject to the terms of issue of Debentures as specified in the Information
Memorandum, and the Debenture Trust Deed executed by and between Mindspace Business Parks
REIT (Issuer) acting though its Investment Manager, K Raheja Corp Investment Manager LLP and
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited dated (Debenture Trust Deed). We
undertake to make payment for the subscription of the Debentures in the manner provided in the
Debenture Trust Deed and the Information Memorandum. We undertake that we will sign all such
other documents and do all such other acts, if any, that may be reasonably required to be done on our
part to enable us to be registered as the holder(s) of the Debentures which may be allotted to us.

We authorise you to place our name(s) on the Register of Debenture Holders of the Issuer that may be
maintained in the depository system and to register our address(es) as given below.

The certified true copies of (i) Board resolution / letter of authorization, and (ii) specimen signatures
of authorised signatories of the applicants, are enclosed herewith.

Capitalised terms, unless defined herein shall have the meaning given to the term in the Debenture
Trust Deed and/or the Information Memorandum, as the context may require.
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The details of the application are as follows:

In Figures

In words

Date:

No. of Debentures

Amount (Rs)

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Date of
receipt of

Application
Sl. No:

Name of Applicant

Occupation/Business

Nationality

Complete address

Phone number

Email

PAN

IT Circle/Ward/District

Bank account details

I/We the undersigned, want to hold the Debentures of the Issuer in the dematerialised form.
Details of my/our Beneficiary Account are given below:

DEPOSITORY NAME

NSDL () CDSL ()

DEPOSITORY PARTICIPANT NAME

DP-1D

BENEFICIARY ACCOUNT NUMBER

Yours faithfully,
For

(Name and Signature of Authorised Signatory)

Enclosures: (i) Board resolution / letter of authorization
(ii) specimen signatures of authorised signatories of the applicants
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10.

11.

INSTRUCTIONS

Application must be completed in full BLOCK LETTERS IN ENGLISH except in case of
signature. Applications, which are not complete in every respect, are liable to be rejected.

Signatures should be made in English.

The Debentures are being issued at par to the face value. Full amount has to be paid on
application per Debenture applied for. Applications for incorrect amounts are liable to be
rejected. Face Value: INR 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakh only) each.

Money orders or postal orders will not be accepted. The payments can be made by NEFT/
RTGS, the details of which are given below. Payment shall be made from the bank account of
the person subscribing. In case of joint-holders, monies payable shall be paid from the bank
account of the person whose name appears first in the application.

No cash will be accepted.

The applicant should mention its permanent account number or the GIR number allotted to it
under the Income Tax Act, 1961 and also the relevant Income-tax circle/ward/District.

Applications under power of attorney/relevant authority:.

In case of an application made under a power of attorney or resolution or authority to make
the application a certified true copy of such power of attorney or resolution or authority to
make the application and the Memorandum and Articles of Association and/or bye-laws of
the investor must be attached to the application form at the time of making the application,
failing which, the Issuer reserves the full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any
application in whole or in part and in either case without assigning any reason therefore.
Further any modifications / additions in the power of attorney or authority should be notified
to the Issuer at its registered office. Names and specimen signatures of all the authorised
signatories must also be lodged along with the submission of the completed application.

An application once submitted cannot be withdrawn. The applications should be submitted
during normal banking hours at the office mentioned below:

Address: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex Bandra
(East) Mumbai 400051
Attention: Mr. Vishal Kumar

The applications would be scrutinised and accepted as per the terms and conditions specified
in this Information Memorandum.

Any application, which is not complete in any respect, is liable to be rejected.

The investor / applicant shall apply for the Debentures in electronic, i.e., dematerialised form
only. Applicants should mention their Depository Participant’s name, DP-ID and Beneficiary
Account Number in the application form. In case of any discrepancy in the information of
Depository/Beneficiary Account, the Issuer shall be entitled to not credit the beneficiary’s
demat account pending resolution of the discrepancy.
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12.

13.

14.

The applicant is requested to contact the office of the Issuer as mentioned above for any
clarifications.

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, if any issued under this
Information Memorandum, shall be subject to the Information Memorandum, the Debenture
Trust Deed and also be subject to the provisions of the constitutional documents of the Issuer.
Payments must be made by RTGS to the following bank account of the Issuer :

BANK HDFC Bank Ltd.

BRANCH FORT
Ground floor, Jehangir Building, MG Road,
ADDRESS Fort, Mumbai

Mindspace Business Parks REIT-NCD
Bank A/C Name @ Subscription Account
Bank A/C No 57500000569645

RTGS/NEFT
IESC HDFC0000060
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SCHEDULE 8
DESCRIPTION OF MORTGAGED PROPERTIES
Building No. 6 of Commerzone Yerwada

Premises comprising of Building No. 6 aggregating to leasable area of approximately 178569 Sq. Ft.
equivalent to 25,738 Sq. Mtrs. carpet area and terrace carpet area of 1653 Sq. Mtrs. or thereabouts,
together with the proportionate undivided right, title and interest in the notionally demarcated land
admeasuring 9,038.84 sq. mtrs. out of all those pieces and parcels of larger land situate, lying and being
in Village Yerawada, Taluka Haveli, District Pune. Notionally bounded as follow:

On or towards the North : By Notional Plot No. 7

On or towards the South : By internal driveway within Plot
On or towards the East : By 20.0 m wide Road

On or towards the West : By internal driveway within Plot

Together with all buildings and structures constructed / to be constructed on the said plot admeasuring
9,038.84 Sq. Mtrs., both, present and future.

Building No. 7 of Commerzone Yerwada

Premises comprising of entire Building No. 7 aggregating to leasable area of approximately 371,799
Sg. Ft. equivalent to 25,751 Sg. Mtrs. carpet area and terrace carpet area of 2,238 Sg. Mtrs. or
thereabouts, together with the proportionate undivided right, title and interest in the notionally
demarcated land admeasuring 8,998.22 Sq. Mtrs. out of all those pieces and parcels of larger land
situate, lying and being in Village Yerawada, Taluka Haveli, District Pune. Notionally bounded as
follow:

On or towards the North : By Open Space-1 (OS-1) within Plot
On or towards the South : By Notional Plot No. 6

On or towards the East : By 20.0 m wide Road

On or towards the West : By internal driveway within Plot

Together with all buildings and structures constructed / to be constructed on the said plot admeasuring
8,998.22 Sqg. Mtrs., both, present and future.

Building No. 8 of Commerzone Yerwada

Premises comprising of entire Building No. 8 aggregating to leasable area of approximately 424132
Sg. Ft. equivalent to 29366 Sq. Mtrs. carpet area and terrace carpet area of 194 Sq. Mtrs. or thereabouts,
together with the proportionate undivided right, title and interest in the notionally demarcated land
admeasuring 7,275.72 Sqg. Mtrs. out of all those pieces and parcels of larger land situate, lying and being
in Village Yerawada, Taluka Haveli, District Pune. Notionally bounded as follow:

On or towards the North : By Open Space -2 (OS-2) within Plot
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On or towards the South : By Open Space-1 (OS-1) within Plot
On or towards the East : By 20.0 m wide Road
On or towards the West : By internal driveway within Plot

Together with all buildings and structures constructed / to be constructed on the said plot admeasuring
7275.72 Sq. Mtrs., both, present and future.
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Research CRISIL

An S&P Global Company

Reference No: SY/BD/KRAHEJA/VAL/2020/CH1159

AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made at Mumbai on 24th September 2020 between:

CRISIL Limited., a company incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, having its
Registered Office at CRISIL House, Central Avenue, Hiranandani Business Park, Powai, Mumbai 400
076 (hereinafter referred to as ‘CRISIL’ which expression shall, unless repugnant to the context or
meaning thereof, mean and include its successors and permitted assigns)

AND

K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS LLP, a limited liability partnership incorporated and
registered under the laws of India, with LLPIN AAM-1179, and its registered office at Raheja Tower, Plot
No. C-30, Block ‘G’, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East, Mumbai - 400 051, Maharashtra, India, acting
as the investment manager of Mindspace Business Parks REIT with its principal place of business at
Raheja Tower, Level — 8, Plot no. C-30, Block G, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East, Mumbai — 40005,
Maharashtra, India (hereinafter referred to as ‘Client’ which expression shall, unless repugnant to the
context or meaning thereof, mean and include its successors and permitted assigns)

RECITALS

1. CRISIL, inter-alia, is in the business of valuation and dissemination of such valuations for Market
Linked Debentures (hereinafter individually and collectively referred to as “MLD”) on request from
issuers.

The Client has requested CRISIL to undertake valuation of the MLDs issued

CRISIL has agreed to undertake valuation of MLDs to be issued by the Client in the Format
mentioned in Annexure | (“Valuation”) for dissemination on CRISIL website. CRISIL shall also
provide to the Client the Valuation for publication on its official website.

wnN

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual understanding, covenants and agreements
hereinafter contained, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties hereto as follows:

1. TERMS FOR PROVIDING THE MLD VALUATIONS:

i)  Valuations under the Agreement shall be provided only for the following kinds of MLDs for which
the Client has mandated CRISIL to undertake the Valuation of MLDs proposed to be issued by
the Issuer (the “Specified MLDs”):

a. MLDs with structures linked to either Nifty 50 Index, 10yr G-Sec Benchmark (Clean
Price).

b. MLDs with structures linked to a single stock or a basket of securities for which the
relevant options data is available in a readily usable form at commercially reasonable
terms and rates to the Valuation Agent.

c. MLDs with structures that are pure debt or combination of either of the above.

For structures other than those listed in a. b. and c. above, the Client may mandate CRISIL to
undertake Valuations subject to mutual agreement between the parties on the Fees and other
terms and conditions, before CRISIL is obliged to provide Valuations under this Agreement

Page 1 0of9
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Research CRISIL

An S&P Global Company

i) For the Specified MLDs, CRISIL will provide the Valuation on weekly basis (or at such intervals
as may be required under the regulations from time to time; subject to mutual agreement between
the parties on the Fees and other terms and conditions, before CRISIL is obliged to provide
Valuations under this Agreement), on such day of the week as may be mutually agreed between
the parties (“Prescribed Day”). If the Prescribed Day is a holiday for the market in Mumbai/
CRISIL, Valuations will be disseminated on the CRISIL website on immediate following working
day for the market in Mumbai/CRISIL and also provided to the Client. The Valuations shall be
posted on the CRISIL website as per the Format attached in Annexure 1 by 20:00 hours every
week on the Prescribed Day, unless there are delays due to factors out of CRISIL’s control, such
as extended trading hours, high volatility, lack of trading activity, server traffic, server breakdowns
etc. The Client undertakes to publish the latest and historical Valuations provided by CRISIL on
its official website or by providing a link to CRISIL website.

iii) The said Valuation will be in the standard format as described in Annexure 1. The format will
contain "Series" "Reference Asset", “ISIN”, "Issue Date", "Maturity Date", "Face Value per
Debenture”, “Valuation per Rs 100 Face Value as on current date”, “Valuation as on previous
week”.

iv) For any additional fields than those specified above, the Client and CRISIL will agree upon
additional fee to CRISIL, if any.

V) The Client hereby agrees and undertakes that it will have the Specified MLDs, refer to herein,
valued by CRISIL on a continuous basis throughout the tenure of the Specified MLDs till its
maturity or till the termination of the Valuation services for a Specified MLD or till the termination
of the Agreement whichever is earlier.

Vi) The parties on mutual agreement may agree to provide sample valuations of the MLDs that the
Client is planning to issue. Such sample valuations shall be for the internal use of the Client and
is not to be published by the Valuation Agent, and should not be construed as the Valuation
Agent’s computations for any Specified MLD

vii) The Client may also request for further information from CRISIL pertaining to the Valuation
methodology being used by CRISIL for reference and internal use of the Client.

VALUATION METHODOLOGY

1. CRISIL will be valuing the MLD structures using the “Sum of the parts” method. The structure of
the MLD will be divided into two different parts.

a. The option part which will be market-linked.
b. The debt part which will protect the principal invested on the MLD.

2. Valuing the Option Part:

a. The valuation of the option portion is based on Monte Carlo simulation technique.
Geometric Brownian Motion (GBM) Model along with implementation of the Local
Volatility is used for simulating the underlying asset. In case of basket structures, the
simulations are plotted using the Cholesky matrix which is derived from the correlation
matrix.

b. Market Data like Yield Curve, Forward prices & Volatility of underlying assets will be
obtained from reliable sources.
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3. Valuing the Debt:

The valuation of the bond portion is done by discounting the face value of INR 100, using the
following formula: Bond Portion = 100 / (1+RB %) T; where

e RB: Bond yield of corresponding time to maturity and credit quality of issuer

T: Residual time to defined maturity (in years)
2. DISCLAIMER

The Valuation shall be accompanied by a standard disclaimer by CRISIL, as specified in Annexure 2,
wherever it appears. The disclaimer may not be amended, except by way of CRISIL’s prior written
consent and the amended Annexure 2 as applicable for future Valuations shall be deemed to be a part
of this Agreement.

3. FEES:

1. The Client will pay CRISIL an annual non-refundable professional Fee for INR 500 Cr of MLD
issuance as per the following structure:

S.No.  Description of Product/Service Annual Fees (INR)

Valuation of 500 Cr of market linked

structures (maximum 2 structures) SR IS ErEe

2. Such fee amount shall be paid by the Client proportionately for the period for which the Valuation
is provided by CRISIL.

3. The Fees state above will be valid up to one year of signing the document and thereafter the said
Fees may be revised as mutually agreed between the parties in writing. If the parties do not agree
on revision in fees then the Client will continue to pay the Fees as stated above till such time as
any amounts are outstanding on the Specified MLDs being valued by CRISIL at that time.
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ANNEXURE 1
Valuations as on []

Series ISIN Code Reference Issue Date Maturity Face Value Valuation Valuation

Asset Date per per Rs 100 per Rs 100

Debenture Face Value Face Value

ason
Previous
Week
Series XXX
Date Valuation
2-Aug-11 100.11
9-Aug-11 99.85
16-Aug-11 99.67
23-Aug-11 99.75
30-Aug-11 99.81
6-Sep-11 99.84
13-Sep-11 99.35
20-Sep-11 99.01
27-Sep-11 98.95
4-Oct-11 98.41
11-Oct-11 98.85
Page 4 of 9
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Annexure 2
Master Terms and Conditions - Valuation and Related Services

1. Services with applicable tax laws with respect to the

CRISIL will provide to the Client the services specified on
the Order Form (each a Service). Where the Order Form
states that as a part of a Service CRISIL will provide
report(s) to Client, each of those will be called Report.

Client Tasks

The Client shall in a timely manner provide CRISIL with all
information requested by CRISIL, from time to time, as
are necessary to provide the Services. Any such

4.5

TDS deduction (TDS Certificate).

(c) If Client fails to provide the TDS Certificate as
stated afore, Client shall pay CRISIL such
amount as would after TDS be equivalent to
the amount covered TDS Certificate not
provided by the Client. Client agrees that such
amount shall be recoverable as a debt from the
Client.

The fees and any amounts payable under the

information shall be provided in the form and . ;
specifications requested for by CRISIL. Order 'Form are excluswg of al! applicable
. taxes (including GST), levies, duties etc. Any
Licence such tax will be charged over and above the
3.1 CRISIL grants to the Client a non-exclusive, non- fees and amounts payable to CRISIL under
transferable, licence to use the Service (for the the Order Form. The GST registration number
avoidance of doubt, including any Reports provided (“GSTIN”) provided by the Client will be used
along with the Service) for no purpose other than by CRISIL for filing of the GST returns.
its. own internal business use during the term of 4.6 With regards to the applicability of Goods
this Agreement. and Services Tax, the Client’s address as
3.2 Without limitation, the Client shall not redistribute, mentioned for the purposes of GST will be
resell or publish externally any part of the Service considered as the consumption location for
or directly or indirectly permit any third party or the Services provided by CRISIL under the
users to do what it is not permitted to do under Order Form.
this Agreement. 4.7 CRISIL shall not be liable for loss of credit
FEES arising on account of incomplete, erroneous
4.1 For each Service, the Client shall pay CRISIL the or w.rong details captured by the Client in the
. details and documents uploaded to the
Fees set out in the Order Form. Unless the Order n .
. GSTN. Additionally the Client shall be
Form states otherwise, Fees are payable annually . . o .
. responsible and liable for providing its
in advance. .
correct GSTIN and CRISIL will not be
4.2 In addition to Fees, Client shall pay CRISIL all taxes responsible for verification of the Client’s
and statutory levies as may apply on the GSTIN. Where the Client fails to furnish its
transaction covered by this Agreement. GSTIN, CRISIL will treat the Client as being
43 Fees and other amounts payable under this unregistered for GSTIN.
Agreement shall be remitted by the Client to CRISIL 4.8 Where CRISIL issues a credit note to the

no later than 15 days from the date of Client’s
receipt or deemed receipt of CRISIL invoice.

4.4 Tax Deduction at Source:

(a) Client may deduct income tax at source from
its payment of Fees (and other charges if
applicable) under this Agreement at the
applicable rate required for the Client to
comply with applicable tax laws of India (each a
DS).

(b) In the case of each TDS, Client shall within the
timeline specified under law (or if no timeline is

Client in relation to any invoice, the Client
shall adjust and upload its Input Tax Credit on
the GSTN on or before the end of the month
in which the credit note is issued by CRISIL to
the Client. If the Client fails to do so, and this
results in additional liability for CRISIL, Client
shall be liable to be reimburse CRISIL for any
liability incurred by CRISIL (being the tax,
interest and any penalties thereon).

5. Confidential Information

specified under law, within the earlier of 3 5.1 Each receiving party of the disclosing party’s

months from the date Client deducts TDS or 1 confidential information will: (i) keep confidential

month before the end of the financial year in such information and not use it for any purposes

which Client has deducted TDS) provide CRISIL other than the performance of this Agreement,

with a properly rendered certificate or relevant except as may be permitted elsewhere by this

document in support of Client having complied Agreement or by the disclosing party in writing or
Page 5 of 9
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5.2

53

as may be required to comply with law, a statutory
requirement or judicial, quasi-judicial, statutory or
government order or demand; (ii) where needed,
disclose the confidential information to only those
directly concerned with the performance of this
Agreement, so long as it remains responsible to
ensure each recipient complies with the
confidentiality  obligations  stated in this
Agreement; (iii) delete for any device containing
any Confidential Information and/or return to the
disclosing party upon demand or termination of
the Agreement, except for one copy as may be
required to be retained by law, regulation,
professional standards or reasonable business
practice. Confidential Information with respect to
a disclosing party means the information of a
business, technical or financial nature belonging or
pertaining to a party shared or made available in
any form to the receiving party, which is marked or
otherwise indicated as being or is, or ought
reasonably to be, known to be confidential.

The obligation of confidentiality does not apply to
information which: (a) is, at the time of the
disclosure, or subsequently through no act or
omission of the party or receiving party or its
permitted recipients, becomes generally available
to the public; (b) becomes rightfully known to the
receiving party or its permitted recipients through
a third party with no obligation of confidentiality;
(c) the receiving party is able to prove was lawfully
in the possession of the receiving party or its
permitted recipients prior to such disclosure; (d) is
used in a form not traceable back to the disclosing
party; or (e) is independently developed by the
receiving party or its permitted recipients.

This undertaking shall survive one year after
expiry/termination of this Agreement.

6. Intellectual Property Rights

6.1

6.2

Client acknowledges that as between the parties,
CRISIL exclusively owns all intellectual property
rights in: (a) the Services (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the Reports and any
methodology and processes used by CRISIL in the
provision of the Services); and (b) all brands, logos,
trade names, trademarks, brand features or other
identifiers of CRISIL (together CRISIL Brands).

Nothing in this Agreement grants to Client any
right, title or interest in any Services or CRISIL
Brands, except for a limited permission to use the
CRISIL name (and any CRISIL Brands incorporated in
any Reports) for no purpose other than identifying
CRISIL as the provider and/or owner of the
Services.

7. Term and Termination

7.1

Subject to the parties’ execution of the Order
Form, the Agreement shall take (or shall have

Page 6 of 9

Valuation Services Order Form and MTC/Interim Standard May 2013

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6
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taken) effect on the start date stated in the Order
Form and thereafter shall continue for the term set
out in the Order Form, unless:

(a) a party terminates this Agreement for no cause
by giving the other party a prior written notice
of at least 3 months, such that the notice takes
effect no earlier than the end of the then
current 1 year period; or

(b) the Agreement is terminated earlier in
accordance with this Agreement.

CRISIL may cancel a Service if:

(a) CRISIL withdraws a Service generally from the
geography where the Client is located; or

(b) any organization which is a direct competitor of
CRISIL acquires control of Client.

If at any time CRISIL determines that considering
the available information or materials it is not
possible to continue providing Services conforming
to CRISIL's professional standards, CRISIL may at its
discretion (but acting reasonably) either:

(a) discuss with the Client with the intent to
mutually agree to a revision in the scope of the
Services, where practicable, and in such a case,
the parties’ written agreement as to the
revised scope of the Services and any
corresponding revision to Fees shall apply; or

(b) terminate this Agreement to the extent it
relates to any affected items of Services (with a
corresponding revision to Fees).

If CRISIL terminates the Order Form or a Service
under clauses 7.2 or 7.3, as CRISIL's entire liability,
CRISIL will (if applicable) refund to Client any Fees
paid in advance after deducting from it Fees for
Services provided until the effective date of
termination and any dues that the Client has not
paid.

CRISIL may without incurring liability suspend
performance of this Agreement if Client has
materially breached its payment obligations or
CRISIL's intellectual property rights.

The Agreement will stand automatically terminated
if:

(a) either party has failed to remedy a material
breach of this Agreement within thirty (30)
days after the delivery of the written notice to
the other party specifying the nature of such
material breach.

(b

-

immediately in the event of either party
ceasing to conduct business in the normal
course, a receiver, administrator or other
similar official is appointed to take control of
the assets of either party or either party
becoming insolvent or bankrupt.
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7.7 A termination of this Agreement shall not limit a
party's rights as shall have accrued up to the
effective date of termination.

Permitted Disclosure

Client irrevocably gives its consent and authorises CRISIL
to disclose or provide any information about the Client in
CRISIL’s possession and any documents, analyses, or any
material prepared, generated, compiled or collated by
CRISIL in the course of providing the Services and any
copies of any of the foregoing (together, Permitted
Material), if such disclosure is requested for or required
by any judicial, statutory, government, regulatory or
other authority.
Liability
9.1 Client agrees to indemnify CRISIL and hold
harmless, its directors, officers and employees,
against any costs, loss, damages, claims or
expenses incurred or suffered by reason of
provision of the Services, including, without
limitation those that arise as a result of breach of
Client’s warranties set out above (but excluding
those that arise as a result of CRISIL’s breach of this
Agreement).

9.2 Under no circumstances will a party be liable for
indirect or consequential losses, exemplary or
special damages, or loss of profits, loss of business
or economic loss even if advised of the possibility
of such losses or damages. The foregoing shall
apply regardless of whether such liability is based
in contract, tort, (including but not limited to
negligence) and strict liability or any other theory
of legal liability.

9.3 Client assumes the entire risk as to Client’s use of
the Services and any decisions of the Client based
on the Services. CRISIL expressly disclaims all
liability with respect to any such use or decisions.

9.4 Without limiting the other provisions of this clause
9, under no circumstances will CRISIL's aggregate
liability exceed the Fees paid by the Client to CRISIL
in the latest 12 month period preceding the date of
the claim.

9.5 A party shall not be liable to the other for failure or
delay in its performance of its obligations under
this Agreement (other than in the case of Client, its
obligation to pay Charges as are due), to the extent
such delay or failure or delay is caused by a Force
Majeure cause. If a Force Majeure cause continues
for a period of more than 1 month, then either
party may terminate this Agreement in which case,
the Client shall pay CRISIL for all Services provided
and all efforts made up to the effective date of
termination of this Agreement.. For the purpose
of this Agreement Force Majeure shall mean failure
or delay caused by strike, riot, fire, flood, natural
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disaster, delay/default by third party or other
similar cause beyond a party's control.

10. General

10.1 This Agreement is the entire agreement between
the parties with respect to its subject matter. This
Agreement may only be modified by the parties
executing a suitable written documentation. This
Agreement may not be assigned, transferred or
novated by either party without the prior written
consent of the other party, except that CRISIL may
assign, novate or transfer this Agreement to any of
its affiliates or successors to its business.

10.2 CRISIL may from time to time revise the processes
or timelines set out in the Order Form, provided:
(a) those revisions will not entail material changes
to the Services set out in the Order Form; and (b)
CRISIL shall give Client as much prior written notice
as is reasonably practicable in the given instance.

10.3 CRISIL may use Client’s brands, name or logos in its
marketing or presentation material targeted at
specific prospective clients or in CRISIL’s marketing
in social media, provided that except with the
Client’s prior written consent (which will not be
unreasonably be withheld or delayed), CRISIL may
not use any Brands of the Client in any
advertisements in any other mass media. CRISIL
will comply with Client’s standard branding
guidelines (as notified by Client to CRISIL in writing)
in the case of any such use.

10.4 All notices and other communications made or
required to be given under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be effective upon receipt when
sent by registered post, AD, courier service or hand
delivery at the address as set out in the beginning
of this Agreement (and in the case of a notice to
CRISIL, where a copy of the notice is also
concurrently sent to the Senior Director — Legal at
the same address) or to the address subsequently
notified in writing by one party to the other.

10.5 The failure of a party to claim a breach of any term
of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of
such breach or the right of such party to enforce
any subsequent breach of such term. If any
provision of this Agreement is held to be
unenforceable or illegal, such decision shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of such
provision under other circumstances or the
remaining provisions shall be reformed only to the
extent to make them enforceable under such
circumstances.

11. Governing Law

The Agreement is governed by the laws of the India. The
parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts
of law in Mumbai and their appeal courts to settle any
disputes that may arise in relation to this Agreement.
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12. Dispute Resolution

12.1 Neither party may initiate legal proceedings before
the relevant court unless:

(a)

(b

-

the parties have attempted to resolve it by
mutual discussions (and each party shall make
good faith attempts to resolve the dispute
through such discussions); and

despite the parties’ attempts to resolve the
dispute through mutual discussion, the dispute
remains unresolved within 1 month (or such
other extended time as the parties may agree
in writing) of a party notifying the other party
in writing the existence of a dispute and the
need to resolve it in accordance with clause
12.1(a).

12.2 Nothing in this clause 12.1 limits a party's right to
seek any interlocutory, injunctive or other
equitable relief in a court of law.

13. Anti-Bribery & Corruption: Each Party represents,
warrants and undertakes that:

(a)

It has not and shall not offer, promise, give,
encourage, solicit, receive or otherwise engage
in acts of bribery or corruption in relation to
this Agreement (including without limitation
any facilitation payment), or to obtain or
retain business or any advantage in business
for any member of its group, and has and shall
ensure to the fullest extent possible that its
employees and agents and others under its
direction or control and directly involved in
providing Services under the Agreement do
not do so. For the purposes of this clause it
does not matter if the bribery or corruption is
(i) direct or through a third party; (ii) of a
public official or a private sector person; (iii)
financial or in some other form; or (iv) relates
to past, present, or future performance or
non-performance of a function or activity
whether in an official capacity or not, and it
does not matter whether or not the person
being bribed is to perform the function or
activity to which the bribe relates, or is the
person who is to benefit from the bribe. For
the purposes of this clause, a “person” is any

CRISIL

An S&P Global Company

individual, partnership, company or any other
legal entity, public or private.

(b) Each Party shall, adhere to applicable Indian
anti-bribery and corruption laws.

(C) Each Party shall, immediately upon becoming
aware of them, give the other Party all details
of any non-compliance with Clause (a) and
Clause (b).

(d) It is a condition of this Agreement that each
Party fully complies with this Clause. If it does
not do so, without prejudice to any other
remedy available to a party, the non-breaching
party shall have the right (but not the
obligation) in its absolute discretion to
terminate the whole of this Agreement, or
that part of this Agreement to which the
bribery or corruption relates. For the
avoidance of doubt, any breach of this Clause
shall be deemed to be incapable of remedy.

14, ECONOMIC AND TRADE SANCTIONS

As of the date of this Agreement, (a) neither you nor
any of your subsidiaries, or any director of any of
the foregoing entities, is the subject of any
economic or trade sanctions or restrictive measures
issued by the United Nations, United States or
European Union (“Sanctions”), (b) you are not 50%
or more owned or controlled, directly or indirectly,
individually or collectively, by one or more persons
or entities that is or are the subject of Sanctions,
and (c) to the best of your knowledge, no entity 50%
or more owned or controlled by a direct or indirect
parent of you is the subject of Sanctions. For
purposes of clause (c) in this section, “parent” is a
person or entity owning or controlling, directly or
indirectly, 50% or more of you. For so long as this
Agreement is in effect, you will promptly notify
CRISIL if any of these circumstances change. If CRISIL
reasonably determines that it can no longer provide
the services to you in accordance with applicable
law, then CRISIL may terminate this Agreement, or
any particular services, immediately upon written
notice to you.

AGREED
For Client For CRISIL LIMITED
PREETI Digitally signed by ~ 1" :\~J;f_~’

) NAVEEN  Girion | My'\/ [
Authorised CHHEDA e 20200028 )7\
Signature
Name Nagarajan Narasimhan
Title Business Head — CRISIL Research
Date of Signature 24t September 2020
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Disclaimer in respect of Valuations provided by CRISIL:

Market Linked Debenture Valuation (“Valuation”) reflects CRISIL’s opinion on the value of the Market
Linked Debenture on the valuation date and does not constitute an audit of the Issuer by CRISIL. The
Valuation is based on the information provided by the Issuer or obtained by CRISIL from sources it
considers reliable. CRISIL does not guarantee the completeness or accuracy of the information on which
the Valuation is based. CRISIL specifically states that the Valuation is an indicative value of the
Debenture on the valuation date and can be different from the actual realizable value of the Debenture.
The Valuation does not comment on the market price or suitability for a particular investor. CRISIL is not
responsible for any errors and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever to the issuers /
users / investors of the Valuation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To

The Governing Board,

K. Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (the “Investment Manager”) in its capacity as an
Investment Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the “Issuer” or “the Trust™)

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the
“Trust"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020 and Statement of Profit and
Loss for the period November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020 (including Other Comprehensive
Income), Statement of Cash Flow for the period November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020 and
Statement of Changes in Equity for the period then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us, the aforesaid financial statements give the true and fair view in conformity with the
Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Company’s Act, 2013 read
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, {“Ind AS") and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Trust as at
March 31, 2020, and its loss, total comprehensive loss, its changes in equity and cash flows far
the period ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). Qur
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibility for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial
performance including other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Company in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in
India. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records for
safeguarding the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irreguiarities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Governing Board of Investment Manager is
responsible for assessing the ability of the Trust ta continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Governing Board of Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the financial
reporting process of the Trust.

Auditor's Responsibility for the audit of the FInancial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit ¢conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal financial control of the Trust.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditiens that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that,
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonabiy
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative
materiality and qualitative factors in (i} planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work; and (ii} to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the
financial statements.




Deloitte
Haskins & Sells LLP

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scape and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We further report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b} The Balance Sheet and the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Cash Flow and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account of the REIT

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
{Firm’s Registration No. 117366W / W-100018)

Nilesh Shah

Partner

Membership No. 49650
UDIN:20049660AAAAAL3356

Place: Mumbai
Date: 20 June 2020
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003
Balance sheet as at March 31, 2020

(Al amounts in Rs. Milfion unless otherwise stated}

Particulars Notes As at
March 31, 2020
ASSETS
I. Current asscts
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 0.01
Total Current assels 0.01
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
1. Equity
(i) Corpus 0.01
(i) Other equity 5 (48.86)
TOTAL (48.85)
2, Liabilitues
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 6 48.86
48.86
TOTAL 0.01
Se¢e the accompanying notes to the {inancial statements. f-14

In 1erms of our report of even date attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s registration number: 117366W/W-100018

et

Nilesh Shah
Partner
Membership number: 49660

b~

Place: Mumbai
Date: 2o JN MNE 2o

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business l]'a rks REIT)

avi C. Raheja
Member
DIN: 00028044

e
Vinod N. Rohira

Chief Executive Gfficer
DIN: 00460667

DINY 00029010

Precti N. Chheda

DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : 20 JUN 2020

/MU ey

Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of profit and loss for the period from November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020

(Al amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated}

Particulars Notes For the period from
November 18, 2019 o
March 31, 2020

(I} Income and gains

(I1) Total income

{11I) Expenses

Other expenses
{T¥) Total expenses

(V) Loss before tax

48.86

48.86

(48.80)

(V1) Tax expenses
Current tax
Deferred tax -

(V1) Loss for the year (48.806)

{VIII) Other comprehensive income

(i) NMems that will not be reclassified to Profit & Loss -
(i) Items that will be reclassified to Profit & Loss 5

(IX) Total comprehensive income for the year {48.86)

Earning per unit (EI'U) 10

See the accompanying notes to the financial stalements. {-14

In terms ol our report attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
Chartered Accountants K Raleju Corp Investment Managers LLP

W (#ns Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

N

\ \) )
"
=g

\ o
A
Nilesh Shah Nedl Rahejn
Partner Member
DIN; 00029010
/ /u,z,ua M U&J-‘-J—"/L
Yinod N, Rohira Preeti N, Chheda
Chief Executive Qfficer Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 00460667 DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Dite: 2 T AC s 0

Date: 20 JUN 2020




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REI'T/19-20/003

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Alf amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated}

{A) Other Equity

Particulars Reserves and surplus Total Equity
Retained earning

Opening balance - -

Loss for the period (48.86) {48.86)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Balance at March 31, 2020 {48.80) {48.86)

In terms of our report of even date atiached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’'s registration number: 117366W/W-100018

ﬂV/WV

Nitesh Shah
Partner
Membership number: 49660

per

Place: Mumbai

Dale : 2.0 JIMETe20

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLI
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

U~

avi C. Raheja 100 ¥Yinod N, Rohira

Member Chief Executive Officer
DIN: (0028044 DIN: 00829010 DIN; 00460667
[l M hbsrot—

Preeti N, Chheda

Chief Financial Officer

DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : z 0 JUN ZUZU




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/RETT/19-20/003

Statement of Cash Flow for the vear ended March 31, 2020

(A amounts in Ry, Mitlion unless otherwise stated)
Particulars For the year ended
March 31, 2020

A. |Cash flow from operating activities
Loss as per statement of profit & loss (48.86)

Operating loss before working capital changes (48.86)

Changes in working capital
Increase in other financial liabilities 48.86
Net Cash from/(used in) operating activities -

B. |[Cash flow from investing activitics .
Net Cash from /(used in) investing activities

C. |Cash flow from financing activitics

Proceeds received 0.01
Net Cash from/(used in) financing activities 0.01
Net increase/(decrease) in cash or cash equivalents (A+B+C) 0.01

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period .

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period .01

1 The above Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared under the Indirect Method’ as set out in the Ind AS 7 - Statement of Cash
Flows.

See the accompanying notes to the special purpose interim financial statements.
In terms of our veport of even date attached.

For Deloitic Haskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Beard of
Chartered Accountants K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
Firm's registration number: 117366W/W-100018 (as Mapder of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

I

Nilesh Shah

Partner Ravi C. Rahejn Yinod N. Rohira
Membership number: 49664 Member Chief Executive Qfficer
e DIN: 00028044 DIN: 00460667
(b p bt
Preeti N. Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Dae: 2o FJPE Lo~ Dae: 70 JUN 2020




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REI'T/19-20/003

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

Trust background

Mindspace Bustness Parks REIT (" Mindspace REIT' or 'the Trust '} was registered in India on November 18, 2019, The
Trust's registered office and principal place of business address is at Plot No. C-30, Block 'G', Opp. SIDBI, Bandra Kurla
Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai, INIMA.

The objectives of Mindspace Business Parks REIT are to undertake activities in accordance with the provisions of the
SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust Deed. The principal activity of Mindspace Business Parks RE!T is to own and
invest in rent or income generating real estale and related assets in India with (he objective of producing stable and
suslainable distributions to Unit holders.

Basis of preparation

a} These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (IndAS) as per the
Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015,

) These financial stalements were authorised for issue in accordance with the resolution passed by the Governing Board

of the Investment Manager on _2_ _g_:;U_N ZUZU
Significant accounting policies

a) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees, which is also the Trust’s functional currency and the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Frust operates. All financial information presented in
Indian Rupees has been rounded off to the nearest million except otherwise stated.

b} Basis of measurement
These financial statements are on the hislorical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilitics (refer

accounting policy regarding lnancial instrument) measured at fair values;

¢} Use of judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally aceepled accounting principles in India (Ind
AS) tequires management o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounts ol assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a periodic basis. Revisions (o accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimales are vevised and in any luture periods affected.

&) Current versus non-current elassification
The Trust presents asscts and liabilities in the Balance Sheel based on current/ non-current classification:
An asset is treated as current when i is;
- Lixpected o be reatised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
- Held primarily lor the purpose of trading;
- Expected to be realised within twelve months afier the reporting date; or
- Cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to selile a Hability for at Jeast twelve
months afler the reporting date.
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All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

- 1l is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- It is due to be setlled within iwelve months afier the reporting date; or

- There is ne unconditional right to defer the scitlement of the liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting
period.

The Trust classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash
equivalenis, The Trust has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

¢} Measarement of fair values
The Trusts accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. The Trust has an established control framewortk with respect to the measurement of fair
values,
They regularly review significant uncbservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information is used lo
measure fait values then the finance team assesses the evidence oblained from the third parties to supporl the
conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of Ind AS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in
which such valuvations should be classifted.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liabilily, the Trust uses observable markel data as far as pessible. Fair
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on (he inputs used in the valuation
techniques as follows:

» Level I: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that entity can access on
measurement date,

+ Level 2; inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
direcily {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

+ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall inte different levels of the fair value hierarchy,
ihen the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest
level input that is significant 10 the entire measurement.

3.1 Tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current 1ax and deferred tax charge or credit, I is recognised in the Sialement of’ Profil and
Loss exeept 10 the extent tha it relales (o an ilem recognised direetly in equity or in other eomprehensive income in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

a} Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected fax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the Lax payable or receivable in respect of previous years, The amount of current tax retlects the best
estimate of the tax amount expecled 1o be paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income
taxes. [i is measured using tax rates (and tax laws} enacied or substantively enacted by end of reporting period.
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b} Deferred tax
Deferred tax assel/ liabilily is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred {ax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets refleets the tax consequences that would {ollow from the
manner in which the Trust expects, at the end of the reporting period, 1o recover oc seille the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognized for all deductible temporary differences lo the exient that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred 1ax assels and Habilitics are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from he initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assels and liabilities in a transaction that alfects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting prolit.

‘The casrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed al the end ol each reporting period and reduced (o the extent
that it is no longer probable that sulficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assel to be

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset il there is a legally enforceable right to ofTset curtent tax liabilities and
assets, and they relate 1o income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, but they intend to seftle current tax liabilities and assels on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simulianeously.

3.2 Provisions, contingent lahilities and contingent assets

Provigions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or construetive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
ptobable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a t¢liable estimate can be made of the amount of the
abligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate ol the consideralion required to setlle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, laking into account the risks and uncertainties surrouncling the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised
as finance cost.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but will probably
nol, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation of a present obligation in respect of which the
likelihood of owtflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

A contingent asset is disclosed when there would be a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occusrence or non-occuttence of one or more unceriain fulure events not wholly within the
control of the Trust,

Provisions, Contingent 1.iabilitics and Contingent Assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimales,
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3.3 Financial inscroments
I loitial vecognition and measurement
Finaneial assets and/or (inancial liabililies are recognised when the Trust becomes parly 1o u contract embodying the
related financial insteuments. All financial assels, Binancial liabilitics are initially measured it [air value. Transaclion
costs that are attribulable o the acquisition or ssue of financial assets and lnanciul liabilities (other than financia
assets and financial liabilities al fair value through profit or loss) are added to ot deducied from as the case may be, the
fair value of such assets or liabilities, on initial recognition. ‘Transaction costs direclly attributable to the ycquisition of
finuncial assets or financial liabilitics at Fair value theough profil or loss are recognised immediately in the Statement

of Profit and Loss.

2 Financial assets:

a) Classification of financial assets:

(D

(i}

(iii}
(iv)

The Trust ¢lassifies its financial assets in the following measuremenl categories:
- those 1o be measured subsequently al fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or throogh (he
Staiemeni of Profit and Loss), and

- those measuted at amortised cost.
The classification is done depending upon the Trust business model for managing the financial assels and the

contractual lerms of the cash flows.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held.

The Trusi reclassifies debt investments when and only when ils business model for managing those assels
changes.

b) Subsequent Measurement

0]

Debt instruments:

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Trusts business moded for managing the asset and
the eash Mow elaracieristics o the asset, There are three measurement categories into which the Trust classifies
its debt instruments:

Financial assets al amortised cost

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if these financial assets are held within @ business
whose objeetive is (o hold these assels in order 1o collect contraciual cash fows and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and intercst on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial asscts at fair value through ether comprehensive income (FYTOCH)

Financial asseis are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if thesc {inancial
assels are held within a business whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows that give
rise on specilied dales 10 solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and by

selling financial assets.

Financial assets at Tair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss (FYTPL})

Financial assels are subscquently measured at fair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss unless it is
measured al amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognitien. The
transaction costs directly atiributable to the acquisilion of (inancial assets and liabilities at fair value through
prefit or loss are immediately recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

¢} Derccognition of financial assets:
A tinancial asset is primarily derecognised when:

(i)
(i)

the right lo receive cash {lows from the asset has expired, or

the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset; and

the Trust hag transferred substantislly all the risks and rewards of the assel. or

ihe Trust has neither tansferred nor relained substontially all the risks and rewards ol the asset, but has
trunsferred control of the assel.
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3.4

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety (other than investments in equity insttuments at FVOCT), the
ditferences belween the carrying amounts measured at the date of derecognition and the consideration received is
recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained
by the Trust is recognised as a separale assel or liability,

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(4} Classification as debl or equity

Financial liabilities and equily instruments issued by the Trust are classified according to the substance of the
contraciual arrangements entered into and the definitions ol a financial liability and an equily instrument,

Finnncinl Liabilities

Recognition, measurement and classifieation
Financial fiabilities are clossified s either held at a) fair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss, or b) al
amortised cost. Management determings the classification of its inancial linbilities a1 the time of initial recognition or,
where applicable, at the (ime of reclassification.

The Trust's financial libilities include trade and olher payables, loans and borrowings and derivative financial
instruments. Subsequent measurement of financial liabilitics depends on their classification as fair value through the
Statement of Profit and Loss or at amortised cost, All changes in fair value of linancial liabilities classified as FVTPL
are recognised in the  Stalement of Profit and Loss. Amortised cost category is applicable to loans and borrowings,
trade and other payables. After initial recognition the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged ot cancelled or expires. Gains
and losses are recognised in the  Statement of Profit and Loss when the liabilities are derecognised.

Offsctting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabililics are offset and presented on net basis in the Balance Sheet when there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the assets and settle ibe liabilities simultancously.

3.5 Cash and cash equivalents

36

Cash and cash equivalents comprises ol cash ai bank.

Statement of Cash flow

Cash Now is reported using the indireet method, whereby net profit before lax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of
a non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or {uture cash receipts ot payments, The cush flows from operating,
investing und linancing activitics of the Trust are segregaled.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposils, as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafis as they arc considered an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.
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3.7

33

Subsequent events

The Tinancial Statements are adjusted to refleci events that occur afler the reporting date but before the Financial
Statements are issued. The Financial Statements have their own date of authorisation, which differs fromn that of the
financial statements of the combining entities. Therefore, when preparing the Financial Statements, management considers
events up to the date of authorisation of these financial statements (i¢. including those that occurred after the

authorisation date of the financial statements).

Errors and estimates
The Trust revises its accounting policies if the change is required due to a change in Ind AS or if the change will provide
more relevant and reliable information to the users of the Financial Statement. Changes in accounting policies are applied

retrospectively.

A change in an accounting estimate that results in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised assets or liabilities or to
profit or loss is applied prospectively in the period(s} of change.

Discovery of ertors results in revisions retrospectively by restating the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest period presented
are also restated.
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2, Notes to linancial statements as ot March 31, 2020

(Al eomounts (n Rs. Million wiless otherwise stated)

Notes Particulars Asat
Mavch 31, 2020
Rs,
4 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Balance with bank in Cyrrent Account 0.01
0.0
5 Other Equity
Retained earnings
Opening balance =
Loss for the year (48.86)
Balance as at March 31, 2020 (48.86)
6 Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities {refer note 8) 48.86
48.86
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2. Notes to the financial siatements as at March 31, 2020

(ALl amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

Notes Particulars For the period from
November 18, 2019 1o
March 31, 2020
7 Other expenses
Royalty charges 7.70
Legal, professional and other fees (refer note 7.1} 24,95
Filing and stamping fees 14.93
Payment to auditors (refer note 7.1} 0.71
Travelling expenses 0.57
48.86
7.1 Payment to auditors (including goods and services tax)

As auditor
- for statutory audit 0.36
- for other services 0.35
0.71

Note:

Legal, professional and other fees includes amount of Rs. 14.40 million for professional services
rendered by auditor in connection with the proposed initial public offering of the units of the Trust,
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8 Related party disclosares
A. Pariles to Mindspace REIT (vefer note Lelow)

Particulars Name of Enlities Fromoters/Pariners Direciurs

Trustee Axis Trosiee Services Limited - 4

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
i, Neel C Raleja
M1, Chandm L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rubeja

Anbee Constructions LLP

e Mr, Ravi C. Raheja
T Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Cape Trading LLP Mr. Chandrn L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C.Raheja -
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP  [Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Sponsors Group Mr_ Chandru L. Raheja - -

Me. Ravi C. Raheja - z

. Neel C Raheia - - = 1
Mis. Jyoti C. Raheja - 3

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Negl C. Raheja
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja

Capstan Trading LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Negl C, Raheja
Mr. Cliandru L. Raheja
Mus. Jyoli C. Raheja

Casa Maria Properties LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja
Mrs. Jvati £. Rabeia

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Rahegja
Mr. Neel C, Raheja
Mr. Chandsu L, Raheja
Mrs. Jvoli C. Rahein

Palm Sheher Cstale Developmen LLP

Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja

Mus. Jyoti C. Raheja Jointly with
M. Chandru L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Rahgja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mus. Jyorl C. Raheia

Ravi C. Raheja

) Mr. Neel C. Raligja Jointly with Neel C. Raheja
K. Raheja Corp Pvt. Ltd Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with Ramesh Valef:ha
Mes. Jyoti C. Raheja Vinod Rohira

Anbee Constroctions LLP

Cape Trading L1.P

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Properties LLP

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP
Palin Shelier Estate Developinenl LLP
Me. Neel C. Raheja Jointly with

Mr, Ramesh M. Valecha




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT

RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003

Motes 1o the financial statements as al March 31, 2020
FAH cmonenon e RS Miflion nefess offierwise seated)

8 Relaied party disclosures

A. Parties to Mindspace REIT (refer nole below)

Particulars

Mame of Enfilies

Promoters/Pavtners

Divectors

(nonbit Malls (India) Private Limited

Me. Chandny L. Raheja Jointly with
Mes. Jyoti C. Raheja

Mes, Jyoti C. Raheja Jointly with
it Chandin L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Raliejn Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Join(ly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rabeja

M1, Nee! C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru 1. Rahejn Jointly with
Mis, Jyoti C. Raheja

Anbee Constructions LLP

Cape rading LLP

Capstan Trading LLIY

Casn Maria Properties LLP
Raghukool Esiate Developemem LLP
Palm Shelter Estate Development LILP
Mr, Neel C. Raheja Jointdy with

Mr. Ramesh M. Valecha

lvory Propertics & |lotels Pvt Lid

K Raheja Corp Privare Limited

Ravi . Raligjn
HMeel C. Raheja
Sunil Hingorani
Kishore Hhatija

Ivary Properties and Hotels Privare Limited

M. Chandru .. Rahgja Jointly with
s, Jyoti C. Raheja

whis Iyots C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru |.. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Rabeja Jointly with
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja Jointly with
Mis Jyoli C Rahejs

tr. Neel C. Raheja Jointly with
tr. Chandru 1. Raheja Jointly with
Mis, Jyoli C, Raheja

Anbee Conslruclions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Mania Properies LLP
Raghukool Estale Developement LLP
12alm Shelier [siate Development LLP

Ravi C, Raheja
Neel €, Raheja
Sunil Hingorani
Ramesh Yalecha

Chaler Hoels Limited

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja

My, Neel C Rabeja

Anbee Constructions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Teading LLP

Casa Maria Properries LLP
Raghukoo! Estate Developement LLI

K Raheja Corp Private Limited

K Rabeja Piivate Limited

Ivory Properties & HMowels Pyt Ld
Touchsione Properties and Hotes Pyt Lid
Genext Hardware and Parks Privale Limited
Ivory Properties and Hotels Pyt Lid (for and
on behalf of Bencficiaties of [vory Properiy
Tensid

Ravi C. Raheja

Meel O Rabeja

Jogeph Conrad Dsonza
Helal Gandbi

Rajeav MNewar

Sanjay Sethi

Radhika Picamal

Arthur William De Haast

Ivory Propenty Trust

Chandru ). Rahgja

Jyoli C. Raleja

Ivory Propertics & Helels Pyt Lad
Ravi C Rahegja

MNeel C. Raheja

{all ire Iruslees}
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§ Relaled porty diaclosures
A. Parties to Mindspace REIT (refer nete below)

Particulars Name of Entities PFromoters/Pariners Direclors
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Rahgja Jointly with
Mus. Jyori C. Ralieja

Genext Hardware & Parks Pve. Lid Mr. Nee! C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mrz. Jyoti C. Raheja Ravi C. Rahejn
Chandru L. Raheja jointly with Jyoti C Meel C. Raheja
Raheja on behalf of Ivory Property Trust Ramesh Valecha

Mr. Chandru L. Raheja tointly with
Mrs. Jyoli C. Raheja

Mrs. Jyoli C. Raligja Joimly with
M. Chandru L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandzu L, Raheja Jointly with
Mis. Jyoli C. Raheja

Ravi C. Rahgja
K Raheja Private Limited Mr. Meel C. Raheja Jointly wilh Neel C. Raheja
Mr. Cliandru L, Rabeja Jointly with Vinod Rohita
Mrs. Jyori T Raheja

Anbee Consliuctions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Propesties LLP

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP
Palm Shelier Estate Development LLP

Ofhers Bobby Parikh Asscciptes = S

Mede :ldentificd by the Management and as legally advised, on the basis of eviterin specified In Regulation A2H)E) of Securities and Exchange
Board of India {Renl Estnte lovestment Trust) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars and guidance issued thercunder. It also includes
party a5 per under IndAS 24,

Note 2: Chalet Hotels Limited upon sale of shares of Infime Properties is no longer a part of the Sponsor group and therefore not a relaled party as
on Mareh 31, 2020

Note 3: Kishore Bhatija has resigned (rons the directorship of lnrobit Malls (India) Private Limited w.c.f, Devember 31, pitl kg
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8

10

Related party disclosures (Contirted)

B Transaction with related parties during the period:

The nature and volume of transactions of the Trust with the above related parties were as follows:

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

Royally charges March 31, 2020 Anbee Constructions LL.P 0.94

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Cape Trading LLP 0.94

Royally charges March 31, 2020 Mindspace Business Parks 1.48
Pvt Lid

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Ivoty Properties & Hotels Pyt 1.42
Ltd

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Pvt Ltd 1.30

Royaity charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Pvt Ltd 1.62

Corpus March 31, 2020 Anbee Conpstructions LLP 0.01

Corpus March 31, 2020 Cape Trading LLP o.M

Legal, Professional and other fees  [March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 2495
Manager LLP *

Filing and stamping fees March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 14.94
Manager LLP

Statulory audit fees March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Invesiment 0.71
Manager LLP

Travelling expenscs March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 0.57
Manager LLP

C Balance with related party al the end of the year

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

K. Raheja Corp Investment 48.86

Other payables

March 31, 2020

Manager LLP *

* 1t includes reimbursement of professional services of Rs. 1 million payable to M/s. Bobby Parikh Associates.

Operating segmentis

During the period under review, the Trust had incurred issue expenses and had no other activity. Hence, thete are

no segments for reporting as defined by Indian Accounting Standard 108 on "Operaling segments".

Earning per unit (EPU)

Presently, the ‘I'tust has nol issued units. Hence, the disclosure in respect ol earning per unit is not presented.

4y
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11 Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management

A Accounting classification and fair values
The following table shows the cariying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including
their levels in the fair value hierarchy. Tt does not include fair valve information for financial assets and financial
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a rcasonable approximation of fair value

Carrying amount
March 31, 2020 Note FYTPL FVTOCI  Amortised Cost Total
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents - - 0.01 0.01
% - 0.01 0.01

Financial liabilities measured

at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities - - 48.86 48.86
- - 48.86 48.86

B. Financial visk management

The Trust has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
i} Credit risk ;

ii) Liquidity risk ; and

iii} Market risk

i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Trust il a counterparly to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. There are no invesiments m ade 1ill March 31, 2020 and hence there are no credil risk.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Trust holds cash and cash equivalents with credit worthy Bank. The credit worthiness of the such bank is
evaluated by management on an ongoing basis and is considered to be good.

The "Trust does not have {inancial assets that are past due,
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Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management (Continued)
B.  Financial visk management (Continued}
ii} Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will not be able to mect its financial obligations as they become due. The Trust manages
jts liquidity risk by ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity o meet its liabilitics when due, undet
both normal and steessed conditions. without incurting unaceeplable losses or risk 10 Lhe Trust’s reputation.
The Trust has access to funds as per REIT Regulations.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The table below analyses the Trust's financial liabilitics into relevant maturing grouping based on their contractual maturilies:

Contractual cash flows
March 31, 2020 1yearor  1-2 years 2-5years  More than 5 years Total Carrying
less amount

Financial habilities

Non interest bearing
Other liabilitics 48.86 - - - 48.86 48.86
48.80 - - - 48.80 48.86

iii} Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices — such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices — will affect
the Trust’s income or the value of its holdings of financial insiruments. The Trust is domiciled in India and has its revenues and
other tyansactions in its functional currency i.e. Rupees. Accordingty the Trust is not exposed to any currency risk. Also the Trust
does not hold any equity invesiments, accordingly the Trust is not exposed to any equity price risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest raie risk is the risk that the [air value or luture cash flows of a financial instrument will flucluate because of changes in
markel interest rates. The Trust is not exposed to interest rate risk as defined in IND AS [07.
¢, Capital Management
T'he Trust’s objeclives when managing capital are:
a. 1o ensure Trust's ability to continue as a going coneern.
b. 10 provide adequate return 1o unitholders.

Management assesses the capital requirements in order to maintain an efficient overall financing structure. The Trust manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk charactertics of the
underlying assets. Trust will pay these liabilities to the Manager LLP from the proceeds of the REI'T offering and / or from the

distributions made by the SPVs to the Trust.




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT

RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003

Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020
(All amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise staied)

12 Micro, small and medivm enterprises
As per the information available with the Trust, there are no Micro and Small Enterprises, as defined in the Micro,

Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, to whom the Trust owes dues on account of principal
amount together with interest and accordingly no additional disclosures has been made. This information
regarding Micro and Small enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on
the basis of information available with the Trust. This has been relied upon by the Auditors.

13 Subsequent events

There are no significant subsequent events that would requie adjustments or disclosures in the financial statements

as on the balance sheet date,

14 The financial statements have been prepared for the period from November 18, 2019 being the date of registration
to March 31, 2020. This being the first accounting period of the Trust, there are no corvesponding figures for the

previous year.

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

N L\/
\\) -
Vinod N. Rohira
Chief Executive Officer

DIN: 00460667

Member
DIN: 00028044

Preeti N. Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : 2 u JUN mzu
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Haskins & SellsLLP CTS No.185/A JayCoach
Off Western Express Highway
Goregaon (East)
Mumbai - 400 063
Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6245 1000

Fax: +91 22 6245 1001
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON SPECIAL PURPOSE CONDENSED COMBINED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP

To

The Governing Board,

K. Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (the “Investment Manager”) in its capacity as an
Investment Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the “Issuer” or the Trust™)
Raheja Tower, Plot No. C-30, Block 'G’,

Bandra Kurla Comptex, Bandra (E),

Mumbai - 400 051

Report on the Audit of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements
of the Mindspace Business Parks Group

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Special Purpose Condensed Combined financial statements of
Mindspace Business Parks Real Estate Investment Trust ('the Trust’) and its proposed trust
subsidiaries Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited ('Avacado), Gigaplex Estate
Private Limited ('Gigaplex), Horizonview Properties Private Limited {'Horizonview’), Intime
Properties Limited ('Intime'), KRC Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited ('KRC Infra'), K.
Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited ('KRIT'), Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited ("MBPPL")
and Sundew Properties Limited ("Sundew'}) (collectively, the “Mindspace Business Parks Group” or
the "SPVs”) as described in Note 1 of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which comprise the Condensed Combined Balance Sheets as at March 31, 2020,
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018, the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss
{including other comprehensive income), the Condensed Combined Statement of Changes in
Equity and the Condensed Combined Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31,
2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and notes to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements, and including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information (together referred to as the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements give a true and fair view
in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, of the state of affairs of the Mindspace Business Parks Group as
at March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and of its profit {including other
comprehensive income), its changes in equity, and its cash flows for the years ended March 31,
2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements in
accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) and other pronouncements issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). Our responsibilities under those Standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Mindspace

&2

Regd. Office: Indiabulis Finance Centre, Tower 3, 27" - 32™ Floor, Senapati Bapat Marg, Elphinstone Road (West), Mumbai - 400 013, Maharashtra, Indla.
{LLP Identification No. AAB-8737)
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Business Parks Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the ICAI together with the
independence requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) and the Rules made thereunder, and we have
fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.
We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion on the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements.

Emphasis of Matters

(i) Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Use

We draw attention to Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which describes the purpose and basis of preparation. The Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements have been prepared by the Investment
Manager to meet the requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real
Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars and
guidance issued thereunder (the "REIT Regulations”) and for inclusion in the draft offer
document, the offer document and the final offer document (collectively, the “Offer
Documents”) prepared by the Investment Manager in connection with the proposed
initial public offering of the units of the Trust. As a result, the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements may not be suitable for another purpose.
Our report is intended solely for the purpose of inclusion in Offer Documents and is not
to be used, referred to or distributed for any other purpose without our prior written
consent.

(ii) We draw attention to Note 6 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which states that the Management has revised the method of depreciation
on certain assets and increased the useful life of constructed buildings from 60 years
to 75 vyears, Plant and Machinery, Electrical installation and Infrastructure &
Development assets from 10 years to 15 years and Roadwork assets from 5 to 15 years
with effect from April 1, 2019 for the reasons explained in the note. This change has
resulted into depreciation for the year ended 31 March 2020 to be lower by Rs. 1,124
millions.

(iii) We draw attention to Note 45 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements regarding freehold land and building thereon (Paradigm, Malad) held by
Avacado which is presently under litigation. Pending the outcome of proceedings and a
final closure of the matter, no adjustments have been made in the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements for the years ended March 31, 2020, March
31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation and
presentation of these Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements that give a true
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Mindspace Business Parks Group in accordance with the basis of preparation as set out in Note
2 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements for the purpose set out in
“Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Use” paragraph above.

L2
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The respective Board of Directors of the companies (‘the SPVs’) included in the Mindspace
Business Parks Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Mindspace Business
Parks Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are
reaschable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements by the Governing
Board of the Investment Manager, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements, the Governing Board
of the Investment Manager is responsible for assessing the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Mindspace Business Parks Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager and trustees of the Trust are also responsible
for overseeing the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Special Purpose Candensed Combined
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs
and other pronouncements issued by ICAI will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

As part of our audit in accordance with SAs and other proncuncements issued by ICAI, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinicn. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
invalve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control,

+ Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s internal financial coentrol.

s+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Governing Board of Investment Manager for the
Mindspace Business Parks Group.
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« Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Mindspace Business
Parks Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report, However, future events or conditions may cause the
Mindspace Business Parks Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

+ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative
factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and
(ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Mindspace Business Parks Group
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the REIT Regulations, we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

b) The Condensed Combined Balance Sheets, Condensed Combined Statements of Profit and
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), Condensed Combined Cash Flow
Statements and Condensed Combined Statements of Changes in Equity, dealt with by this
Report are in agreement with the books of account maintained for the purpose of
preparation of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements;

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements

comply with the basis of preparation as stated in Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements; and

=



T

Deloitte
Haskins & SelisLLP

d) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us (refer to note
1 to the Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Statement of Net Assets at Fair
Value), the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements give the
disclosures, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, in respect of the Total Returns at fair
value for the year ended March 31, 2020 and the Net assets at fair value as at year ended
March 31, 2020.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Reg. No. 117366W/W-100018)

.
Alyﬁfx:a“ﬂ’
Nilesh Shah
Partner
(Merbership No.49660)
{UDIN: 20049660AAAAAV9188)

Mumbai
June 20, 2020



MINDSPACE BUSIRESS PARKS GRQUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Coudensed Combined Financisl Statements

Condensed Combined Balance Sheel

{AM nmounts ave In s, millions wnless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Non-corrent nssels
Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-in-progress
Investment property
Investmenl property under constiection
Intangible assels
Financial aszets

- Investment in subsidiaries

- Investmenis

- Other linancial assets
Deferred lax assets (net)
Non-curicnl Lax asseis (nel}
iher non-curent assats
Total non-current assels

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
- T'rade 1eceivables
- Loans
- Cash and cash equivalents
- (nher bank balances
- (lier financial assels
Other ¢imrent assets
‘Fotal current assets

‘Totul assets before regulatory deferral necount

Repulatory deferral account - assets

Totnl assefs

AS At As at As al
31 Mavch 2020 3 March 2019 31 March 2018
Note
4 1,453 1,218 1,263
5 22 22 22
6 56,710 40,244 39,411
7 17,724 19,059 14,026
3 1 1 2
94 - : 0
9B 18 9 6
10 1,345 1,551 2,555
1 94 116 3
12 2,50 1,892 1,368
13 1,307 1,063 985
81,208 65,175 60,009
14 52 33 21
15 362 301 368
16 21,763 21,600 21,129
174 2,209 275 207
178 352 ass 239
13 5,763 3,939 2418
19 405 247 05
30,906 26,150 24,687
12,114 91,325 84,696
20 110 112 12
112,224 91,437 _ $ams




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

Conlensed Combined Fimancial Stabements

Cnail 1 Combined Bul Sheet

(AN aroands are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stuted)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Asat As at As ot
Note 31 Murch 2020 31 Murch 2014 31 March 2013
EQUITY
Capital 21 500 500 500
Instrinents entirely equity in nalure 22 824 524 824
Other equily 23 19,928 15,810 11,250
Equity attributuble te controlling interest of Mindspace REIT 11,152 17,134 1AM
Non-centrolling interest of Mindspace REIT 54 1,603 1,336 900
Totnl ecquity 2135 18,470 13,573
LIABILITIES
Mon-current linbilies
Financial lisbilities
« Borrowings 24 63,569 56,209 52,555
- Oihet financial liabilities 25 1,997 1491 1,586
Provisious 26 9 g 5
Defterred tax liabilities {net} 27 2788 1,513 1,842
Ouher non-currem Babilities 28 601 378 2,291
Totah non-cureent liabilitics 68,964 59,499 58,270
Curvent Yinbilities
Financial Nabilines
« Borowings 29 XK 1,394 | 586
- Tiade payables 30
- tota] outstanding dues of micro enterprises und small
enterprises 112 71 -
- 1oral onrstanding dues of cruditors oiber than micro
vitenprises and small enterprises T 621 k]|
= Othty Tinuncial liabilides 31 14,751 5,700 ©.864
Pros isivis k¥ 8 | 1]
Other conent liabilities 33 T74 1,572 499
‘Totnl current linbilitics 20,299 13,359 11,730
Totul equity sl linbilivies before regulatory defevral secount 1.12.178 01,328 84,582
Regulatory defenal account « liabilities 20 46 1 156
“Total equity and labilities 1,12,224 91,437 84,738
Sigaificant ncomnnting policies i
See the accowpanying notes to the Condensed Combined Financial
456

Statemeuls

As per our report of even date altached:

For Delniue | lTaskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Board of

Chareed Aceountants _» K Raheja Corp Investinrent Managers LLP
Fiant's registeation nomber: |1 7360W/AY-100018 i (as Nimayer of the I\-i'||Ll$|u1ukliu.~um::.s ]’Illi\ﬂﬂ‘_lg \/

Vinod M. Rohiry Preeti M. Chheda
Cheef Execitiive {Mfficer ¢ hivf Finencial (fficer
DIN: 004460667 DN 08006703

ilesh Shah Livi C. Raheja
Partiier Member Memher

Membemship number: 49660 DIN: 00028044 [IN: 00029010
Place: Mumbai

Place: Mumbai lace: Mombai Place: hMumbai

Date:
: Nl To
2O Fun1020 20 Jun2oz0 20 Jum W28 20U Juone

PMace: Mumirai
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

Condesised Combined I ol &
Cond ) Combined St of Profli And Loss
(AN aavounts are ln Ra, middloas wnless ovherwlse staled)

Tweome and gains
Revenue fiom operalions
Oiher income

Taotal Incone

Exprenses and losser

Cosl of work contract services
Cast of malerials sold

Cost of power purchased
Cinployes benefils sxpense
(nher xpenses

‘Toial Expenges

and  smaortlantion,

Enrnings before 0 costs, depr
regulnlory income / expense and fax

Finance cosls
Depreciation and - .

Prodit before vate regulated activilbes and tax

Add : Regulatory income/ (sxpense} {net)
Add : Regulatory income (net} in respect of earller years
Profil before lax

Current tax (including previous year tax ad }

Deforred lax charge

MAT credil entileinent {including previous year tax adjusimenis)
Tax expense

Profit Tor e year

Profil for the year aliribuiable o non-comrolling imlerests *

Note

4
R

4
42

47

43

Profit for the year auribuable (o owners of Mindspace Business Parks Gvowp **

For thwe year ended For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 Marveh 2018
17,660 14,316 12,6M
1602 281 2,300
20,262 16,797 15,022,
2,140 . -
3 4 B
683 617 550
68 44 i9
1,650 1,518 1,176
6544 4,183 4,773
13,718 12,614 10,249
5114 4462 4,688
1,146 2,196 2,054
TASE %056 3,507
14 10 LS
46 47 3o
7,814 6073 3518
1,080 9% 755
1,578 86 1,514
{279) {160) 60}
2379 914 1,208
5,139 5054 1,610
92 165 127
4,747 4,789 1,483



MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUF (A5 DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Conented Combined Flnnncinl §

Comdenses] Combined 5 of Profi And Laosi

(Al aennts are in Bs. milligns anless otherwise s1ated)

Note

Qilier comprehensive income

A {iy Ttena thas will not be veclassifed to peofit or losa
- Remnensuroments of defined benelit liability! {nset)
(if} lncome 1ax relaibng Lo ahove

B. (i) Mens dlat widl De recaasified oo profil or loss
{liy Income 1ax relating to alove

Oiher comprelensive income atsribuialle o non comtrolling
imerests ¥
CHbver comprehensive inconee atiribam e 1o owiers of Mindspace Business Parks Growp **

Totul comprehensive income for the yenr

Tolal comprehensive Income for the year attribniable to non

coniralling inferests *

Total compreliensive income for the year atiributalle to owners of Mindspace Business Parls
Group *»

lior the year emded
31 Mareh 2018

For the year asded
3 March 2019

For the year ended
31 Mnrch 2020

Earnings per unit
Significam sccounting policies

I I Canbi

T sof

See the acc ing notes to the Ct

Statements

[1)] =
© 0 -
m L} o
5140 5,154 __-_ 1610
162 65 127
4,748 4,789 1,483
50
1
456

* This represents the share of profils auribulable (o the shareholders of the SPVs wha have not agreed 1o exchange their shares in the SPVs for Units of Mindspace REIT and will not

holders uf the $PVs who have sgresd to exchenge their shares in the SPVs fur Unlis of Mindspace REIT ond are

k the unitheldeis of hMindspace REIT
** Iliis repiesonts the share of profils sitribulable 1o the sh
d Lo the unitholders of Mindsy REIT

As per oul teporl of even date atuched

For Deloitie Liasking & Sells LLP
Chanersd Accountans
Firm"s reprstenting number: 1ETIGEWAN-100015

7. ol

Hilesh Shah
Tarner
Membership mmber: 49666

Place: Mumbai

Date: O joﬂ Loro

for and on behslf of the Govening Board of’
K Raheja Corp Invesiment Manigers LLE

avi € Raheja ek Raheja Vinod N Rohira Preefi N Chheda
Member Chief Exeontive Offeer  Chigf Financial (fficer
DIN: 00028044 IN: 00029010 DIN: 00460667 DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Ploce: Mumbai Place: Mumbai
Trate;
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED INNOTE 1)

Condemied Combined Finunclal Siatements
Condenaed Com bined Sintomiont of Cazh Flow
(AN amounis sve in Rz milllows weless olherwise slated}

A Cash Nows (rom opornling aclivilies

Profit before tax

Adjustmenis for;

Deprecintion and aniortisation exp

Financy costa

Interes ingone

(Prolit)f loss on sale of agset

Tad debis wiitlen ofl

Forgign exchange Tustuation lossf{gain) (ner)
Liahilitics no longer veuired weitton back
Trovasion For doubiful debts (net)

Impairment for diminuticn in velue of i held
Tnventory written of

Fixed assel wrillen ofl’

Operating profit befors worling copital chianges

Movemend in worklag capital

{Ingrease] in iventories

Dicrense / {increase} i Irsdo receivables

Locrense in other nonscurrent financial assels

{Increuse) in other current financial assels

Decrense / (increase) in other non-current assets

Decrease / (iniease) in other curient assets

nerease { {decrease) in other non current financial liabilities
Increase in other currend Financial liabililies

{Mecrense) § increaze in other nonecurrent lisbililies and provisions
(Deerease} / increase in olher cutrent liabilities and provisions

(De +H in regulatory defercal 1 {asseis / liabilitics}
(Decrease} £ mereass in trade poyables

Cash generated from operations

et taxes paid net of refond received
Mel ensh generated from opernting uelivitios (4)

B Cush Novwas Mvom inveailng netivithes

Expenditue incurred on ir | property und iy t property under
constiuction including capital advances, nel of capital oreditors

Puichaze of property, plant and squipment snd inlangible assets
Procecds Trom sale of properly, plant and equipment and invesiment property

Purchage of investments

Mavement in fixed deposits with maturity more han fhree months
Proceeds from sale of investnents

Loans given to bady corporales

Loans repayiment received (row body corporates

Interest received

Nel chsh (used in) investing aclivities { B3 }

For the year Fov tho year For the year
ended ended ended
31 Mnrch 2020 J Marew 2002 3 March 20
7,518 6,073 3518
1,140 2,197 2,056
S.114 4,462 4,688
{2,498) (2,439 (2,339}
2 6) 1

B -

] .
(65) " 29
- - [
] TH

9
S-S P <. N )
11,212 10,292 8,544
{19} zn )
169} &7 VR )]
T 108 291
(251} &) 3
{44) 7 (15
(158) 58 129
133 (303) (1,125)
441 532 1,429
124 1 (158)
(791} 157 (537
{60} n in
196 (30 (150}
10,988 10,855 4,460
(1,715} {15171 1,200
9,266 4,338 7,590
(13,544} {2,605) (4,787
(328) (195 (o
Ll 24 28
7] (3) 6)
138 e 214
= . 93
(25.12) (15,469) (4.532)
24,361 15,598 £,479
925 2 D 335
(13,551) (5,860} . {4,267}



MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUY (A% DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

r‘I 1 - c‘ it 1 FI Aol ial 1
Cond ) Combined Statemsent of Cosh Flow
(Al umomists are Jo Rs. millions wiless otherwise stated)

For ibke year For the year Fur the yenr
onded ended onded
31 March 2020 3 March 2010 A1 March 2018
C Cush Alows from finnucing wetivithea
Proceeds from ¢xtemal bormowings 43,090 24,064 15,246
Repayment of exlernal borrowings (31,436} (21,390} (13,835)
Proceeds trom borrowingy taken {rom bouly corporates - - 229
Fepayment of bormowings taken from body corporates ‘ (34) (513)
Payment of lease liabilities {7 C :
Rapayment of buyers credil - {310) (275
Proceeds from issue of preferential shares - - 46
Dhvidend paid (including tex) [597) {257) (596)
Finance costs pad 16,297 {54341 - 15,182)
Net vash generated Orom £ {wsed Jn) financing aclivities {C) 4143 (3.561) (4,578)
Mat increasef{decrease) in cash ond cash equivalents (A+B+C) 458 (83) (1,555)
Cash and ensh equivalents al the beginning of the year (1,119 (1,035) £20
Cash and cash equivalents al the end of the year (661) (L1119 (1,035}
Cash and cash equivalents comprises {refer note no, 174 & 29)
Cash oh hand kl 4 1
Balance with banks
- 4 cyrrent accounts 465 232 19
Dieposit accountz watl less thav or equal 10 three months matunty 1,741 19 9
Cheques on hand - - 4
Less | Bank wverdeaft {2870 1,394} {1.242)
Cush und cash epuivalents nt the end af the year {601} {1,11%) {1,035)
Significan! ling policies - refer note 3
See the accompanying noled 10 the Condensed Combined Fi ial S - refi nole 4-56
As per our reporl of even daie attached:
For Delomie taskins & Sells LLP for anil on behalf of the Governing Board of
Changred Acconntants K Raligjs Corp Invesiment Manegers LLP

Pirm’s registralion nomber: | 17I66WMW-100018 s Manng the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

vt O Rabiegi el O Rahegn

M AN fanli s

Milesh Shah Vinoll N Rolira Preeti N Chheda
Partae Menrber Muembor (e Evecative (Yffleer Chvief Finencied Officer
Membetship number: 49660 DIN: 00028044 PIN GOD200 1) 1IN O atonT [HN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place; Munbai

Drater
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Cond Combined Financlal Stat

Statement of Total Return at Foir Value

(AB amonnts are ta Re, milliens ynless ciberwise stated)

Total Return
For tbe year ended
1 Much 2428
S.No Particolars
A Total com, nsive Incame 5.140
B A : Chianges in fair value nol recoznised (refer Note below) 17173 |
C (A+B) | Total Return 12313
Toltal Return - Attributable to owness of Mindmpace Bosines Parks Group
For the year eoded
1 March 2020
S.No Parliculams
A Total comprehensive Income 47
:] Add : Changes in fair valoe not recopnised (refer Note below ) [5.799
C (A+B) |Towl Return 0546
Note;
| Meamwement of folr values:
The fair values of Investient Property, Propeny, Plant and E fuig Investment propenty under construetion and Capital w orkin:propress are solely based on im independent valuntion perfarmed
by an | propenty valuce (Tindependent valesr™), having apmopriately recognised profe | qualification and recent experi inn the locition and categony af the propertics being vailted,

The summary valuaticn ropon of the independent valver dated 10 June 2031 is included i the nffering document t Section Summary Valuation Repon',

2 I the obove statewenl. chunges in fair valse ot recugnised for the year ended 31 Manch 2020 have been computed based on the change in fair values adjusied for change im book value of

| i Propeny. | Propeity under constiusction and Propeny, Fla and Equipment and Capital work in progress as a1 31 March 2020,
Sigaificont accounting policies - refer note 3,20
A perour repont of even date Miached:
For Defoine Haskins & Sells LLP
Finm’s registnation mamber: §§73669W. 100015 ow \r"/
A 1 3% el p chtres
i ,
Hik=h Shab -
Patince Vinod N. Rohim Preeti N. Chhedo
Memberzip nomber; 9660 Chief Excvutive Offcer Chief Financial Qfficer
DIN: 00460667 DAN: BH066703
Piace: Mumias Place: Mombai Place: Mumhai Place: Mumbai

™ 20 JUN 2020
20 JUN 2020 20 JUN 2028 2 0 yuN 2020 70 JUN 2020



MINDSI'ACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUY (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financilal Statements

Statenent of Ned Assels at Fair Value

(Al amounts are in Rs. millions unbess etherwise stated)

Statement of Net Assets At Faie Value ( Total)

As at 31 March 2020 As at 31 March 2020
S.No Parliculars Book Vilue?* Fair value
A Assels 112,224 276,288
B Liabilities * 89,309 89,300
C Net Assets (A-B) 22,915 186,979
Stut t of Net Assets At Fair Yalue ( Total attributabic to owners of Mindspace Business Parks Group)
[ As ot 31 March 2020 As at 30 Mareh 2020
5.No Particulars Bovk Value® Fair value
A Assils 107,625 264,219
13 Liabilities * 26,373 86,373
C Met Asseis (A-B) 21,252 177,845
D No. of units
; NAY (C/D) Refer Note 3

* oo deflenteef e the Bofiier Meet

Notes

Measurement of fair valnes:

The lair values of luvestment Property, Propeny, Plant and Equipment, lnvestment properly under construction and Capital wotk-in-progress are
solely based on an independent valuation performed by an external property valuer ("independent valuer"}, having appropliately (ecognised
professional qualification and recent experience in he location and category of the properties being valued. The summary valuation reporl of the
independent valuer dated 10 June 2020 is included in the oflering docwment in Section Summary Yaluation Report’.

1=

Valuation techuigue

The fir value measurement for all of the Investment Property, Properly, Plant and Equipment, Investment property under consiruelion and
Capital work-in-progress has been categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the imputs to the valuation technique used. The valuer has
tollowed a Discounted Cash Flow method, except for valuation of land for future development wheie the valuer has adopted Market Approach
The Diseounted Cash Flow valuation model considers the present value of net cash flows lo be generated fiom the respective properies, taking,
o account the expeeted rental growlh rate, vacancy period, occupancy rate, and lease incentive costs. The expecled net cash flows are
discounted using the risk adjusied discount 1ates. Among other Tactors, the discound tate estimation considers Lhe quality of a building and its
loeation (prime vs secondary), tenant eredit quality, lease tenms and investor teturn expecialions from such properties.

3 The number of units that Mindspace Business Parks REIT will issue to investors in the proposed Initial Public OITer is not presently
ascertainable lence the disclosures in respect of Net Asset Value (NAV) per Unil have not been given

4 Project wise bieak up of Fair value of Assels as at 31 March 2020 is 23 [oliows

Particalars Fair vallue of Invesiment Other assets at book Totul assets®
Property, Property, Plant value
and Equipment,
Investment property under
construction snd Capital
work-in-progress

Itinee 17417 2,563 19,982
KRIT 26,923 616 27,549
Sundew 54,061 8,130 62,191
MBPPL

MBPPL - Airoli East 43,107

MBPPL - Pocharam 2.984 2988 76,274

MBPPL - Commerzone 19,100

MBI'PL - The Square, Nagar Road 5,094
Gignplex 35,205 17,988 53,193
Avacado 13,710 209 13,219
KRC Infra 15,486 71 16,260
Horizonview 59446 975 6,&
Total 242,044 34,244 276,288
Less: Non-controlling intevest (10,525) {1,244) {12,069
Total attributable 1o owners 231,219 33,000 264,219




® fuir values of assats as disclosed above are the fair vafues of the forad assets of all SPVy as inciuded in the Candensed Combined Fi tal
Stafemenis.

3 Jair value of fagility managamnem operations under (he brand CAMPLUS in KRC Infin to be commenced effpclive Fom the 151 day of the
quarter fallowing the listing as ahown in Nete 44 has not boen included in the above starsment a1 this has uot bogn effected at 31 March 2020

4 Othey assers at book value oxcludes capiial ad . unbilled and finauce lease raceivable (which will form part of fair voluation of
the In i Praparty, Property, Plant and Equipment, Invesimeni property vnder construgtion and Capital work-in-progress)
5 Gignplex has made on application for denolification of 4 part of the SEZ into Non-SEZ. Therefory, the fuit valuation hus been puted by

valuers considering thar part as Not-BEZ unil.
6 Power Deemed Distribution License operntions in Gigaplex, MBPPL and KRC Infta have been valued by the valuer separaiely using
Discounted Cash Flow method and have been considered as part of lhe respective projects in the tnble above

Significant aceownting policles - refer note J.19

As per ont ceport of even date aitached:

Far Thelaitte Hasking & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Goveming Board of
Chartered Accountanis K Rahgja Corp Investment Managers LLP
Finn's registralion number: 117366WAY-100018 ns hanager of the Mindspace Buginess Porks RE[TI \/

M

/| C. Raheja 2 U I<u|uj-\ Vlnml N, Rolura
Milesh Shah femher Ay Chief Execusive (fffcer
Fartner DIM; J0023044 L ODO290 10 DIN: 0460667
Membership number: 49660
Plage: hMumibai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Daie: Q) 3“\)” PIL R ZI.};;eJon'LO'LO 20 Jun 2020 0 T 2o 20

fanb n bt

Preeti N Chheda
Chief Finunclal Officer
DIN: OBG66703

Place: Mumbai



Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)

Condensed Combined Financial Statements
MNoles (0 Accounts

(Al amannis are in Rs. millions unless otherwise stated)

! Organisation structure

The special purpose condensed coinbined (inancial statements (*Condensed Combined Financial Stalements’) comprise {financial
statements of Mindspoace Buosiness Parks Real Estate Investment Truest ("Mindspace Business Parks RENY Mindspace REIT) and
financial stalements ol Mindspace Buginess Parks Private Limited {MBPPLY. Gigaplex Estale Private Limited (‘Gigaplex'), Sundew
Propertics Limited ("Sundew’) Intime Properiics Limited ('Intime”), K. Rabeja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited (KRIT), KRC Inlrastructore
and Projects Privawe Limited (KRC Infra’), Horizonview Propertics Private Limited ('Horizonview'’), Avacado Propertics and Trading
{India) Private Limited (‘Avacado) (individually referred 1o as ‘Special Purpose Vehicle” or "SSPV’ and together relerred to as
“Mindspace Business Parks Group®/'Mindspace Group”). The SPVs are companics domiciled in India.

Anbee Constructions LI -ACL™) and Cape Trading, LLP {*CTL") collectively known as {the *Spousers’ or the “Co-Sponsors’) have scl
up the ‘Mindspace Business Parks RET as an irrevocable wust, pursuant o the Trust Lxeed. under the provisions of the Indian Frusts
Act, 1882 and the Trust has been registered with SEBD as a Real Estate Investment Trust on 18th Novemnber 2019 under Regulation 6 of
the Securitics and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations. 2074, The Trustee to Mindspace RENT is Axis
I'rustee Services Limited (the “Trustee™) and the Manager for Mindspace REIT is KRC Invesiment Manager LLP (the *Manager™).

The bricl activities and sharcholding pattern oCthe SPVs are provided below:

. - Current sharebolding (in percentage) above 5%
Name of the SPV Activities o [ A ¢ ¢ 8
BREP ASIA SG Pearl Holding (NQ) Ple. Lid.
(14.95%)
Mr. Chandru [.. Raheja joimly with Mps, Jyoti C.
Raheja (10.584%%)
The SPY' is eogapcd i real !wsiole Mrs. Jyoli C. Rahgja jointly with My, Chandru L.,
e el e et fRADE (8.01%)
development  projects  such  as Special it
Leonomic  Zone  (SEZ).  Information Capstan I.radlng ]‘l_‘P (8.01%)
Technology Parks, Malls and  other Casa Maria Properties LLIP (8.0 %)
commercial segments. The SV has its Palm Shelter Estaie Development LLP (8.01%)
projects in Airoli (Navi Mumbai), Pune and|l- Raheja Corp Private Limiied (6,47%)
- Pocharam, {ITyderabad) for development offMr. Ravi C. Rahcja jointly with Mr. Chandru L.
MBRPL commercial parks. The SPV has a licence to|Raheja and Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja (7.37%)
operaie and maintain a power distribution Mr. Neel C. Rahgja jointly with Mr. Chandru L,
system for supplying electricity to  the|Raheja and Mrs, Jyoli C. Ralcja (7.37%)
customers in the area of supply as specilied|Anbee Constructions LLP (6.37%})
in SEZ nolilication and has commenced|Cape Trading LLP (6.37%}
disiribution of electricity in its project aljRaghukool Lstale Development LLEP (5.26%)
Airoli, Navi Mumbai from 9 April 2015, .
BREP V1It SBS Pearl Holding (NQ) 1td (0.02%)
BRIEP ASIA SBS Peart Holding (NQ) Lud. {0.03%)
Others (3.17%)
The SPV is engaged in the business of real|[K Raeheja Corp Private Limited (53.00%)
cstate  develepment ol an  infermation|Mr. Chandre 1. Raheja Jointly with Mrs. Jyoti C.
Gigaplex technology park al Airoli, Navi Mumbai, Rahcja (32.00%) (Reler node 1 below)
i The SPV has also commenced distribution|BREP ASIA SG Pearl lolding (NQ) Pre, Lud.
of electricity in ils SEZ project at Airoli}(14.95%)
from 19 April 2016. Others (0,05%)




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined in Note 1)

Condensed Combined Financial Statements
Notes 1o Aceounts

(Al amounis are in Rs. millions unless otherwise stated)

Sundew

The SPV is engaged in development and
lcasing/licensing of IT park, SEZ o
different customers in Hyderabad,

The SPV also has a power distribution
license for supplying electricily 10 the SEZ
Units in its SEZ project al Mindspace
Cyberabad, Madhapur, Hyderabad,

Genexi Hardware & Parks Private Limited (19,20%)

BREP ASIA SG Pearl Holding (NQ)Y Ple. Lid
(14.95%)

Andhra Pradesh Tndustrial
Corporation Limited {11.00%)
Mr, Chandru L. Raheja jointly with Mrs. Tyoti C.
Raheja (Reler note 1) (9.97%)

Casa Maria Properties LLP (5.85%)

Inirastracture

Raghukool Estate Development LLP (5.85%)
Capstan Trading LLP {5.83%)
Palm Sheller Estate Development LLE (5.85%)

Anbee Constructions L (5.23%)
Cape Trading LLP {5.23%)
Others (11.02%)

Intime

The 8PV is engaged in development and
leasing/licensing ol 1T park, SEZ (o
different customers in Hyderabad.

Chandru Raheja jointly with Jyoti Raheja (23.98%)
(Refer note | below)

BREP Asia SG Pearl Holding (NQ) Pie Lid.
(14.95%)

Andhra Pradesh Industrial
Corporation Limited (11.00%}

Casa Muaria Propertics LLP (6.12%)

Infrastructure

Raghukeol Estate Development LLP {(6.12%)
Capstan Trading LLP {6.12%)
Palrs Shelter Estate Development LLP (6.12%)

Anbee Constructions LLP (5.47%)
Cape Trading LLP {5.47%)
Others (14.65%)

KERIT

The SPV is engaged in development and
leasing/licensing of I'T park o dilTerent
customers in Hyderabad. The SPV has a
licenee Lo operate and maintain a power
disteibution system [or supplying clectricity
lo the customers.

BREP ASIA SG Pearl MHolding {(NQ) Pie, lid.
(£4.95%)

Andhra Pradesh Industrial
Corporation Limited (1 1.00%)
Palm Sheher Estate Development LLP (9,50%)
Casa Maria Propertics LLI* (9,50%)
Raghukooel Estate Development LLP (9.50%)
Capstan Trading LLP (9.50%}
Anbee Constructions L1 (8.50%)
Cape Trading LLP (8.50%}

Ivory Propertics And  Hotels
(8.22%)

Chandru [. Raheja jointly with Jvati C. Raheja
(6.00%) (Reier note 1}

Others (4.83%)

Inlrastructure

Private  Limited




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)

Cuondensed Combined Financial Statements
Notes to Accoonis

(Al amounts sre in Rs, mtillions unless otherwise stated)

KRC [nfra

The 8PV is in the business of Infrastructure
development and related activities, The
SPV has undertaken the devetopment of an
IT park at Kharadi, Pune. The SPV has a
licence to operale and mainlain a power
distribution system lor supplying electricily
to the customers.in the area of supply as
specified in SEZ notilication and has
commenced distribution of electricity in its
project from 1 June 2019 .

K Rahcja Privale Limited (42.30%)

K Raheja Corp Private Limited (42.50%:)

BREP Asia 8G Pearl [olding (NQ) Pte. [td
(14.95%)

BREP VI SBS Pear! Holding (NQ) Lid (0.02%)
BREP ASIA SBS Pear] Holding (NQ) Lid. (0.03%)

Horizionview

The SPV is engaged in real esiate
development  projects ol inlegrated
townships with high quality commercial
segments such as Information Technology
Parks and other commercial segments. The
SPV has land at Porur, Chennai, Tamil
Nadu.

Mr. Negl C. Rahgja jointly with Mr. Chandru L.
Raheja and Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja (42.30%)

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja jointly with Mr. Chandiu L.
Raheja and Mrs. Jyoti C, Rahe)a (42.50%)

BREP ASIA SG Pear! Holding (NQ) Pre. ltd.
(14.95%)

Gihers (0,05%)

Avacado

The 8PV has developed an Industital park
lor the purpose of letling oul 1o dillerent
customers in Paradigm building at Malad-
Mumbai and s being maintained and
operated by the 5PV,

Anbee Constractions LLP (13.18%)

Cape Trading LLP (13.18%)

Capstan Trading LLP {14.53%)

Raghukool Estate Development LLP {14.53%)

Casa Maria Properties LLP (14.53%)

Palm Shelter Lstaie Development LLE (14.53%)
BREP Asia SG Pear]l Holding (NQ) Pie. Lid
{14.95%)

Others (0.57%)

MBPPL RENT

The trust is primarily engaged in the
business ol Real estale business

Anbee Constructions LLP (50%)
Cape Trading LLP (50%)

Noles:

(1) The shares are held by the said registered owners for and on behall of the beneficiaries of Ivory Property Trust, as per the declaration
in Form No. M{'T-4 received [rom Mr, Chandru 1. Raheja jointly with Mrs. Jyoti €. Raheja, declaration in Form No, MGT-5 received
irom the beneliciaries of [vory Properly Trust and e~form MG'T-6 in this respect filed by the SPV with the Registrar of Companies.

All the above SPVs have been combined as a part ol the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s the Condensed Combined Financial
Statements on a line by line basis and the proposed sharcholding by Mindspace REIT prior to the proposed listing ol units by Mindspuace
REIN is 1O0% in each of the SPVs except lor Sundew, 1ntime and KRI'T ( vefer note no.3.24 ).




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Cuondensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes 10 Aecounts

{(All amounts are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stated)

2

Basis of preparation

The Condensed Combined Financial Statements of the Mindspace Business Parks Group comprise the Condensed Combined Balance
Sheets. the Condensed Combined Statement of Changes in Equity as al 31 March 2020, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018; the
Condensed Combined Statement of Prolit and Loss {including other comprehensive income), the Condensed Combined Statement of
Cash Flow for the years ended 31 March 2020 .31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 and a summary of signiticant accounting policies and
selected explanatory inlormation, the Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Statement of Net
Asscts al Fair Value as at 31 March 2020 and other additional financial disclosures. The Condensed Combined Financial Statements
were authorised for issue in accordance with the reselution passed by the Governing Board of the Investiment Manager on 20 June,2020.
The Condensed Combined Financial Stalements have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance note en Reports in Company
Prospectuses (Revised 2819}, and the Guidance Nete on Combined and Carve Out Financial Statements issued by the Institute of
Charterad Accountants of India (' 1CA) (the " Guidance Noles™) using the recognition and measurement principles of Indian Accounting
Standards as defined in Rule 2{1}a) of the Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2013 read with Scction 133 of the
Companics Act, 2013 (*Ind AS'). as specilied ender the SEBL (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Repulations. 2014 (“RELT Regulations™),
us amended Drom time to time and the SEBT circular number CIRAMID/DE/ 1412016 dated 20 December 2016 ("SEBI Circular™. except
Tor the accounting of schemse of the merger of undertaking of Tvion Properties Private Limited and K Raheja Corp Private Limited as
mentioned below which has been accounted based on the order dated 7th September 2007 of the National Company Law ‘Tribunal
(NCLTY.

The Condensed Combined Financial Statements are special purpose financial statements and have been prepared by the Manager (o mect
the requirements of the REIT Regulations and for inclugion in the Oller Docoment (*OD”) prepared by the Manager in conncclion with
the Initial offering of units ol Mindspace RETT, As a resull, the Condensed Combined Financiat Statements may not be suitable for any
other purpose,

in accordance with the requirements of the REFT Regulations, since Mindspace REIT is newly set up on 18 November 2019 and has been
in existence Jor a period lesser than three completed financial years as required by the REIT Regulations, the Condensed Combined
Iinancial Statements are prepared based on an assumption that al) the assets and SPVs were part ol Mindspace REIT (or such period
when Mindspace REIT was not in existence. THowever, the Special Purpese Condensed Combined linancial Statements may nol be
representative ol the position which may prevail alier the SPVs are translerred 10 Mindspace RIIT.

These Condensed Combined Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except lor certain (inancial assets and
finbilitics which are mcasored at Tair value,

The Condensed Comnbined Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Pursuant lo an NCLT order dated September 7, 2017, the Pune undertaking of Trion Propertics Private Limited, was merged with
Mindspace Business Packs Private Limited ("MBPPL") with ellect from April 1, 2016. Since the NCLT order was received post the
issuance ol 1Y 2017 audit report for Trion Properties Private Limited. the merger in the books ol account of MBPPL wag eflected in 1Y
2018 by compiling the hinancial information of the Pune Undertaking lrom the audited linancial statements of Trion Properties Private
Limited pripared as per Indian GAAP as atand for the year ended March 31, 2017,

* 87



Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)

Coundensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes 10 Accounts

(Al ameunts are in Rs. millions unless otherwise staled}
Rasis of Combination

The Condensed Combined Finanecial Statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and vther
events in similar circumstances. The linancial statements ol all the SPVs used for the purpose ol combination ate drawn up 1o the same
reporting date i.e. the years ended on 31 March 2020, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.

The provedures adopted [or preparing Condensed Combined Financial Statements of the Mindspace Business Parks Group are stated
below:

a) The Condensed Combined Financial Statements have been prepared using the principles of censolidation as per Ind AS 110 -
Consolidated Financial Statements and Guidance Note on Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, 1o (he exient applicable.

by The financial stawements of all (he 8PVs have been combined by combining/adding like items ol assets, liabilities, equity. income,
CXPLNSCs,

¢) The Tlinancial statements of all the $PVs have been combined based on the assumption that all the SPVs are part ol"a single group for
the entire peried presented pursuant (o the SEBI cireular.

d) Inwagroup assels and liabilitics, equity, income, expenses and cash (lows relating to transactions between entities of the Mindspace
Business Parks Group (profits or losses resulting (rom intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets. such as inventory, invesuuent
property, invesiment property under construction and property ptant and equipment) arc ¢liminated;

¢) A scheme sanctioned by the National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT), Mumbai dated 7 Seprember 2017 (elTective | November 2017)
accorded approval to the merger of undetlaking of T'rion Properties Private Limited and K Raheja Corp Privale Limited - Convmerrone
undertaking el K Raheja Corp Private Limited with MBPPL., with an appointed date of | April 2016. The accounting trestment of the nel
assels is al book value instead of the Gair value and the acquisition dale is considered as the appointed date i 1 Apeil 2016, insicad of
the cllective date e, 1 November 2017, based on the order of NCLT und is not in accordance with Ind-AS - 103 - Business
Combinations,

i) The tax expenses are combined for ali the expenses actually incurred by (he combining businesses in accordance with the Guidance
Note on Combined and Carve-Qult Financial Statements.

) The ligures in the notes ¢ accounts and disclosures have been combined line by tine and only transactions and balances between ihe
S5PVs have been eliminated,

hy MBPPL. has lour wholly owned subsidiarics namely Sampada Easlpro Privale Lid, Educator Protech Private Lid, Dices Realcon
Private Lid and Happy Easicon Private Lid {*four subsidiaries’). As on 31 March 2024, the carrying valuc of these investments in the
books ol MBPPL is Nil. Mortcover, MBPPL has applied to Repisirar of Companies (ROCY for striking ol' the names of (hese
subsidiaries [rom the Registrar of Companies. Since these subsidiaries are nol a parl of the Mindspace Business Parks CGroup's propuesed
real estate investiment trust structure, these subsidiaries have not been combined in these Condensed Combined Financial Statements,

i) Andhra Pradesh mdusivial Infrasiructure Corporation Limited, which is & sharcholder in Intime, KRIT and Sundew have nol agreed o
exchange their equity interest in the SPVs {(Intime. KRIT and Sundew), thus, the Mindspace Business Parks Group has recorded a non-
controlling interests for these SPVs.

1) Share capital bas been presented by adding the individoal capitals of cach of the SPVs. For the proportionate share of the Capital
atributable to the Nor contealling interest. management has disclosed this amount separately Grom the combined capitul.

k) Other equity has been presented by adding the individual other equity's ol each of the SPVs. [or the proportionate share ol the other
equity altributable o the Non controlling interest, management has disclosed this amount separately from the combined other equity.

1) The Mindspace Business Parks Group holds 4% olhe equity share capital ol Stargaze Propertics Private Limiied, a company involved
i the real estale development, The Mindspace Business Parks Group is of the view that it is not able 1o exercise significant inluence
over Stargaze Properties Private Linited and hence it bas not been accounted using equity method,
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3 Signiticant aceounting policies

{a) Functional and presentation currency
The Condensed Combined Financial Statemenis are presented in Indian rupees, which is the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s
functional currency and the cucrency of the primary economic environment in which the Mindspace Buginess Parks Group operates. All
linancial information presented in Indian rupees has been rounded ol to nearesi million except otherwise stated.
{b) Basis of measurement
The Condensed Combined Financial Stalements arc on the historical cost basis, except for the following:
- Certitin financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy regarding tinancial instrument): measured at Tair values;
- Nel defined benefit (asset)/ lability Iess present value of delined obligations: Fair value ol plan assets less present value of delined
benelic plan.
{¢} Use of judgements and estimates
The prepacation of the Condensed Combined Financial Stalements in conlormity with generclly accepted accounting principles in Indin
{Ind AS) requires management 10 make estimales and assamptions thal allecl the reported amounts of nssels, tabilitics, income and
expenses, Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Estimated and undertying assumplions are reviewed on o periodic basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods alTecled,
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the Condensed Combined Financial Stalements is included in the following notes:
* Eslimation of lease term lor revenue recognition
¥ Listimation of useful life of property, plant and equipment and investment properly
Lstimation of recognilion of deferred tax assets, availability of [ulure taxeble profit against which tax losses carried forward can be used
J and income Laxes.
Impairment and Pair valuation of Investment Property, Investment properly under construction, Property, plant and equipment and
*  Cuapital work-in-progress
N Interest capitalised to invesiment property under construction
d) Current versus nen-current ¢lassification
The Mindspace Business Parks Group presents assels and liabilities in the Condensed Combined Balance Sheet based on cutrent/ non-
current ¢lassification:
An asset is lreated as currenl when it is:
- lixpected to be realised or intended (¢ be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
- Iixpected (o be realised within twelve monihs alier the reporting period; or
- Cush or cash equivalent unless restricted irom being exchanged or used 1o setile a liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting
petiod,

All olber assets are classified as non-current,

A liability is current when:

- IUis expected 1o be settled in normal operating cycle;

- Tt is held primardly lor the purpose of trading;

- It is due o be settled within twelve months aiter the reporting period; or

- There is nv unconditional right 1o defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months alter the reporting period.

The Mindspace Business Parks Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Delerred tax asscls and liabililies arc classilied as non-current asscts and lisbilities.

The vperating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assels for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, The
Mindspace Business Purks Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle,

Nl & AL
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3.1

3.2

EY

(b)

(¢} Measurement of fair values

The Mindspace Business Parks Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of lair values, for bosh financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities. The Mindspace Business Parks Group has an eslablished control framework with respeet 1o (he
measurement ol fair values.

They regufarly review significant vnobservable inputs and vatuation adjustments. I third party information is used Lo measure fair valucs
then the linonce team assesses the evidence obtained from the third partics 1o support the conclusion that such vatuations meel the
requirements of Ind AS, including the level in the Jair vatue hicrurchy in which such valuations should be classilied.

When measuring the fair value of an usset or a lisbility, the Mindspace Business Parks Group uvses observable market data as Far ag
possible. Fair values are categerised into different levels in a fair value bierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation lechnigues as
follows:

+ Level 10 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets Tor identical assets or labilities thal enlily can access on measurement date,

* Level 2t inputs ether than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable for the assel or liability, either dircetly (i.c. as prices) or
indirecily (i.e. derived from prices),

» [evel 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

I£ the inputs used Lo measure the Tair value of an asset or a liability [all imo diflerent tevels of the fair value hicrarchy, then the fair value
measurcment is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant Lo the

entire measturement,

Financial guarantee contracts

The Ciroup on @ case 10 case basis elects to account for [inancial guaranice contracts as a inancial inlruments or as an insurance contracts
as specilied in Ind AS 109 on Financial Instruments and Ind AS 104 on Insurance contragts, The CGroup has regarded all its linancial
guarantce centracts as insurance contracts, At the end ol cach reporting period, the Group per(otms a liabilily adequacy Lest, (i.c. it
assesses he likelihood of a pay-out based on current undiscounted estimaies of future cash Mows), and any deficiency is recopnised in
Ind AS combined statement of profit and loss,

Properiy, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurenient

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accurulaled depreciation and impairment, il any. Pepreciation is charged when the
ussees are ready for their intended use. Purchase price or construction cost is delined as any consideration paid or lair value ol any other
consideration given 1o acquire the assel.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expendilure is capitalized only if it is probable that the Tulure cconomic benelils associated with the expenditure will Now Lo
ithe Mindspace Business Parks Group. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separisle assct, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefils associaied with the item will low w the Mindspace Business Parks
Group and the cost of the ilem can be measured rvelinbly, All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Condensed Combined
Statement ol Prehit and Loss during the reporting peviod in which they are incurred.

Depreciation / Amoevtisation

Depreciation / amortisation is provided using straight line method except as mentioned below in note 4, tor the specitic SPVs, specilic
assels and specilic period, as per the usetul life of the assets estimated by the management, The estimated uselu! lives ol the assets,
which arc higher than, lower than or equal 1o those preseribed under Schedule 11 of the Companics Act 2013, arc listed in the lable
helow, Depreciation on addition / deletion ol property, plant and equipment made during the year is provided on pro-rata basis from / o
the date of such addition / deletion,
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The assets and estimated uselul life are as under:

Estimated Useful Life
Asset group .
{in years)
Power assets Other assets

Right to use - Leasehold land Balance Lease term -
Buildings* 75/91) .
Plant and machinery 15 15
Lleetrical installation® 15 15
Compulers g 3
Temporary Structure® - |
Olfice equipment* 1 q
Furniture and fixtures* - 7
Vehicles® - ]

* For these class of ussets, based on technical assessment the management believes the useful life of the assets is appropriate which is
diferent than those preseribed under Part C of Schedule 11 of the Companies Act, 2013,
{1} Based on internal assessment the management believes the residual value of all assets is estimated to be 5% of the original cost of
those respective assets,
(2) Asscts individually costing less than Rs 5,000 ave fully written off in the year ol acquisition.
{3) The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of the reporting peried with the effect of
any changes in the estimation accounted for on a prospective basis.
(4) a) Building held by MBPPL is depreciated using written down value method ol depreciation 1il! 3[s1 March 2019, with cllect from
[st April 2019 method is changed Lo straight line method. All assets of Gigaplex(cxcept Power) and Avacado are depreciated using
writtea down value method of depreciation till 31st March 2019, with effect from st April 2009 method is changed to steaight line
method,

b) The uselul life of buildings, plant & machinery, elecirical installation was estimated at lower ol 60 years or balance lease tenn, 10
years and 10 years respectively dll 3 1st March 2019.

{d) De-recognition
Ancitem of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no [uture economic benefils are cxpecied 16 arise lrom
the continued use of the asscl. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an itens of propetly, plant and equipment is
determined as the dilferenee between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the assel and is recognized in the Condensed
Cowbined Statement of Prolit and Loss.

(¢} Capital worl in progress
Property, plant and equipment under construction is disclosed as capital work in progress which is carried at cost less any recognized
impairment losses. Cost comprises of purchase price and any atiributable cost such as duties, freight, borrowing costs. ereciion and
commissioning expenses incurred in bringing the asset 1o its working condition for its intended use.
Advance paid and expenditure incurred on acquisition / construction of property, plant and cquipment which are not ready for their
intended use at cach balance sheet date are disclosed under other non current assets as advances on capital accoum and capital work-in-
progress respectively,
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(a)

(b)

()

Intangible assets

Recognition and measurement

An intangible assel is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical subsiance. Intangible assets with finite useful livés that are
acquired separately are initially measured at its cost and then carried at the cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried
at cosl less impairment, if any.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it
relates. All oiher expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in the Condensed
Combined Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value, Amortisation is
recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss on a straight line method over the estimaled usefu! lives of
intangible assets, from the date that they are available lor use.

Inlangible assets in the nature of software is amortised over the period of' 3 years (refer note 1) and trademark is amortised over a period
of 10 years.

esei s cip Estimated Useful Life
{in years)
Power assets Other assets
Compuler Softwares 3 3
Trademarks - 14

The estimated useful life and amortisation methed are reviewed at the end ol each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
e¢slimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Note | - In case of Intime, Sundew & KRIT software is amortised over the period of 4 years,
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3.4

(M

()

(b)

(v)

De-recognition

An intangible asser is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benelits are expected trom use or disposal, gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an imangibie asset, meusured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the assel, are recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement ol Profit and Loss when the assel is derecognised.

[nvestment property

Recoguition and measurement

Propertics including land, building and other assets, which are held either for long-term rental yield or (or capital appreciation or for
both, and which are not oceupied substantially by the Mindspace Business Parks Group are classified as investiment property.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost, including related transaction costs. Subscquent 1o initial recognition, investmen!
propertics are measured in accordance with the requirement of Ind AS 16's requirements for cost model i.c. Cost less deprectation less
impairment losses, il any. Depreciation is charged when the investment property is ready for its intended use. Cost comprises ol direct
expenses like land cost, site labour cost, material used lor project construetion, project management consultuncy, costs for moving the
plant and machinery (o the site and general expenses incurred specifically [or the respective project like insurance, design and technical
assistance, and construction overbeads are allocated on i reasonable basis 1o the cost of the project.

Plant and machinery, furniture and fixtures, olfice cquipment and electrical equipments which are physically attached 10 the commercial
buildings are considered as part of investment property,

Acquisitions and disposals are accounted for al the date of completion of acquisitions and disposals.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capilalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will Row 1o the Mindspace Business Packs Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maimenance costs are expensed when incurred.

Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation / amorlisation is provided using straight line method except as mentioned below in note 1, for the specific SPVs, specific
agsets and specilic period, as per the useful life of ithe assets estimated by the management. The estimated vselul lives of the assets.
which are higher than, lower than or equal (0 those preseribed under Schedule 11 of the Companies Act 2013 and listed in the table
below. Depreciation on addition / deletion of investment property migle during the year is provided on pro-rata basis from / o the date or
such addition / deletion,

Estimated Useful Life

Assel group .
(in years)

Right 1o use - Leaschold land Balance Lease lerm
Buitdings* 75/90)
Infrastructure and development 15
Roachwork* 15
Plant and machinery 15
Oifice equipment* 4
Furpiture and fixiures* 7
Biccurical installation* 15

= ['or these class of assets, based on lechnical assessment the management believes the uselul lile of the assels is appropriale which is
dilferent than those prescribed under Part C ol Schedule 11 of the Companies Act, 2013,

Based on internal assessment the management believes the residual value ol all assets is estimated o be 5% of the original cost ol those
respeclive assets.

Assets individually costing less than Rs 3.000 are lully written off in the year of acquisitien.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end ol the reporting period with (he effect ol any
changes in the estintation accounted for on a prospective basis.
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J.5

3.6

(d)

(e)

Note | a) MBPPL and KRC Infra Buildings are depreciated using written down vatue method ol depreciation tlf 3 1st March 2019, with
clfeet from 1st April 2009 method is changed (o straight line method, Building and Infragtrueture and development hield by Intime is
depreciated using writlen down value method of depreciation 1ill 31st March 2019, with effect rom st April 2089 method is changed 10
steaight Jine method. All agsets of Avacado is depreciated vsing wrilten down value method of depreciation 1ill 3 1st March 2019, with
elteet from Est April 2019 method is changed Lo stratght line method.

by The wselul tile of buildings, plant & machinery, electrical installation, intrastructure and development, roadwork was estimated ot
lower of 60 years or balance lease term, 10 years, 10 years, 10 vears and 5 years respectively G 3181 March 2019,

Iair Value

Fair value of investiment property is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant prolessional
qualification and has reeent experience in the locotion and calegory ol the investment properly being valued. The Tair value of investment
property is disclosed in ihe Statement of Net assets at Fair Valoe.

De-recognition

Aninvestmen! property is derceognized upon disposal or when the investinent property is permanently withdrawn itom use and no lulure
ceonemic benelits are expected lrom the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the property (caleulated as the dilference
Letween the net disposal proceeds and the careying amount of the asset) is included in the Condensed Combined Statement ol Profit and
Loss in the peried in which the property is de-recognised,

Investment properties wnder construction

Property that is being constructed for (Llure use as investment property is accounted for as invesiment property under construction until
assets ave ready for their intended usc .

Direct expenses like land cost. site labour cost, material used for project construction, project management consultancy, costs lor moving
the plant and machinery to the sile and general expenses incurred specifically for the respeetive project like insurance, design and
lechnical assistance, and construction overheads are taken as the cost of the project.

Investment properiies under construction represent the cost incurred in respect of arcas under construction ol the real estate developnient
projecis ess impairment losses. il any.

Advonee paid for acquisition of investment property which are not ready for their intended vse at each balance sheel date are disclosed
under ether non curcent assels as capital advance.

Impairment of assets

The Mindspace Business Parks Group assesses al each balance sheet date, whether there is any indication (hat an assel may be
impaired, If any such indication exists, the Mindspace Business Parks Group estimales the recoverable amount of the assel. The
recoverable amount of the assets {or where applicable that of the cash geoerating vnit (o which the asset belengs) is estimated as the
higher ol its net selling price and its value in use. Value in use is the present value ol estimaled luture cash flows expecicil io arise from
the continuing ase of the assets and Trom its disposal at the end of'its uselul lile. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carvying
amount of an assel or the cash-generating unit w which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Iinpairment loss is recognised in the
Condensed Combined Statement of Prolit axd Loss or against revaluation surplus, where applicable,

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assct (or a cash-generating unit) is inereased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the ¢arrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset {or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss,

Borrowinp costy

Borrowing costs thatl are attribulable 1o the acquisition, construction or production ol qualifying assels arce treated as direet cost and are
considered as part of cost of such assets, Borrowing costs consist ol interest and other costs that an entity incurs in conneclion with the
borrowing of funds. Investmem income earned on the femporary invesiment of specilic borrowings pending their expenditire on
qualifying assets is deducted [rom the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. A qualilving asscl is an asset thal necessarily requires a
substantial period of Gime 1o gel ready Tor its intended use or sale,

Capitalisation rate used to determine the amoun? of borrowing costs 10 be capitalised is the weighled average interest rate applicable w
the general borrowings.

Capitalisation of borrowing cosis is suspended during the extended period in which active development is interruptled, Capitalisation of
borrowing, costs is ceased when substantially all the activities necessary (o prepare the qualifying assel lor its intended use or sale are
compleie.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are ineurred.

Borrowing cost incurred by the SPVs on inter-company loans is conlinued Lo be capilalised only 1o the extent the Mindspace Group has
incurred external borrowing cost.
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(e}

)

3.8

[nventories

Measurement of inventory

lnventories comprise of building material and components. Contraclual work in progress, in respect of third parly customers, is classilicd
as work in progress, The Mindspace Business Parks Group measures its inventories at the lower of cost and nel realisable value.

Cost of inventories

The cost of inventories of building material and components and work in progress comprige all costs of purchase and ather costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is delermined on moving weighied average basis.

iNet realisabie value

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimaled costs of cotupletion and estimaled
cosls necessary 1o make the sale,

Revenue recognilion

Facility eentals

Revenue from preperty leased out under an operating leuse is recognised over the lease terni on a straight line basis, except where there is
an uncertainty of ullimate collection,

Revenue from works contractual services

Revenue irom works contractual service is accounted lor on the basis of complelion of work as per the specilication and agreement with
the customer.

Maintenance services

Maiblenance income is recopnised over a period ol time lor services rendered to the cuslomers,

Revenue from power supply

Revenue (rom power supply is accounted for on the basis ol billings to consumers and includes unbilled revenues accrued up to the end
of the accounting year. The Mindspace Business Parks Group determines surplus/deficil i.e. excess/ shortfall of aggregate gain over
reture on equily entitlement for the period in respect of its operations based on the principles laid down under the respective Tarilt
Reguiations as notified by Mahavashtra Electricity Regulatory Commission (MERC), on the basis of the tarifl order issued by itln
respeet of such surplus/deficit, appropriate adjustiments as stipulated under ihe regulations are made during the period. Further, any
adjustments that may avise on annual performance review by the MERC under the tarilt regulations is made alier the completion ol such
review.

Finance Lease

FFor assets let out under Mnance lease, the Mindspace Business Parks Group recognises a receivable al an amounl equal o the net
investment in the lease. Rentats received are accounted for as repayment of principal and finance income. Minimum lease payments
rcceivable on finance leases are apporlioned between the finance income and the reduction of the oulstanding receivable. The finance
income allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a conslant periodic rate ol interest on the remaining net
investment o the finance lease.

Contingent rents are recorded as income in the periods in which they are earned.

Sale of surplus construction material and scrap

Revenue from sale of surplus construction material is recognised on transler of risk and rewards of ownership which is gencrally on
dispateh ol material,

Interest income :

(i) Inlerest income is recognised on time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate
applicable.

1i1) Delayed payment charges and interest on delayed payments are recognised, on time proportion basis, except when there is uncerlainly
ol ultimate collection,
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(i)

m

(c)

Tax expense

Income tax expense colnprises currend tax and delerred (ax charge or credil. [t is recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of
Proiit and Loss except 1o the extent that it relates to an item recognised direcily in equily or in olber comprehensive income ia which
case, the current and deferced 1ax are also recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income respectively.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the 1axable income or loss for the year and any adjusiment to the tax
payable or veceivable in respect of previous vears. The amount of current tax rellects the best estimate of the tax anount expectled 1o be
paid or received alier considering the uncertainty, il any, relaled to income laxes. N is measured uging tax rates {and tax laws) enacted or
substantively enacted by end of reporting period.

Deferved tax

Delerred tax assetliabilisy is recognised on temporary differences between the carcving amounts of assets and lisbilities in 1he
Condensed Combined Financial Statements and the corresponding lax bases used in the compulation of taxable profit. Delvrred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and lax laws 1hat have been enacted or substantively enacled by the end ol reporting
period. The measuretment of delereed ax Habilitics and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Mindspace Business Parks Group expeets, al the end of the reporting period. to recover or setile the carrying amount ol its assels and
liabilitics.

Delerred tux liabilities are generally recognised for all waxable temporary difTerences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary dilferences to the extent that it is probable that 1axable profits will be available againsi which 1hose deductible
temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred 1ax assets and liabilities are not recognised il the temporary dillerence arises from
the initiat recognition (other than in a business combination} of assets and liabilities in a lransaction that alfects neither the taxable profil
notr the acceunting profit.

The carrying amount of delerred lax assets are reviewed at the end of cach reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sulficient taxable prelits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1o be recovered.

Delerred tax assets and liabilitics are ofTset if (heve is a legally enforceable right Lo ofTset cuerent tax liabilities and assets, and they relte
o income taxes Jevied by the same ax authority on the same taxable entity, or on dilferent lax entitics, but they intend 1o settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their wx assets and liabiliies will be realised simultancously,

For operations carried out under lax holiday period (801A benelits of Income Fax Act. 1961), delerred 1ax assets or liabilities. il any,
have been established for the lax consequences of those temporary dilferences belween the carrying values of agsels and

liabilities and their respective (ax bases (hat reverse aller the tax holiday ends,

In the sitvations where one or more units of the Group are entitled to a tax holiday under the tax law. no delerred 1ax (assetl or

liability) is recognized in respect ol temporary difTerences which reverse during the 1ax holiday period, 1o the extent the concerned

unit’s gross total income is subjeet to the deduction during the tax holiday period. Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences

which reverse aller the tax holiday period is recognized in the year in which the temporary differences originate. However, the

Group restricts recognition of deferred 1ax assets (o the exlent it is probable that sutTicient future taxable income will be available against
which such delerred tax assets can be realized, For tecognition ol delorred taxes, Lhe temporary differences which originate first are
considered (o veverse [irst,

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT)

MA'T credit entitlement is recognized as an assel onty when and (o the extent there ts convineing evidence that normal income tax will be
paid during the specitied perdod. In the year in which MAT credit becomes cligible o be recognized as an asset, the said assel is created
by way ol a credht Lo the Condensed Combined Statement of Prolil and Loss and shown as MAT credit emitlement under deferred tax
assels. This is reviewed at cach balanee sheet date and the carrying amount of MA'T credit entitlement is writlen down (o the extent it is
not reasanably cerlain that normal income tax will be paid during the specified period,

Earnings per unit (EPU):

‘The basic eamnings per unit is computed by dividing the net profit/ (loss) altributable to the unit holders of the Mindspace REIT by the
weighted average number of units outstanding during the reporting period. The number of units used in computing diluted cacnings/
(loss) per unit comprises the weighted average units comsidered for deriving basic earnings/ (loss) per unit and also the weighted average
number of units which could huve been issued on the conversion of all dilutive potential units.

Dilutive potential unils arc deemed converled as of the beginning of the reporting date, unless they have been issued at a later date. In
computing diluted earnings per unil, only polential equity unils that are dilutive and which cither reduces carnings per unit or increase
loss per units are included,
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3.2 Provisions, contingent linbilitics and confingent assets
Provisions are recognised when the Mindspace Business Parks Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
cvent, it is probable that the Mindspace Business Parks Group will be required 10 settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made ol the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate ol the consideration required to setlle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, laking into account the risks and uncerlainties surrounding the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected luure cash lows al a pre-lax raie hat reflects current market assessments of the lime value of money and the risks specific o
ihe liabtlity, The unwinding ol 1he discount is recognised as {inunce cost.

Contingent liabilitics are disclosed when there is o possible obligation or a present obligation that may, bul will probably nol, require an
outllow ol resources. When there is a possible obligation of a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood ol cutllow of
resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made,

A conlingent asset is disclosed when there would be a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-oceurrence ol one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the conirel of the Mindspace
Busimess Parks Group.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Asscts are reviewed al each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to rellect the current best
eslimates,

3.13 Foveign corvency transactions and translations
Transactions denominated in Joreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaclions. [Exchange
dillerences arising on foreign exchange transactions settled during the year are recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of
Profit and Loss of the year.
Monelary assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign eutrency, which are ouistanding as al the year-end and not covercd by forward
contracts, are iranslated al the year-end at the closing exchange rate and the resultant exchange dilferences arce recognised in the
Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss. Non-monelary forcign currency ilems are carried al cost,

3,14 Leases
As a Lessor
The Mindspace Business Parks Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect 10 some ol'its investment propertics.
[eases lor which the Mindspace Business Parks Group is a lessor is classified as finance or operating leases, Whenever the terms of the
lcuse transler substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership (o the lessee, the contract is classilied as a linance lease. All other
Icases ate classilied as operating leascs.
When the Mindspace Business Parks Group is an intermediate lessor, it secounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is ctassilied as a finance or operating lease by reference Lo the righl-of-use assel avising [rom the head lease,
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line bagis over the term ol the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added (o the carrying amount of the leased assel and recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
Amounts due lrom lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Mindspace Business Parks Group's nct
investment in the leases. Finance lease ingome is allocated Lo reparting periods so as 10 rellect @ constant periodic rate ol ceturn on the
Mindspace Bugsiness Parks Group's nel investment outstanding in respect ol the leases.
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As u Lessee

The Mindspace Business Parks Group agsesses whether o contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract, The Mindspace
Business Parks Group recognises o rightl-ol-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respeet to all lease agrecments in which it is
the lessee, exeept lor shorl-term leases ( delined as leases with a lease term ol 12 months or less) and leases ol low value assets. For these
{cases. the Mindspace Business Parks CGroup recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
ol the tease unless another systemaltic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which ¢eonemic benetits from the leaged assel
arce consumed.

The fease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payinents that are not paid al the commencement date, discounted
by using the rale implicit in (he lease. 117 this rate cannol be readily determined, the Mindspace Business Parks Group uses its ineremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments inclbded in the measurement ol the Jease liability comprise:

« lixed lease payments {including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

« variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

» Ihe amount expected 1o be payable by the lessee under residual value puaraniecs;

« payments of penalties [or lerminating the lease, il the lease teem reflects the exercise of an oplion 1o terminate the fease.

The lease lability is presented as a separate line in the condensed combined balance sheet as Lease Liability.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount Lo reflect interest on the lease liability {using 1he cllective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Mindspace Business Parks Group remcasures the lease lisbility (and makes a corresponding, adjustment to the related righl-of-use
assety whenever

* Ihe lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise ol a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the vevised lease payments using a revised discount raie.

« lhe lease payments change doe 1o changes in an index or rale or a change in expected payment under a guaraniced residual value, in
which cases the lease liability is measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount vate {unless the lease
payments change is due (o a change in a [Toaling interest vale, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

+ o ease contract is modilicd and the lease modilicalion is nol accounted [or as a separate lease. in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-ol~use assels comprise the initial measurement ol the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or belore the
commencemenl day and any initia) direct costs . They are subsequently measured at cost Jess accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Whenever the Mindspace Business Parks Group incurs an obligation Tor costs Lo dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which il s loecated or reslore the underlying asset 1o the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under Ind AS 37 *Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’. The costs are included in he
related rightwof-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assels are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset,

The Mindspace Business Parks Group applics Ind AS 36 Impairment of Assels o determine whether a right-ol-use asset is impaired and
aceounts for any identificd impairment loss as described in Nole 3.4.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability und the right-of-use asset.
The related payments ace recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condilion that triggers those payments oceurs and
are icluded inthe line * other expenses™ in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial instruments

Inilial recognition and measurement

Finaneial assets andfor linancial liabilities are recognised when Ihe Mindspace Business Parks Group becomes party 0 a contract
embodying the related financial instrumens. All lnancial assets. Bnancial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, Transaction
costs that are attributable o the seguisition or issue ol {inancial assets and linancial liabilities (other than financial assets and Gnancial
liabilitics at lair value through profit or loss) are added o or deducted [rom as (he case may be, the fair value ol such assels or labililics,
on initial recognition, Transaction costs direetly attribulable (o the acquisition of financial assets or linancial liabilitics at Tuir value
through prolil or loss are recogniscd immediately in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss.
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(a)
(i

(ii)

(i)
{iv)

()
()

(i)

Finaucial assets:

Classification of financial assets:

‘The Mindspace Business Parks Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement calegories:

- those (o be measured subsequently at Tair vajue (cither through other comprehensive income, or through the Condensed Combined
Statenment ol Profit and Loss). and

- those megsured at amortised cost.

The classification is done depending upon 1he Mindspace Business Parks Group's business model for managing the Nnancial assets and
the contraciual terms of the cash Nows.,

For tpvestments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held.

The Mindspace Business Parks Group reclassilies debl investments when and orly when its business model for managing those agsets

changes,

Subsequenl Measorcment

Debi instruments:

Subscquent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Mindspace Business Parks Group's business model for managing the assel
and the cush ow characieristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Mindspace Business Parks Group
classifics its debt instruments:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial asscts are subsequently measured al amortised ¢ost if these financial assets are held within a business whose objective is 1o
hold these assets in order Lo colleet contractual cash lows and the contractual erms of the financial assel give rise on specified dates o
cash ows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,

Financinl assets at taiv value through ether comprehensive income (FVTOCT)

Vinaneial assets are subsequently measured at [air value thirough other comprehensive income if these financial asscts are heid within a
business whose objective is achieved by both collecting contraciual cash Nows thal give rise on specified dates o selely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and by selling [inancial assels,

Financial assets at fair value through the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss (FVTPL)

I'inancial assets are subsequently measured ol Fir value through the Condensed Coembined Statement of Profit and Loss unless il is
measured al amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition. The transaction costs directly
atlributuble 10 the acquisition of linancial assels and liabilities at fair value through prolit or loss are umediately recognised in the
Condensed Combined Slatement ol Profit and Loss,

Lguity instruments:

‘The Mindspace Business Parks Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. There are lwo measurement calepories
into which ihe Mindspace Business Parks Group classilies ils cquily instruments:

Investments in equily instruments at FYTPL:

luvestmenis in equity instruments are classified as al FV'IPL, unless the Mindspace Business Parks Group irrevocably elects on initial
recognition te present subsequent changes in [aie value in other comprehensive incote for equity instruments which are not held for
trading.

investuents in equity instrmments at FYTOCI:

On initial recognition, the Mindspace Business Parks Group can make an irrevocable clection (on an instrament-by-instrument basis) 1o
present the subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, This election is not permitted il the equily invesunent iy
held jor vading, Yhese elected investments are initially measured at Gair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently. they are measured al
lair value with gains and losses arising 1rom ¢hanges in lair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
reserve for ‘equity instruments through other comprehensive income'. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified o Condensed
Combined Statement o Prefit and Loss on disposal ol the investments, but is transferred to retained carnings.
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()

(d)

(a)

()

(c}

Impairment of financial assets:

The Mindspace Business Parks Group applies the expected credit loss medel for recognising impairment loss on financial assels
measured at amortised cosl, lease receivables, rade receivables, other contractual rights o receive cash or other financial asset, For trade
receivahbles, (he Mindspace Business Parks Group measures the lass allowance al an amount equal 1o Jifetime expected credit losses.
Further, Tor the purpose of measuring lifetime expected credit loss allowance lor trade receivables, the Mindspace Business Parks Group
has used a practical expedient as permitted under Ind AS 109, This expected credit loss allowance is computed based on a provision
matrix which takes into account historical credit loss experience and adjusted for lorward-looking information,

Derecognition of financial assets:
A linancial agset is primarily derccognised when:
(i) the right 10 receive cash Mows [kom the asset has expired, or
(ii) the Mindspace Business arks Group has transfetred its rights Lo receive cash flows from the asset; and

the Mindspace Business Parks Group has translerred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. or

the Mindspace Business Parks Group has neither translerred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
translerred conteol of the asset,
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety {other than invesiments in equity insteuments at FVOCI), the differenees between ihe
cartying amounts teasured at the daie of derecognition and the consideration reeeived is recognised in Condensed Combined Statement
of Profit and Loss. Any interest in wansleered financial assets that is created or retained by the SPV is recognised as a separate assel or
liability.

Financial liabilities and eqguity instruments

Classification as deb€ or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issned by the Mindspace Business Parks Group are classilied according 1o the substance of

(e contractual grrapgements eudercd inte and the delinitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument,

Equity instruments
Al equity instrument is any contract thal evidences a restdual interest in the assets ol the Mindspace Business Parks Group aller
deducting all of it liabilitics, quity instruments ave recorded al the proceeds received, net of direet issue costs.

Repurchase of the Mindspace Business Parks Group's own equity instrument is recognised and deducted direetly in equity, No pain or
loss is recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of Prolit and Loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation ol the
Mindspace Business Parks Group's own equily instruments.

Compound linancind instruments

The component parls of compound financial instruments issued by the Mindspace Business Parks Group are classified separately as
financial labitities and equily in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument, A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a lixed amount of cash or another financial asset for
a lixed number ol the Mindspace Business Packs Gronp's own equity instruments is an ¢quity instrument.

AL the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimaied using the prevailing market interest cate for similar non-
converlible Instrumrents. This amount is recorded as a liabilily on an amortiscd cost basis using the elfective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date,

The conversion option classificd as equity is delermined by dedueting the amount of the liability component from the lair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax cllects, and is not subsequently
remeasured.

Transaction costs that relate Lo the issue of the convertible instruiments are allocated 1o the lubility and equity components in proportion
(o the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating Lo the equity component we recopnised divectly in equity. Transaction
costs relating 1o the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component and are amortised over the lives of
ihe convertible instrument using the effective inlerest method,
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3.16

(d) Financial Liabilities

Recognition, measurement and classification
Financial liabilities are ¢lassitied as either held at 4) fair value through the Condensed Combined Statement of Profil and Loss, or b) at
amortised cost. Management determines the classification of its financial liabilities at the time of initial recognition or, where applicable,

al the time of reclassification.

The Mindspace Business Parks Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings and derivative
financial instruments. Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on thelr classilication as fait value through the Condensed
Combined Statement of Profit and Loss or at amortized cosl. All changes in fair value of financial liabilities classitied as FVTPL are
recognized in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss . Amortised cost category is applicable to loans and borrowings,
trade and olher payables. After initial recognition the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cosl using the Effective Interest Rate
method.

Derecognilion

A liaancial Ilability is derecognized when ihe obtigation under the liabillly is discharged or cancelled or expires. Gaing and losses are
recognized in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss when the linbilities are derccognized,

Ofisetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilitics are offset and presented on net basis in the Balance Sheet when there is a currently enforceable
legal right to olfyet the recagnised amounts and there is an intention either to selile on a net basis or fo realise the assets and scttle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash at banks and on hand, demand deposits, ether shorl-term, highly liquid investmenis with
original maturities of three months or less that ate readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 10 an insignificant
risk ol changes in value.

Statement of Cash flow

Cash flow is teported using the indirect method, whereby net profit before 1ax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a nen-cash
nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing
aclivities of the Mindspace Business Parks Group are segregated.

For the purpese of the Condensed Combined Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents censist of cash and short-term deposits,
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Mindspace Business Parks Group's

cash management,

As per para § of Ind AS 7 “where bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand form an integral part of an cntity's cash management,
bank overdrails are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents, Bank ovetdrafl, in the Condensed Combined Balance Sheel, is
included vs *borrowings’ under Financial Liabilities.
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3.19

3.20

(N

)

Lmployee benefits plan

Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS - 19 ‘Employee benefits’

Short term employee benefits

All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months ol rendering the service are classified as short-term employee benclils such
as salaries, wages, ele. and are recognised in the year in which the employee rendered the related services, The undiscounted amount of
short-lerm employee benelits expected Lo be paid in exchange for the services rendered by employees is recognised as an expense during
the year.

Long term employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to deflined contribution schemes such as provident fund are charged as an expense based on the amount of contibulion
required 1o be made as and when services are rendered by the employees. Mindspace Business Parks Groups provident fund
contribution, in respect of certain employees, is made to a government administered fund and charged as an expense. The above benelts
we classified as delined contribution schemes as the Mindspace Business Parks Group has no further delined obligations beyond the
monthly coniributions.

Defined benefit plan

The Mindspace Business Parks Group's gratuity benefil scheme is a delined benelit plan. The Mindspace Business Parks Group has
determined the gratuity liability based on internal calculation based on the number of years completed and last drawn basic salary as
mentioned in the Paymenm of Gratvity Act, 1972, The liability or assel recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
gratity plans is the present value ol the delined benelit obligation at the ead of the reporting period less the [air value ol plan assets, i’
any. The defined benefit obligation is calcutaled annually by actuaries / SPVs using the projecied unit eredit method.

The present value of the defined beneit obligation denominated in INR is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outHows
by reference (o market yieids at the end of the reporting period on governmenl bonds that have terms approxiinating 1o the terms of the
related obligation, The net interest cost is caleulated by applying the discount rate 1o the net balance ol the delined benelit obligation and
the [aie value ol plan asse1s. This cost is included in employee benelit expense in the Condensed Cotbined Statement of Prolit and 1oss,

Quher long teym employee beneliss - Compensated absences

Benelits onder compensated absences are accounled as olher long-term employee benelits, The Mindspace Business Parks Group has
determined the Lability for compensaled absences based on internal caleulation which is determined on the basis of leave credited to
emiployce’s account and the last drawn salary. The Mindspace Business Parks Group's net obligation in respect of compensaled absences
is the amount of benelit to be selited in [ulure, thal employces have carned in return for their service in the current and previous years.
The benetit is discounted (o determine its present value. The obligation is measured on the basis ol an actuerial valuation / by SPVs using
the projected unit credit method. Remeasurement is recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss in the period
in which they arise. Compensated absences which are nol expected to oceur within twelve months alter the end of the period in which ihe
cmployee renders the related services are recognised as a liability.

Statement of net assets at fair value

The disclosure ol Statement of’ Net Assets al Fair Value comprises of the [hir values of the total assets and fair values ol the total
liabilities of individual $PVs. The fair value o) the assels are reviewed regularly by Management with velerence o independent assets
and market conditions exisling ai the reporting date, using gencrally accepled market practices. The independent valuers are leading
independent appraisers with a recognised and relevanl professional qualification and with recent experience in the location, Judgment is
alsv applied in determining the extent and freguency ol independent appraisals, Such independent appraisals and the assumplions used
are reviewed at cach balance sheet date.

Statement of total returns at fair value

the disclosure of total retarns al fair value comprises ol the 1otal Comprehensive Income as per the Condensed Combined Statement of
Profit and Loss and Other Changes in Fair Value of investment property, investmenl property under construction. property. plant and
cquipment and capital work in progress where the cost model is [ollowed which were not recognised in Loial Comprehensive Income.

* l“-. \/’.;’
e
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3.21

3.22

3.23

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation, regulatory income / expense and tax

The Mindspace Business Parks Group has clecled to present earnings before interest, depreciation and amortisation, regulatory income /
expense and tax as a separale line item on the face of the Condensed Combined Statement ol Profit and Loss. The Mindspace Business
Parks Group measures earnings before interest, depreciation and amortisation, regulatory income / expense and tax on the basis of prefit/
{loss) from continuing operations.

Subscquent events

The Condensed Combined Financial Statements are adjusted 10 rellect events that occur after the reporting date bui before the
Condensed Combined Financial Statements are issued. The Condensed Combined Financial Statements have their own dae ol
authorisation, which dilfers (rom that of the linancial statements of the combining entitics. Therelore, when preparing the Condensed
Combined Financial Statements. management considers cvents up 1o the date ol aothorisation of these {inancial statements (i.e. including
those that oceurred after the authorisation date of the tinancial statements of combining entilies).

Errors and estimates

The Mindspace Business Parks Group revises its accounling policies if the change is required due o a change in [nd AS or il the change
will provide more relevant and reliable information o the users of the Condensed Combined linancial statement. Changes in accounting
policies are applied retrospectively,

A change in an accounting estimate that results in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised assets or liabilities or to profit or loss is
applied prospectively in the period(s) of change.

Discevery of errors results in revisions etrospectively by restating the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and equity of the carliest
priot period in which the error is discovered. The opening balances of (he earliest period presented are also restated.
Segment Information

Primary segment information

The primary repottable segmenl is business segments.

Business segment

The Mindspace Business Parks Group is organised into the three operating divisions - 'real estate development', “power distribution’, and
'reasury’, which are determined based on the internal organisation and management struciure of the Mindspace Business Parks Group
and its system of internal financial reporting and the nature of its risks and its returns, The Governing Board of the manager has been
identificd as the chiel operating decision maker (CODM), CODM cvaluates the Mindspace Business Parks Group's performance.
allocates resources based on analysis ol various performance indicators of the Mindspace Business Parks Group as disclosed below,

Real estate development

Real estale development comprises development ol project/property under special economic zone (SEZ), information technology parks
(I parks) and elher commeicial project/building, Afler development of the project/property, the same Js leased oul o the different
customers, ‘The Mindspace Business Parks Group has ils project/property in Mumbai, Hyderabad, Pune and Chennai. The Mindspace
Business Parks Group execules works contraets for construction of buildings based on customers specification and requircinents.

Power distribution
The stale power regulator has taken on record the SEZ developer MBPPL, Gigaplex, Sundew and KRC Infia as Deemed Distribution
Licensee for Power. The approved SPV being Deemed Disiribulor, supplies power to customers within the notified SEZ,

Investment (T'reasury)

Investment (Ureasury) comprises of the activities of intercorporate loans given by the Mindspace Business Parks Group and earning
income on such loans.

Secendary segment information

‘Ihe Mindspace Business Parks Group's operations ave based in India and therefore the Mindspace Business Parks Group bas only one
geographical segment - India.
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.25

3.26

Non-coutrolling interests

Non-controlling interesls represent lhe share of reserves and capital aliributable to the sharcholders of the SPVs who have nol agreed to
exchange their shares in the SPVs for Units of Mindspace REIT and will not become the unitholders of Mindspace REIT. Below is the
list of sharcholders of the SPVs for whaem non-controlling interest has been recognised. Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
ol subsidiaries are shown scparatcly in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss, combined Starement of Changes in
Lquity and Balance Sheel respectively.

SPY Shareholder % Holding in SPVY {As on reporting date)
KRET Andhra Pradesh Industrial Infrastructure 11.0%
Corporation Limiled
Intime Andhra Pradesh Industrial Inliastructure 11.0%
Corporation Limited
Sundew Andbra Pradesh Industiial Inlrastiucture 11.0%
Corporation Limited

Ind AS 110 requires enfities to aitribute the profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income to the owners of
Mindspace RETT and to the non-controlling interests. This requirement needs to be followed even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Ind AS 101 requires the above requirement to be followed prospectively from the date of transition.

Business combination

The Mindspace Business Parks Group accounts for its business combinations under acquisition method of accounting. Acquisition
related costs are recognised in the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilitics and contingent liabilities that meet the condiion for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition daie.
Purchase consideration paid in excess of the fair valuc of nel assets acquired is recognised as goodwill, Where the fair value of
identiliable assets and liabilities exceed the cost of acquisition, afier reassessing the fair values of the net assets and contingent liabililies,
ihe excess is recognised as capital reserve,

TThe interest of nen-conirolling shareholders is initially measured either at [air value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the acquiree's identiliable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by acquisition basis.
Subsequent Lo acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recogaition plus the
non-controlling interests* share ol subsequent changes in equity of subsidiaries. Business combinalions arising Irom translers of inlerests
in entities that are under the common conirol are accounted at historical costs. The difference between any consideration given and the
apgregale historical carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the acquired entity are recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARIKS GROUR (AS DEFINED IN NCOTE 1)
C 1 "]{: hi, .l'l'l! dal Siai 3,

Notes to Accounis

(AN amounts are in Rs. miilons unbess othurwise stated)

%A Investmend o subshdineles (Nen current)

Prarticulars Asal Asat At
3 March 31 March 3 March
2020 M 2018

Investients in oquity insirements
Unquoted Equlty shares measured at Jeomed cost
Invesimen jn subsidinries

1,540,000 Equity shiwes of Dices Realcon Pyivate Lud, Face value of Rs 10 180 180 130
each Tully prid up

141%0,000 Equily shares of Educator Prutech Private Lid, Face value of Rs 19 197 197 197
each [ully paid up»

1,280,000 Equity shares at Flappy Fastcon Private Lid, Face value of Rs 10 177 177 177
eagh fully paid up

1,320,000 Equily shares of Sampada Eastpre Privaie Lid, Free vilue of Rs 10 157 157 157

each Tully poid np

Less: Provision (o inipainnet loss {712 {12y (M

Tnvestmends measured at cost {gross) T2 2 N2
Investmends nieasured at fair value through profit or loss - - o
Tovestments measured nt fuie value through oiber coniprehensive income - . -
{ovestinents measured at amorilsed cosi -
Aggregale amount of impairment rocognised 712 712 Ml

Note:
The value of above in have been ) ly diminishied and hence Tully impaired
Particulars Al Al Ag i
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 1018
Financial assets N
Investments in cquity inatr t
Unyuored equily shaves mensured nt FYTOC]
2,000 equity shaces of Stargaze Propenties Private Limited, fce value of Rs. 10 g ] 0

vargls fully paid-up

Investnend n Governmpent Securities at amortised cost

25,000 (2] March 2009: 25,600, 31 March 2018: 25,000} 7 61% 'Central 3 3 3
Guovernment Loan (Fage value B3 100) .

1 {31 March 2019: 1, 31 Maich 2018: 1) "8.249% GO 2027 Bowl (Face value ] 3 ]
s 2,500,000}

25,000 (3 | March 2019 25,000, 31 March 2018: Mil) 7.17% Central 2 2 -

Goverunent Loan { Fage valne Rs 100)

22,000 {31 March 2019 Mil, 31 March 2G13: Mil) 7.26% Cential Governmenit 2 - =
J.oa {Fage value Ry 100)

E

22,000 (3 | March 2019: Nil, 31 March 2018 Nilj 7.06% Cenlial Goverment
Loan (Face value B3 100}

{31 March 2019: 1, 31 March 2018: Nil) 7 72% GOl 2055 Bond (Face value 1 -

Rs 1,000,000}
1 {31 March 2019 Nil, 31 Maech 2018: Nil) 7 26% GOl 2029 Bond (Face 2 = -
vilue Rs 1,400,000)

11 March 2019: Nil, 31 Manch 2618: Nil} 7 40% GOI 2055 Boud (Face 3 s -
valoe Rs 1.000,000)

o I - L 0] o
Investments mensured at cosl {gross) - - -
Tnvestments meayured at fir value through profit or loss - -
Investments measured al fair volue through other comprehensive income u ] -
Investoenty measured at anvortised cost 18 9 6

Aggrogate amount of inkpnirment recognised 4 &

Nole : The Mindspace Business Parks Group holds 4% of the equity share capiral of Stargaze Propeilies Privale Limited, a company
involved in the 1eal estate development, The Mindspace Dusiness Parks Group is of the view hst it is not able to exercise significant
influence over Stargaze Properties Private Limiled and hence it bas not been accounted using equity method




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (4S DEFINED IN NOTE 1}
Condensed Combined Finaucial Statements

Notes 10 Accounts

{AN amounty are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stated)

Non-current financial pssets

10 Othier fingneial axsets (Non current)

Particulars 0 As at Ny
M March 31 March 31 March
2020 201 2018

Unsecnred, considered good
Fixed deposits with banks * 85 220 1,053
Unbilled revenue 432 273 225

Interest accrued but nol due

- on fixed deposits - - 6l
Finance lease receivable 319 358 257
Securily doposils for development rights 9 60 50
Security Jeposiis 494 634 791
Crber receivables 6 [ 6
1,345 1,551 2,585

* Includes fixed deposits with banks held as lien against loan availed 1o support debt servicing and bank

guaraniees,
11 Deferved tax asscts (net)
Particulars As at Asat As at
31 March 31 March 3! March
2020 1019 2018
Deferred tax assets (net) 94 116 Ll
04 114 371

12 Non-current tax assets {nef}

Particulars As al As at Asat
3 March 31 March 31 March

2020 2019 2018

Advance tax (net of provision for lax) 2,534 1,892 1,368
2,534 1,892 1,365

13 Other won-current nssels

Particulirs As al As at As ot
31 March 31 March 31 Mareh
2020 2019 2018

Unsecured, considered good
Capital advances 1,016 Blo 70l
Balances with government authorities k¥ 43 95
Prepiid expenses 259 204 189
1,307 1,063 985

14  Inventorles (valued af lower of cost and net realisable value)

[,
g T As ut As at Asat
3M March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 18
Building materials and components 52 33 21

52 33 21




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financial Staiements

Notes t0 Accounis

(AN amonuis are in Rs. millions unless otherwise stnled)

158 Trade receivables

FAnigiars Asat Asat Asat
31 March 31 March 31 March
1020 2019 2018

Unsecnred
Considered good 369 301 368
Credit impaired 14 15 15
Less; loss allowance (21) (15) (15)
362 301 368

16 Loans (Current)

Particulars Asat As 3l As a1
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 1019 2018

Unsecriredl, considered good
Loans to body curporates (refer note 55) i 21,763 21,000 21,129
21,763 21,000 21,129

17 A Cashoand cash equivalents

Particulars As at As ot As st
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018
Cash on hand 3 4 3
Cheques on hand - - 4
Balances wilh barks

= in current accounts 465 232 191

- in deposit accounts with original maturity of less than thres
months 1,741 kL 9
2,209 275 207

178  Other bank balances

Particubars As af As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March

2020 2019 2018

Other balances with bank - [ 0
Fixed deposits with maturity remainimg uplo twelve nonths* 352 355 239
352 355 239

*Includes fixed deposits with banks held as Lien against loan availed 1o support debt servicing 2nd bank guarantees

18 Other Mnancial assels

Purliculars Asaf As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018

Gusecrired, consldered good
Inlerest receivable

- on loans to body corporates (refer note 55) 5,181 3,606 2,101
- o others 43 45 21
Interest secrued but not due on tixed deposils l 3 17
Security deposit for development rights 60 - -
Security deposits 22 12 11
Unbilled revenue 186 93 98
Finance lease receivable 119 133 144
Other receivables
- Considered good 151 47 26
- Credit impaired ! 1 1
Less: loss allowance (1 (1} (1)

5,763 3,939 2,418




MINDSPACE DUSINESE PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensad Combiued Flpanclal Statements

Notes to Accounty

(ALl amounts ere In Rs. milions uuless otherwise atated)

19 Other curreut sgasts

Parcticulars o Asef Angt Asat
31 Mareh 31 Mareh 31 Mpreh
2020 2019 2018

Unsoqiired, considerad good
Deposit / advence for supply of gooda and rendering of services ] 56 46
Balgnces with government authorities 14% 37 90
Prepaid expenses 165 153 168
Itavel and other advinees . ] l
a03 247 305

20 Regulatory deforral accounts

Particolars As at Asat ~  Asat
31 March 31 Mareh 31 March

2020 2019 2018

Regulatory assels 110 112 42
LI 112 42

Regulatory liabilities 46 109 156

46 109 156




MINDSPACE BUSINESS FARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financinl Statements

Notes to Accounts

(Al mmounts wee in Rs. millions uniess otherwise stated)

21 Capital

Particulars Agat Asat As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018

Subscribed and paid-up:
81,513 (31 March 2019: 81,513, 31 March 2018: 81,513 ) equily shares of Rs 10 | |

cach, fully paid-up of MBPPL

12,414,221 (31 March 2019: 12,414,221, 31 March 2018 12,414,221} equity 12 12 12
shares of Re | each, fully paid-up of Gigaplex

25,071,875 (31 March 201%: 25,071,875, 31 March 2018: 25,071,875) equity 251 25] 251
shares of Rs 1 each, tully paid-up of Sundew

1,203,032 (31 March 2019: 1,203.033, 31 March 2018: 1,200,033} equily shares 12 12 12
of Rs 10 cach, fully paid-up of [ntime

17,800,600 {31 March 2019 17,800,000, 31 March 2018: 17,800,000} equity 178 178 178
shares of Rs 10 each, fully paid-up of KRIT

588,235 (31 March 2019: 588,225, 21 March 2018: 588,235) equity shares of 6 [ 6
Rs10 each, fully paid-up of KRC Inira

11,765 (31 March 2019; 11,765, 31 March 2018 11,765} equity shares of Rs 10 [ 0 0
each fully paid-up of Horizonview
3,975,000 (31 March 2019: 3,975,000, 31 March 2018: 3,975,000} equity shares 40 40 40
ol Rs 10 each, fully paid-up of Avacado
Mindspace Business Parks REIT - Corpus 0 -
500 500 5N

Since there ure no units issued as on Jate, the capital of each SPV and corpus of Trust has been presented. Alse, the proposed breakup of units is
vurrently not ascertainable. Henee, other disclosures with respect to capital/ unils have not been made

Shares reserved for issuing as bonus shares to existing shareholders
Gigaplex in EGM dated 22nd March 2017 had approved the issuance of 7,187,179 {Seventy One Lakh Eighty Seven Thousand One Flundred
Seventy Nine only) equily shares of a fuce value of Re |, each fully paid up aggregating to Rs 7.19 millions, as botus shares lo Ihe shareholders of (he
Company in proporlion to their existing shareholding in the Company, out of the free reserves {securities premium account) of the Company. The
allotment of bonus shaies is awaiting compliance of the conditions upon which the issuance of such bonus shares has been made




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROLP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes to Accounts

(A amownts are in Rs. millions unless etherwise staied)

22

23

Instruments cntively equily in nature
Furticulars Asat Asnt Asat
31 March 3t March 31 Mareh
2020 201% 2018
1,268,326 (31 March 2019 1,268,326, 31 March 2018: 1,268,326} 0.15% 824 824 824
Compulsurily Convertible Preference Shares of Rs 650 each, fully pad up of
Gigaplex
824 424 824

Rights, entitlement and obligations of different classes of preference shares:

Gignplex has only one class of non eumulative compulsoiily convertible preference shares (CCPS) which are having a par value ol Rs 63t pur share
The holder af compuisorily converible preterence shares shall not have any voling rights excepl in mallers that will have impact on terms and
conditions ol coupulsorily convertible preference shares. Compulsorily convertible preference shares holders shall be entitled 1o preferential dividend
al the rate of Re | per share for each compulsorily convertible preference shares. Subject to availability of profit first dividend declared or paid alter
1he closing date will be considered as dividend for the period commenging frem the closing date and ending 31 Morch 2017 o1 such dale agreed Lo
folders of compulsotily convertible preference shares and the Company in writing, such that the holder of compulsorily convertible preference shares
will be entitled 1o the full amount of preference dividend and nol part only.

During the FY 2016-17, Gigaplex had issucd 0.15% compulsotily convertible preference shares which are non cumulative, mandatorily canvertible
with a term of 19 years and 364 days. As per the framework agreement, these campulsorily convertible preference shares would convert into one or
more equily share(s) The CCPS shall be converled into equily shares in tecordance with a pre-ageeed conversion formula. The shareholding of the
Investors in the Company shall be 15% of the Equity Share Capital of the Company. However, upon lulfilment of certain condilious as specilied in
the framework agreement, the Company shall allot bonus shares te the existing shareholder as referred 1o in note 21 above and consequently investor
cun subscribe 1o additional equily shares to restpre their equily shareholding to 15%

Other Equity*
Particulars Asal As i As at
3 March 31 March 31 March
2020 LI 2015
Roeservey and Surplus
General reserve 566 560 16
Contingency Reserve 13 n 8
[eemed capital eoniribution 148 244 2t
Debenture redemplion reserve - - 10
Securilies premivin 5,447 7.810 7,810
Retained earnings 13,755 7.188 2622
19,928 15810 11,250

*Refer Combined Staiement ol changes in equity Tor detailed movement in other equity halances,




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Conilensed Combined Financial Statements

Nates to Accounts

(Allamounts are in Rs, millions unless otherwise scated)

Briof description of cach reserye,

Geneval reservei

I cap e ubiiieed Disn oms i i W ansley prodit Tron relained earnings far spprapcintion purposes. As the genendl reeerve t civated Ly a tanales
linm ong component of equily w another and is not an item of sther compehensive incume, items included in the peneral reserve will not be reclassilied
subsequently 10 profit or loss

Coulingency reserv
"This reserve represents the contribulion for power business nnd retail supply business ss per the Mabarashirn Electricity [tegulatory Commission
(MERC) MY'T Order in aceordance with 1he MYT Regulations, 2013 of MERC

Decmed capital contribution

MBPIL:

I>eemed capital contribution periains to equity component of ¢.001% non-cumulative preferenee shares.

The SPV has issned 3370, 0,001 % non~cumulative, redeomable preference shares of Rs 100,000 cach

The $PV has only one class of preterence shares having a par value of Rs 100,000 per share. The preference shares do net carsy any veling rights, even
il dividend Las remained unpaid Tor any year or dividend hiss not been declared by the SPV for any year. Preferenes shores shall, subject 1o availability
ol profits during any (inancial year, be eatitled to nominal dividend ol Re | per preierence share per year

Preference shares, shall be redeemed at par al any lime at the option of the SPY, but in no event earlier than 3 years from the daie of allotment or such
other period as may be required by kwy and not later than 14 years (amended by a special 1esolmion passed al the Extiaordinary General mecting beld on
December 26, 2019 1tom 17 years) from the date of allotment or such othet period as may be required by Jaw. Dale of redemplion on or before 30th
Seplember 2020 (amended by a special resolution passed al the Extraordinary General meeting held on December 26, 2019 from 7Uh March 20243

In the event of liyuidation of the SPV | the holders of non.cumulative redeemable preference shares will have priority over equity shares in the payment
ol dividend and repaynient of capital. OF the to1al 3370 shares, 970 shares have been issued during the year 2017 - 2018 for consideration other than
cash pursuant 1o the Scheme ol the arrangement entercd inte by SPY. The liability compenent of these prelerence shares is disclosed in nole 29

Debenture redemption reserve:

The Companies Acl requires companies (hat issue debentures o cicaie o debemure redemption reserve from annual profits until such Jebentures are
redeemed. Companies are tequited (0 maintain 25% as o reserve of cuistanding redeemable debentures. The mnounts ¢redited (o the debentue
redemption reserve tay not be utilised except 10 redeem debeniures. The Company has redeemed debentures in January 2018

Beeurities premium acegunt

This reserve cepresents the premiym oi issue of shares and can be utilised in accordance with the provision of the Compunics Act. 2013

Grigiaplex

iy Free seserves (securilies premium account) to the extent of R 7 million (31 March 2019 Rs. 7 million, 31 March 2018: Rs. 7 million) have been
carmarked lor issuance of 7,187,179 (31 March 2019: 7,187,179, 31 March 2018: 7,187,179 ) equity shates of the lace value of Re 1, cach {ully paid op
apgregaling to Rs 7 million | as bonus shares o the existing shareholders of the SPYV in propertion to their existing shareholding in the SPV. The
allotment of bonus shures is awaiting compliance of the condilions upen which the issuance of sucl bonus shares has to be made

if) [ absence ol profits, noncumulative Preference dividend agpregating to Rs. 1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018 Rs. |

million} has not been recorded

MUBPPL
Refer note 46 lor wilisation of securities premium during the year in accordance with the provision of the Companics Act, 2013

Resained earnings
T'his reserve represents the cumulalive profits of the Group. The reserve can be utilised in accordance with (he provision of the Comgpanies Act, 2013

Reserve for equily instroments measured at FYTOCI

The Group has elected 10 recegnise changes in the fair value of certain invesiments in equity securities in other comprehensive income These changes
are accumulated within the FYOCI equity investments reserve within equity. The Group transters amounts [Tom this reserve 10 retained carnngs when
the relevant equity securilies are derecognised




MINDSFACE SBUSINESS FARKE GROUP (AS DEFINED [N NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Finpnein) Statements

Notes 10 Aeeounts

(Al amoutnts are in Rs. millions unless otherwise stated)

Finaneial tinkllitics

24 Buprawings

Purticulars ; Ag at Asat Asat
3 March 31 Mareh 3 Murch
2024 2019 2018
Secured
Tarms lpans
- from banks / financial institutions 63,569 56,006 49,649
[ebenlyres
Nil (31 March 2019 HNil, 31 March 2018, 3,400) 9.95% Non-converiible, - - 1
redeemnble debentures of Rs 888,000 each, fully paid-up
Preference shares
Liability compenen of 0.001% non-cumuylative redeemable preference shares 4 - 202 184
63,569 56,200 52,555

1 Deenied capitul contribution pertaining to the prelerence shares issued and related nghts, preferences and restrictions uttaching to these prelerence

shares are disclosed in note 23,

25 Other financial linbilities

Particulars As at Asat As
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 208
Sccurily deposits 1,734 [ 303 1,300
Retention money Payable
« due iy micro and sitmall enterprises 19 84 .
« others 68 44 86
lcage labilities* _]16 - -
L9497 1,491 1,580
*Ind AS 116 ‘Leases' does not have any material impact on the Condensed Combined Financial Staiements for any uf the prior years preseated
26 Provisions
Particulars Asal As at Asat
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018
Provision for eniployee benefits
- gratuiy 6 5 3
- compenspted absences 3 3 2
g 8§ 5
27 Deferred tax Nabilities (net)
Particulars As at Asat As at
M March 31 March 31 March
2020 2010 2018
Deferred 1ax liabilities (net) 2,788 1,513 1,842
2,788 1,513 1,842




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condenaed Combinod Financial Stafemenis

Noles Lo Acepunts

{All unounts ape in Rs. milllons unless otherwise stated}

28

29

30

Other non=current liabiliics
Particulars As at Asat As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018
Unearned rent 433 264 237
Other payables - . 2,041
Other advance 168 14 3
K1 178 .29
Borrowings {Current)
Particulprs Asat As ot As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 019 2018
Seeured:
Lamas vepnyable on demand
= averdrafl from banks 2,870 1.3%4 1,242
- Term loan {rom banks 130 - .
Unspenredl
Loans vepayablo on demand
«lguns ko body corporates (refer note 35) - - 34
Buyer's eredit from banks - - e
Preference shares
# Liability component of 0.0¢1% non-cumulative redeemable
preference shares 323 - -
3943 1,494 1,586

it Deemed capital contribution pertining to the preference shares issued and related nghts, preferences and restrictions attachmg to these préference

shares are disclosed in note 23

Trade payables
Particulars Asat Asal Asat
31 Mareh 31 March 31 March
2020 2% 2018
Trode Payables
- tenal outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises® 112 71 -
- lotal outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small
enterprises 711 021 741
Acceplances - . 40
823 692 81

Nete:

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are seitted in accordance wilh the contract terins with the vendors The Group has linancial risk

manngement palicies in place (o ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit (@ms.

* Dues 1o Micro und Small Enterprises (MSE) have been determined to the extent sugh parties have been identitied on the basis of information

collecied by manapemenl




MIBhEBALR BLAIWESS BARRS GBDLE (AS DEMINKY W KOFE 1)
Condunsed Comblned Financlal Sistenculs

Mutes to Accounie

(AH untounes wre i B, millicud unless otherwise stated)

31 ehiier Gl Habiilties (£'ur )

Pugtlevlars Asal As ot Asal
31 Mareh 31 Marel 31 Morch
020 019 018
“Cunent walurition of longaprm oot e s SRR s =
= from bunks / fingasciat institulions / non convertible dobentyres 6,557 3,191 4,372
Employees does payable 0 S 3
[nterost georved bul nol due on loans (o
- banks / finungial institutions 94 1o 74
- others - - l
Interou secrued s due 77 62 49
Seeurily disposis 5825 5244 4,655
Retemtion dues paysble
- <lue 10 micro and smull enterprises 121 28 -
- others 46 97 93
Book overdrall - 3
Capitul creditors
= Qther than budy corporates
- Due to micro ynd gmsh enterprises 430 261 -
- hers 1,725 660 586
Leuse linbilities* 1% . -
Other finangial liabilities 118 18 30
14,751 9,700 9,864

“Ind AS 116 'Loases does ot have any material impact on the Condensed Combined Financial Stalements for any of the prior yeers preseiled

32 Provisions (Current)

Purtivulinrs As al Ay at As at
31 Mnrch 31 March 31 March
2020 01¢ Pt}
Provision Fer cmployee benefits (refor note 26 nbuve) .
- grauily ¢ 0 4
- conipensaled absences [ 1 0
Provision fer compensation 8 = -
] | 1]

33 Other current liabllitics
Particulars Asal Asnt Asat
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 09 2018
Linearngd rent 198 |50 183
Advances received frem cuslomers 68 108 83
Statutory dues 296 392 182
Other advences 5 5 5
Other puvable 207 917 a6
y T 1,572 ELTS

1 ' -
W ¥,

W

i/
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (A§ DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

Condensed Comblned Financis) Statements
Notes to Accounis

(Al amounts are in Rs. millions unless otherwise siated)

A4  [Ievenue frown operations

Particulars Foy the year For the year Tor the yenr
ended endey ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2013
Sale of services

Facilily rentals 16,995 11,061 9,630
Maintenance services 2,838 2,624 24100
Revenue from works contract services 2,15% - -
Revenne from power supply 527 %00 461

Other operating income
Interest income from finance lease 94 97 107
Sale of surplus construction material and scrap 41 24 18
Service conmection and other churges 4 4 3
o i 17,660 14,316 12,631

35 Other income

“Particulars

For the year
ended
31 March 2020

LFor the year
ended
31 March 2019

For the yenr
ended
31 March 2018

Interest income

- on loans to body corporates 2,461 2,384 221
- electricity deposits 18 7 9
- averdue frcle receivables 2 - -
- on fixed deposits with banks 37 51 122
- o [ncome-tax refunds - 4 1
- olhers 5 16 5
Profit on sale of assets (net) 12 6 -
Royalty income 1 - -
Liabilities no longer required writien back 65 9 29
Miscellaneous incone i 4 )

2,602 2481 2,391




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1}
Condensed Combined Fluancial Stnlements

Noles to Accounts

(Al amounts vre in Ra. niillions unless otherwise staled)

36 Cost of work contract services
For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 Mareh 2018
Cost of work contract services 2,140 - .
1,140 - -
37 Cost of materials sold
Particulars For the year Tgr the year For the yenr
ended ended elided
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 a1 March 2018
Costof materiis sold g [ i i ™%
3 ! 8
38 Cost of power purchascd
Particulars For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended
31 Murch 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Cogl of power purchased 68) 617 550
643 617 550
3% Employee benefits expense
Particnbirs For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

31 Mareh 2018

Sularies and wages 62 40 M
Confributien to provident snd other funds 3 2 2
Gratully expenses | 1 |
Compensaled absences | | |
Stall wollore expanses | 0 [

(0] 44 39




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUYP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Noles to Accovnts

(Al amounts are in T millious wiless otherwise staied)

40  Other expenges . =
Farliculors ~ For the year For the year Fur the year
onded endgd ended

31 March 2020 31 Mavch 2019 31 March 2018

Repairs and mainienancs;
- building 1,804 1,738 1,537
~ plant and machinery 251 173 162
= conpulers 2 k] 1
- sfegtrical instalkstion 34 7 5
Reni 0 12 12
[Fropory tax Ky 308 365
Revally 25 - dG
Lopal and professivngl foes * am T4 t1a
Eleelyicity, water and 4tiese] charges 78 2 77
Travelling and conveyance 20 12 8
Rates and 1axes 17 3B 15
Insvrenge 4 42 10
Payment 1o auditors 23 18 11
Business support fees 443 405 156
Brokerage and commission 160 202 269
Donalion 3 3 3
Filing fees and stamping charges 30 4 346
Business prototion expenses/advertising expense 11 28 23
Bank Charges 4 2 3
Bad debts writien off 8 - -
Corporale Social Responsibility expenses 37 126 27
Miscellancous expenses 53 40 28
Itmpairment for diminution in value of investments held - 0 711
Direclors' silting fees 2 2 !
Forgign exchange loss {net) 1 - -
Provision for Doubtiul Debts (net) - - )
Project expenditure - - 3
Loss on sale of assels (net) - - !
Fixed assel written off - - 26
Inventory written off - Yy -
3,650 3,518 4176

* Legal and professional fees include amount of Rs. 14 millien for professional services rendered by auditor in connection with the
proposed initial public offering of the uniis of the Trust

41 Finance costs (net of eapitalisation)
Particulars For the year Ior (he year For the year
cuded ended ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Interest expense

- on borrowings from banks and financial institutions 6,290 5,204 4407
- on loaus from body corporates - 3 34
- on non-convertible redeemable debentures - 92 633
- on lease liabilily Is . .
- on others 13 12 14
Accretion of interest on 0.00 1% non-cumulative redeemable 24 20 15
preference shares
Unwinding of interest expenses on security deposits 197 208 481
Foreipn exchange fluctuation loss (ner) - i6 126
Other finance charges 49 17 35
Less: Finance costs capitalised Lo investment properly under {L474) (1,230} (9723
consiruction
Less: Interest allocation - - (85}

8114 4,462 4,688




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED INNOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes to Accounts

{AN amounts are in Rs. millions unless otherwise stated)

41 Depreciation and amortisation

Particulars

For the year
ended
31 March 2020

For the year
ended
31 March 2019

For the year
ended
31 March 2018

Depreciation / amortisation of property, plant and equipment 88 143 152
Depreciation / amortisation of investment property 1,057 2,053 1,902
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 | 2
Less: depreciation cost transferred to investment properties under {0 (1} 2)

construction
1,146 2,196 2,054

43 Tax expense

For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

Current tax (including previous year tax adjustments) 1,080 943 755
Deferred tax charge 1,578 86 1,514
MAT credit entitlement (including previous year tax adjustments) 279) (160) {361)

2379 919 1,968

44 Subsequent events

KRC Infra plans to commence facility management business with effect from the first day of the quarter following the listing of
Units on the Stock Exchanges under the brand name CAMPLUS for providing facilitics management services to the assets in our

Portlolio and third parties, if any, located within 1he assets.




Mimlspace Business Farks Group {As Defined In Note 13
Lol 1 L I Fi fal Biad 1

Moles o Aveonnts

(Al amounts ave in Rs. millions unless otherwise stnted)

43 Contingent linbilities and Capital commitments
Particalirs

As at As at Asal
3 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Cuntingent liabililies

Claims against the SPVs nol acknowledged as debt in respect of Income-Tax watiess (Refer note | below) excluding Yoy 271 i

interest

Claims against the SPVs not acknowledped as debl in respect of Service-Tax matiers {Reler note 2 below) m 327 327

Claimis apamst the SPVs wot acknowledged as debt in respect of Customs duty matteds (Lefer note 3 below) 25 - -

Claims meainst the $PYs notacknowledged as debt in respect of Stanp dirty G5 63 %]
- 7 fi

Hank poaramiees

Capital commitments
Istimated atiount of conliacts remaniing o be vxecuted on capitad accaunt (nel of advatces) ind ton provided for (Rete 4,502 6,799 2,440

Mot | below}

Lor the purpose of above disclosure only those contingent liabilites that existed as of 31 March 2020 have been idercd topetlier with the paraives fon the previous years endiug 31 March 2019
and 2018 inaenns of paragraph 4.3 of Anockure A of SEDI Cireular No. CIRAMUBIIF 14172016 dated 26 December, 2016 on Disclosure of fimancial nf 1on in elfer e for REIT's

MNutos:
a) Gigaples -An nppeal has been Dled for A Y. 201011 before CIT(A) against the penalty order raising demand of Rs.3 million and the appeal is pending. The company has paid 20% (Rs.0.6 million)
with a request 1o keep the d d in abeyance. As per} Lax website , there is no demand onskandiog.

() KRIT - Contingent liability of Rs. 933 million relate to AY 2012-13 to AY 2018-19 {or which company has [lcd appeals before CIT{A) agains| orders under scetion 143(3) 7 143{2} read with
section 1534 of the Act contesting the disallowance ol deduction uniler section 301A of the Incowe Tax Act, 1961, The company is hopelul of a favonrable outcome for these Assessment Years, In ease
of unfavourable decisions in appeal for AY 2012413 and AY 2018-19, the tax would be payable under nommal fax and hence, MAT credit cunenily svailable with the Company will no longer be
available. As a tesult, in addition to above e liability, ihe Company would 1equire to pay additional tax of Rs 326 million wrt AY 2019-20 and AY 2020-21 (These years are nol under
Itiggtion) because duting these years the Company has ntilised the MAT credit availed dving AY 2012-13 10 AY 2018-19.

LFor AY 200910 qnd AY 2010-11, Income tax cases on BOTA disallowances ate pending with Hon'ble MC of Telingana based on appeal filed by the depariment pgainst the ITAT - Hyderabad order,
wliich woere in favour of the Company. Fulme Cash oulflow in respect of above, i any, is determinable only ou receipl of judg £ egigions pending with relevant anthovities

(e Avacado - Comtingent liability of Rs.33 million relate to AY 2015-16, AY 2016-17 and AY 2017-18 for which company has Nled appeals before CIIEAY against order s (43(3) read wilh section
1534 ol the Act contesting the disallowances made w's. 144 and 8014 T company is hopeful of a favomalle cutcome for these Assessment Years, Jn cuse of unlavourable decision in appeal, For AY
2005 16 and AY 2016 17 the 1ax would be payable mnder MAT, which will be available For sec-off agaiost ax linbility of fuwne yews. For AY 201748 additional s payable would be set-olT agains
AT credit of carlier years

? 5V As al Asal As al
3 Mareh 2020] 3 Mareh 2019 31 March 2004
MRPPL 92 92 a2
Sundew 2 2 2
lutine 4] a2 42
RRIT 189 121 k|
Avhicinli # - =
333 327 Rn7

MBPPL : The SPY has reccived show eause and demand nolices for melusion in taxable value amounts teceived us reimbuesement of electiicity and allied charges and demand service 1ax there on of
Rs 92 million. SPV has filled appropriste replivs to the show canse and demand notices,

Sundew : Demand Tor Non Payment of service Lax on reoting of filouts and equipments Rx.2 Millian and Demiaid for Iterest and Penalty onaccount ol wiong availment of credit of service lax prarid on
inpul services Rs.0 win . SPV has (iled an appeals with CESTAT and maiter is pending,

Intime £ Demand Tor Non Sayment of service tax on renting of ftouls and equipments Rs 21 willion and Dematid for Service Lax on elocty ieity and water and invegulin svailwient ol erodit of servige g
ywidd on inpul services Rs 20 willion, SPY bas filed an appeals with CGSTAT and mattet is pending.

TKRIT : Denand {or Non Payment of setvice kax on enting of fitouts and equipments Rs 96 million and Demand for Service 1x on elechicity and water and irregular aviilnent of credil of service tax
yrniel o iuput services Rs 93 million, SPY has liled an appeals with CESTAT and matter is pending

Avsenda @ The SPY has received an order dated 21 Jameary 2018 d by the & 55 (Appeals), conlinning the service tax demand of Rs. 7 willions {excluding applicable i and
peoally thereon) on renting of immovable popeny services provided (o lenants dwing the period Aprl 2008 10 Mugh 2011 The Company has tiled an Appeal before the Cusloms, Cemtral [xeise 8
Service Tax Appellate Tribunal, The watter is pending adindivation

Tor the subsequent period Aprl 2001 10 September 2011, the Company has received a Show Cause eum Demand Notice dared 22 October 2012 alleging non-payment of service tax of Rs. | millions
(eacloding applicable interest and penalty thereon} on yenting of immovable propenty services provided o tenanis, The Company has [iled its dewsiled 1eply on 24 December 2012, No funhel

corTes) hits been ived in this case,

p

Ior buth the wbove matters, SPY has filed applications in Forn SVLDRS-1 under the Sabka Vishwas (Legacy Dispute Resolution) Scheme, 2019 The Final Order for the same is pending

k) Customs duty demand at the tine of debonding of assets fiom the Software Technology Parks of India schieme { STT1 ) Tor Intite Rs 16 1million and KRIT Rs, % million

4 The 812V wise details of cupitil commitiments we as follows:

As il Asal Asat
31 March 2020 | 31 March 2019 | 3] Mareh 2018

MBIPL 342 I 246
Ciignples 215 1,382 1,340
Stinlew 872 1,298 108
KRC lulia 1,583 2,109 41
Hovizanview 780 1,8% -
KRIT 381 N 5
123 3 5

Avacado

4,502 0,7 L.d40
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Avacido

A Sun has been fiked in the venr 2008 by Nush Neville Wadia (PlLainiil) against lvory Propenties and Howls Frivate Limited (Ivory) & (ihers wingh wilides the Company ss ong ol the Loleqdins
intet alin n sespect of the land and the Pwadipm’ Indusirial Fask building of the Company “The PlaimiVbas payed against the Company ol the said Tvony restaining e o canying oue Tl
consivuction or any ofher agtivilty on the Tand (on which the builiing Paradigm is coustrucied), demofition and remaval of ithe sticiutes on the said land, appoititnent of' a Court Receiver in respest ol
the snid Land and Poradigm building, declaring e MOGUs - Agreements entered inlo by the Company wilh Tvory and the Plainuif as voidable snd having boen avoided and rescinded by the Planinfl and
10 s delivered up snd cancelled, resuaining from alienating. encumbering or parting wilh possession of struetires and resiraining. fiom dealing with, creating licsh Jeases / licenses or rencwing, lease ¢
license in respect of the said Pavadigm building and from receiving of tecovering any 1enl / license ke / compensation in respect of the said leases / licenses, deposiling all the rents in the Court, eie

The Count bas not ziwnled any sd-interin reliel o the Flaintitt. The Compainy has iiled it reply 1o the said Suit dengiig the allegations and praying that o interin relief be gramed 1o e PlaintiIl The
Conpany i ts reply has also (aken up & plea that issue of hmitation should be decided as a preliminary issue betag any intorim reliel conld e granted to the Plaintifl. Putsiaot 1o the Plaing’s
application for expedited heaning of the case, the Han'ble Nigh Count Bombay “vide an Ondler dated 19092013 anel 200972013 feuied the issue of limitation under section 9 { A} o' Cude of Civil
Procedue t be vied s (o jirisdiction for the maintainability of the suit and directed the PRintiT o tile an aflidavit in liew of examination in chict of the fist witness on or belore 17/HI/2003. Fursuam
1o thre PlhonndTs SLE i e Supremie Cowrt challenging the Ovders of the Ulonble igh Count dated 19092013 and 20/0%2013, the Uon'ble Snpreme Cowt vide its Order dated 08/10/2013 stinyel the
aperation of the wioresuid Orders and Rnther proeeedings in the igh Cowt Suit Mo, 414 0" 2008, Thercailer the Lon'ble Supreme Court Ly s Onder dated 25 August 2005 has celerved the said L o
a ew Juchee Bench o be posted alony with L1 ( €) No. 22438 o 2015 The SC by its Order duted 12,12 2018 disposed ol the suid SLI7 os infiuciwous in view of deletion ol Section 94 of the Civil
Procedure Cade by the Mularashita Act 61 of 2018 on 29182018 In view of the subsequent awrendnent by the State of Madarashin to the saicd provisions, pusuant 1o (e Pentivners appliciation o
custone e 31LP by cancetliog the Order doted 1212,2008, by Judgement dated .10 2019, theee Jodge Bengh ol the SC lield that w 94 CPC (Malishitra) questin al limitatian ol be decidad as
a preliminany issue as wunisdicuon. The SLP, application for interim rehel and the Ligh cowt Suit vre peading for ihe Tnal kemng. Based on an advice obtained Jrons e indspendent Temil cimngel,
(he mimzgreent is condident ot the Company will be able to suitably dedind and ihe mnpagt, ify, on the Ind AS 1i il s vun be o ned on dizposal of the alove Petition

Forther, the Manaifl; through his scvocutes & solicitons, had addtessed letier dated Febivary 13, 2020 inchuding 10 Mindspace REIT, e Manager, e Trustee, de Spansors, Avacado, My, Raui
Ratwjit, Mr. Neel ¢ Rahwja, Mr Cloudiy L. Raliej. lvory Propertios and KRCPL. expressing his abjection tu he proposed Offer and any actions conceening the railding Paradingm Jucated al
Mindspace Malil projeet. The allegations and gy erents iade by the Plaintillhave besn responded and denizd by the nidiessees, Twough thetr advogates & soheitors. No dother conespoudence s

lcen pgeived

Porsnan 1 1he levy of service wx on renting of lumovable propertics given for commervial use, renospgclively wilh effect fiom | June 2007 by the Fimance Act, 2010, sonwe ol the lessees o whow the
Company bas Lt ont ils premises, have based oo a legal advice, chalienged e said levy and, intet-alia, its tenosprective upplicaion anud withheld payrment of service (% (o 1he Copany, bised o
certain judicial prononncements and stay orders granted by approprizie High Counts fiom time 1o time. Further w this 1egard the Hon'ble Snptenw Comt has passed on inderim order dated 141
October, 2011 in Civil sppeal nos 8390, 8391-5393 of 2011 und in comphiance of which, such lessees have deposited witl appropriate sullivrily n 3 installents, 30% of the anant soeh secvice tax
not s paid by them upio 30 September 2017 and hive Gunished surety for the balance 50% of the anounl of service lax and whicl womn s alse been deposited byt witl the authornties
Further as per Hon'ble Supremne Counr's Ovder dated Sth April 2013 in Civil Appeal No. (s) 44872010, the malter is deferred windl disposal of the issues pending belre the nine judgss Bench m
hlineral Argo Development Authority and others

In view of e above and subject 1o the (inal orders beiug passed by the Hon'ble Supreme Courl in the atresaid appeals, there may be a comtingent Iability on the Company i respect of interest
payable oun account of the delayed payment ol service tax. which amonut would be recoverable fiom the espective lessees by the Conypumy’

KRC Infra

In vespeet o the Compuny's project al Village Kharadi, Pone, o special sivil suit is filed. The suil filed by Ashok Phuolebawd Blandan apoinst Bakisabel Lioanan Shivale and 29 otlers in tespect ol initer
Al undivided share adimeasuiing 4415 Ares ont ol {he End bearing $, No 63 Nissa No. 3 for declmation, specilic perfornmnce, mjunction and oiler reliels Meather Gera Dovelopnems Puvale
Lotued noe KRC Infiasivneture and Projects Private Limited is a paity (0 the aforementioned suit il neither of them base filerh any inrervention application. “Thene are v grders passed unthe omien
atfecting e suit lands o1 the development trereof or restesining the tanster or development of ihe the aloresaid Land i any imaoner whiatsovwver,

MUELPL

Lursuant 10 the demerget and vesting ol the Cominerzone Undertaking of K aheja Corp Pet 1Ad (KRCEL), in the Company MBPPL, the company MBPPL is the owner 12 the exlent ol B8.16 ¥
andivided right tide and interest in the lnd bearing S, No 144, 145 Yerwada, Pune which is comprised in the said Undentaking, " Shrimant Chhatrapat Udayan Raje Bhosale £ the Plaont 1) has filed
a Special Civil Suit bearing No 133 of 2009 in the Comi of Civil Judge, Senior Division Pune agaitist the erstwhile land Qwner Slii Muknnd Blavan Trust (whe had entrosted development rights to
MBPEL) and the State of Mabarashiia, clanning 10 be the owner of the sand lanc). The Tonble Cowt was pleased to reject the Application for amendnwnt ol plaine diledl by the Plaintil aud aliow the
Third Panty Applications on 14 11,2016 The Plaintill has filed two wiit petitions beaing Mo, 44152007 and 4268/2017 i the Bombay High Court challeagiog (he afmesaid oders pussed on
14112010 e malier was tamslerred 10 another Covrt for adminisirative reasons and adjcuned vo several occasions for compliance of the order by the Plainidll Cn Sth barch 2018 the Advocale
fior the PRI filed 2 preshis on tecord stating (hat since e dovs non have aiy instictions in he ntier Gom the Plainilf, the Wakaluoai is being withdvwo Ly hing e e ngiien was posted o
Sl Aareh 2018 On 20th Mareli 2018 the Hon'ble Coutt was jleased b adjonsn the watter tiE 22nd Jwe 2018 sinee he Advoeate lor the Plaintill'bad withduaa the YVakalamang and the Plamhil
wits ot rypresenied by any Advovite. Wed Petition No. 441572007 and 4268/2017 filed in the Hon'ble Bambay High Comt challenging the sidgrs dated 14 November 2006 by Shivant Chasapati
Unryamaje Bhosale against Shui, Mokund Bhavan Trost and others came up R lieaing on 28 Noveber 2017 wherein the Advacale fl the Petitionen uiclentvok 1o surve the copy of the petition on
e Respondent Nu. 2 e $tate of Maharashiza and e Hon'ble Hhigh Comt was pleased 10 adjovm the sine 1l 1o 01 2003, 20 12 2018, 22062008 On 2200, 24018 the Advocale fa the Delendan
Mo 1 filed a purshis staling that the Defodant No. 1 {a} expired. matter was fnther adjourned 1l 24.10.18, 26,1118, 21 12,18, 102201, 25 00 2000 and 15002079, 15062019 2208 201y,
19,00 261% On 19 09 2019 the nitter has been stayed by te Hon'ble Count ond Fanber posted on 111720149 lor compliange of the order duted 14112006 by the Plaintilll The matter s been staywl
under Se¢ 10 of Code of Civil Procedure. The mutter has been Tuther posted on 07.04,2020, Boih the Wil Peblions were posted on 2009 18, 111018, 2200 18 and fuether posted on 10,0619 Ry
Admission. “The matter has been firther posted on 25.06. 2020, In the management's view, as per hegal advico, considering the watter and (e fiicts, no provision live Ay loss ¢ liabiliny s presemly

rerpured 1o be made

Mabaashits State Eleciicity Distribntion Company Limited (MSEDCL} had sent a letter and subsequenly, a show cause sutice s wlhy the K, Rabega Cowp Pt Lid, (IKRCPLY (ol whicl ihe
Conunerzone Undeviaking it demerged in ithe company MIIPPL) should nol be penalised for alleged lnying of cable withoul olitaining proper permigsion frem the Pone Municipal Corporation (PMC)
and levied a penaly of Rs, 23,05 Millions on MBIPL. MBIPL has adequately tesponded ta such allegations. Pune Municipal Corporation has issued 1o WSEDCL (with 4 cupy 1o MIEPPL and
Lanchashil Corpormie Bark Py Lid, ) {Panchasil) statmg at the penalty has been waived however, since iherc bas been a violation of PMC approved trenching policy the penally of Bs 4 86 anllions is
10 he pard by Panchasil and MBPPL. MBPPL has received letier from MSEDCL sddiessed 1o MOPEL aud Fanchashil 10 pay penalty chiarges of Rs. 1.86 Millions and complete the bakwee cable Taying
work an priorily by observing rules and regulanens of MSEDCE with due pernnssion rom I'MC KRSEDCL sent a letter 1o Panchashul and MBPPL providing the hifincation of penally o Rs 4 56
Millions and requesiing Panchashil and MBPPL 1w make the payneni at the carliest. MBPPL has seat s reply lotier dated infornsing MSEDCL that MBPPL is ol Tiable w0 pay penably ol Ry 314
titlions and in respect ol the penaly of Rs. 1.72 Millions, MBPPL and Panchashil aie both jeintly Liable ty pay the same MBPPL has further requested MSEDCL 0 confinn on the sane W enable
MBPPLL and Pancliashil 1o discossiegatinte on the some. 10is Tearnt that Panchshil made the payment of Rs. 4 86 Millions as penalty charges o MSEDCL and sompleted te work of Laying cabls Mo
provision 15 considered necessary al this siage

The Coampany 15 snbjeet 10 other legal preveedings and claims. which live ariscn in (he vrdinmy cuurse of business, The Company's ninagement does nol 1easonably expeet than these lepal actions,
wlien ultimaiely concluded and determingd, will have o material sid adverse effeet on e Company”s resulls of opecations or fisaneral combion

MBPPL peceived a oo ication (alleged reminder) fiom Pune Momcipal Coxporarion (PMC} demanding an amount of Rs 15698 Milhons allegedly due from MI3PPL based on ohigcuans by
internal audit report of Pung Municipal Corporation. MUPPL, has submilted a letter denying all allegation of I'MC, as MBPPL has not been served wilh ainy document relereed 1o ihe said PMO lelter
Subsequently MBIPL add J g nore o ication stating Lhat MBEPL would be in a position w submit thed reply upon weeipt of the details oFsmmi denuinded as per ivir reply subnutied

which states that iFany principal owstinding is duc/iecoverable, MBPPL agrees (o uuke the said paymznt and sought delailed clnification on the inkerest amom
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In aceond witlh the S¢l of arvang which was approved by Hon'ble Andbra Pradesh Bigh Coun on 23 &urey 2007, the Indwawial Pare T and T wodernakings o K Raheya 1} Pk
{Hyderatuds Laited (o ly known 2s K Qaliern U Pack (Hpderadad)y Povave Linned) ("KRIT™Y Dave been denerged amd vesied i the Company with efleet hou the appomicd dile ve Ul
Septaember 20

Tl Comgrny bl acouinedd dhe Land ab badlbapur, Hyderabid as part of the demwrger seheine Gom KEET The said Land is to liee ol the eooploymient oppostaites o be gensrated by KRUT and onlers
Ve Daliliny, i1 sy, anising due 1o (he obligntion (o crente the jolr opporumties for the enting larger land of which the above propeny is i pati. contintes 1o be renmited by KRIT as ot 31 December
P ol

Dudng die yean ended 31 Mareh 2010, Telmgana State Industrial Infiastioetwe Corportion Limited ("TSHC™) bas retamed the wigind Buok Guarastees o KRI'T and also conlirmed 1o the bank thal
TSI willl v eladnn any sauount Do the bank wdey the Bank Guarintees wed the ank is redicved of its olligniioa. lence, nu liabilily i3 vecopsed owands the pice ol twe plon of land

An ungonditonal obligation to pay amownts due to Andlea Pradesh Indostoal Infastucioe Corporation Linnted ("APHC™Y i respeet of APHC's claims o losses due to any dilitience o values
partaining 1o sale wansactions of the project undenaken by the Company. Losses incurred by the Goverrment TSHC wots JY Company, i any, will be paid in full by K Kaheja Corp Pea Lid and i bas
finished 1o the Company i wiitiog agreeing amd admitting Lability © make such payment to Governmen/ TSILC, the sharcholdling patiern ol the Government/JSIC in the IV Canpany and Uve
enwzed company will non change as a result of gonversion from Privaie io Public, the Goverment £ 'TSHC equity of 11% will veimamn the sanw i e Company and all the demenzed companics nd
Tusthier in fiture, Governmwnt £ TSTI will not be asked 1o infise further cash o maimtain s 1% siake

Giauplex

Bl Ciwil Suil Lo Treen Giled befire the Hon, Civil hadge (110 Vashi a0 Cenoal Busingss Disnict by an Edueation Society ("the Planii™) who iz claiming ghts n existing schonl slioctme,
claiving its wea as SO0 square meers and i exisionce since more than 30 years, secking an injunghion nel w disp him. The Company has tiled s 1eply opposing the Plindifl™s pavers, Adler
Tty the partics. the o' ble Judge s the Vashi Count bad rejected the Flaintil™s Injunction Applicanon by Orvder daed 2008 18 (Ocder). Thercaller the Plainlill has Gled an appeal w Thawe
Dastrct Cowid (o view, the esti of possible obligation arising oul ol the same is remole, hence v provision s been taken

WRIT

The Company had emtered into an undertsking, dated 15 Cebraary 2014 along with Intime Propenties Limited (*IPL™ o1 “demerged conpany™’) and Sundew Propeilies Limited {“SPL” or “demenged
connpanyy ), wherein the Compony bas undentaken an uncouditional shligation to pay amounts due (o Andhea Pracesh nduswisl lafasioctuce Corponstion Limied (APTIC™Y in respeet ol AMICs
clanns of Insses due 1o any dilerence in values penaining 10 sale wansactions of the project wndenaken by the Conpany. The liability of the Corpany is joinl and several with 1PL and SPL
management belicves that the probabalily of e labdity, o any o aceownt of above mestioned wnderiking is remote and ol marerial, Fanther, the Coanpany g in process ol fomishing s additonal
wndlertaking (o Telangana State Indusiial Infiastmeture Corporation Linuited (TSTICT on 24 Oclober 241 6 thal the losses incunied by the Govemment £ TSIC in its JY Company. ifany. will be paid in
full by K. Raheja Corp Pt Lid amd it has Rmishied 10 the Company in writing agrecing and sdmitiing Rability to make such payment 10 Government / TSHC, the sharcholding patiern of the Governmen
STEMIC in the )V Company and e Demerged compaty will not change a5 a result of conversion Bom Privale 1o Public, the Govemment £ TSHC equity o 1% will remain the s v ihe Company
anch all the demenged compames and farther i it e, CGovernmuent £ TSHE will el be asked 10 infuse donber cash o maintnn s 1% stoke

Daring e provious yean the Company had made o deposit oFTHE 2080 millions v TSI, caleulaed on e basis of lugher ol the losses abserved by TSHC Inemal tilee mend Conmultee Report and
st K Nanasita bluithy, Cost dccountanr Repont, which will be adjusted against any loss o reliwoded as per the decision of Govermnent/ FSIIC ou finatisation of the said losses, The said deposit was
macle withont prejudice o the clwim that the vanisfer of linds were miade at the prevailing market prices as pec the decrsion taken an (he megimg ol the Bowd of Dicects in the presence of APIC
ninee and wicler a IS | The Congpany had received inimation ibom TS0 that an external agency Das been Tanher appoinied 10 re-cstimate the yresaoed loss el by the

Goverment £ TSUC in the project. The report fion such agency is awiiled

AW petition s been Dled against the Company in e High Counl of Judicamne of Andhio Pradesh an Hyderakad willi resprect 10 specilic use of the lamd admeasaeing 4,500 square yanls, canmaked
as plat 18 Pursuant 1 i, the Comn has passed an Oreber By no constrnelion sctivity on the suid ploc of End von! fimher orders of the Comnt. “The Compauy has liled os reply and also sought
expeditious hearing. The natter is pending for disposat by ihe High Cowt Based on the Fiels ol the ease, the managenent does ol expect any liability aud is ol the opinion that no provision needs 1o

Ire 1mipche

Horizowyiew

WS Inddwstrics (Iodia} Limited 0" WSUL™ has (Gled a wiit penition before the Madias High Count agamst (e Disioel Revenwe Officer, Tlarovallue (*DEO™ and 1% Jeyapal Sfe B Peunalsamy
(devapal”) seckmg dirgetions for qu: a nolice duted May 25, 2007 issued by the DRG and Additional Disnict Judge ("Notice™ ). The Motice was issued by the DRO con Addinnasl District
Judge on o complaint presented by Jeyapal alleging, (hat Jands were handed over to WSILL on cetlain conditions, and instead of using such kands for common purpose, WSIIL has been using the lands
lir conmercial pupose. WS is the erstwhils ovener of the lond. a portion of which was snbsequently sold and fransferved by WSIIL 1o ceitain eotities. [odizonview has been granted developinent
vights over such land “Lhe hadvas Hiph Court, by its order dated Juie 5, 2017, has geanted interim stay, The wialter is pending befre the Madias High Court. Neither RPLL Signalling, Systens Linated
{he present owier of the land a1 Por being developed by Honzomnview Properiies Private Limited) nor Horizonview Properties Privale Linnied is a party 1o e aforementioned suil
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KL balrn
10 tarins of wn agresiment eniored inlo with & puity duging the Gnaoeil yewr ended SMargh 31, 2007, KIRC Infia hos acquired certmn pancels of longd situtod in Khatadi renr Pune, Mabarashin (G which

e consideration was Lo be dischorged by wiy of KRC Inlia consoueting and giving (ree of cost o building KRC Infia, in its books of aecount Jor the year wided hlarch 31, 2007 accounted fin i
anount of R, 16 million andl the stomp duty amonnt of 113,162 millions as the vost of acquisition ol the lond. The estinwted cost ol constuction of the building ta be lnnded over as part consileition
16 the seller of land was oot accounded in the books. Hlowever, the actnal cost of constzoction of (he above building, as aml when incurred, was accounted as Investnien] property wnder coistuetion /
Inventory in the respective years vnded March 31, 2017 to March 31, 2019, KRC Inlta has now, in the finaneial year 2019-20 cartied out the accounting with respect 1o the above purchase of hnd by
recopusmye (he liability towards ¢ost of land al an estimted cosl of Rs 1880 millions under Tnvestment property under consiiuction by making provision for unspent amonnl in ofhey payables mthe

(inancial statements for the year cuded March 31, 2017 and the subsequent financial years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 o the extent idlered y The liany impract of 1his is given in the
Coud 1 Combined Financinl 81 nts,
Harizoniew

In terms ol devedopment agreenent enteved into with a party in the earlier year, Horizonview has nequited cerain development rights w Porar, Cliennai [or wiich the vonsideration was payable by an
wpliont payment and partly by way of Horzonview constiucting centpin area ol bnilding free of cost tor and an belall of such pany. Thaizonview, in ils books ol sceount bas accounied bt an mnonul
of s 160 willion as a cust of such development rights, The estimated cost of cunstrvction of the buildiug © be construeted in considuration foy acquisition ol the said development viglts, was oo
accomited in the books. However, the acinal cost of construction ol ihe above building, as and when ingwied, was being accomsted and shown under hivesiment properly winler constiuction i the
respeetive years Gl March 31, 2009 Horizonview has now, in ihe fnangial yen 2019:20 carvied oul the accounting with réspesl to the above developmeni rights based on the estimated cost off
construction being Rs. 1678 million with respeet to the said development rights by recogaising the liability in e Fnancial stalements or the year ended Parch 31 2007 am the subsequent Tangisl
years ended March 31, 2008 and 2019 10 the extem considered necessary, The resultant inpact of'this is given in the Condensed Combined Fi ial § %

IHY D

The Bl 6F Lneckurs of e Company in Bieil tseuting dited G Outuber 2012, had possed o wsulwinn i seduetin of capital of i Compiny undv seetion 86 of The Companies Acy, 3013 by
allsetting balance in 'sccumulaled fosses’ as ol June 30, 2019 against balance in “sevutities premium azcomnt’ "Flie same was approved hy the shareholders in the Extracidinary General Meeting held
an ) i Octeber 2019 and the Company hud filed the necessary petition (Pelition™) with the National Company Law Tribuial ¢"NCL1™) on 24th October 2009

NCLT has approved the said petition on 12(h March 2020, Section 66 of the Companies Acl, 2013 provides that once the capiial redustion seheme bas been approved by the NCLT, o centified copy of
e order needs 1o be filed with the Rogisiar of’ Companies (ROC), pust which the ROC shall register and issue v certificate 1o that eflect. Reeeipt of the eentified copy of the approval ol NOLT was
delayed on account of lockdown due 1o COVID=19. The Compny reeeived the cenified copy approving the Petition on 28ih Muy, 2020 and bes filed the same with ROC on 6th June 2020, The
Campany has ieceived the cerlificate from the RGC on 1 1th Juoe 2030 Accordingly, Conpany hus given effect of the schowe in financsals for the year ended Mareli 31, 2020

A t of possible impact resulting fewn Covid-19 pusdensic
I geronavirns (Cowd 19) outbreak has impavied businesses plobally in various frms and magnitade. In India as well. the enwrgancy nwasuies, m lanu of logk-down, inposed by contial aml stale
povemnents (o conloin e spresd of Covid-19 pandemic have led Lo disiuption of businesses and cealioimie aghvity

The Managenent is closely monitoring the impact of coronavitus pandemic on all agpects of'ils invesiments and operations, including its liquidity position, recoverability/carmying values of its tade
receivables. business and ather advances, inventory, property. plant and equipiment, investment property (inchiding under construction propertics) anal Joang given as al balance sheer date The
Mamageent has azsessed this impact and ftwe uncerlaintics resulting fiom Covid-12 pandemic based on e information available Ul the date of approval ol these linancial stateiments, cluding
drseussions with vindous stakeholders, views from experte and industry participants, forecnsis by various agencies snd oiganisations, market estinutes, ete. The Manag, I, bused on | and
corvent estunaces expects that the carrying atount ol ils ussels ss 1ellested in the balance sheet as a1 March 31, 20240 will be recovered. “The actal iapact ol Covid-19 pandemic on the business
operations sy, however, differ from Ut 1 by the M ay at the date ol approval ol these finuncial siatements. Dae to the evolving watre of the pandenic and its respouse by vatits
government anhaities, the Management will continue 1 moniter developnients (o identify signilicant wiceriainties In finyre periods ihat may hive a1 impact on our uperations
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AMINOSIACK RUSINGGY RARKS GUEOLE (AS DEFINED 1M NOTE 1)

‘_\ 1 1 “ ™
Notes (o Acqounly

d i
¥

1l Stal f

(Al ameunty are n Bs. milllons unloss otherwisz slated)

A% Seginent inlertmtlon

The Gitenp is vrgnuisod ity the thiee operating divisions - 'real eataty developinont, 'pawes distribution” and ‘regsury’, whish are deteninnid bussd o he intarsal orgunisation
and snanagenvent structuce of the Group and its sysiom of internsl fnancial rgporting and ihe nguure of its risks and its vewns. The Goveming Boud vf the monager has Leen

L on

idemtified a5 Me chiel opcrating Jecision maky (CODMY CODM evaluates (he Group's perfonnnnce, T

the: Group us disclosed below

Primary segment informatlon
The primary 1epariable soginent is

k

Renl estade dovelopmeni

ts of various performance indicalors of

Real esinle development comprises development of projeci/property undw special cconomie zone (SEZ), informetion technology parks (IT pawks) and ather sommercial

pggecbnildmg. Aler develo)

Chennai. The Group hes also exocuted works contracls for constraction of buildings based on customers spagification and requitements

Power distribunion

of the projexifproperty, the same is leased ont to the different custoiners. The Group has ils project/propenty in Macabai. Jyderabad. Puse amd

The siale pawor regulotor biee taken on tecord the SEZ developer MBPPL, Gigaplex and KRC Infra gs Deemed Disaibution Licensoe fon Power. The approvied SP'Vy being

txeemed Distribulor, supplics powor 1a cuslomers within the nolifisd SEZ.

Invesiment {(reqaury)

Iiwestnient (Ireasury) eam)rizos of the activitios of inlarentoratg losns given by the Group ond sarning insome on sueh laaus

Mirch 2018 — . e R i ———
Real osiple Power dlsivibuilon Tovedtmond Lnnllgeabl Tnler segment Total

Partlenburs = | hevolomnent | (tressury} | ellmisation ;
Sepment 1evenue 12,165 o0 ] - (20%) 14,508
Sepment resull 4,604 (76) 2211 (1,249} - 1,580
Finance cost - - 4,207 B 4,207
Enployee banelin expenses - - - k1Y - m
Intireost come £ othey income - 1 - 183 - 184
ol / (Loss) bolvre tux 6,094 {13 2211 (5,312} - 3,518
Tax - - - 1,008 - 1,908
|Profit/ (Loss) alter fux 6.6M {75) 2211 7,220} - 1.610
Other Informution

SeEment assels 56,496 1487 23230 3,525 - 34,738
Segment lisbilinies 11,181 nr - 60,065 - 71165
Capital expeniditure 4,45 1] - - 4431
| Depreciation & anyorli 1,920 134 = - . = | 2,054 |
Muroh 2009

Real einte Power distribution lavestovent Unslleculte Inter segment Tuink

Particulnrs dovalnpment {tronaucy) | olhwiwetion |
Segmenl 1evenie 13,8006 T8 2,84 - (212 16,636
Segrment iesull 8,178 oty 2,84 240 - 16,21y
Finsance cost - - 4,254 - 4,254
Lployee benefit expenses - - - 4 44
| {1 £ other i - 1 . 100 . 101
Prafin / (Loss) before tax 8,178 {10} 2384 {4,480) - 6,073
Tax . - - 919 - u1g
|Prolit / {Loss) afier tax o 8.178 {10) 2,384 5.399) - 5153
mllrlufnrmnlhm

Seprent assels 62,387 1,458 24,606 2,986 . 91437
Seyment linbilivies 9,803 263 - 02,901 72,967
Cupital expendiiore 7,940 o5 - - . 2,035
Depreciation & amorti 2,064 132 - . 2186




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1}

il Stai

C 1. A C [ I F!
Notes te Aetounts
{Al nmounts are in s, millions wnless otherwise stuted}

March, 2020

Real cstate Power disiribuilon Investmend Unalliocable Inter segment Total
Particulars development {treasury) elimination
Segment reveie 17,223 692 2461 - (234) 20,122
Segnem resul 10,477 (10 2,461 373) - 12,555
Finance cost 197 7 - 4,910 - 5,114
Employee benefit expenses . - . 68 - 68
Inierest income / other income - 4 - 141 - 145
Profit f {Loss) before tax 19,280 (13} 2,461 {5,210) - 2518
Tax - - - 23719 - 2,379
Profil f {Loss) after tax 10.280 (131 2461 {7.589) - 5,139
Other Information
Seginent assels 78,070 1,712 26,944 5498 - 112224
Seginent liabilivies 10,831 1,146 - 77332 - 29,309
Cupiral expenditure 16,275 254 - 16,529
D intion & amor b 1,073 73 - - - 1.146

Sciondary segment information

’I'Ilc Group's upel ations are based in India and therefore the Group has only one geographical segment - India.

are in line with accounting policies of the Group. In addition, the foll

vg speeific

Sepment includ directly attribulable to the szgment
Revemie and exp directly atiributable to segments are reporied wnder respective reportable segment.
Revenue and expenses which are not atiributable o1 ble to have been disclosed wnder 'Unallocable’.
Borrowings snd fnange ¢ost of the Grovp are d as ‘Unallocable’ and disclosed imder 'Unallocable’,
SPY wise revenue from major cust 5

For the year ¢nled
Entity 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Avacado 629 582 495
Gigaplex 825 910 820
Intime 699 677 655
KERC Infra 72 - -
KRIT 1,245 1,042 900
MBPPL 621 661 573
Sundew 471 406 333

EF

s have been followed for segment reposting:




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUDP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Cundensed Combiined Finnnginl Stviements

Nuies (0 Accounts

(AN amounts ace in R, mbllions viless otherwise sinled)

Additional financiul disclosures as requlred vuder parn 4 of SEBI civeulay CIRAMDAF141/2016 daied 26 Decembor 2016

49 Sttement of Property Wise vental/Qperating incoma

5.No Entily Nanwe

TR Kd;ﬂdspacc Business Parks Private Linlilc:d—(ﬁ_lj_ﬁ’l.)

Proporty Name

Mindspace Aleli
(Fast)

and Other
Operating
income

Rental incame
and Other
Qperating
income and
Tevenue (Toin
pawer supply

Rental income

For the year endled

31 March
2020

RT3

31 Mareh
PRy

3t March
20138

1320

3 Mindspﬂcc Busingss Parks Private Limited {MBPPL)

Mindspace
Pacharmn

Renlyl income
ang Other
Operating
Ineome

130

13¢

138

3 Mindspace Business Parks Privute Limiled (MBPPL)

Commerzong
Yerwada

Rental income
and Ollwr
Operaling
ncame

1,611

1,427

1,316

r Mindspace Business Parks Povate Limited (MBPPL)

The Square,
Nagar Road

Rental income
and Other
Ciperating
ngone

I

740

243

5 Gigaplex Estate Private Limited (Gigaplex)

Mindspace Airoli
[ Wesl)

Rental ingome
and Other
Operating
income and
revenue [rom
power supply

2,269

1,947

1,396

6 |Sundew Properties Linuied (Sundew)

Madhapur

Rental meome
aid Qthser
Operating
neme

2,992

2,910

2722

7 |Inmitne Properties Limited (ntinte)

—" Madlupu

Rental incoms
and Othor
Gperating
ncome

1,280

1.178 |

1135

4 k. Rabejo I'U Park (§lyderabad) Limied (KRIT)

Milhapur

Rental incems
aitd Othes
Operating
ncome

L,¥35

1,753

1,626

9 KRC Infrasteucarce and Projecis Private Limiled (KRC Inlra)

Ciera
Commereone
Kharadi

Rental income
und Other
Opesiting
inceme and
revenue from
power supply

2,296 7

1 Uorizonview Properties Private Limited (Florizonvicw)

Chennai

Rental income
and Gther
Operating
meome

1 TAvacado Properties And Trading (India) Private Lamited (Avacado)

Paradigm, Malad

Rental income
and Other
Operating
neeme

762

696 |

Tutnl

17,660

14,316

12,631




AHINDSHACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUY (A8 DEFINELD IN NOTE ()

Condesnsed Combined Finanelal Statgments

Nutes te Aveconnts

(AN wmonnty are In Bs, milllons unless otherwise stated)
S0 Earnings Per ol (EPLWD

The mnnber of units that the Mindspace Business Purks Groap will issue o investors in the proposed Iuitinl Pubtic OfTer is nat preseitly nseertainuble Llence, the disclosures

i respect el Enenings per unit have not been presented

5l
Reler note 45
52 Capitalisation Statement

Statentent of Mindspace REL]'s contingent liabilitles and commiitments

DehtfEgnity Ratio

Anmvunl
Pre-issuc ax at 31 | As adjus(ed for

I"articulars Maurch 2020 Issue®
Borrowings** 74,163 -
|ease Liability 124
{iross debt 74,357
T.aus - Cash, casl equivilent 2,209
AdJusted net debi 72,148 -
Shareholders' Funds
Capil! 500
Instruments entiraly equity in nalure 824 -
Other eguity 19,923 .
Non-conlralling imterest of Mindspace RE(T 1,663 -
Toytal Shareholders' Fapuly 2918

315 -

Hules

* corresponding details past issue are nal available, hence the required disclosures in respect of the same have not been pravided in the above ble
£ Borrowings comprises nonw-cureent and current borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt including interest necrued but not due

53 Ilistory of laterest andd Principal paymenis

Dbt jryment history

31 Mareh 2019

31 March 21_]&

Iarticulars 31 Maveh 2020

Carrying ainount of debt at the beginning of the year 59,578 37.055 55,647
Additonal barmowings during the year 43,000 23,965 15,067
Finanee cost (3,290 5,356 5,048
[Leprynients during the year {IV.73) {26,896) (18.878)
Oher adjustments/ setthaments during the year 145 99 179
Carryimg smount of debt at the end of the year 71.370 59,578 57,055
Reconciliation (0 Balanee sheet:

Loans repayable on demand from body corporates - - M
Ruyer's credi from hanks - - 310
| Carrying amount of debt at the cnd of the year 71,370 59,578 £7.399
Note: Lebl excludes overdralt trom banks

As represented by:

Long term borrowings 03,509 50,209 32,555
Cunent malurities of lang-term debt 0.557 3,191 4,372
huerest accrued but not due on loans from

- banks / financial mstitulions 94 116 78
- Olhers - - 1
Inferest acerued and dug 77 62 49
Loans repayable on demand from body cotparates - - M
Buyer's credit liem banks - 310
Shert tenm borrowings {Tern loan from banks) 750 - -
Lighility compongnt of Prelerence shares 23 -
Totl 71,370 9,578 57,399 |




MINDSPACE BUSINESE PARKSE GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTL 1)

Condensed Combined Financial Statoments
Moles to Acconnis
{Al amounts ave In Ry, mililons anless otherwise stuted)

54

Nun-controlling intsrest

gy the year ended 31 March 2020

Name of {he entity

Ned assets

Share in lotal comprehensive incone

Asa % of Asa %ol
consoliduted Amound consolidated lo't g! Amount
- momprclreuswe
income
Parent
Proposed holding of Mindspace Business Parks Group 92 7% 21,252 91 5% 4,747
Subyidiarics and step down subsidiaries
Intime Properties Limiled 2.1% 474 23% 119
K Raheja I'T Park {Hyderabad) Limited 3% b 28% 145
Sundew Properties Lunited 1.5% 151 2.5% 129
100% 22915 100 % 5140

Combined net nssets/ Tatal comprehensive incone

For the year

Jed 31 March 2019

Nume of the entity

Nel nssely

Share in total comprehensive ingeme

Asa % of R
consoldated Amount Gl m‘lal Amount
net Assets compre I‘lcllsl\'e
Inconme M
Parent
Proposed holding of Mindspace Business Parks Groyp 92.8% 17,134 921 9% 4.749
Subsidiaries and step down subsidinries
Intime Propertics Limited 1.9% 357 1% E1Y
K. Raheja [T Pork (Hyderabad) Linsiwd 39% T 2,39 17
Sundew Properties Limited 1.4% 260 11% B
Combiued net assets/ Total compreliensive income 100.0% 18,470 100.0% 5154
- For the yenr ended 31 March 2018 b
Name of the entity Ned ussets Share in profit or Toss
Asa % of ‘ Asa %ol
eonsolidated Amount SonEoliinig) m.‘ al Amount
TareTiE comprclre::slve
ineone
Parent
Proposed holding ol Mindspace Business Parks Group 92 M 12,574 92 1% 1,483
Subsidiaries and step down subsidiaries
Intime Properties Limited 2.0% 269 2.6% 41
K. Raheja 1T Pork (Hyderabad) Limited 4.6% 629 6.5% 105
Sundew Properties Limited 0 7% 101 (1.2%) (1%
Combined nef assets/ T'otal comprehiensive income 100.0% 13,573 100,0% L.610




MINDSPACE BUSINLESS PARKS GROUF (A8 DEFINLED IN NOTE 1)

Condensed Combined Financial Statenents
Notes 10 Accounds

(ALl amcunts are in Rs. millions voless atherwise stated)

54 Non-controlling interest (continued)

The following table summasises the Jinancial information relating to subsidiaries which have material Non-controlling interest.

(i) Intime Properties Limited

Particulars

As al
31 Mareh 2020

As at
31 Mareh 2019

As it
3 March 2018

Non-current assels 2,100 1,988 3,140
Current agsels 5,948 1,915 3013
Non-gurrent liabililies (2,927 €2,946) {2.880)
Current laldlitiss (&I oy (625)
Net assols A7 3,244 2448
NCI 11.0% 11.0% 11.0%
Carrying amount of Non-controlling inicrests 474 357 269
Particulars Asat As at As at

31 Murch 2020

31 March 2019

31 Murch 2618

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,080 813 375

Aliributable 1o Non-controlling inlerest

Tota) comprehensive income for the year 119 3 4]

Cash Mows fromy/ (used in)

Operaling activities 90 75 74

Livesting activities (55) {30 {32)

Finaneing activilics (36) {24) {19)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash cquivalents {1) (0) 7
(i) K, Raheja I'T Pagl (Hyderabad) Limited

Particulars As at As at As at

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

Non-current assets 2,788 2400 2,672
Current assels 10,662 9,459 4,980
Nono-current linbiities (4.378) (4.835) {1,96%)
Currenl Jiabilitics {1.258) (HER) (968)
Net assets 7,014 0,536 5715
NCI 11.0% 11.0% 11.0%
Carrying ameunt of Non-controlling interests 838 714 629
Particulars As at Asal As al

3 March 2020

31 March 2019

31 Mareh 2018

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,319 1,062 952
Attributable to Non-controlling inferest

Total comprehensive inecome for the year 145 117 105
Cash ows from:

Operaling activities 100 94 82
Investing activities 0 %) {11y
Financing activilics {126) (83) (68)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalenis (20) | 3




MINDSPACT BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEPFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Flnaucial Statements

Notes to Accounty

{All amounts are In Rs. milllons unless otherwige stated)

(iii Sundew Properties Limlted

Particulars As ot Asat “Asat
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Non=currant assels 12,734 10,663 8,730 :
Current assots 7,570 6,687 5910
Non-current Habillties (14,336) (12,326) (12,284)
Current [labillties (2,778) (2.662) (2,435)
Net psscis 3,190 2,362 921
NCI 11.0% 11.0% 11.0%
Carrying amount of Non-contrelling Interests 35l 260 101
Particulars As at As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Total comprehensive ineome for the yeor 1.169 1441 (171
Attributable to Non-controlllng interest
Total comprehensive income for the year 129 159 (19)
Cash flows from/ (used in) ;
Operating aclivities 273 230 247
Investing activities (269) (155) (120
Financing activitics (20) (74) (186)
Net increase in cash sud cash equivalents (16) 1 (59)
1,603 1,336 999

Total carrying amount of NCI




Mindapace Buzinuss Porks Groyp (As Defined In Note 1)

Cond I Comblued Ki =0

Notes ¢ Accovnis

{All amounts are in Rs, nuldong uwnless qthorwlse stated)

55 Relatod porty disclosures

A, Partios to Mindipuce RELT (refee note below)

Mame of Entities

Promoters/Purtners

Truatee

Axis Truatee Services Limited

[Jirectors

Spouisors

Munagor

Anbee Constructions LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Neel €. Raheja
r. Chandre L, Roheja
Mz, Jvoti € Raoheia

Cape Trading LLP

K Ralajn Corp hivestment Managers LLE

|Mrs. Jyoti C Ralin

Mr Rawi  Rahgja
Mr. MNeel ¢ Raligja
Mr. Chandru L.Rohejo

Mr. Ruvi . Roheja
Mr. Meel C. Raligjs

Sponsars Group
{refer note below)

Mr. Chandru 1.. Ruheis

Mr.Ravi C. Raheja

Mr. Neet C. Rahein

Mrs Jvoti C. Rahein

Capstan Trading LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Rahsja
Mr. Neel . Rahgja
Mr. Chiangdru L Rabwaja
trs. Jvati C. Rehoia

Casa Maria Properiies LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Ralejn
Mr. Neel C. Raheja
hdr. Chandru L. Rahein
Mrz. Jyoti C Raheja

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP

Mr. Revi C. Rahgja
Mr. Neel C. Rubsja
Mr. Chandro L Roheja
Mg, Jyoti C. Kalsin

Palm Shelier Estate Developinent LLLP

Mr. Rovi €. Rohgja
Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Mr. Chondru L. Rabeja
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rahein

K. Rohgjo Corp Py Lad.

Mr. Chiundru L. Rahajo Jointly with
Mre. Jyoli C. Raheja

Mis. Jyoli C Rahejo Jointly with
e, Chandru L. Rohujs

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr Chandru L. Relwga Jointly with
Mra. Jyoli C. WRalicje

br Meel & Ralieja Joinily with
Mr. Chundeu L. Ruhejo Jointly with
Mre. Jyoli C. Raheja

Anbee Conglructions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Trading LLP

Cagy Muria Propertios LLI

Raghwkaol Estote Develapenent LLP
Palyy Shelier Estale Development LLEP
Mr. Meel C. Bnheja Jointly with

Mr. Ramesh M. Valecha

Ruvi C. Rohgje
Neel C. Rubeju
Ranesh Valecha
Yinod Rohira




Mindapace Business Purks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Condonged Combined Finunciul Bratemonts

Notvs to Accounds

{All amounis are in Ba, milllons vnless arherwise atated)

&5 Welated party dinclosures
A, Parties 1o Mindepace REIT (rofer nolz bolow)

N Promoters/Formers 5 Directors

]Elrliculnm

—|Numeof ntities
M. Chandru 1. Reheja Jointly with
Mrs Jyoli C Raheja

Mrs. Jyoli © Raheja Jointly wilh
r. Chandru L. Rulieja

Mr. RoviC. Rahejs Joinlly with
Mr. Clandru L. Rakieja Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoii C Raobwja

Mr. Nee! C. Raliej Jointly with ﬁ:;;g E:;:j:
Inocbit Malla (India) Privale Limited Mr. Chandeu L. Raheja Jointly with Sunil Hin R
e R goram
Mrs. Jyoii C. Raheja

Anbes Consiruetions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Copstnn Troding LLP

Caso Maria Properties LLP
Rughukeel Esiate Develop L LLP
Palin Shelier Estnte Development LLIP
Mr. Neel . Rahesa Jointly with

Mr. Remesh M. Valecha

Ivory Propertics & Hotels Pv( Lid

K Raheia Corp Private Limited

Mr Chondru 1. Raheja Jointly with
Mis. Jyoti C Rabega

Myrs. Jyoli C. Raheju Juimly with
Mr. Chandru .. Rebajas

Me. Ravi C. Raheja Juintly with
Mr. Chandra L. Raheja Joiatly with
| Mre. Jyoli . Rahejn Ravi C. Raheja

. ; - Meel C. Raheja
Ivory Properties and Hotols Private Limited {30 o) 2 Rabicjn Sointly with Sunil l-Iingor:ni
Mr. Cliandry L. Raolejy Jointly with Rumesh Valechs
Mus, Jyoti € Ruheja

Anbee Constouctions LLIP

Cupe Trading LLY

Copatan Trading LLP

Casa haria Propertivs LLP

Raglukool Estale Develoy t LLP
Palm Shelier Esime Development LLP

Me. Ravi C Raheja

M Mesl C. Rahja
Anbee Canswuctions LLP
Cape Trading LLP
Capston Tradling LLP Ravi C Rabeja

Casa Maris Propertics LLP Mee! C. Raheja
Roghokool Estaie Develop LLp Joseph Contad Dsouza
Hetal Gundli

K Raheja Corp Private Limiied Rajeey Newar

K Raheja Private Linited Sanjay Sethi

Ivory Propertics & Liotels 141 Ltd Radhika Piramal
Touchstone Projenies nnd Hotes vt Laid Arthor Williaa De Hlans)
Genext Hurdwate and Parks Privte Limited
Ivory Properties and [lotels vt Ltd (for el on
behsll' ol Beneficiaries lvory Proporty Truat)

Chalet Hotels Limited




Mindspaee Rusiness Parks Group {As Defined ln Note 1}
Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes (o Accounis

{A D amounts are in Rs. milllons unbess etherwise stated)

55 Relaved party disclosures
A, Parties to Mindspace REIT (refer note befow)

Particulars Name of Entitics Promoters/Pariners Directors

Chandu L Ralieja

Jyoli C Rahegja

Ivory Propeties & Hotels Py Lid
Ravi C. Raheja

Neel . Rahefa

{all are bustees) E
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Joinlly with
Mr. Chandiu L Raheja Jointly with
Mrs Jyoti C Raheja

Ivery Property Tiust

Genext Hardware & Paiks Pyt Ltd M. Neel C Raheja Joinily with
Mt Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mz Jyoh C. Raheja Ravi C. Raheja
Chandin L Raheja jointly with Jyoti C Rahega, Neel C. Raheja
behall" of Tvory Property Trust Ramesh Valecha

M. Chandig L Raheja Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoti C Raheja

Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja

W Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja Jointly with

Mrs. Jyoti C. Rahej i J
rs. Jyo <) Ravi C. Raheja

Meed . Rahega

K Raheja Private Limited ) r e )
Mr. Neel C. Rahefa Jointly with Vinod Roliita

e Chandiu L. Raheja Jointly with
Kis. Jyoti C. Rahsja

Anbee Constiuctions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Propertics LLP
Raghukool Estate Developeinent LLP
Palin Shelter Estate Development LLP

Note 1: ldentified by the Management and as legally advised, oo the bagis of criterla gpecified in Regulation 4(2){d)(i} of Securitics and Exchange Board of India {Real
Estate | t Trust) Regulations, 2014, as ded and the circulars and guidance issued thevenoder,

MNote 2: Chale upon sale of shares of dntime Properties is no longer a part of the Sponsor group and thevefore not a related party as on March 31, 2020

Mote 3: Kishore Bhiatija has resigned from the directorship of Invobit Malks (India) Private Limited w.e.f. Decomber 31, 2019
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Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Coundensed Combined Financlal Statements

Notes to Accounls

(Al amounts are In Rs. milllons unless otherwlse stated)

55 Melated party transactions

Particulars For the year For the year For the year
ended ended enidled
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Borrowings taken

Trion Properties Private Limited - - 229
Borrowings repald
Trion Properties Private Limited - 34 513
Loans given
Aqualine Real Estate Privale Limited 50
Cavalende Properties Private Limited 1,548
Convex Properties Private Limited 190 -
[ices Realeon Private Limited - - 0
Educator Protech Private Limited - - ]
Grange Hotels & Proporties Private Limited 105 - -
Happy Eastcon Private Limited - 0
Immense Properties Private Limited 1,594 -
K. Raheja Corp Private Limited - - 11
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited 15,142 15,469 8,510
Movel Properties Private Limited ey - -
Pac1 Real Estate Private Limited 4,232 - -
Paradigin Logistics & Distribution Private Limited 1,614 - -
Sampada Eastpro Private Limited - - 0
K Raleja Private Limited 280 - -
Loans repaid
Dices Realoon Pyivate Limited 0
Educator Protech Private Limited 0
Happy Eastcon Private Limited - 0 -
tnorbit Malls (Indin} Private Limited 9,702 -

- n

K., Raheja Carp Private Limited




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Condensed Combined Financlal Statements

Notes to Accounts

{All smounts are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stated)

55 Reluted party teanspetions

Particulars

For the year
endled
31 March 2020

For the year
ended
31 March 2019

For the year
ended
M March 2018

Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited 14,379 15,586 8,479

Paradigm Logistics & Distribution Privale Limited 280 - -

Sampada Easipro Private Limited - 0

Project Management Sevvices! business support services cxp

K Raheja Comporate Services Privale Limited 1,263 1,188 1,040

Property maintenance expense

Newfound Properties and Leasing Privale Limited 968 829 643

Property maintenance income

¥inod K Rohiya 0 - -

Imperial Serviced Offices & Property Managetment Private Limited L] L] 4

K Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited 12 1 19

Interest Expense

K Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited 1 | 5

Trion Properties Privale Limited - 2

Interest income

Aqualine Real Estate Private Limited q

Cavalcade Properties Privale Limited 125 =

Convex Properies Private Limited 15 - .

Dices Realeon Private Limited . 0 [

Cducator Protech Private Limited - 0 0

Grange Hotels & Properties Private Limited 8 - -

llappy Eastcon Private Limited - 0 0

lmmense Properties Private Limiled 129 . -

Inorbit Malls (India) Private Limited 563 1,234 1,163

J. T Holdings Private Limited 90 26 77

K Raheja Corporale Seyvices Private Limited - - 0

K Raheja Private Limited 167 138 125

K Raheja Corp Private Limited - ( 2

Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited 880 876 825

Novel Piopetties Private Limited 30

Pact Real Estate Private Limited 42 -

Paradigm Logistics & Distribution Private Limited 108 - -

Sampada Enstpio Private Limited - 0 0
- 18

Tvion Properties Private Limited




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Notes to Accounts

{All amounts are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stated)
55

Rebgted party transagtions

Particulars For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended
31 March 2020 3 March 2019 31 March 2018

Royally Expenses
Anbee Constructions LLP 7
Cape Trading LLP 7
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited
K Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited

K Raheja Private Limited

K. Rahgja Corp Privats Limited

Ivery Properties & Hotels Private Limited

- 2y

29

B o= —

Miscellaneous expenses
Chalet Hotels Limited 0 0 -
Trion Properlies Private Limited - - 0

Rutes & Taxes
Trion Propenies Private Limited - 0

Business promotion expenses

Chalet Hotels Limited 0 0
Hypersity Retail {India) Limiled - - 0
Shoppers Stop Limited = .

Sale of mnterlals / scrap

Powai developers 0
Inorbil Malls (lndia} Private Limited - 0 0
Newlound Propertics and Leasing Private Limited 0 0 3

Sale of assets
Sycamore Properties Private Limited I
Paradigm Logistics & Distribution Private Limited - |

Purchase of building materlals

Genexl! Hardware & Parks Private Limited
lvory Properties & Hotels Private Limited
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited 0 7 11
Genext Hardware & Parks Private Limited - . 0
Chalel Hotels Limited | - -

< Lh

Purchase of Asset
Newfoond Properiies and Leasing Private Limited = 3

Reot Expenscs
Genext Hardware & Parks Private Limited t2 12 12




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Condensed Combined Financlal Statements

Notes to Accounts

(ANl amounts are in ks, milliens unless otherwise stated}

Particulars For the year For the year

ended

ended

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

For the year
ended
31 March 2018

Rent Income

Imperial Serviced Offices & Proporty Managemenl Private Limited 15
K Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited 18
K. Rahgja Corp Private Limited -
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited -

Royalty Income
K Raheja Corp Invesiment Managers LLP |

Repairs and maintenance expense
Chalet Hotels Limited =

Compensation paid
[mperial Sexviced Offices & Property Management Private Limited =

Directors' Sitting Fees

Ms. Preeti Chheda

Meel C.Raheje

Ravi C.Raheja

Venkat Norsimhe Reddy Bttireddy (TSIIC)
Vinod N. Rohira

Siddhartha Gupla

Vishal Kumar Masand -
Yasin E. Virani -

L= =R = = I =1

Donations pald
K Raheja Foundation .

Licence fees
Neswfound 5

Legal, Professional and other fees
K. Rahgja Corp Investment Manager LLP (*) 3

Filing and stamping fees
K. Raheja Corp Investmen! Manager LLP 13

Sitting fees
Sitting fees

Reimbursement of expenses
Chalet Hotels Limited 27

Staflf Imprest
Vinod Rohita [

2
18

[ R I =  = — —= ~ }

12
18

PR — I — I — N = I

L=}

* [ includes reimbursement for professional services of Rs. 1 million to M/s Bobby Parikh Associates.




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1)
Condensed Combined Flnanclal Stab s

Notes fo Aecounts

{All nmounis are In Rs. milllons undess otherwise stated)

£ Related party balanees
Particulars For the year For the yoar For the year
ended endeil endded
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Traie Payables
Chalet Hotels Limited 1 [
Chandru L. Reheja - ¢
Genext Hardware & Parks Private Liinited 3 9
Imperial Serviced Offices & Property Managemem Private Limited - - 1
K Rahejn Corporate Services Private Limited 1% 81 197
K. Raheja Corp Private Limited - o 1]
K. Raheja Corp Investinent Manager 48 - -
Mewfound Propecties and Leasing Private Limited 46 1% is
Tricn Properties Private Limited - 0
Yinod Roliira . . 0
Vishal Kunar Masand - 0 -
Trade Reeeivables
Carin Properties Privaie Limited ¢ (] ]
Imperial Serviced Offices & Property Managemen Private Limiled H 1] 0
Inovbit Malls ([ndia} Private Limited - ]
K Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited 12 L] 9
Meera Rohira - ]
MNewfourxd Properties and Leasing Private Limited ] - -
Pawai developers 0 -
Borrowings
Trion Properties Privale Limiled - - 34
Loans
Dices Realcon Private Limited - - 1]
Educator Protech Private Limited - - ]
[appy Enstcon Private Limited - - 0
Inortil Malls {India) Private Limived 1,370 11,073 11,073
1. T. Holdings Private Limited 738 738 Ti8
K Eaheja Private Lisnited 1,470 1,190 1,150
K. Raheja Corp Private Lirnited - - 1
Mewfound Properties mnd Leasing Private Limited 8,763 8,000 g7
Pact Real Estate Private Limited 4,232 - -
Poradigm Logistics & Distribwtion Private Limited 1,334
Novel Propeniies Private Limited 370
Sampacla Eastpro Private Limited - - 0
Grange Hotels& Properties Private Limited 105 - -
Immense Propenties Private Limited 1,594
Cavelcade Properties Private Limited 548
Convex Properties Private Limited 190
Aqualine Real Estate Private Limited 0 -
Turerest Payable

i Rehieja Corporate Services Private Limited I -




Mindspace Business Parks Group (As Defined In Note 1}
Condensed Combined Finoncisl Statemenis

Motes 10 Accounls

(AN amounts are In R, milllons unbess otherwise stated)

15 Relaied party balances

Pariiculers For the year For the year For the year
ended endled ended
3 March 2020 3 March 2039 31 March 2008
Interest recelvable
[ivorbit Malls {Indin) Private Limited 2,959 2.400 1157
J. T. Heldings Private Limited 249 160 bl
K Raheja Private Limited 424 158 124
K. Raheja Corp Private Limited . [ 0
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limited 793 Ta8 M43
Sampada Easipro Private Limiled - - 0
Pact Renl Estate Private Limited 338 -
Faradign Logistics & Distribution Private Limited 107
Novel Properties Private Limited 30
[nmense Properties Private Limited 127
Grange Hotels & Properties Privale Limited g =
Convex Properties Private Limited 15
Cavalcade Properties Private Limited 124
Aqualine Real Estate Private Limited 4 §
Mandial Rohirm - 0
Dreposits (Liability)
Imperial Serviced Offices & Property Management Private Limited ? 6 6
Mewfound Propesties and Leasing Private Limited 2 2 2
K. Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited ¢ - .
K. Raheja Corp Private Limited 2
Chalet Hotels Limited 44 -
Deposhis Refundable (Asser)
Ivory Propestics & Hotels Private Limnited 13} 1& 13
Advances to venlor {Asser)
Chalst Hotels Limited [t} 5 0
Inorbit Malls {[ndia} Private Limited - - -
Newfound Properties and Leasing Private Limired 18 | 2
Travel Advance
Vinod Rohira 1
Sitting fees payable )
Stalf Imprest
Vinod Rohira 1] 0
Option deposit
Chalet Hotels Limited 5
Oriher receivables
{haler Holels Limited n | 1
"Trion Properties Private Limited 2 2 2
Other paynbles
K. Ralieja Corp Investment Manager LLP (*) 48

* T includes reimbursement for professional services of Rs. | million payable to M/s Bobby Parikh Associates.
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Intinag Properties Limiled

Mindspave Busiess Farks Pvi Ld

Intime Propentics Limdied

K. Ralecia IT Park {Hyd) Limbed
Sunew Fropertics Li
Swivtew Froperiics
Intime Fropeitics Linited
Gigaplox Esinte Privaie Llmired

Mindspaee Busilioss Parks P Lid

KRC Infrasirpeinss and Projecis Priviie Limbed

K Rihgga [T Park {Hyal) Linited

Iwtimie Propertics Limited

Tutinne Propertics Limitcd

K Rakg 1T Pack (Hyd) Linitcd

Sadew Proponis hod

Miidlspace Business Pirks Pvi Lid

Mindspace Husiness Parks Pel Lul

KRC Infrastruciare sud Projects Privile Limited

KRC Infrastreciue & Projects Private Limited
1lorkenview Proporiics Privale Limdted
Gigaplex Estaie Pl Lid

Sundew Preperiics Llnikcd

KR Infrassructure & Projocts Privide Limiled

Hovizonwlew Propenies Privare Limikad

Mindspace Business Parks Pvi Lid
tindspace Business Parks Pyl 1Lad
Mumlspace Business Parks Py Lid
Mindspace Business Parks Pvi Lid

Minddspisca PBrsinesa Parks Pvl Lid

Mincspaca Busincss Proks Pvi Lid
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